The Cultural Gifting Dynamics of Valentine's Day in Kuwait

The Adoption of Western Practices in Muslim Majority Countries

Rawan Oussama Dbaibou

TESI DOCTORAL UPF / 2021

Thesis supervisors

Dr. Eloy Martín Corrales

Dra. Yolanda Aixelà-Cabré (Diverse, IMF-CSIC)

DEPARTMENT OF HUMANITIES



Universitat Pompeu Fabra Barcelona

Dedication and Acknowledgements

This academic achievement has enlightened me about so many wonderful concepts behind my religion, culture and birthplace. My doctoral years have taught me discipline, resilience, and humbleness. I wish to thank all the people whose assistance led me to another significant milestone.

My sincere thanks go to Doctor Eloy Martín Corrales for showing interest in my research and taking me in as his doctoral student. I also wish to express my appreciation to my supervisor and personally, my mentor, Doctor Yolanda Aixelà-Cabré, for her very attentive and excellent supervision in creating together this marvellous doctoral thesis. Having the substance of a genius, Doctor Yolanda convincingly guided me to be professional and aspire for the best, even when the journey was tough. Without her persistent help, the goal of this thesis would not have been accomplished. Dear Yolanda, it is whole-heartedly appreciated that your great advice for my research proved monumental towards the completion and success of this thesis.

I am eternally indebted to my magnificent parents, Oussama Dbaibou and Bassima Bekdash, who have invested their efforts in me up until this day. You have taken plenty of risks and made continuous sacrifices for me and my siblings. I am humbled by your unconditional generosity and support. For my dad, your life had meaning, it was all worthwhile, it is here in these pages. Thank you for sharing your experiences and life lessons with me, for teaching me how to build my goals with thoughtful prayer and hope. For my mom, you always did more than is expected of you, the cost was immeasurable. I have the deepest gratitude for your constant emphasis on the value of education that made me the person I am today; I would not have done it without you. As my research revolves around the notorious gift, this is my gift to both of you. May I forever be worthy of your love and pride.

My indispensable siblings, Jana Dbaibou and Omar Dbaibou, thank you for believing in me. Thank you for inspiring me to be the best version of myself and never settling for less. I hope I have fulfilled my role as an older sister who you can always look up to and be inspired by.

I wish to acknowledge the motivation and great love from my husband, Yassir Akhayad, who tirelessly accentuated the significance of my work and saw potential in me. My dearest Yassir, thank you for being by my side in every decision that I take. Your company and humour have kept me grounded during many sleepless, tiresome nights. Thank you for being patient with me, I know I can always count on you.

I cannot begin to express my gratefulness for the presence of Luisa Martinez Torres in my life. You accompanied me and stood by me since the very first day of my arrival to Spain. Thank you for representing a parent figure in a country which was, at the time, an unfamiliar place. Your guidance and constant encouragement helped me grow into a better person and got me through this promising thesis.

Last but certainly not least, my irreplaceable and closest friends, who have reminded me to have faith in myself and in my work every day. This thesis would not have been possible without your input. I would like to recognise the priceless support that you have all provided during my study. Thank you for making my time more enjoyable during the years away from my home country.

Abstract

This thesis is a study of historical anthropology that explores gift-giving practices in Kuwait, a multicultural Islamic country, with a focus on Valentine's Day. The research is conducted among five age groups, allowing a diachronic social study of generational differences in perceptions, beliefs and opinions about European influences. As Valentine's Day is a western occasion, a comprehensive approach to gift theory and practice is presented in relation to the Islamic religion and Arab tradition, thereby developing a historical analysis of how other cultures affect thoughts and practices in Kuwait. The possible impact in the future is discussed with regards to the cultural dynamics that shape Kuwait's contemporary society.

The information will help build cultural awareness around the Middle Eastern region, particularly the Arabian Gulf. It will demonstrate how Islamic countries are adopting changes in their communities relative to western ideology, ultimately recognising a social transformation within the region.

Keywords: The State of Kuwait, The gift, Valentine's Day, Islam, Social transformation.

Resumen

Esta tesis es un estudio de antropología histórica que explora las costumbres de la entrega de regalos del día de San Valentín en Kuwait, un país islámico multicultural. La investigación se realiza entre cinco grupos de edad, permitiendo un estudio diacrónico social de las diferencias generacionales en las percepciones, creencias y opiniones sobre las influencias europeas. Se presenta un enfoque global sobre la teoría y práctica del regalo con relación a la religión islámica y tradición árabe, dado que esta ocasión es una celebración occidental, desarrollando así un análisis histórico de cómo otras culturas afectan a los pensamientos y las prácticas en Kuwait. Se analizan futuras repercusiones con respecto a la dinámica cultural que configura la sociedad contemporánea de Kuwait.

La información contribuirá a crear una conciencia cultural en Oriente Medio, especialmente en el Golfo Pérsico. Demostrará cómo los países adoptan cambios en sus comunidades relativos a la ideología occidental, mostrando una transformación social dentro de la región.

Palabras clave: El Estado de Kuwait, El regalo, Día de San Valentín, Islam, Transformación social.

Table of Contents

| | dication and Acknowledgements | |
|------|--|-----|
| | stract | |
| Inti | roduction | 1 |
| т | FORMULATION OF RESEARCH TOPIC | 5 |
| I. | 1. Object of Analysis | |
| | 2. Hypotheses | |
| | • • | |
| | 3. Unique contribution | |
| | 4. Methodology | |
| | 4.1 Research Sample | |
| | 4.2 Ethics4.3 Data Collection Procedure | |
| | | |
| | 4.4 Measures of Data Analysis | |
| | 4.5 Advantages to the methodology | |
| | 5. Limitations to the study | |
| | 6. State of the Art | |
| | 6.1 Valentine's Day | |
| | 6.2 Kuwait | 43 |
| п | THE CONTEXT OF STUDY: KUWAIT | 51 |
| 11. | | |
| | 1. History | |
| | 2. Ethnic Diversity | |
| | 3. Culture and Lifestyle | |
| | 4. Challenges: Kuwaiti Citizenship | |
| | 5. Opportunities: Women Empowerment | |
| | 6. Gift-giving research in Kuwait | 63 |
| ш | THE KUWAITI GIFT: A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK | 71 |
| | 1. Kuwait's Gift Theory: Favours, Reconciliation, Reminiscence, Preferred and Received | |
| | Gifts | |
| | 2. The Art of Reciprocation: Gift Hunting | |
| | 3. Gifts shaped by the Kuwaiti culture | |
| | 3.1 The Gift in Islam | |
| | 3.2 The Gift of Time | |
| | 3.3 Surprise Gifts | |
| | 4. Gifting in the Time of Corona | |
| | 5. The Quran and Islamic Religion: <i>Wasta</i> and Prodigality | |
| | 6. Conclusion | |
| | | 140 |
| IV. | THE KUWAITI VALENTINE'S DAY | 155 |
| | 1. Dating and Romantic Relationships: Gender roles and gift expectations in an Arab Is | |
| | country | |
| | 1.1 Amour-Propre: Modernisation, Education, Women Empowerment | |
| | 1.2 Social media and content display | |
| | 2. Promoting the Love Occasion in Kuwait and Arabian Gulf countries | 211 |
| | 2. Tromoung the Dove occusion in Extract and Thubban Out countries | |

| 3. The Quran and Islamic Religion: 'Aib and Ostentation | 226 |
|--|-----|
| 4. Emotions and Sentimental Value | 233 |
| 5. Conclusion | 242 |
| V. FINAL CONCLUSIONS | 251 |
| VI. GLOSSARY | 261 |
| VII. WORKS CITED | 269 |
| 1. Primary Sources | 269 |
| 1.1 Informant Biographies | 269 |
| 1.2 Consultation of Digital Written Archives | 276 |
| 1.3 Statistics and Official Governmental Data | 276 |
| 1.4 Consultation of international organizations' webpages and national associations. | 277 |
| 1.5 Documentaries and Audio-visual archives | 279 |
| 2. Secondary Sources | 280 |
| 2.1 Bibliographies | |
| 2.2 Digital Press | |
| 2.3 Online sources and Internet blogs | |
| VIII. ANNEXES | 335 |
| 1. Consent Form Sample | |
| 2. Interview Pre-set Questions | |
| 3. Informants' Information Tables | |

Introduction

Limitless research studies and fieldwork have been dedicated to the gift, its consumers, and its variable motives. The gift has formed part of culture and society, which are everchanging but continuous, making it a base of human relationships, a memory-capturer and a strong valid practice that delivers emotions and nonverbal communication to the receivers.

This thesis presents a range of topics that appear important for the gift study. Relevant theoretical frameworks of the gift are reviewed from a historical perspective to understand the complexity of this social cultural practice, as Godelier (1999) expresses in his prominent book "The Enigma of the Gift". Reference is made to history as well as to social, cultural, and religious adaptation changes taking place in Kuwait, a country of high status and prestigious role in the Middle East and Arabian Gulf. As a subject closely related to anthropology, an approach that allows a historical study in terms of gender and intersectionality was developed, thanks to the realisation of life stories and interviews with people of varied ages, with emphasis on the narratives and explanations of the older ones. My work will shed light on social gender construction in Kuwait which includes certain traits and stereotypes, ultimately revealing "gendered" practices that are reinforced by tradition and debating the validity of their conception in Islam.

Academic history confirms the gift-giving practice as a universal act and a custom of society. It has existed for many years, performed namely in social occasions with family members, friends and workmates (Sherry Jr. 1983; Goodwin, Smith & Spiggle 1990). Gifts are initially commodities found in stores, which means that gifts and products intertwine to define trade markets. The main difference perhaps between exchanging commodities and offering gifts is the added personal value of emotionality (Carrier, 2012b). Previous studies have explored the way gift givers take regular everyday objects and try to reshape them by adding personal touches and then presenting them in a symbolic, meaningful manner to the receiver (Benson & Carter, 2008). The gift varies as far as ethnicity,

geographical regions, and history. It is also profoundly responsible for the creation, upkeep, and loss of social connections among the concerned groups or individuals.

The gift-giving practice primarily emphasizes the importance of symbolic gifts, in which their purchase is frequently influenced by social pressures. These pressures depend on the individual's religion, culture, and other affiliations. Generally, these affiliations are determined by recognising a person's characteristics, their likes, dislikes, and factors that influence their decision-making. This falls under lifestyle research which distinguishes consumer identities, their habits and motivations; why they may choose, or use, one item over the other (Quester, Karunaratna & Goh 2000; Francisco, et al. 2015). In turn, this information produces the structure of social relations present in interactive situations (Campbell, 1995). An example of lifestyle research is Yau, Chan and Lau's study (1999) conducted in Hong Kong that tested gift-giving behaviour in accordance with Chinese cultural values. Similarly, this thesis studies gift-giving practices with regards to Islamic and traditional values in Kuwait. Kuwait's society portrays a delicate role in gift-giving. Its irreconcilable culture shows different personal values that influence purchase and intimate relationship intentions. Gifts also play a major role in tradition and folklore, among other dimensions, which is a personal growing interest that I aim to investigate.

Many gift-giving occasions are constantly emerging, which eliminates the typical "rule" that gifts should be given in a certain place or time. Some of these occasions are forever known, such as birthdays, graduations, anniversaries, Christmas, or milestones. Other gift exchange occasions are created due to a change in a person's accustomed routine, for example, during housewarmings, bridal or baby showers, farewells and so on. Even when there is no specific event, gifts are presented to give thanks, show gratitude and cherish a relationship. The idea of gift-giving has also changed. It is no longer necessary to give gifts exclusively to other human beings. For example, during Valentine's Day, young individuals are trying to modify the typical norm of giving gifts to romantic partners by gifting their friends, relatives or even their pets instead (Statista Research Department 2016; Cullen 2018). Giving gifts to pets for their (long) companionship is an understudied notion in gift literature. Other phenomena include giving gifts to homes for their shelter as

means of appreciation and gratefulness (Kondō & Hirano 2014; Heath 2019). These different forms of gifting suggest that there are emerging motives and events that encourage this practice, which slowly weakens the essence and significance of the gift in social life. This also means that there could be an excess of giving and receiving things, sometimes resulting in unwanted gifts, known as a deadweight loss or a burden (Waldfogel, 1993). This allows me to propose the subsumption that with increased consumption and purchase, anything today can be wrapped (or regifted) and presented as a gift.

The transformation of gift-giving habits has been notably noticed in our contemporary 21st century in the media, business promotions, culture and within our personal relationships and social circles. The list of occasions or motives to give gifts continues to enlarge year after year. Since our parents or grandparents might not be fully familiar with these new concepts, this introduces a captivating research area to understand and analyse historically and culturally. Idolizing the idea of gifts triggers the curiosity as to why it is an important concept in many cultures.

Whilst uncountable research studies have been conducted on Christmas, birthdays, and anniversaries, little data has been found about Valentine's Day in Arab or Middle Eastern countries, even less in the Arabian (or Persian) Gulf region. It is therefore difficult to have official data that confirms its level of popularity. Valentine's Day appeared to be a critical controversial matter in many Islamic communities however this has not influenced its presence and celebrations. This appears as an urgent matter to be addressed in the literature. It is an area worthy of attention and assessment since Valentine's Day is linked to a different religious ideology from Kuwait's. It is an opportunity to examine the complex causes and consequences of assimilating western practices into the Kuwaiti society, especially that the Arabian Gulf is a region often interpreted as an exceptionally conservative Islamic one. The thesis topic therefore was narrowed down to study Valentine's Day gift-giving in Kuwait, which distinguishes Kuwait's position, its values and cultural habits among other Middle Eastern Arab countries.

Valentine's Day was inspired from the story of the Roman Christian priest, Valentine, in the 3rd century, whom his Saint's Day, February the 14th, had been associated with the

manifestation of courtly love (Van Dyk, 2013). As one of this thesis' main objectives, Valentine's Day religious significance and background are considered in aims of understanding the reason behind its popularity and admiration in Kuwait.

My research interests include understanding changes in Kuwaiti culture throughout the past century by examining lifestyle practices, particularly during Valentine's Day celebrations. I start off by providing a short review that describes Valentine's Day in other Islamic countries and how people from other regions celebrate it. As for romantic relationships in Kuwait, like many other Arab Islamic communities, they are mainly focused on heterosexual bonds, where "true love" is usually strongly linked to conjugal passions (Kreil, 2016). "True love" emotions could have developed in a relationship prior to official matrimony, otherwise known as a love marriage (something popular nowadays in many Arab countries that may or may not have the parents' approval) or, contrarily, during the relationship that forms over time after marriage, otherwise known as a traditional or arranged marriage. Studying Valentine's Day has therefore determined that romantic love in Arab Islamic societies is different than that in Western or European ones, given that it is almost always linked with marriage, more collectively defined, pressured, observed and criticised.

Exploring romantic relationships in Kuwait and the concept of "true love" guarantees an understanding of traditional barriers that keep people from celebrating Valentine's Day. On the other hand, excessively commercialising the occasion in the country triggers a love culture and facilitates the expression of romantic relationships. The work therefore allows to distinguish gender roles in Arab Islamic societies, where women generally value and prioritise gift exchange in romantic relationships more than men. However, gifting standards are insufficient in men-dominating societies. In this sense, young Arab women have taken Valentine's Day as an opportunity to dream, visualise and achieve common gender values and goals of empowerment that detach from the androcentric system, while men still feel the pressure of the old-time tradition, that to be "men" means to provide, pamper and protect women. This in turn has transformed the Islamic conception of dating and shows how cultural gifting occasions influence gender roles in romantic relationships.

I. FORMULATION OF RESEARCH TOPIC

The methodology of this thesis involves ethnographic fieldwork using a historical research approach. Primary exploratory research was gathered in forms of in-depth interviews with 46 residents of Kuwait, ages ranging from 17–87. Interviewing people that represented different generations was established from ethical values. The findings' analysis throughout the thesis was based on socio-demographic data that includes gender, marital status, nationality and age group of the respective informants. Widening the age range was useful to identify how people of different generations refer to similar concepts, like the gift or Valentine's Day, which developed a historical analysis on how the meaning of the gift has changed overtime and provided possible implications for the future. Using this approach, the significance of the gift during the last 50-80 years in Kuwait could be identified and particularly the significance of Valentine's Day during the past 5 years. Fieldwork in Kuwait created a clearer image about the influence of other cultures on certain individuals, regardless of what we know from the media. The fieldwork also revealed how people's changed habits and ideologies shape the Kuwaiti society, which might have altered some Islamic interpretations in our current day.

The research constitutes an ethnography on Valentine's Day in Kuwait, with a reassessment of the prevalent scholarly terminology on the subject. Thus, this doctoral thesis follows the standard structure for empirical research. Chapter "T" describes the object of analysis, purpose of study, hypotheses, and the uniqueness of this research area. Afterwards, a presentation of methodology and data collection is provided, followed by certain limitations to the study. The state of the art is then developed to introduce the research in question, that is, Valentine's Day in Kuwait as an Arab Islamic country.

Chapter "II" provides background information about Kuwait. The chapter distinguishes Kuwait's cultural identity and traditions among groups. I discuss various areas about the country; its history, ethnic makeup, as well as collective practices that shape majority values and the challenges and opportunities that are faced. Finally, this information is used to give purpose for my gift-giving research in Kuwait.

Kuwait's ethnographic data analysis begins in Chapter "III" that embodies the soul of the research: The Gift. The chapter examines the comparative literature on the topic. The gift-giving practice shapes the object of study from two major disciplines: history and anthropology. A conceptual framework is built from theoretical matters raised by experts in the field like Marcel Mauss, Bronislaw Malinowski, Pierre Bourdieu, Marshall Sahlins, Alain Testart and Jacques Derrida. As shown, the gift has been studied across many other disciplines besides history and anthropology, like sociology, religion and philosophy (Komter & Vollebergh, 1997). Studying gift-giving across distinct eras, colonies and geographies therefore addresses the necessity to consolidate history, anthropology and democracy (González Alcantud, 2001). The recovery of works include literature in French, English, Arabic and Spanish. The French gift theory was particularly fundamental because it offered ethnological studies dedicated to the gift and the economy, as well as religious interpretations that surround them.

The fieldwork in Kuwait identifies different situations in which gifts are exchanged, distinguishing Kuwait's Gift Theory and its prominent characteristics. Then, the Art of Reciprocation in Kuwait is explained, which includes decisive factors before choosing the "right" gift. The section emphasises the importance of relationships in the gift exchange practice. The aim of this section is to analyse the significance of gifts in Kuwait and how they are materialised in everyday life. Evidently, the gift, its presentation and wrapping are shaped by Kuwait's culture, and this is where I discuss reprehensible gift choices with the presuppositions of Islam. This information then develops an analogy between the contemporary gift in Kuwait and the Gift in Islam, highlighting some contradictions, for example, how the Gift in Islam mainly revolves around its moral value rather than its monetary value. The gift in Kuwait also portrayed distinct concepts from the literature. These include the Gift of Time, Surprise Gifts, and considering recent circumstances, the gift during the COVID-19 global pandemic, which examines how the pandemic affected collective occasions and gifting practices in Kuwait. These gift concepts were realised to be largely influenced by war, tragedy and ideologies from the past. At this point, I seek to show differences in gift-giving by underscoring how past to present gift meanings have changed since the discovery of oil and the affluence it brought, and since the increase in popularity of Valentine's Day in Kuwait. This had required a recall in informants' memories on how gifts were perceived during their infancy or by their parents.

The thesis carries on to closely analyse a specific gift-giving occasion, Valentine's Day. Chapter "IV" starts off with a panorama about all intercorrelated aspects and theories present during Valentine's Day in Kuwait. It provides a comprehensive analysis on the occasion's noticeable icons and features, its popularity that has been impacted by marketing and commercialisation, and the factors that further promote the occasion such as education, economic transformation and globalisation, which have affected gender roles and proposed the idea of "open-mindedness" in Kuwait. Kuwait's colonial link with Great Britain and its liberation from Iraq that ended the Persian Gulf War in 1991 have also influenced western practices to be part of Kuwait's society (Kluijver, 2013). I would like to stress the ramifications of war and other religious, economic and social pressures or conflicts that are present in many Islamic countries. These pressures attribute to the decline of traditional, religious and cultural norms (Ahluwalia & Miller, 2016). This represents the first focal point of the thesis, explaining the transformation of a traditional society into a progressive one.

The main objective of this chapter is to lessen typical Islamic stereotypes, which could hardly be represented in all Muslim societies, by providing a profound discussion that disputes the "dissimilar Islam" existing within every separate Islamic community. Eickelman (2009: 161) explicitly ruled out the presence of one "single dominant view among Muslims concerning religious and ethical pluralism". Therefore, the chapter clarifies that there are several images to the religion along with major differences in the practices of each Islamic country, which fully follow independent government interests and social policies (Aixelà-Cabré, 2006: 69). Kuwait's policies could have been an imitation of previous colonial empires and the ways they had affected their inhabitants, calling it their "colonial footprints" (Aixelà-Cabré 2018: iii; Bowden 2019). Accordingly, Kuwait's history is studied with regards to postcolonial conceptions after its independence from the British protectorate in 1961, and its alliance with the United States shortly after.

As my research points out, it appears necessary to reiterate the notion that people living within Muslim majorities do not act fully in line with religion, but instead usually follow familial principles: their taboos, rules, traditions, customs and beliefs. These principles have been passed down to several generations and are practiced year after year and generally, they are neither antagonistic to Islam, nor are representations of piety (Schielke, 2010). This demonstrates that lifestyles are not pure expressions of traditional Kuwaiti culture and history but are quite rigorous multinational structures formed by social concepts that have circulated the country for many years, similarly in terms of gender roles. Above all, this suggests a distinction between an Arab identity (tradition) and a Muslim one (religion), especially in the case of women. The growing paradox of education, social media exposure, and technological developments has established a feminist cause in Kuwait, differentiating between what tradition had coerced women to do -or how tradition had decreed the "female role" in society- and what Islam desires for Muslim women in terms of independence, aspirations and empowerment.

Furthermore, this thesis argues that one specific person (or country) could not be an accurate representation of their faith, religion, or nationality, but they are a representation of themselves. As Tariq Ramadan¹ similarly mentions in his book, "What I Believe" (2009b: 2), "I do not represent all Muslims, but I belong to the reformist trend". Not representing the majority is especially the case when leaving the homeland and adapting within a diverse culture like Kuwait's. For example, immigrants from India and Pakistan would reduce wearing traditional attire, like the *sari* or *shalwar kameez*, and start representing themselves with something more culturally "acceptable" in Kuwait, like the *abaya*² ('abā'ah), or regular pants and shirts. This is probably triggered by moral and subconscious motives, such as to look less like an immigrant or to avoid hate speech (Aixelà-Cabré, 2012). Comparably, Muslim females in American or European societies might consider removing the Islamic veil or the *hijab* (hijāb) for similar reasons (Blakeman 2014: 31; Tariq-Munir 2014: iv-1; Khirallah 2017). This does not indicate a loss of faith or being distant from God, as Tariq Ramadan (2009b: 2) explicitly states, "I aim to remain

¹ Tariq Ramadan is an academic, philosopher and writer who holds a PhD in Arabic and Islamic studies.

² A long women's cloak. Essentially a simple, dark-coloured robe-like dress, worn in parts of the Muslim world and is widely spread in the Arabian Peninsula.

faithful to the principles of Islam, on the basis of scriptural sources, while taking into account the evolution of historical and geographical contexts". Accordingly, removing the *hijab* is a decision made in certain contexts to avoid racism, discrimination or embarrassment³. This reveals the variation and tolerance of religion that exists in different communities and families. These are simple examples that show how a person would adjust their clothing style to match specific social and cultural identities; that clothing styles are influenced and perpetuated by social groups (Cole & Ahmadi, 2003: 58-59).

On that note, it is useful to look at the topic not only from a historical approach, but also anthropologically. Appadurai (2000) and Hernàndez i Martí (2006: 93) expressed within their work the significance of society changes and reasons why people as groups start representing others coming from different cultures. As claimed, when people travel, they gain experience, familiarize themselves with foreign culture and learn about countries' religious and historic beliefs. When they understand certain concepts, they start to implement similar ideas in their respective countries. This process slowly occurs by numerous ways. Learning the language, getting festive for the holidays, trying new food, and listening to local music are all practices that people learn when being abroad. They gain these experiences away on tourism, exchange programs, work trips, or simply being born into a family of different countries or mixed races. Thus, these practices can drive a person to implement a few things from another culture into their own. Gradually, it becomes noticeable that every individual's lifestyle does not authentically represent where they come from. Similarly, the adoption of Valentine's Day in Kuwait is of particular importance to this research so that an accurate analysis to the transformation of festive culture in Islamic societies can be done.

The chapter continues to introduce feasible reasons for a "differing" Islam existing in Middle Eastern countries. When Kuwait experienced a period of oil prosperity and massive growth between 1946 and 1982, or during the so-called "Golden Era", immigration significantly peaked, attracting many foreign workers which exemplified Kuwait as a

³ Self-isolation and social withdrawal are common experiences among immigrants in unfamiliar cultures (Ramadan, 2009: 27).

dynamic model of cultural diversity (Alsager 2014; González 2014; Al-Nakib 2014b; 2018). Furthermore, individualism, global capitalism and urbanisation are other key concepts associated with the research, which build awareness about Kuwait's contemporary culture.

The chapter shows that the dissimilar versions of Islam have also blurred some romantic situations. Valentine's Day incites tensions in romantic principles, matrimonial strategies, and understandings of religion. It has triggered a revolutionary moment to question the changing practices of a significant proportion of the country's youth (Kreil, 2016). I would like to explicitly mention the cultural and gender contradictions that the gift has revealed among romantic relationships in a country self-identified as traditional, Arab and Islamic, which on many occasions has rejected any type of external cultural influences, like this festivity of European and Anglo-Saxon origin. Briefly, the research realises a transformation in gender roles, cultural practices and dating standards. These implications on dating and romantic relationships in Kuwait establish the second focal point of the thesis, explaining the transition from conventional practices to a globalised modernity from the 20th to 21st century.

A bigger focus was placed on the expressive forms of love that Valentine's Day promotes through its merchandising and commercialisation. These aspects are frequently assessed in Kuwait because arguably, they demonstrate contrary conceptions of love, that Valentine's Day is a celebration beyond sweet talk and gifts. Social media was also determined to have a significant role in romantic relationships during gifting occasions. It is important to heed that these conceptions could urge defiance to institutional attempts that control pre-marital love relationships during Valentine's Day and other non-traditional events in Kuwait. Evidently, the gift collects various positive and negative emotions, thus my research also contributes to the study field of affective science (Cheal 1987; 1988) and emotional psychology (Ruffle 1999; Pizzetti 2016).

Kuwait's transformation in cultural practices has adjusted family values, religious perceptions and traditional customs. I would like to highlight and investigate the notion presented by several informants who asserted that taking part in western practices is considered "being modern". Modernity in Kuwait was also previously proposed by González (2014), Al-Nakib (2014a) and Vartanian (2015). This perception needs to be further explained with the support of fundamental research. There is insufficient evidence to confirm, or even suggest, that "copying" or following western customs is a sign of modernity, but perhaps it can be mistaken for modernisation, which is argued to be a product of globalisation.

Research findings were the result of fieldwork interpretations and interview responses, used to confirm certain phenomena. Final discussions and conclusions to the thesis are ultimately contextualized in Chapter "V". The thesis concludes with final remarks on the most prominent topics and suggests further areas of research. Finally, a glossary including a list of Arabic words is provided in Chapter "VI" with their literal translation, transliteration, definition and location. Primary and secondary sources, including informant biographies, bibliographies and other references that assisted in this thesis' development, are provided in Chapter "VII", accompanied with annexes, Chapter "VIII", that include the interview consent form, interview pre-set questions and informants' information tables.

Overall, the research underlines the impact of Valentine's Day in Kuwait, which determines the popularity of the occasion in an Islamic nation. Additionally, the dynamics of changing social relations call for a reinterpretation of meanings, functions and structures of gift-giving rituals that correspond to an evolution in the national economy, collective values, consumer practices, gender roles and power relationships in Kuwait's society, thereby supplementing conventional thinking that has changed during the last century. This change just outlined generates divergent points of view, not only about Kuwait but about the Arabian Peninsula. It pinpoints the country's delicate status, clarifies misconceptions about Islam and suggests further potential investigations about the topic.

Evidently, the gift-giving practice encompasses many disciplines and study phenomena. It is a promising field that could be utilized by many researchers. This thesis could become a reference point for future studies on the Middle East. To argue that Kuwait is heading towards a western culture in its social practices is quite a premature affirmation, however Kuwait's ethnographic findings can suggest a pattern that may lead to this result.

1. Object of Analysis

Several sources throughout history, like Martín Corrales (2002; 2004), Arenfeldt and Golley (2012: 6) and Holt and Jawad (2013), have studied the Arab Islamic region, which is often portrayed as conservative, uncivilised, and repressed, among many other poor attributes. Oblivious assumptions and misinformation are widely shared especially across western contemporary media, displaying negative stereotypes about the Muslim community (Alghafli, Hatch & Marks 2014; Mooro 2019). One of those belittles the status and role of women, with statements that label them as victimised and oppressed by racism, heteronormativity, colonialism and the patriarchy in their respective households and surroundings (Aixelà-Cabré 2006: 68; Christensen 2006; González Vázquez 2013). This oppression mostly stems from strict rules where obedience is demanded in return. The slightest example of these rules is forbiddance to leave the house or mandatory modest clothing. Therefore, as a popular understanding, these rules are associated with Islamic traditionalism, misogyny and cultural backwardness (Aixelà-Cabré, 2006: 68).

Lack of knowledge and awareness about said communities serves as the initial issue that leads to religious bigotry and biased conceptions of some Islamic practices. As a result, studies on certain practices are continuously being researched and justified, for example Abu Hwaij (2012) on the Islamic veil. Ironically, on the other hand, the presence of Arab women activism or Islamic feminism often puzzles or surprises some groups precisely because of their unfamiliarity with such regions (Al-Mughni, 2001: 151). As a matter of fact, in several contemporary Arab Muslim states, such as Tunisia, Morocco, Egypt, Lebanon and Jordan for example, women are slowly transforming their daily realities, making their own decisions, and steadily gaining equal gender rights. This feminine movement and sociocultural change are increasingly appearing in more conservative (orthodox) Islamic countries like Kuwait. Women are representing a different cultural image of themselves by taking on new roles in society, other than domestic ones (Hidayati & Apipudin, 2018). More job opportunities are now available for women in several Middle Eastern Islamic societies. They are now working, launching their own businesses, driving their own cars, living independently, travelling alone, owning real estate, filing for divorce,

and most importantly, gaining political and career leadership positions (Al-Mughni 2010; Al-Suwaihel 2010; Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012; Zoepf 2016; Al Qassim, Jazairy & Mohamed 2017). These "symptoms of transformation", as Aixelà-Cabré (2006: 73) described, seemed to boost female social status, consequently enhancing the Arab woman figure. It is therefore necessary to properly reflect this image in media interpretations.

In addition, for many women, marriage is now considered a complement to their lives, rather than an obligation (Aixelà-Cabré, 2007a). Dating is common and Valentine's Day is a very anticipated annual event among many romantic couples. These drastic changes prove the cultural dynamism of Kuwait: the belief that culture is not fixed, that ethical changes and civilisation are inevitable, and that we are capable of enduring life challenges across periods of time without a fixed religion (Al-Mughni 2010; Kashima 2014; Kashima, Bain & Perfors 2019). Therefore, the main research question to be answered in this PhD thesis and through my fieldwork is: Why and how a culture that is supposedly reluctant to change its Islamic practices is slowly accepting and taking part in western customs?

Valentine gifts are scrutinized as highly significant, but apparently, they are an underexplored topic in many beliefs, namely the Islamic one. Little research has been found that examines the motivations and consequences of exchanging Valentine gifts. The transformation of material objects into sentimental gifts in romantic relationships is a process that should be intervened. It helps to recognise the link between materiality, self-identity, and gift symbolism that have developed Valentine gifts into touchstones of memory (Kamptner, 1989).

In Kuwait, unconventional gift-giving patterns have been recently noticed that do not only fall outside Islamic beliefs but also do not represent pure expressions of "collective" society traditions. During the 90s in Kuwait, although a politically independent nation, it was not common to take part in occasions that were established from western Christian lifestyles. Muslim roots and Kuwaiti traditions that reflected historical practices were a highlight to identity and opposition to any sociocultural influence was important to consolidate society. It was also considered taboo to talk about relationships that fall outside of wedlock. Arab Islamic societies have long discouraged romantic love that has no clear marriage intentions;

therefore, a boyfriend or girlfriend figure is widely prohibited. Almost half a century ago, the West hardly influenced such societies; the elders were stubborn to change and had strict principles. Grasping the holistic picture around the transformation of the 1950's typical Kuwaiti culture into a much flexible one is a study that has not been developed yet. Today, a change of events has been witnessed in terms of customs, gender roles, ethnicity, social class and Arab-Muslim slogan and rules, even within families that were once very traditional. Due to profound changes in consumption and globalisation and a rapid advent and exposure to social media, along with increased levels of education, Valentine's Day has become pervasive as a relatively recent phenomenon, leading Middle Eastern Islamic countries to slowly follow norms of the West. From a historical perspective, Kuwait is considered among the countries that have changed significantly since its independence from Great Britain in the 1960s by taking on new habits within its cultural norms and transforming typical dating standards, but it is gradually doing so compared to other Muslim-majority countries such as Lebanon, Morocco, Turkey, and Qatar (Pappé, 2005).

Kuwait has begun to focus on the concept of gifts by integrating creativity within the process. The use of technology has enriched the purchasing process of gifts and emphasized the significance of this multidimensional activity, which was especially evident during the COVID-19 pandemic. Programmed mobile applications are now being developed for the purpose of sending gifts while maintaining social distance. It is also noticeable that local stores and shopping malls are embracing Valentine's Day with increased levels of commercialisation and event decoration which influence Kuwait's public to take part in the festivity.

Discussions with Kuwait's residents have given a wider, broader perspective to Kuwaiti culture, traditions, and lifestyle. Relevant connections between the celebration, the Islamic religion and the Quran are analysed to delve into the complex mechanisms of reciprocity that the gift incorporates, which develops into a rich object of study: understanding the past and present of certain social practices and gender roles in Kuwait and the Arab world as a whole. The information and conclusions that emerge from this fieldwork could mirror what goes on during Valentine's Day in other Arabian Gulf countries as well.

2. Hypotheses

The main hypothesis for this study proposes that Kuwait, as an Islamic country in the Arabian Gulf, is integrating and accepting western customs while gradually detaching from its conventional, historical traditions and trying its best to combine both, achieving coexistence. Kuwait's identity is distinguished by its history, traditions, and its geographical location. Its strong attachment to the Islamic religion is linked to its proximity to Iran and the fact that it shares a border with Saudi Arabia. Because of this, as well as certain laws and societal expectations that appear to inhibit individual freedom and expression, Kuwait is still publicly viewed as an "oppressed" society by the media and western regions. However, ever since the emergence of gender equality, mass education, mass communication and an exposure to the West, Kuwait is becoming more tolerant and "open to change", thereby inheriting other ideologies and practices. People living in Kuwait are becoming more independent, more receptive to foreign culture and principles, thus embracing change within their social systems. Assumingly, Kuwait widely celebrates non-Islamic occasions.

In this respect, a second hypothesis involves the age group that leads Kuwait's current social transformation. This hypothesis can be confirmed by analysing different age groups. Traditional Kuwaiti customs and Islamic values are still practiced by older individuals, or seniors, who are less interested in material culture and more attached to traditions. Nevertheless, as years pass by, the acceptance of "outsider" values rises and the orthodox take on it declines. In other words, the "rebellious" youth, ages 15 through 25, are interested in combining various events into their lifestyles, which establishes Valentine's Day as a "young" festivity incorporated in Kuwait. Accepting and celebrating Valentine's Day as a popular social practice implies that the idea of romantic relationships is no longer prohibited, but rather publicised (Oghia 2015; Kreil 2016; Fortier, Kreil & Maffi 2018). Assumed reasons for this transformation are the increased use of the internet and the inevitable rise in globalisation. These lead to spurious local and Islamic customs, wishing to be viewed as Westerners by practicing a more "tolerant" Islam (Panaemalae & Prasojo 2016; Duderija 2018). Another assumed reason for this is the fact that Kuwait is influenced

by a great mix of nationalities and different ethnic populations due to immigration that infuse their cultures into the country. According to the World Bank webpage, the Arabian Gulf countries are host to over 30 million migrants (Rutkowski & Koettl, 2020). The research therefore insinuates that Kuwait will continue to normalise western-originated festive rituals in the future. As implied, Kuwait is becoming more pertinent to today, taking on a more contemporary, progressive direction.

My third hypothesis involves the nature of the gift. I intend to develop an analysis arguing that the gift has recently lost its meaning, or its sentimental value, because more focus is placed on the materialistic and commercial aspect of the item. As a rapidly changing and rich nation, it is assumed that Kuwait is paving its way towards a consumerist, extravagant society, preoccupied with wealth growth and the acquisition of pricey possessions as gifts. This consequently affects gender roles and what is socially expected in romantic relationships (Lindholm 2006; Quintero González & Koestner 2006; Esteban 2008; Esteban & Távora 2008; Brosius & Wenzlhuemer 2011; Oghia 2015; Fortier, Kreil & Maffi 2018). The forever question of "what to get" no longer revolves around the symbolic significance of the gift, but is now concerned with its financial worth, which satisfies one's ego and enhances social status among peers and potential romantic interests.

3. Unique contribution

The gift-giving practice has been specifically selected because of its universal nature; everybody could relate to it some way or the other. This study has a passionate side to it. Something as simple as a gift could, in Marcel Mauss' terms (1925), solve conflicts and bring nations together, meaning that it is not merely giving something to someone, but it is about the essence and ultimate symbol of the gift, regardless of religion or other cultural notion.

Existing literature about the gift mostly explores the material value of the item, or the significance of the relationship. Being more specific and looking into a gift-giving occasion, such as Valentine's Day, gives more depth to the research. In addition, investigating a culture that does not initially have Valentine's Day within its customs is another area worth studying. The Arabian Gulf region in the Middle East is an understudied area in terms of its practices. Limited research has been conducted on Valentine's Day, especially when Muslims tend to ratiocinate it to Islam. There are many contradictory views about Valentine's Day that exist on social media and among families or friends, but little has been found in published writing. These varied opinions can change a country's norms. Therefore, this gift-giving research draws a historical perspective to Kuwait in relation to its current practices and gives realistic predictions to what can happen in the future.

This strand of research would contribute and add value to the burgeoning field of Arabian Gulf studies, benefitting numerous scholars and collectives. Historians, anthropologists, sociologists and Islamic specialists and researchers can use this information to develop further areas of research and hypotheses about the Arabian Peninsula and its population in a range of articulated multidisciplinary fields of study, such as identity, migration, youth, gender, education, and culture.

This thesis can also bring together work by scholars in the business and marketing fields because it studies consumer (buyers of the gift) practices, motives, and decision-making processes, each of which is affected by religion and tradition. The findings may also assist merchants to learn about their consumers and their preferences in terms of marital status, gender and age differences. My work could encourage further research from a historical point of view about gifting habits with regards to ethnic and cultural differences, as my study includes informants from different backgrounds and nationalities however influenced by the Kuwaiti culture.

It can be learned that culture as well as individual habits change throughout time because of a constant influence from outside factors. Therefore, habits other than gift-giving could be approached using a similar research manner, for example, sports and meditation, nutrition, diet cultures, cuisines, as well as wedding and birthing rituals. It could also be an opportunity to introduce another focus or variable to my topic as per interest, for example gift-giving practices in relation to religion, income status, or marital status.

Through my work, I aim to promote greater cultural awareness and an increased intellectual interest to the Arabian Gulf States, especially towards a range of issues, such as oil and gas revenue, recycling and sustainability, religious restrictions, racism, discrimination and more, that both shape and challenge this critical region of the Middle East. Furthermore, this thesis pays attention to the dynamic nature of Arabian Gulf countries that have been undergoing significant changes in society, education and academia ever since their independence (Nakamura, 2016). These changes attract regional and international interests from which scholarly work on the most pressing issues within the region can be executed. My work's contribution to small state studies could be used in four potential areas:

- To establish general assessments on Arabian Gulf countries.
- To examine Kuwait's mediation role in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC)⁴ and among other Middle Eastern Arab countries.
- To use Kuwait as reference to distinguish between Muslim-majority countries.
- To develop conclusions about the relationship between Arabian Gulf states and countries in the wider region, particularly the United States and the United Kingdom.

⁴ The Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) is a regional, intergovernmental, political, and economic union consisting of six Arab states of the Persian Gulf: Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates.

To this end, I seek to encourage and cultivate original research on Arab countries in general, but more specifically on Arabian Gulf states.

Finally, this study contributes to the field of contemporary history, social anthropological sciences, and Islamic studies. It highlights the idea how cultures are changing overtime, whether through gift-giving, fashion, music taste, or any other thematic area. This means that it would be typical to find practices within cultures that do not necessarily follow traditional customs or religious constraints. The study can also prove that perceptions or stereotypes made by the media and other sources about the "oppressed" Islamic (Arabian Gulf) community are not always true or justifiable. I refer to certain symbols of "antimodernity", such as the female veil (Kilani 2003; Amiraux 2003). In many instances, Muslims and diaspora Arabs face discrimination and criticisms in secular or non-Muslim societies in areas of employment and education, creating an unsafe environment and an inability to express their religious identity or personality (Thijs, Hornstra & Charki 2018; Mooro 2019). However, it can be realised that some Islamic societies or Muslims are tolerable to accept and adapt to foreign practices or ideologies, therefore bettering the image that the world has of Islam. Recognition to these practices, as affirmed by Roy (2003), seems to make Muslims increasingly closer to resembling Europeans. This study is therefore suitable in an increasingly Islamophobic and xenophobic atmosphere and can clear up many misunderstandings or judgements about Muslims (Choudhury, Aziz, Izzidien, Khreeji & Hussain 2006; Mohideen & Mohideen 2008; Lauwers 2019).

4. Methodology

This thesis incorporates exploratory research to study certain aspects during a gift-giving occasion, such as personal and collective values, marital status, gender, nationality, and country of residence.

Ethnographic research designed from a historical perspective is based in Kuwait to help tackle the purpose of this thesis. The research more likely follows Malinowski's individualist methodology. Bronislaw Malinowski is often considered to be the founder of modern social anthropological methods of fieldwork and informant observation (Macdonald 2001; Coello de la Rosa & Mateo Dieste 2016). Informant observation took place in shopping malls, such as The Avenues in Al-Rai and Marina Mall in Salmiya, where Valentine's Day decorations and celebrations would normally be extensive as they attract a large number of people. This method approaches social life by examining beliefs and experiences of individual members, unlike Durkheim's systemic methodology which believes that people act as a collective society (Carrier, 2012b). Hence, the process allows to investigate an area that has not been thoroughly studied in the past and develop better interpretations of it (Boyce & Neale, 2006). In this case, the area was investigating informant perspectives on the progression of Kuwait during the last century and its cultural association to the western world.

Albeit a difficult task, Malinowski (1926) claims that the research would be of better quality if there was a considerable amount of time spent among the informants to better grasp a sensation of the community. The achieve this, the fieldwork was completed over several monthly intervals traveling back and forth to Kuwait from Barcelona to stabilize contact with informants who were available to collaborate in this research.

Another fieldwork tool that helped better understand key concepts of this interdisciplinary research was observing "a larger social order" (Marcus, 1995: 95). Apart from oral sources, this method gave some perspective and personal experience about Kuwait's culture and Islamic community.

The research employs qualitative methods by interviewing analysis, specifically in-depth interviews, which were conducted both physically and online from an ethical point of view. In-depth interviews were chosen as a developing key method of educational research and data collection to study social and cultural changes. They give enough time for the informant to express his or her thoughts and information is better elicited to obtain a holistic understanding of differing opinions. In addition, interesting areas for further research can be easily identified using this method, making it one of the most significant and effective forms of data collection (Showkat & Parveen, 2017).

This section provides explanations on how the informant sample group was chosen, and how and where the interviews were conducted based on ethical values. Finally, the advantages of the methodology are presented, which discuss cultural concerns and include a brief debate comparing between online interviewing and face-to-face traditional interviewing.

4.1 Research Sample

Informants for this research were residents of Kuwait and were chosen on the basis of being familiar with Kuwait's culture. They represented individuals that have resided in Kuwait for a (long) period of time, therefore demonstrating knowledge about Kuwait's society and values.

The informants for this thesis lived in densely populated residential cities in Kuwait, such as Hawalli, Salmiya and Salwa. They were self-selected using snowball sampling. Also called chain-referral sampling, this method was efficient in identifying informants, who were primarily picked from immediate circles such as friends, neighbours, or family members. Later, those individuals suggested future subjects that might be interested to take part in the study, such as their friends, relatives, or work colleagues, expanding the informant sample. This way, the initial informant could brief the nominated person beforehand on the objectives and benefits of the study and what to expect during the interview. The process is easy to implement, cost-efficient and goes on until enough information is obtained to be analysed and make conclusive research results.

After all, it should be noted that not all informants were references to each other. Some personal contacts were not interviewed for the study but had referred me to their parents or grandparents. This measure was taken to widen the profile of informants and ensure diversity within the sample. Snowball sampling was therefore specifically helpful to identify senior citizens.

The research sample for this study involved a set of demographic characteristics including age, gender, nationality, marital status, education, and occupation⁵. A total of 46 informants were interviewed for this thesis, 14 of which were interviewed online. The research sample constituted of 18 males and 28 females, age ranging between 17 to 87.

Gender is a crucial variable to analyse in Kuwait because it is influenced by social and economic phenomena, such as globalisation. In addition, diversifying the sample using a wide age range provides a historical study of the gift. Some gift aspects needed a gender and age-sensitive approach, for example to identify men and women gender roles during gift exchange in romantic relationships, or gifting motives of teenagers compared to seniors. The thesis' historical approach with regards to age shows that younger individuals think and feel differently as compared to older ones, and that is an important aspect to consider as part of Kuwait's cultural history. Older individuals are a fundamentally different population cohort when studying time and cultural changes. Interviewing them specifically helps to observe the dynamics of changing gift practices, social structures, and relationship values over the last 50~ years in Kuwait. Informant age was therefore one of the important characteristics for this research because it helps in understanding views and evaluating different opinions about the topic.

Informants were categorised into five age groups. There were 7 youth (first group, age range 16-24), 13 young adults (second group, age range 25-35), 9 middle-aged adults (third

⁵ Detailed informant biographies are provided in Chapter VII.

group, age range 36-50), 5 older adults (forth group, age range 51-60) and 12 seniors (fifth group, ages above 61). Hence, dividing informants into different age groups shows an effort to develop a research study based on a historical viewpoint.

Dividing informants into these age groups was significant to the research analysis. More noticeable differences in gift-giving practices are appreciated when informants are at different stages of life. Informants in every age group demonstrated similar characteristics. For example, from my fieldwork, younger informants were found to have one or several of the following characteristics: they were either students, newlyweds (Cobb, 2009), or young parents, fairly early in their careers, dealing with academic, legal, or financial struggles. Middle-aged adults were more settled, independent, with bigger financial goals, more expenses and perceived themselves to be in a period of growth. Lastly, older adults and seniors were firmly established or retired, and claimed a slower pace of life while enjoying various social relationships (Walker, et al. 2001: 1; Alwin 2012). In this sense, answers from every age group reflected their own cohort-specific context, which gave perspective to different values. Different answers among the age groups generate multiple theories to produce conclusive realisations to the study. Any eccentric or misfit responses observed from an age group were also highlighted in the analysis.

As my rich fieldwork reflects, Kuwait enjoys a very mixed society; therefore, aside from 9 Kuwaiti informants, others came from different backgrounds and nationalities. Non-Kuwaiti informants were from: Belgium, Canada, Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, Pakistan, Palestine, Saudi Arabia, Sudan, Switzerland, and Syria. Out of the total, 10 informants originally came from other heritages, such as Algeria and Iran. Moreover, some informants were children from transnational marriages. Their parents come from dissimilar backgrounds which certainly affect their responses and opinions; therefore, I add to the above list Iraq and Serbia. Distinct ethnic profiles provide more perspective to the studied cultural phenomena and distinguish similarities or differences between informants coming from various countries. As shown, the majority of this fieldwork's informants migrated, or their parents have migrated, to search for employment in Kuwait due to the unavailability of job opportunities in their home countries. This research therefore studies two distinct

types of foreigners in Kuwait: immigrants and children of immigrants. It is important to note that even though some informants were born in Kuwait, they are not granted the Kuwaiti nationality and are therefore not considered Kuwaiti citizens. Despite living their whole lives in Kuwait, their families and origins would have made an impact on their upbringing and mindset one way or another. On the other hand, children of immigrants in Kuwait, or third culture kids, would simultaneously demonstrate different views and behaviour compared to their parents' who have been raised in a different environment, culture, and era.

Furthermore, my informants had different civil statuses and household compositions (e.g., married with 2 kids). There was a total of 18 single, 24 married, 1 divorced, and 3 widowed individuals interviewed for this thesis. Marriage is an important aspect in social institutions that has undergone many changes over the years in numerous societies. The perceptions and attitudes of a person differ by their marital status because priorities change, responsibilities are likely to increase, and a level of maturity can be realised.

My informants also varied in terms of educational attainments. There were 15 who attained secondary school degrees, 3 had diplomas, 20 had bachelor's degrees, 5 had master's degrees, and 3 had medical or doctorate (PhD) degrees, noting that none of them were illiterate. Education is an imperative characteristic that can affect a person's viewpoint and comprehension of social phenomena. It appears that many informants have attained high educational levels, some even showed progression in their studies, which is a focal point that acknowledges Kuwait as a knowledge-based society.

Finally, the informants represented a wide range of occupations and professional backgrounds of different industries. There were nurses, medical doctors, computer, petroleum, civil and construction engineers, a school teacher, a university professor, an architect, a lawyer, receptionists, administration officers and coordinators, a PR & marketing executive, an HR executive, salesmen and customer service agents, a financial analyst, an aviation and aircraft operator, a travel agent, a security guard, a fitness coach, a yoga instructor, and self-employed individuals: a skincare and makeup specialist, a

freelance artist and a business merchant. A person's occupation shapes their personality, quality of life, income, and determines certain social thought processes. As noticed, the service sector is blooming in Kuwait. All occupations, but one (business merchant), represent offering a service and not a product, showing that the service industry is a major sector of employment in Kuwait.

4.2 Ethics

Ethical procedures for academic research undertaken for this thesis require the informants' explicit approval to be interviewed and have their input used for the fieldwork analysis. Prior to the interview, before concreting a meeting date, informants were briefed (by call or text) about the purpose of the study. The reason of my research and their responses' significance were provided overtly. I explained that the data collected will be used primarily for a doctoral thesis to obtain a PhD degree and may be used for journal publications in the future. I mentioned that their direct quotes could be also included. More information about the interview was given, such as topics to be discussed and an estimate of the interview's duration. Interview durations depended on informant availability and flow of conversation. I estimated that the interview would last between 30 minutes and 2 hours. To avoid misunderstandings, I clarified that no financial gain will be generated from the interview for their contribution. I also explained that their answers are preferred to be recorded to be reviewed later. Recording interviews can help dedicate more time to the informant and because memory cannot be the only dependable source and reference to fieldwork answers. Since the research involves delicate or sensitive matters, the informant was assured their freedom to refuse to answer any question without any consequences, as well as stop the interview or withdraw from the research at any time (Cicourel, 1964). This was important even with informed consent that assured confidentiality. Allmark, et al. (2009) discussed that the possibility to harm informants emotionally was one of the ethical and generic issues in in-depth interviews. With that in mind, interview questions consisted of words that consider the informant's context and world view, for example, Islamic, conservative, their gender, nationality, romantic situation and so on (Kvale, 1996).

Most importantly, I explained how information will be kept confidential. To protect private and sensitive data, this thesis stresses the anonymity of informants. Informants were informed that their real names will be undisclosed and replaced with pseudonyms. The snowball sampling method eased this stage, as nominated informants can also be ensured discretion of private information and confidentiality by the initial informants (Glen, 2014). Likewise, all identifying information has been removed from the informant biographies presented in this thesis. Upon informant approval to the terms, interview conditions and research process, well-defined consent forms were provided for them to sign⁶. These forms declare their real names and a few statements that explain the research. Informants were informed that the signed consent forms, original audio recordings and interview transcripts will be retained in my possession unless specifically required by editors, journal reviewers, academic supervisors, and the like. Informants were also given the freedom to contact me for further clarification about the research, or to access the information they have provided, at any time. After informed consent, informants were asked to specify an optimal time and place to be interviewed. As for online interviews, they were conducted over the phone using the internet, and consent was communicated verbally, by text, or signed, scanned and sent back to me.

At the end of the interview, reconfirmation of informant comments was necessary. Notes were read out to make sure they agree with what was written and in case they wanted to make any additional comments or changes. Some interview transcriptions were requested to be sent to the respective informant by email. Providing a draft of informant responses for review was found to be a good strategy for building trust, increasing accuracy and awareness of my work (Bryman & Cassell, 2006). Informants were also provided a copy of the consent form and interview questionnaire.

4.3 Data Collection Procedure

Interview data was collected and completed over a fifteen-month period, between May 2018 and August 2019. During the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and 2021, I recontacted

⁶ A sample of the consent form is provided in Chapter VIII.

some of the informants to understand the overall situation in Kuwait and how the pandemic may have influenced gifting practices.

My interview style was semi-structured with an informal approach. In a semi-structured interview, a predetermined set of questions is prepared to ensure that certain topics are covered, thus it serves as an initial guide to the interview (Showkat & Parveen, 2017). A total of 32 questions were arranged for Kuwait's interviews⁷, which were then divided into three sections to maintain an easy conversational flow. Section A inquired information about gifts, gifting habits and motives, and reciprocation. Section B specifically examined Valentine's Day, its purpose, reasons for celebration or resisting celebration, relative gender roles during the occasion, societal and parental views, and its popularity in Kuwait. Lastly, Section C, the most delicate one in my opinion, discusses Kuwait; views about its society, culture, taboos, religion, government policies and so on. It investigates traditions of the country, general history, and personal ideas that may have affected gift practices. The questions were open-ended, concise, and jargon-free (Cicourel 1964; Patton 1987; Boyce & Neale 2006). Sequencing questions from general to specific, or "funnelling", was a clever technique to build up informants' responses (Cohen & Manion, 1994: 277). Since I also come from an Arab Islamic background, it was crucial that the study and questions remain objective to challenge bias (Tuckman 1972; Heyl 2001).

The question list served as a guide to mediate the interviews and permitted further probing to obtain more information (McCracken 1988b; Thompson, Locander & Pollio 1989). Probing also helped clarify informants' answers especially when misinterpretations to delicate topics may arise. This allowed me to feel confident about my analysis and reassured me of certain conclusions for the thesis (Kvale, 1996).

The interview questions were translated in Arabic, the local and only official language of Kuwait, for those who feel more comfortable conversing in that language. Interviews in Arabic were later transcribed and translated in English. Nonetheless, there were several informants who better express themselves in English. English is widely spoken in Kuwait.

⁷ Interview pre-set questions are provided in Chapter VIII.

It is an acknowledged language for social communication among non-Arabic speakers. In addition, it is a mandatory second language in schools and is increasingly being used in business correspondence, thus it is usually a demanded or required language to be eligible for employment. Other languages that are considerably used among the non-Arab population in Kuwait are Persian/Farsi and Urdu (Commisceo Global Consultancy, 2020).

Interviews started with stating research intentions and inquiring details about the informant's personal experience in Kuwait. Interview discussions were flexible, like casual chats (Lofland & Lofland 1995; Burgess 2016). This meant that topics outside the research focus were likely to emerge. Some of those topics were considered important for the thesis since they gave richness to my Valentine's Day gift research. However, whilst informants were free to talk about anything that came to mind, the pre-set questions were useful to maintain control and bring back the discussion to the research interest (Palmer, 1928: 171).

The interviews with informants required rapport and establishing a firm and respectful relationship (Kvale, 1996). This was mainly achieved by ensuring that their privacy will not be violated, which consequently encouraged them to suggest potential individuals for the study (Crossman, 2019).

I was keen to conduct the interviews in a comfortable informal environment, rather than in a professional office setting. Interviews took place in quiet workspaces, cafeterias and restaurants, which were usually free of noise, distractions or interruptions. Other interviews took place in personal residencies. Providing a relaxing atmosphere where informants were not rushed to answer ensured a more detailed input to the research (Boyce & Neale, 2006). Additionally, the interviews' informal approach and less structured manner created a safe space to uncover details about Valentine's Day in relation to the Islamic religion. This involved unfolding emotions, recalling memories, articulating thoughts, experiences, and personal opinions about the Kuwaiti Islamic community. A laptop, notepad and an audio recording device were used to record interviews and save transcripts for future analysis and research development. Interview notes were revised and confirmed with informants, to make corrections and clarify misunderstandings whenever necessary. Acknowledging informants' answers and confirming their ideas showed that I was attentive to their comments (Hitchcock, 1989: 79). For those who were weaker in English, I verbally reported my notes to them in Arabic.

At the end of each interview, I asked for feedback on the interview style and research topics to realise areas of improvement. Informant feedback included suggestions for the methodology, for example to upload the questions to an online link to achieve a higher number of responses and to use more closed or multiple-choice questions to save time.

4.4 Measures of Data Analysis

Interview data and personal observation served as primary sources of research. This information was collected in the form of field notes and audio-taped interviews, later transcribed for data analysis (Maykut & Morehouse, 1994). Interviews continued until a "saturation of knowledge" had been reached (Bertaux, 1981: 37). In other words, a pattern in the informants' answers was realised as more interviews were done. The stronger that pattern became, the more defensible the research can be. The most relevant information is determined because it is repetitive, while the exceptions allow to go further in the analysis. Theoretically, saturation, as well as other constraints including time and availability of informants, signalled the end point of my data collection (Boyce & Neale 2006: 3; Mason 2010).

The interviews were reviewed, transcribed, and translated when necessary, during the second half of 2019 and early 2020. After transcription, interview answers were thematically coded. They were grouped into the same three main categories as the questions: gifts, Valentine's Day, and Kuwait. Any topic that arose and could not fit under any of the categories was put in "miscellaneous". These topics included personal stories and ideas on Kuwait's politics, regime and immigration laws. A comparative table was then developed to organise informant responses, which made it easier to notice dominant patterns in answers and more importantly, realise "strong" comments that would affect the research analysis (Wolcott, 1990). The information obtained from the fieldwork was

primarily arranged to make evaluations based on age group (youth, young adults, middleaged adults, older adults, and seniors).

Afterwards, informant personal details were organized into an excel sheet to facilitate filtering and realise differences among responses⁸. Apart from age group, interpretation of results included a gender and a marital status analysis that were significant assets to Valentine's Day research in Kuwait. Studying men and women responses can indicate certain gender roles in Kuwait. Similarly, dissimilar marital statuses could show a change in interests and a different perception or reasoning to gift exchange and Valentine's Day celebrations. These two variables triggered certain cultural arguments and helped identify future areas of study.

Furthermore, distinct nationalities that represented immigrants in Kuwait had to be considered for this study. Dissimilar views between native citizens and expatriates who live in the same country is important to interpret certain cultural clashes. Therefore, a nationality analysis was established to compare results between Kuwaitis and non-Kuwaitis. It was also realised from the fieldwork that those who were born and raised in Kuwait, regardless the nationality, demonstrated different views than those who had only lived (or been living) there for shorter periods of time. This shows that newcomers absorb different perceptions towards certain matters and therefore face cultural challenges.

A substantial amount of time was then spent sorting, summarizing key information from each interview, cross relating the findings to their relative theory references and literature, explaining, and arguing potential valid notions, and finally allocating the data into thesis chapters. This guaranteed a better organised study and a more detailed assessment. When mentioning informants or using their direct quotes in the thesis, in-text citations referred to the footnote indicate their name, age, marital status, nationality, gender, and their relation to Kuwait. Providing informant quotes throughout the thesis adds credibility to the information being argued and concluded (Boyce & Neale, 2006).

⁸ Informants' information tables can be found in Chapter VIII.

4.5 Advantages to the methodology

There are reasons why in-depth interviewing is one of the most popular and efficient methods of qualitative research. Oral sources are important and relevant for history (Thompson, 1988). Moreover, "it is versatile across a range of study topics, adaptable to challenging field conditions, and excellent for not just providing information but for generating understanding as well", unlike a simple questionnaire or rating scale (Guest, Namey & Mitchell, 2013: 113). This approach was found especially effective when subjects were difficult to find or contact (Naderifar, Goli & Ghaljaei, 2017). During the early stages of data collection in 2018, simply approaching and talking to people was found to be quite uncommon in Kuwait due to their reserved nature. The snowball sampling technique was therefore deemed appropriate to gather primary sources for this thesis.

In-depth interviewing was effective to study subcultures, understand a specific research area and potentially uncover unascertained information by shedding light on some cultural misconceptions. It gave perspective and built awareness about how traditions in a family may change depending on cultural heritages and transnational marriages. Moreover, the revelation and discussion of deeper feelings and more experiences are achieved when talking independently to one person. This was beneficial for those who refrained from sharing their opinion publicly since the research contains topics that can be sensitive or personal to discuss, such as religious beliefs, intimate relationships and cultural taboos. Unlike focus groups, one-on-one interviews can evade peer pressure, therefore socially acceptable answers derived from other individuals in the room can be avoided.

Nevertheless, because of Kuwait's conservative Islamic culture, one-on-one interviews were still disfavoured by some informants. Some asked for an alternative because they felt anxious or shy to speak up and be recorded. Other than that, the influence of religious, societal norms was also present, like meeting alone with the opposite sex in an informal setting. Other challenges included time constraints and difficulty of personally interviewing a few of the informants because they lived outside of Kuwait. Others were unable to set concrete meeting appointments when I was in the country so our dates could

not coincide. As a solution for the above issues, some interviews were conducted online. With the advent of technology, an interview is not bound to be a meeting. It can be done at the informant's own time using a variety of social platforms over the internet (Showkat & Parveen, 2017). This helped reduce embarrassment, hesitation, or other ethical dilemmas related to Kuwait's culture.

The use of online interviews or online ethnographies in research have become more widespread and recognised as legitimate, efficient and reliable means of data collection by both market researchers and academics during the 21st century (Hine 2004; O'Connor, Madge, Shaw & Wellens 2008). Online surveys, internet-based interviews and email interviews have become especially common over the last decade and used even more substantially during the COVID-19 global pandemic. These methods were proven to be beneficial during the mandatory social distancing and travel restrictions (Buxo i Rei & González Alcantud 2021; Lupton 2021). Technology has created a radically changed landscape for the practice of research. The benefits outweigh their disadvantages as they facilitate real time co-presence and interactivity in different spatial locations and contexts.

Online interviewing primarily saved time. This method put less pressure on informants because they were given their space (James, 2016). They expressed their opinions and views more openly and thoroughly than the ones that were personally interviewed. Online interviews were convenient since informants were in a familiar environment, allowing them to be relaxed within the comfort of their own homes, which eliminated anxieties and unsettling experiences (O'Connor & Madge 2001: 11.2; Hine 2004; Bryman 2012). In one-on-one interviews, there was hesitation, long pauses and off-topic discussions, but online interviews reduced the informants' apprehension about being recorded, the conversations seemed more like casual talks.

Online interviews also saved time spent on flights. Additionally, they allowed me to talk to more informants in one day than I would with one-on-one interviews and personally helped me to reach people who lived in other countries. Online interviews therefore took less total time than traditional ones. Furthermore, transcripts were entered on the laptop immediately during online interviews which are more likely to be accurate, whereas problems of inaudible speech or mishearing usually occurs when listening back to traditional audio recordings (Bryman, 2012). Finally, online interviews also reduced costs, not only travel costs but also general expenses such as gasoline, cafeteria and restaurant bills.

5. Limitations to the study

It was evident that this thesis had several opportunities to show critical development of thought, make accurate analysis and reasoning, and deliver better arguments appropriately to make fair conclusions to the work. However, it is necessary to point out certain limitations that have impacted the interpretation of the findings from my research.

One-on-one in-depth interviews were pricey and time consuming. The struggle of travelling back and forth from Barcelona to Kuwait not only included expensive airline tickets, but also meant it was crucial to conduct the maximum possible number of interviews during my limited stays in Kuwait. This also depended on the informant's convenience and availability, especially that the interview could be somewhat lengthy. Most importantly, travelling to Kuwait to conduct ethnographic research during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and 2021 was an even more difficult task since the airport had blocked all incoming flights and banned non-citizens from entering the country for most of the year (Buxo i Rei & González Alcantud, 2021).

The sampling method used, snowball sampling, also required a considerable amount of time to gather informants. Furthermore, a good, trustworthy relationship had to be established with subsequent nominated informants prior to confirming a meeting date and discussing their lifestyles and habits. In-depth interviews required purchasing recording equipment, and then substantial time in transcribing, analysing, interpreting, and reporting the results. Apart from being a time-consuming approach, there was no guarantee that the subsequent referrals will actually take part in the research. This represented a risk that limited my informant sample. Furthermore, this method suggests a lack of control, or

choice, over the interviewed informant sample since it restricts me to original and subsequent subjects only.

Since the overall duration of the interview was long, it was expected that informants would get tired towards the end, resulting in short, untrue answers so that the interview could end sooner. An unfinished interview due to time constraints or tiredness was a disadvantage to this methodology approach, which was not considerably mentioned or warned about in previous literature. Another obvious limitation was that there was only one round of individual interviews. While some informants were able to be reached, it was difficult to reconnect with others to inquire further details on a point they made during the interview. There was also no guarantee that the informant would be willing to reopen the conversation again. Additionally, there were a few informants that did not consent for their conversations to be recorded, even after guaranteeing a secure handling of their private informant to ensure the validity of the data collected.

Even when overt ethnography is favoured for ethical reasons, people tend to behave differently when knowing that they are being studied, which results in untrue or inaccurate answers. Being uncomfortable with recording or uncomfortable with the interview location develops anxieties. Developing on that notion, cultural anxieties could develop towards the nature of the research topic, such as concerns about religion. Because of Kuwait's conservative society, some people are not open to share their ideas and feelings with others and hold back from discussing personal details pertaining to their relationships and habits. Therefore, they would provide a more socially desirable answer or might even exaggerate some ideas. This determines social desirability bias as another limitation. A language barrier, a difficulty to express oneself and reportedly unclear questions were other limitations to the study.

Inevitably, the findings to this research reflect limitations to a convenience sample, which include sampling bias and sampling error (Showkat & Parveen, 2017). At most times, initial sources nominated people that they know and are familiar with, like family members

or close friends, who usually share similar characteristics, lifestyles and customs especially since they all lived in the city and not the suburbs or rural areas. Therefore, as I quote from Boyce and Neale (2006: 3), "the impression that results can be projected to a population is not within the capabilities of this qualitative research approach". Additionally, since income analysis was not studied within the research, all informants were assumed to fall within similar income ranges and social classes. Similarly, although the information for this was obtained, the research analysis did not include conclusions based on professional occupation nor educational level of the informants.

Also, many informants were Kuwaiti residents, not Kuwaiti natives. The research was conducted to make conclusions about Kuwait as a country and not about Kuwaiti identity. Secondly, many (tribal) groups that live in Kuwait and demonstrate different social values and life ideologies were not part of this investigation, like Bedouins⁹ or *Biduns*¹⁰ (bidūn). These groups might have probably portrayed a different perspective to gift occasions and Valentine's Day. Thirdly, the research only studied the Islamic religion in terms of social and traditional practices. Lastly, the results to this thesis cannot be concluded on behalf of the entire Muslim community.

While online interviews were a clever way to avoid certain cultural anxieties or personal awkwardness, not to mention a very convenient method of data collection during a global pandemic, there was still a downside to them. Clearly, online interviews rely on a stable and fast internet connection. Although this was not a major issue that disrupted the research, poor video or audio quality and internet cuts were bound to occur a few times. Such technical problems clearly do not happen in personal interviews. Also, the informant had to be in a quiet space to enable clear transmission of speech. So, while they were in the comfort of their own homes, background noises and interruptions were difficult to be controlled or avoided, influencing the informant's line of reasoning.

⁹ Nomadic Arabs of the desert.

¹⁰ Stateless Arab minority in Kuwait.

6. State of the Art

6.1 Valentine's Day

Valentine's Day is a gift-giving occasion that has built bridges between cultures and enhanced social meaning (Robles, 2012). Valentine's Day, a festivity that can be viewed as a global event, involves an act of gift-giving and reciprocation, typically between those in romantic relationships, but is not restricted to them. It is now common that this day also celebrates kinship relationships. This holiday also tempts people to come forward with their romantic (hidden) emotions and sincere feelings to bond with someone new, as Close and Zinkhan (2006: 360) stated, "It is a day when a secret admirer might emerge".

Christmas for example, as a gift exchange occasion, is being exaggerated year after year. Studies show that the gift economy during Christmas in the United States accounts for a few billion dollars (Waits 1993; Dunn, Huntsinger, Lun & Sinclair 2008: 469), whilst in Northern China, villagers spend about 20% of their annual income on Christmas gifts (Yan, 1996). Valentine's Day is slowly taking on the same route of exaggeration in gifts, which betrays its true spirit of demonstrating love. In the words of Cheal (1988: 12), this leads to a "nostalgia for a natural economy" compared to the current commercialized economy existing in capitalist societies.

Valentine's Day is a westernized ritual often troubling to some societies, especially Islamic ones. Some Islamic countries incorporate this occasion as an excuse to show love. However, people in romantic relationships feel it is a pressuring event designed to purchase a gift, which restrains freedom (Goodwin, Smith & Spiggle 1990; Mayet & Pine 2010; Farbotko & Head 2013). In addition, an increasing budget rate is being exhausted on this annual event due to excessive commercialisation. Soon after Christmas is over, people almost immediately witness in-store display decorations and gift offers in preparation for Valentine's Day. Arguably, these tactics are created by marketing professionals to maximize business profits. Even characters that are associated with certain events, such as Santa Claus, the Easter Bunny and Cupid, are also merely designed for marketing goals. These characters continuously remind people of their duty to buy gifts (Mortelmans & Damen 2001; Farbotko & Head 2013). Nevertheless, Othman, Ong and Teng (2005), who studied Valentine's Day in Malaysia, contrarily have found that people are becoming increasingly receptive to western culture and are more willing to purchase romantic gifts due to the success of some commercial advertisements and promotions. These differing reactions were also noted by Close and Zinkhan (2006: 363), who investigated Valentine's Day in the United States. They explained that this holiday combines two extreme opposites or contradictions: consumers who either love it or hate it — "from euphoria to heartbreak".

Dorsey¹¹ (2018) developed an online report discussing the situation of Valentine's Day in several Islamic societies of dissimilar ethnic backgrounds. He discusses various notions of extremism towards the occasion. Earlier in 2005, the Islamic Development Department in Malaysia reckoned Valentine's Day as a Christian holiday that leads towards immoralities "from abortion and child abandonment to alcoholism and fraudulent behaviour", as Dorsey (2018) mentioned. Young individuals faced consequences (imprisoned or fined) by authorities when found with someone of the opposite sex who was not a spouse or close relative.

Between the years 2008 and 2009, Valentine's Day in India became a controversial subject and could not be treated as a national custom but as a foreign festivity (Dorsey, 2018). It was believed to be a "cultural contamination" brought on from the West and was considered a threat to the authentic Indian culture and tradition (Siddiqui, 2016: 172). Despite this, the occasion remains widely celebrated in the country. Siddiqui (2016) developed an interesting Valentine's Day study in India that explored how the media conceals the event using commercialisation, culture, religion, and politics. The hypothesis was that different newspapers were biased with regards to the content that they share on that day. He found that Urdu newspapers for example, which target particularly Muslims, completely disregarded the occurrence of the event, and even criticized it based on cultural and religious reasons, arguing that it is a western festivity encouraging lust, not love. In English newspapers, however, Valentine's Day was presented in a positive manner and

¹¹ James M. Dorsey is a PhD holder, senior fellow, co-director, and podcast co-host, who focuses on matters in the Middle East and North Africa.

romantic relationships were widely promoted. I use Siddiqui's study to validate ethnographic fieldwork since the media cannot be an accurate source to indicate the popularity or the spread of an event. In reference to Kuwait, it can be interpreted that Valentine's Day is discreetly celebrated without drawing media attention, therefore perceived as a strict Islamic country. Perhaps the reason behind why the Kuwaiti media and television industry show a conservative culture is to demonstrate the country's attachment to tradition and religion, thus proving strong ties to one's roots.

Likewise, this occurred in Indonesia in 2012. Valentine's Day was not portrayed in any communication source or teaching, and the occasion ceased to exist. Vendors were even forbidden to sell condoms so that people would not perform any sexual activity on that day. Later, in 2017, in Islamabad, Pakistan, President Mamnoon Hussain claimed that Valentine's Day has no connection with the Pakistani culture and should be prohibited. Valentine's Day was banned to be celebrated even on radio stations, because arguably, feelings that involve love encourage sin, nudity, and indecency among non-marital relationships, which are not acceptable in the Pakistani Islamic culture (Dorsey, 2018).

As for the Arabian Peninsula, Valentine's Day was prohibited for years to be celebrated in Saudi Arabia and any shade of red was banned to be displayed when the occasion approached. This prohibition influenced Kuwait and efforts were made to ban Valentine's Day in 2008 (Garcia, 2011: 2). Ultraconservatives and other members of Kuwait's Islamist movement agreed that celebrating Valentine's Day flouts Islamic teachings and values and does not reflect Kuwaiti customs either. Waleed Al-Tabtabaie and Jamaan Al-Harbash, two members of the Kuwaiti National Assembly Committee oversaw "negative alien" practices in Kuwait. They explained that Valentine's Day is an indecent celebration and practice, which encourages illicit relationships outside of wedlock, thus spreading obscene behaviour and moral corruption across the country (Elias, 2008). The public had been advised to be cautious of adopting non-Muslim practices and that they should not be "misled" by western media. Accepting Valentine's Day as a social practice would therefore strip away authentic Kuwaiti identity, since it had been linked with "Westernization" or "Christianisation" (Brosius & Wenzlhuemer, 2011: 47). However, measures to effectively

ban the occasion never took place, probably because the decision was not approved by an absolute majority of the Kuwaiti parliament.

Shockingly, in 2018, Saudi citizens came across an antithetical change in markets and stores. For the first time, red-coloured items that hinted at the love occasion were no longer hidden. Valentine gifts and symbols were widely displayed and sold to reflect the profundity of human sentiment. Al Arabiya English newspaper (2018) stated that this has been in fact "an old tradition but kept in the dark for too long" and "has finally made its appearance in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia". This perhaps demonstrates the reaction of people who wanted to celebrate the day (lawbreakers) but had struggled to do so because of the country's bureaucratic Islamic system. Views have therefore changed. Sheikh Ahmed Qasim Al-Ghamdi, a former religious police chief of Saudi Arabia, expressed that the conservative religious establishment is problematic, and Valentine's Day could represent an event like Mother's Day, to express feelings to loved ones and make beautiful memories (Dorsey, 2018). The massive transformation in Saudi Arabia was labelled as "optimistic" since it guaranteed a "more peaceful and secure future, for there is no way to fight evil and hatred except with love and tolerance", as per Al Arabiya English newspaper (2018). This suggests the expanding popularity of Valentine's Day among Islamic communities. As acknowledged, these widespread social occasions do not trace back to religion, but it was realised that there is no harm in celebrating them. Dorsey (2018) reflected on how this decision later received many criticisms, that it had misrepresented the image of religious orthodoxy, especially that it came from Saudi Arabia, the "holy" land of Islam (Ascoura, 2013). It can be noted that Muslims tend to follow by example, therefore they believe that when one strand of change occurs in cultural or religious habits, such as permitting to celebrate Valentine's Day, it would eventually normalise more events that have the tendency to start small but can lead towards more outlandish trends in the future.

Life experiences are deeply influenced by familial traditions, geographical location and exposure to other cultures. Because of these factors, many practices are performed distinctly in every Islamic country. Furthermore, a proposition affirmed by Roy (2003)

states that increased immigration rates caused by cultural and religious struggles in the 21st century will make more Muslims imitate the West and become similar in character. Throughout the previous decade, Muslim communities have been confused about whether to celebrate Valentine's Day or not, which led mostly to cultural discomfort. It is evident that adopting foreign lifestyle activities is a tough, slow process since restructuring cultures and religions is a challenging, troublesome matter.

6.2 Kuwait

Over several generations, people have learnt and adopted certain habits by taking qualities of other cultures and fitting them with their own. This relates to the past expansion of civilisations through trade, conflict and exploration, forming into complex societies, and this is marked by notable urbanisation, social and professional heterogeneity and corresponding developments in arts and sciences (Greene 2013; Bowden 2016). Civilisations however are distinguished from each other by religion, history, language, and tradition. All these factors lead towards the "gradual transformation to the contemporary, global international society" that we live in today, as underscored by Stivachtis (2008: 71).

As businesses operate on an international scale in a continuously developing society, globalisation becomes inevitable. Globalisation is one of the major factors that adjusted modes of thinking and influenced national cultures (Al-Nakib, 2020). It generated contemporary values that especially affected local heritage; an intangible challenge for Kuwait (Khalaf, 2016). Globalisation has also distorted the image of romantic love through the internet and different forms of commercialisation and media, creating significant ethical issues (Metcalfe & Game, 2008). Illouz (1997; 1998) has distinguished between mass media representations of love and a realistic model of love. Western mass media has portrayed love as a consumer-oriented, typical, "fictional" concept, commodifying emotions in events exactly like Valentine's Day, whereas in reality, it is more about sharing everyday life with one another. Lindholm (2006) explained how romantic love lost its quality and meaning in the West with the rise of individualism and perceptions of gender equality, which are principles linked to modernisation. As for non-western states like

Kuwait, romantic love is becoming more focused on the opulence of leisure time and ego boost instead of mutual satisfaction (Brosius & Wenzlhuemer, 2011).

The discussion on globalisation develops further approaches of deterritorialization, transnationalism and hybridization that were elucidated in the works of Appadurai, García-Canclini and Hernàndez i Martí. Appadurai (1996: 10) explains that expansion and new technologies are linked to the increase in imagination of other regions. In other words, they enable people to access other cultures and realities, which consequently result in the desire of changing their circumstances, or imagine new life, and eventually migrate. With the increasing spread of technology, social sciences were greatly impacted in the West during the acme of the modernisation theory between the 1950s and 1960s (Appadurai, 2000: 4).

People may consider migration to "resist state violence, seek social redress" and design a new mode of civic life (Appadurai, 2000: 6). As the number of immigrants increase, common "interests, cultural exchanges and social relations" also increase (Kastoryano, 2000: 1), which change people's lives in myriad ways. Transnational notions and migration movements began to multiply since the 1980s, which in turn broke down distances and characteristic barriers of modernity (Appadurai, 1996). This also affected post-modernity in terms of shaping and configuring countries in the 20th century because of the profusion of people, with reference to refugees, tourists, and workers who have crossed national borders (Appadurai, 1996: 160).

García-Canclini (2001: 13), on the other hand, introduces the concept of "hybridization", that reflects changes in modernity which then classify cultural systems, such as identity and tradition in local and global contexts. Therefore, in a country like Kuwait, since influenced by many outside factors, hybridization is evident. A mix of original identity and adopted identity is observed within its people. This results in impure understandings of human realities compared to when "populations were homogeneous and closed" and cultures were indigenous (García-Canclini, 2001: 260).

Along the same lines, Hernàndez i Martí (2006) describes deterritorialization as a condition of intensified globalisation that stimulates cultural heritage breakup, ever more caused from the above-mentioned global dynamics such as migrations, tourism, vast shopping centres, mass media and so forth. In other words, globalisation changes the connection between the places where people live and their cultural identities. Deterritorialization and hybridization therefore make it increasingly difficult to identify cultural images within local contexts. But the main takeaway from Hernàndez i Martí's work is the concept of mediatization that affects deterritorialization and is significantly important for Kuwait's fieldwork. It suggests that the media shapes and frames societal processes and discourses of communication in the country. Therefore, Valentine's Day celebrations in Kuwait could have been communicated and encouraged through mediatization. Mediatization seems to be ubiquitous in contemporary cultural encounters and is therefore inescapably decisive in de-territorializing social experiences (Tomlinson, 1999). Mediatization has particularly increased after the COVID-19 pandemic. During periods of total lockdown and selfisolation, the only means of communication was through (new) media technologies, such as newspapers, broadcast media (TV), websites and above all, social media networks.

Other notions explained by Hernàndez i Martí (2006) that contribute to cultural heritage breakup are cultural heterogeneity and transnationalism. Kastoryano (2008) also spoke about transnationalism which highlights global mobility, development of communication and flexibility of people, that their ideas may develop into more open resonances. Transnationalism discusses how language, skin colour, neighbourhood and kinship have become globalised, forming complex dominating social structures (Appadurai 1990; 1996). Accordingly, the large variety of ethnicities and nationalities entering Kuwait year after year has created a diverse circle of social backgrounds that infused and mixed with the original culture.

All the above theories suggest that when immigrants from dissimilar backgrounds meet and interact in a certain country, they begin to introduce their own home country's practices to create a sense of "multiple belonging" (Kastoryano, 2000: 6). Immigrants influence their surrounding communities with touches from their cultures and backgrounds, whether it is religiously or linguistically. This is due to their desire to maintain good bonds with their homeland (Anderson, 1983). In Europe for example, transnational community organisations have provided services to enrich and promote individual identity of being a "Muslim in Europe", teaching language, folklore, and religious essentials (Kastoryano, 2000: 5). The opposite is also true. The theory of internalisation suggests that individuals would observe and learn the norms of their surroundings as they partake in social interactions and multinational activities, consequently developing an understanding of them, until finally accepting them as their own (Scott 1971; Vygotsky, et al. 1978). In the case of Kuwait, this suggests that immigrants who left the country to live in the United States for example would participate in, and later accept, western practices and social norms. The media has also played a significant role in connecting people with lifestyle habits and activities (Hearn, Blagojević & Harrison, 2013).

As a result of mixed populations, imaginary cultural creation, and virtual contacts (or the new media), Appadurai (1990) and García-Canclini (2001) optimistically agreed to the disappearance of borders and individual identities because of an increase in migratory flows. In explanation, the above-mentioned transnational practices develop a personal dilemma of having multiple loyalties to more than one country, or to a country other than the homeland, "which leads to a confusion between rights and identity, culture and politics", as Kastoryano (2000: 2) explains. To try to link two countries together and pass on norms from one culture to another affect fundamental values of a person's home country (Kastoryano 1996; Portes 1996; Basch, Schiller & Blanc 1997; Levitt 1998a; 1998b). Some view transnationalism as a type of democratic influence, which implies the presence of Western values in the home country (Spiro, 1997). This allows to introduce the concept of modernity. As defined by Kilani (2011), modernity is a system of values linked with Western culture which distinguishes "religious" from "civic". I acknowledge that Valentine's Day in Kuwait was distinguished completely from religious values and was allowed to be celebrated for representing a civic activity derived from Western culture. To study the relevant process that clarifies modernity and transnationalization in Kuwait, historical and social contexts of the country were considered. After the Iraqi invasion in 1990, a new form of globalised power was indicated (Mirzoeff, 2005). Overtime,

globalisation had formed challenges in understanding culture and individual habits. This encourages to understand precisely what codes are still followed in Kuwait, and which ones have contrarily taken various shifts due to the previously mentioned theories and concepts. Thus, modern traditionalism is believed to exist in Kuwait.

"Traditional" refers to small-scale societies that often enjoy indigenous and ancient cultural practices, while "modern" refers to large-scale societies whose practices are linked with the industrial mode of production, often derived from colonial nations. Modern traditionalism shows that both concepts coexist today (Kovtun, 2016). The clash between the two is significant for Kuwait's population. Samar Al Mutawa, a Kuwaiti certified professional life coach who was interviewed in 2018 on a local Kuwaiti TV program commented that societies are being evolved especially with the use of social media. People in Kuwait have searched for the practices that could conform with their community and developed them accordingly. She emphasized that the traditional culture changed overtime, but in a conservative way. People have only adopted the parts that could be socially acceptable and may "work" for them in their society, while resisting other practices. A good example is relationships and dating, which are being increasingly noticed in the Arabian Gulf countries. Similarly, I use Azim's online quote from Rashid (2017) that states, "Young Muslims find a middle ground for fostering romantic relationships between what is permissible and what is forbidden". Evidently, the intercorrelation of conventional and contemporary practices suggest modern traditionalism (Petković 2007; Ratsika 2012; O'Brien & Noy 2015). Islamic societies are hereby faced with constant societal dilemmas of whether to maintain traditions or shift to a "modern way of living"¹² (Hanan, 2012: 800). Although modernity is a complex phenomenon with a highly debatable epoch, Rosenau (1992: 5) explicitly affirmed, "Modernity entered history as a progressive force promising to liberate humankind from ignorance and irrationality".

¹² Since there is no firm definition of a "modern way of living", it suggests, although admittedly a bold statement, the detachment from bureaucratic autocratic regulations, especially those stemming from religion, and to simply enjoy different experiences and practices by searching for a middle ground that would not displease or enrage God.

Harkness and Khaled (2014) confirmed that, despite of a rapidly developing society, endogamy remains on the rise in Qatar, another country from the Arabian Gulf, despite previous research showing that modernisation and urbanisation would normally reduce traditional forms of marriage. Statistics showed that more than 50% of marriages in Qatar were between first degree relatives (Al-Ghanim, 2010). Levels of endogamy seems to remain generally high in the Middle East as well (De Bel-Air, Safar & Destremau, 2018). Aixelà-Cabré (2000) studied marital relations in the context of Morocco and described how inbreeding among cousins is a recognised concept in almost all Arab countries. With regards to the Arabian Gulf, these customs remain present and almost unaffected in Qatar, UAE, Saudi Arabia, and Kuwait. Despite the rise of education and global media being part of an alleged "modernisation" concept, families were found to strictly follow their traditions (Al-Ghanim, 2010).

Al-Ghanim (2010: 251) realised that the youth faced obstruction by parents and were forced into arranged marriages. Strangely, however, in the 1970s, the youth disagreed with arranged kinship marriages in Kuwait. Marriage was an easier concept; freedom of choice and the right to select a marriage partner was more popular. Furthermore, there was no certain benchmark to satisfy for suitors to propose. This raises serious questions about the exact role of modernisation in the Arabian Gulf region. Sedgwick (2009) defines a traditionalist person as one that prefers a specific established practice over something that has replaced it. Probably, when people became easily connected with one another and influenced by other cultures through technology, education and social media, parents were keener to reserve local traditions by enforcing marriage from within the family. I could also reason with the explanation of Kim-Puri (2005), that people in Kuwait are more likely to follow and obey tradition and religious codes for being a country of low power or influence in the world. Perhaps overtime, the Kuwaiti population favoured a belief or practice that should have been passed along but was lost to traditions and satisfying family rituals. Modern traditionalism therefore denotes the emancipation from conservative religion, thus the departure of traditional cultural activities, and considers differing ideologies about preconceived ideas that formed limited beliefs (Calinescu, 2006).

Clearly, several interconnected theories and concepts affect this research with regards to Kuwait's culture. The analysis suggests that a situation of coexistence and assimilation is happening in Kuwait. Due to the above discussed factors of migration, media, capital, tourism, globalisation and so forth, the ability to reach outside nations is now widely facilitated and functional (Appadurai, 2000). It is therefore curious to address Kuwait's character socially, culturally, and nationally.

II. THE CONTEXT OF STUDY: KUWAIT

Gift-giving practices require an examination of distinct groups and cultural identities, and a deep investigation in social phenomena. It appears necessary to be familiar with the historical, political, economic, cultural, and social structures of Kuwait prior to executing historical ethnographic fieldwork. These structures of developing countries in the Arab region are very fluctuated, thus Kuwait cannot be critically compared with other neighbouring nations. This chapter provides more insight to the research context of this thesis and therefore more awareness about Kuwait. Kuwait's noticeable developing status and situation among the Arabian Gulf countries dates as far back as the 1960s, when it gained its independence. To understand the journey of Kuwait's transformation, I discuss its cultural heritage and contemporary culture. The chapter concludes with arguments about Kuwait's social changes and examples of heresies with regards to the Islamic religion, thus introducing my research in gift-giving.

1. History

Like every other country, the State of Kuwait, situated just at the tip of the Persian Gulf, has had its fair share of historical conflicts and wars. Flanked and influenced by many powerful surrounding countries, namely Saudi Arabia, Iraq and Iran, Kuwait has drawn the attention of other nations as a prospering, oil-rich territory with a strategic location (Sadek, et al., 2021). At the beginning, Kuwait was settled by British migrants who colonised the land and were in control of oil production and extraction. The relatively small country, just under 18,000 km², was a British protectorate from 1899 until its independence in 1961. It was the most extensive mobilisation of British forces in the Middle East (Ashton, 1998). The Anglo-Kuwaiti treaty of 1899 was of great benefit and interest to British enterprises, trade and economy. In return, Great Britain was accountable for the country's security and foreign relations. It also significantly enhanced Anglo-Kuwaiti relations up until this day, which increased the internalisation of the Arabian Gulf states (Stables, 1996). Shortly after Kuwait's independence in 1963, Kuwait became the first Arabian Gulf country to establish an elected parliament. This achievement was more difficult than it seemed, as explained hereafter.

After the discovery and manufacturing of oil in 1938, Kuwait's wealth increasingly prospered between 1940 and 1980, although the industry was interrupted by World War II and afterwards by the Iran-Iraq War throughout the 1980s. The oil boom caused a rapid urban development which attracted many foreign workforces seeking employment¹³ (Shah 2004; Ministry of Planning 2007: 4; Gulseven 2015: 13). Immigrants from several countries caused a substantial imbalance between Kuwaiti nationals and expatriates, which resulted in sharpened divisions during the 1980s (Barakat & Skelton, 2014). This posed a security risk. The high level of non-national workers was perceived as a threat to Kuwait's culture, societal integrity, and political system, and thus provoked political activists in the country (Pfeifer, 2004: 213). Eventually, in 1983, the government formulated a nationalistic labour policy, which introduced the concept of "Kuwaitization" in hiring processes, aiming to reduce the number of expatriate labour in the country (Barakat & Skelton 2014: 6; Gulseven 2015: 15). Similarly, it was claimed that there would be an attempt to decrease the expatriate number in Kuwait by 100,000 per year over the next decade by deportation (De Bel-Air 2013: 4; Shah & Al-Kazi 2017).

Shortly before the Iraqi invasion in 1990, Kuwait was already burdened with pre-existing structural issues and political instability. Internal security was threatened in context of the Iran-Iraq war of the 80s, resulting in a serious escalation of political violence in Kuwait. Oil installations, and the embassies of France and the United States were attacked, as well as an assassination attempt on the *Emir* ('amīr: ruling prince) of Kuwait in 1985 (Ulrichsen, 2012). Fortunately for some time, further political battles were halted at the occurrence of the Iraqi invasion in August 1990, forcing the royal family into exile, although the regime was already rather deposed. At that time, Kuwait formed allies with the United States to aid in liberating Kuwait with necessary skilled military (Terrill 2007; Lilli 2018). The country still expresses gratitude to this day for the support received during the Persian Gulf War and has become the most pro-American country in the Arabian Peninsula (IOR Global Services, 2018).

¹³ See Schielke (2020) who conducted ten years (2009-2019) of ethnographic research to study workers who migrated to the Arabian Gulf States in hopes of achieving a lifelong dream of career prosperity.

On a more positive note, those who resisted to leave the country and survived the Iraqis had expressed a newfound pride, in hopes that they had earned a substantive role in post-war renovation by redefining Kuwait into a more democratic, self-reliant, purposeful society (Efron 1991; Yetiv 2002: 263). However, upon Kuwait's liberation in 1991 and reconstruction, a wide array of challenges continued to exacerbate in terms of political, constitutional tensions and physical rehabilitation.

The government's failure to protect its citizens and defend its land during the war undermined its trustworthiness in the eyes of the population and harboured resentment against the regime (Katzman, 2005: 2). People who fled the country during the invasion were viewed as facing war in relative luxury (Gargan, 1991). Furthermore, after the war, an even bigger significant shift was noticed in the attractions of "cheaper" foreign workforces coming to Kuwait. They no longer only represented Arab nationals, but now, more Asian populations were entering the country (De Bel-Air 2013; Barakat & Skelton 2014; Hamaizia 2015: vi). Keeping in mind the old-time British influence on Kuwait and their sustained strong relations (Crystal, 1995: 60), the English language was certain to have spread the country and the region in general (Randall & Samimi 2010; Dashti 2017). This was an added advantage for immigrants to consider during their job search. Unfortunately, this resulted in an even more divided population in Kuwait. During the 21st century, an approximate percentage calculates that 70% of Kuwait's residents come from outside Kuwait (itinerate workers, expatriates, refugees, or stateless people), making Kuwaitis a minority in their own country (Shah 2004; Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012: 8; De Bel-Air 2013; Human Rights Watch 2016: 361; U.S. Department of State 2019a: 30).

Furthermore, many highlighted on-going tensions in the country persisted in effect in the context of the Arab Spring, Al-Sabah's regime legitimacy (Crystal, 1995: 57) and mass protests concerning the long-standing political and socio-economic crises. Again, popular demands reflected past concerns, which prioritized a radical political reform to create a liable representation of a trusted governance system (Barakat & Skelton, 2014). However, the Kuwaiti regime drew a "red line" at any opposition to the Al-Sabah monarchy or pressures to cede their rule (Gause, 2013: 22). Authorities have also restricted freedom of expression and defined consequences for any criticism of the *Emir* or the Kuwaiti

government in speeches or in social media, irrespective of who the person is (Human Rights Watch 2016: 360; U.S. Department of State 2019a: 10). For example, in 2013, 25 people, including 3 former members of parliament were detained for "insulting the *Emir*" (Gause, 2013: 19). Other public demands involved promoting reconciliation and equity between divided groups who have been marginalized inside the country, particularly among tribes, youth and the *Bidun* population¹⁴ (Ghabra, 2014).

Clearly, the country is still deeply rooted in a post-war reconstruction model. Although Kuwait had been immensely successful in augmenting economic revenue, it did not consider opportunities to fight contemporary challenges. Kuwait's post-war reconstruction was expected to embrace a different trajectory. It was supposed to focus on profound principles of democracy and social justice. Barakat and Skelton (2014: 2) commented that Kuwait has "missed its opportunity for a more transformational post-war vision".

Kuwait's post-war recovery from 1991 onwards is rarely studied although an incredibly significant turning point in history. The passing of just about three decades since Kuwait's liberation allows this thesis to reflect on present-day Kuwaiti culture. This culture was shaped and impacted by the decisions made following Saddam Hussein's occupation in 1990.

2. Ethnic Diversity

Since the diversity of Kuwait triggers many conflicts, an explanation to the demographic composition of the Kuwaiti population¹⁵ is in order. The *Bidun*, as previously mentioned, represent three groups: 1) those who failed to apply for citizenship when the 1959 Nationality Law came into effect, 2) those who originally came from other countries and have settled in Kuwait in the 1960s, and 3) children of Kuwaiti mothers and stateless or foreign fathers (Barakat & Skelton, 2014: 3). Therefore, the *Bidun* population mainly include those who lack Kuwaiti, or any other country's citizenship, and are therefore

¹⁴ In Arabic, *Bidun* literally signifies "without", but in Kuwait's local terms it signifies "stateless", or without a nationality.

¹⁵ Excluding the immigrant population that consist of numerous nationalities, like Indian, Egyptian, and Palestinian.

stateless (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012: 9; Barakat & Skelton 2014: 5). The Human Rights Watch (2011: 14) declared that "in 1985, the government changed the status of *Bidun* from legal residents without nationality to that of illegal residents". According to Amnesty International (2013), this initiated protests in 2011 and 2012 demanding human rights, specifically citizenship. Since the process of obtaining the Kuwaiti nationality is difficult, Kuwait is described as a homogenous nation with a distinguished culture among other communities (Anthony Smith 1979; Burrell 1989).

In continuation, Kuwait consists of a range of liberal, Islamist and tribal features. Native groups originated from Najd (central Saudi Arabia) called the Najrdis (Sunni Arabs), from Bahrain (Eastern Province) called the Baharnas, and from Iraq (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012: 3-4). In addition, a large group came from Eastern Arabia that today embodies the Iranian ideological influence on Kuwait's Shia (šīʿah: a main branch of Islam) population, resulting in native Kuwaitis of Persian ethnicity (Crystal, 1995: 40). As for the two main Islamic branches, Sunnis (sunnī) constitute about 70% of the Muslims in Kuwait, including the ruling family and leaders of the nation (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012: 4-5), while around 30% are Shia (U.S. Department of State, 2019a: 22). Differences between these two main branches of Islam send mixed signals regarding religious conduct to the population, as mentioned in a United Nations (ESCWA) report (2016: 54).

3. Culture and Lifestyle

Due to the cultural anthropological nature of this research, an overview regarding Kuwait's lifestyle is addressed, which although supported by some literature, was also very much observed during my ethnographic fieldwork.

Kuwait enjoys traditional, Arab-Muslim characteristics, where individual identities are marked by genealogy and family. Individuals are relationship-focused and family-oriented (Hofstede 1980; Aladwani 2013). It is common for the whole family to live together in the same house or villa, as this method encourages socialisation and therefore ensures familial and cultural traditions among future generations. Family honour is extremely important;

harmony and trust within the family and strong kinship bonds are an utmost priority (Elamin 2012; Khakhar & Rammal 2013; Winstone & Freeth 2018: 53-54, 59). Serious disputes or conflicts, like shaming the family's honour, usually have drastic consequences such as dismissal or abandonment of the certain member from the family. Therefore, rules for appropriate behaviour, like respecting the elders, and strict schedules, like curfews for children, are set by a role hierarchy depending on gender and age. To ensure obeying these rules, patterns of rank in an Arab-Muslim household are observed. Men, especially the father of the family, usually have the final word on major decisions, such as marriage, career choices, education, travel plans and so on (Almadanat, 2018). Therefore, the women, correspondingly the mothers, aim to keep control within those walls (Aixelà-Cabré 2000; Winstone & Freeth 2018: 59). Efforts on obedience and mutual respect are constantly exhausted to guarantee a good quality of life. However, rules do not apply to everyone all the time. During adulthood, rules become more lenient, yet one should still be sensitive to the hierarchy to avoid humiliation. Other strong collective values are based on hospitality, food, ceremonial occasions, and reciprocation (Winstone & Freeth, 2018: 58).

Fatalism and the Islamic religion are strongly reinforced within households, unless in very rare singular cases. Kuwait is viewed as a more religious and conservative country than other Arab states of the Persian Gulf, hence Kuwait, in the words of Winstone and Freeth (2018: 56), is a "God-fearing community". It is an alcohol-free, pork-free country, where dancing is forbidden in public, therefore clubbing is banned as well. The government also imposes censorship of the media and internet for Islamic purposes (Dalek et al. 2018: 58-63; U.S. Department of State 2019a: 13). Abortion, pornography, and prostitution is illegal and being a member of the LGBT+ community results in serious consequences, like a jail sentence¹⁶ (Ferchichi 2011; Human Rights Watch 2016: 21, 27, 362; U.S. Department of State 2019a: 28, 30). Nevertheless, Kuwait strongly tolerates and respects other religions as well (Khashan 2016; U.S. Department of State 2019b).

Being addressed on a first name basis is not very common in Kuwait among non-kin adults who converse, unless invited to do so. It shows that respect between people is even

¹⁶ Kuwait's Penal Code 1960, Article 193 and Penal Code 1960, Article 198 criminalises same-sex relations or imitations of the opposite sex (Ghoshal, et al., 2018: 67).

enforced in how they are addressed. People usually go by appellations, such as Mister or Sir (Miss/Mrs.), by designations, like Professor, Doctor or Engineer, or by the name of their first son or daughter, for example Abu ('abū) Omar (Father of Omar) or Um ('umm) Omar (Mother of Omar). Even when the person does not have any children, a title is assigned for them with regards to the name of their prospective first child.

Arabs, or more specifically Kuwaitis, openly discuss topics such as money, politics, sports, and family or personal matters typically in *diwaniyas* (dīwāniyyah: predominantly men's gathering lounge) or during *chai el-thahha* (šāy al-duhā: women's morning tea) (Alabdullah, 2020). Contrarily many subjects are taboo or socially unfavourable to speak about (Gobert, 2015). To name a few, feminine issues or reproductive health (even in all-women contexts), sexual relations, abortion, rape (including in marriage), homosexuality, drugs (and other addictions), mental health concerns¹⁷, death, and of course, questioning (or choosing) religion, are all offensive or somewhat dishonourable topics to discuss in a conservative Muslim society such as Kuwait's (Zinnid, 2013).

In terms of social interaction, Kuwait adheres to a traditional Arab communication style, which involves many indirect underlying messages featured with emotional displays, expressions, and hand gestures (IOR Global Services, 2018). As part of my fieldwork observation in Kuwait, greeting with physical contact (hugs and kisses) is not acceptable between men and women, yet to clarify, it is not against the law to do so, but is rather not "pleasing" to the public eye. Public displays of affection, on the other hand, are prohibited in Kuwait. Furthermore, type of language and communication approach were observed to sometimes differ depending on the individual's social class, which suggests the presence of social stratification in Kuwait (Crystal 1995: 39-45; Colton 2011; Alebrahim 2020).

4. Challenges: Kuwaiti Citizenship

The abyss and rivalry that divide Kuwait from other Arabian Gulf countries in terms of tourism, transport, infrastructure, agriculture, and other measures of diversification are

¹⁷ As it is associated with the traditional, outdated misconception of lack of piety or *imaan* ('īmān). There is generally low awareness and stigma attached to these issues within the Middle Eastern region (see Al-Krenawi 2005; Yahia 2012; Charara, et al. 2017; Zolezzi, et al. 2018; Plackett 2018; Bell 2019b; McCrae, Sharif & Norman 2019).

absent in the financial sector. These important aspects have long crippled Kuwait as a developing, rich country. Nonetheless, further challenges are also identified. Numerous organisations thoroughly pondered on Kuwait's serious issues and suggested certain recommendations (IMF 2015; TICG 2016). Firstly, actions should be taken on promoting sustainable growth and not to exclusively depend on oil revenue, but rather reform the expenditure structure (IMF, 2012). The country's reliance on the oil sector had been listed among the nation's vulnerabilities and developmental challenges since the 80s (Barakat & Skelton 2014; Hazarika 2016: 202, 204). A slight drop in oil prices could potentially disturb the economical equilibrium of the country (El-Katiri 2013; Kitous, et al. 2016). Most importantly, like every other natural resource, oil is bound to run out, so measures should be made to control overexploitation. The situation is even more critical because of the lack of growth in non-oil production sectors (Barakat & Skelton, 2014). Kuwait exports nearly nothing from its local production, except for oil and refined products, and imports almost everything else (Hassan, Al Shriaan & Al-Mutairi, 2017). For that reason, remedies to this problem were only recently put into action by the government. After acknowledging Kuwait's dependence on oil, it has been decided that at least 10% of government revenue was to be saved annually in the Fund for Future Generations (Hassan, Al Shriaan & Al-Mutairi 2017: 24; Daniel, n.d.: 36). It is unclear however whether this remedy would bear all future economic challenges of Kuwait.

Secondly, an effective plan should be executed to control Kuwait's labour imbalance in relation to foreign and national workforce. This appears even more critical considering the emergence of people displacement that was a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. To control outbreaks, Kuwait's parliament was pressured to further reduce its demographic imbalance, which was already one of the country's most difficult conundrums for over half a century¹⁸. Due to the pandemic, Kuwait has become less welcoming of 70% of its expatriate population¹⁹, the majority of which work in the private sector²⁰ (De Bel-Air,

¹⁸ State of Kuwait, Central Statistical Bureau, "Population in Census Years & Growth Rates by Nationality & Sex 1965-1995," https://www.csb.gov.kw/Pages/Statistics_en?ID=6&ParentCatID=1.

¹⁹ These measures along with xenophobic remarks made by some Kuwaiti parliament members and citizens make the country an undesired environment even for high-skilled workers who are needed in Kuwait's competitive labour market (Gulseven 2015: 15; InterNations 2018; Arab News 2020).

²⁰ State of Kuwait, Central Statistical Bureau, "Population estimates in Kuwait by Age, Nationality, and sex at 1/1 2019," https://www.csb.gov.kw/Pages/Statistics_en?ID=67&ParentCatID=%201.

2013). The private sector mostly constitutes of "low status" jobs that Kuwaitis are generally not inclined to take (Hamaizia 2015: vi; Malit Jr. & Naufal 2017: 2), such as domestic work or manual labour²¹. The public sector, on the other hand, satisfies Kuwaitis with better job conditions including appealing work hours, longer vacations and higher wages (Hamaizia 2015: vi; Gulseven 2015: 13-14). Kuwaiti nationals enjoy many governmental benefits, namely scholarships and compensations, which again suggests the presence of social stratification (Crystal 1995: 39-45; Colton 2011; Alebrahim 2020). That being so, the system advises the private sector not to employ Kuwaitis for being "expensive" and "high maintenance" (John, 2020). These are all serious challenges for Kuwait, as studies show that its private sector is unlikely to prosper mainly because of its rigid kafala²² (kafālah) system (Al-Ghanim 2015: 6-8; Barzoukas 2018; Garcia 2018). The kafala system is incorporated to ensure that migrant workers cannot stay in the country after retirement, let alone apply for citizenship or permanent residence, receive pensions, or own houses (Shah & Al-Kazi 2017; Schielke 2020). On that note, even children from migrant parents are denied birth right citizenship. For many years, recommendations were made to reform the kafala system, but so far, the government's stance has not changed (Diop, Johnston & Le, 2015). Prominent Economist Abdelmajeed Al-Shatti (2017) believes that abolishing the kafala system would improve Kuwait's international image and economic efficiency. Therefore, due to lack of rights and being "unseen" by the government, migrant workers are now vulnerable to both the COVID-19 virus and to the government's attempts to dismiss their work residencies in Kuwait, which was already a long-acknowledged threat (Hamaizia, 2015: vii). The pandemic has also led to a global economic crisis, recession, and spiking unemployment rates across many other countries.

Furthermore, children of Kuwaiti mothers and foreign fathers, while being denied the Kuwaiti citizenship, are favoured for employment over "stranger expatriates", as per parliament member Safa Al Hashem, whereas the *Bidun* population, who have even longer historical and cultural ties to the country, are the least favoured (Izzak & Saleh, 2020). Relevantly, a reconceived citizenship policy, especially in the case of *Biduns*, should

²¹ State of Kuwait, Central Statistical Bureau, "Migration Statistics Bulletin 2019" (2019). Available from:

https://www.csb.gov.kw/Pages/Statistics_en?ID=56&ParentCatID=1.

²² Work or guardian residence sponsorship.

urgently be put in place (Human Rights Watch 2016: 361; U.S. Department of State 2019a: 18).

The core point here is that these economic, demographic and population issues were recognised ever since the rebuilding of the country from the Iraqi invasion (Herb, 2018). Alas, Kuwait again finds itself experiencing profound political instability and a growing socio-economic turmoil. Some remedies for this situation included undertaking large-scale regional projects, developing infrastructure, and enhancing productivity, which offer employment and boost competitiveness with neighbouring countries (Ministry of Planning 2007: 5; Gulseven 2015: 15). Conversely, however, the country has also considered cutting costs by promoting foreign direct investment, downsizing employment, abolishing subsidies, and beginning to impose tax to compensate for an oil price that became significantly lower than what it was about a decade ago (NDI 2007; Haque, Patnaik & Hashmi 2016).

Thirdly, technology embed into classrooms and lecture halls of education institutes is necessary and more urgent than ever to implement (Ministry of Planning, 2007: 10-11). Unsuccessful attempts to use and integrate such technologies had previously resulted in cultural, technical, and contextual challenges (Alfelaij, 2016). Kuwait should overcome the barrier derived from the belief "that resources should not be allocated to research and development activities", as stated by Al-Sultan (1998: 800). Kuwait has yet to improve on many other educational standards, namely standards in English literacy (Gobert, 2011). A report prepared for the Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) provides recommendations to develop a more knowledge-based economy, more precisely to transition into an international innovation ecosystem (Brinkley, Hutton, Schneider & Ulrichsen, 2012). To support this transition, investment in entrepreneurship, education and frontier-emerging technologies and research are required. This indicates a revolution in technology and a rise in globalisation in Kuwait in the coming future. Recently, Kuwait's efforts and interest in technology integration have been evident in schools, higher educational institutes and commercial centres. Clearly, integrating these sophisticated technologies is another remedy to Kuwait's economic dilemmas.

These cultural issues do not demean Kuwait's situation or capacity for improvement. It only implies that there is still room for advanced innovative processes in the nation. It is necessary to address Kuwait's long-term dilemmas to identify potential areas of growth for the country. This is extremely critical in a post-pandemic era and, certainly, a post-oil future. Belbagi (2015: 2) states, "Given the increasingly young and informed public, building and maintaining a strong national identity must be encouraged to create active citizens who produce more than they consume".

5. Opportunities: Women Empowerment

Despite the adversities Kuwait is experiencing, it also has interesting qualities and several accomplishments that are worth mentioning. To begin with, Kuwait is an advanced country born in wealth, being one of the world's largest oil producers (Akhileshwar 2018: 160-162; Greenley 2019: 10-11). Its massive oil reserves make it one of the richest countries per capita (Gulseven, 2015: 15). On top of that, the Kuwaiti Dinar holds the highest-valued currency in the world (Arab Times Online, 2017). After the 1990s, the State of Kuwait and international policy institutions have been exhausting efforts on producing report developments that cover many matters, such as gender equality, infrastructure, education, and employment (NDI 2007; Ministry of Planning 2007; UNDP 2010; European Parliament 2014).

Kuwait is especially leading an example with regards to women political rights (Al-Mughni, 2001). In 2005, women suffrage was passed in Kuwait, granting Kuwaiti women their right to vote and run-in parliamentary elections, the first women to do so in Arabian Gulf history (Al-Mughni 2008; Olimat 2009; Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012: 29). This supports the BBC News' claim (2020c) that being a "conservative state with a Sunni Muslim-majority and a U.S. ally, Kuwait stands out from the other Gulf monarchies for having the most open political system". Additionally, as part of family codes and laws, the state supports women rights by providing funds for new mothers, single mothers, and divorced and widowed women (Aixelà-Cabré 2009; UN: ESCWA 2016: 51). In fact, Kuwait was listed as the number one country in the Arab region in gender development, scoring a "very high" index (UN: ESCWA, 2016: 72).

Nevertheless, women rights and freedom of choice are limited in Kuwait. Women are still fighting for an equal participation in political and public affairs (UN: ESCWA, 2016: 16, 20), especially since some Islamist women activists agree with their male counterparts that the female suffrage satisfies a Western agenda, aimed to break up the country's traditions and culture (Al-Mughni, 2010). Other social and cultural barriers are also sought to be abolished (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012: 29; Alzuabi 2016). These barriers include discrimination in work environments and in legalities of marriage, divorce, childbearing, and child citizenship and custody (U.S. Department of State 2019a: 21-22, 26-27). Law amendments to sexual harassment, rape and domestic violence are also being developed (UN: ESCWA 2016: 53, 55; Human Rights Watch 2016: 362; U.S. Department of State 2019a: 25).

Above all, Kuwait is recognised as a country that tolerates other ideologies, religions and concepts. Education in Kuwait has risen significantly in the 21st century²³, so much so that campuses are unable to handle the increasing number of enrolling students for lacking space and staff (Al-Ali 2010; Al-Anba 2014). This however inspired teachers and educators to find new ways to deliver their lessons, which reduced teaching and instruction expenses. Alfelaij (2016) listed different types of technologies that are integrated into Kuwait's educational systems, for example, learning management systems (LMSs), e-learning projects, and more recently, smartphone applications. Kuwait's internet use is also among the highest in the region, which further facilitates teaching and learning approaches.

This underscores the fact that, for all its challenges, Kuwait continuously aspires to improve and to stand out amongst its neighbouring countries. After spending 26 years away from the country, Alberici (2017) in an online news analysis expressed her fascination in "Kuwait's stunning architecture, thriving commercial district and women rights, press freedom, sophistication in business, politics and culture". Adding to that, Shehab (2015) stated how Kuwait pushed itself out of oblivion into rapid prominence by its concealed wealth and innovative intellect of western enterprise and technology. Nonetheless, despite

²³ Although the Kuwaiti government emphasizes the importance of education regardless of gender (Crystal, 1995: 45), segregation between males and females is still observed in numerous schools and university lecture halls.

the obvious transition of the country, Alberici (2017) admitted that Kuwait's progressive ambitions are still wrapped in the "often suffocating cloak of Islam".

6. Gift-giving research in Kuwait

The identity of the Arabian Gulf is realised in conflicts of power and beliefs, and in the domain of oil wealth. It is evident that Kuwait holds a rich history with an undoubtedly nationalistic population. It is also evident that Kuwait depends on a "natural unquestioning belief in God and in the teaching of the Quran", as asserted by Winstone and Freeth (2018: 57). This chapter has given an overview that determines the influence of Islam on political and social structures in Kuwait. Attachment to native soil and family traditions is obvious. However, the growing paradox of economic globalisation triggers curiosity to whether a "modern nature of nationalism", as Aixelà-Cabré (2018) concluded for other countries, is emerging in Kuwait.

Recently, more "sophisticated" Arabs often debate certain Islamic rules, such as abstinence from alcohol, or observance of prayer and fasting, or even the validity of friendships with the opposite sex, which suggests that religion is becoming less strict than it used to be decades ago (Winstone & Freeth, 2018: 57). Additionally, I hover over the point that women in Kuwait are not that oppressed and are free to express themselves in both private and public spheres. For a long time, women rights and gender equality were considered as products of western culture and lifestyle, therefore women were taught to adhere to the principles and rules of Islamic Sharia (šarī ah: religious law) instead (Al-Mughni, 2010). Nevertheless, over about 30 years, Kuwait has witnessed a rise of feminist activism that delineate the role of women in the Muslim society (González, 2013). With an increased access to education, employment and public participation, women were able to acquire new skills to reach their maximum potential. Many studies on contemporary Arab societies revealed the prevalence of women empowerment and leadership (Al-Suwaihel 2010; Alzuabi 2016). In Kuwait, more managerial or leadership positions are increasingly appointed to women, as well as attaining a better women representation in law enforcement and justice-related positions (UN: ESCWA, 2016: 43, 56). This consequently made them more aware of their day-to-day routines that previously mainly revolved around domestic

chores and family care. They also became more knowledgeable about matters of religion. Certain female orthodox interpretations in Islamic scriptures were restudied and questioned²⁴, which surprisingly contradicted contemporary gender roles and practices in Kuwait (Al-Mughni, 2010: 174). Women oppression is in fact reckoned as a sign of backwardness and humiliation in Islam. The study of the Islamic Sharia and teachings of Prophet Mohammed brought a new comprehension of current societal issues. It also appeared pivotal to reveal ambiguities in many concepts, such as modesty and veiling (Nahar, Lazim & Yusof, 2019). Apparently, they appeared to possess different meanings according to individual situations (Cole & Ahmadi, 2003: 60-61). Religious exploration therefore led many women activists to demand a fairer social role of balancing between work and family and above all, the liberty to make their own decisions and lead their own lives (Al-Mughni 2010; UN: ESCWA 2016: 16).

As a result of this freedom, my fieldwork indicates that young women in Kuwait of middle to upper class are free to date, love, celebrate occasions publicly, and express themselves with their own depictions of fashion (clothing, accessories, makeup, and hairstyle), which apparently are not eccentric to their religion, Islam. Al-Mughni (2010: 170) mentioned the same, "Women's lives changed beyond recognition. Kuwaiti women moved from being veiled and secluded to moving about freely in the streets dressed in Western clothes". Apparels like the *hijab* (veil or headscarf), or the traditional Kuwaiti *abaya* or *dishdasha*²⁵ (dišdāšah) although still widely common, are slowly fading in younger generations who follow the dictates of western fashion. Veiling is a cultural issue among many Arab, Islamic, male-dominated communities. In Kuwait, when women have become visible in parliament, Islamists in 2009 who previously fought women enfranchisement were now demanding they wear headscarves and were obsessed with conservatism and representations of modesty or "decent attire", as Eltahawy (2015) expressed. Because of such oppressive government regimes, some women have expressed the added responsibility and obstacle the *hijab* forms in many life aspects, leading them to remove it

 $^{^{24}}$ This is called *ijtihad* – the reinterpretation of the sources of religion (El-Nawawy & Khamis, 2009: 103). A discontinuation of practicing *ijtihad* is believed to be one of the reasons why "the whole Islamic nation is estranged from its active role", as quoted in Al-Mughni (2010: 180).

²⁵ An ankle-length, loose traditional garment, commonly worn by men in the Arabian Peninsula. Different terms for this attire exist in every country.

or "steer away" from their Islamic identity (Shirazi & Mishra, 2010: 52). They believe that due to an Islamophobic climate, especially after the September 11 attacks, not only does the *hijab* influence a negative educational experience for women in Arab countries, but also hinders many opportunities, such as seeking a job or a spouse²⁶, causing them to feel estranged (Killian 2003; Cole & Ahmadi 2003: 49, 57, 59, 61-62; Shirazi 2019). Opposingly, others wear the *hijab* to protect themselves from sexual harassment or assault, an act that lacks proper legal consequences in Arab societies like Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Egypt, Yemen, Jordan, among others (Eltahawy, 2015). In other cases, there is always the argument that practicing being a good Muslim is far better and more rewardable than "looking Muslim", since the *hijab* is not a pillar in Islam²⁷ to be judged upon.

On the other hand, numerous studies have argued that the veil and other modest Islamic attire empower and liberate Muslim women in western contexts, such as the United States and European countries, because it screams "authentic" Muslim identity, which must be reinforced no matter the culture or context (Cole & Ahmadi 2003: 56, 62-63; Badr 2004; Haddad 2007; Shirazi & Mishra 2010: 50, 58). This shows how being surrounded by so many other nationalities has crystallised Islamic identity (Mooro, 2019). Naturally, laws that were created to ban certain Islamic attire prompted panic across several non-Muslim societies, fighting for their right of wearing the *hijab* and "keeping their identity" (Croucher 2008; Grillo & Shah 2012; McCrea 2013; Hass 2020). The Muslim struggle for justice and dignity in western communities is found to contradict the purpose of "free democratic" governments. Abu-Rabi (2013: 141) explains that open societies are supposed to respect religion and religious worship²⁸, in which failure to accept different identities and religious interpretations would otherwise be called narrowmindedness²⁹ (Eltahawy, 2015). However, since veiling is excessively linked to social stereotypes like oppression and female confinement (Aixelà-Cabré, 2006: 75), freedom to remove the veil is encouraged

²⁶ On that note, veiling is not the only oppressive custom. An even more damaging tradition is that of "saving" a woman's hymen for her wedding night (Eltahawy, 2015).

²⁷ The five pillars of Islam represent the essential foundations that the religion is built upon. They include testimony (*shahada* – šahādah), prayer (*salat*), fasting (*sawm* – ṣawm), almsgiving (*zakat*) and pilgrimage (*hajj*) (Fierro 1997: 86; Dean & Khan 1997).

²⁸ Ramadan (2004: 181) calls this a moral responsibility. To be a "free" country or society means to also protect the freedom and dignity of others.

²⁹ Along the same lines, women who do not fight for equal gender rights are called anti-national, anti-progress and closed-minded extremists, as per Tétreault, Rizzo and Shultziner (2012: 24).

because "open" societies do not force a specific dress code on their people, as doing so is against human rights and freedom of expression. Therefore, individuals eschewing to show ethnic or religious identity would not be threatened. In this sense, many European states protect women's agency and "secular values" (Baldi 2018; OHCHR, n.d.: 3). Even so, there is a very fine line between what women choose freely (to wear) because of their religion and what sexist communities force them to do. My research hereby distinguishes between Islam and cultural traditions. Clearly in this sense, the law of the *hijab* in Islam is questioned.

Cole and Ahmadi (2003: 48) showed that Islamic representations are different in every culture and country, which explains why there are different styles in veiling. Acknowledging varying views on this topic implies that the *hijab* goes beyond just a headcover or representation of modesty (Bhowon & Bundhoo, 2016). Cole and Ahmadi (2003: 54) identified veiling as part of family norms (parental expectations), individual culture and peer pressure. It proves that there are traditional and perhaps even familial ideologies behind wearing the *hijab*, little it has to do with religion. Veiling is therefore perceived in many cases as a cultural adornment, not a religious practice or dress code (Cole & Ahmadi, 2003: 57).

As shown, many Muslim women in non-Muslim societies strive to stand out by wearing the veil, while in Kuwait, the opposite seems to prevail. In terms of the advent of western fashion in Kuwait, it is necessary to understand the motives behind choice changes, whether it is due to an Islamophobic climate, especially after the September 11 attacks (Koura, 2018), or a decreasing conviction of the *hijab* and Islamic attire after realising that perhaps it is only a cultural tradition that pressurises them to dress up as such. Additionally, some Islamists encourage the revival of the general role of women. An unveiled woman should be viewed as "pious but not fanatic, who appreciates modern life but is not too Westernized", as stated by Tétreault, Rizzo and Shultziner (2012: 15). This establishes a middle ground to veiling. In Kuwait's contemporary society, where freedom of expression is becoming a human right, defending individual fashion styles; what to wear or what not to wear, appears to only support personal taste not a detachment from religion, and is viewed as a form of liberation (Peeters 2006; De Vries 2018).

On that note, distinguishing between Islam and cultural traditions does not only include matters of women veiling. This brings me to my research in gifting practices. Acknowledging that the research has realised a transformation in certain gender roles, it also identifies a change in cultural practices. Just as before, inadequate awareness served as a symptom of an underdeveloped country and a barrier to progress (El-Nawawy & Khamis, 2009: 100). With more religious exploration, increased educational levels and an aspiration for modernisation in Kuwait's society (Al-Mughni, 2001: 51-57), certain practices were viewed differently, like Valentine's Day. By separating activities from religion, or in other words, secularizing them (Modood, 2010), certain concepts developed new frames, which represented a reconciliation between democracy and Islam (Fierro 1997: 90; El-Nawawy & Khamis 2009: 101) and distinguished religious practice from traditional practice. Consequently, in search for new meanings, traditional practices were disrupted, and new values were introduced into Kuwait's society (Al-Mughni 2010; González 2013). Bewildering change in customs is identified, specifically in gift-giving, dating and romantic standards. More individuals do not find an issue with celebrating western occasions as it does not conflict with Islamic Sharia. This however brought on many debates as some activities overlapped certain points in religion, which promoted "modern Islamic discourses" (Al-Mughni, 2010: 170, 180). Traditional Islamist ideology, which had previously discouraged foreign practices, consequently lost some currency. Islamists were sought to explain the absence of opposition in celebrating western "nonharmful" occasions to defend democracy, progress and development for Kuwait (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012: 24). Scholars, such as Tariq Ramadan, also attempted to "bridge the gap between secular lifestyle of the West and the traditional values of Islam", as Gaon (2017: 1) announced, in which he faced many struggles (March 2007; Fourest 2008; Carle 2011).

On the other hand, some individuals interpret the significance of Valentine's Day in Islam. Ultraconservative Muslims do not accept of the occasion because it is a "foreign intruder" from occidental contexts. For a long time, this topic was polemic in many Muslim communities. The presence of western fashion and contemporary gender roles that support the "liberation" of women in Kuwait, were also long debated. There are still women groups that defend their orthodox interpretations of gender roles. They also claim that the *hijab* is an obligation, not an individual decision, as it distinguishes Muslims from non-Muslims (Turshen, 2002: 898).

Due to an increasingly multicultural environment in Kuwait, there is no single dominant view among Muslims concerning contemporary practices. Islam, having spread to several continents, appears to be represented and interpreted differently in every country, even in every family. Therefore, the Islam studied in Kuwait is deeply meshed with Arabian contexts, which is unique from Asian Islamic contexts for example. Since Muslim identities are not similarly articulated, governments of "free" societies should not hold on to one image of Islam, which is usually that of Saudi Arabia or Iran. Furthermore, since an identity marker is not an issue in Muslim-majority countries (Wagner, Sen, Permanadeli & Howarth, 2012: 521), this probably gives more freedom for the people in Kuwait to engage in other habits and practices, while simultaneously upholding one's identity as a believer. Maybe it is the case of "standing out" among a dominant group³⁰ or the "need for uniqueness" (Schumpe & Erb, 2015), as established from my fieldwork in Kuwait. Studying motives that led to this change in cultural practices can achieve an understanding of what mostly influences this era. In this sense, the future of Kuwait is bound to witness certain social and cultural developments (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012: 24).

In addition, it can be argued that this cultural transformation does not necessarily satisfy a western agenda and is not a western phenomenon, but is simply a transformation in celebratory practices, particularly gifting practices (Arenfeldt & Golley, 2012). Above all, celebrating western-originated events or embracing western fashion is a personal preference that expresses individual taste and choice.

Ideologies change over time; taking part in western practices has become more tolerable in the Arabian Peninsula. This transformation was neither steady nor uniform, but it unevenly evolved over a long period of time (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012: 20). Interpretation of Islam and the Quran opens a wide array of judgements and is clearly a matter of

³⁰ In comparison with "fitting in" in Muslim minority countries.

discussion. Islamic education theology indicates that Islam can be tolerant in multicultural societies, especially among the youth, thus is a religion of sufferance and recognition. Similarly, some Muslim groups call themselves "reformists" or "revivalists" of true Islamic tradition, who restore proper interpretations of the religion (Hashmi & Miles, 2002: 5). Nevertheless, it is important to clarify that tolerance in Islamic constitutional systems does not signify an absolute "liberal" Islam (Abu-Rabi, 2013: 142).

Finally, I stress that the data collected for this thesis refers to a change, or shift, in celebratory occasions, particularly gift-giving patterns in relation to the Kuwaiti context in the 21st century, and not a change of nationalism, Kuwaiti culture, or individual identity. Kuwaiti culture and traditions are well-spread across the country and Muslim identity remain noticeable within the population. In fact, according to my fieldwork, religion and history were the top aspects that distinguish Kuwait among other Arab countries. Alberici (2017) strongly claimed in her online news analysis, "There's no question Kuwait is an advanced country, but it's not Western and has no aspiration to be so". While there is no ground evidence that pinpoints Kuwait's aspirations nor proves Alberici's statement, this thesis argues instead that "advanced" and "western" could be interchangeable terms in Kuwait's social, economic, and political development contexts. Certainly, with more knowledge and research, evidence that determine Kuwait's aspirations can be offered.

History has witnessed abundant fierce movements, war, and activism in Kuwait that brought about political and social change, which builds and shapes the current community. Historians such as Al Faraj (1927-1930), Al-Shamlan (1959; 2001) and more recently, Alebrahim (2020; 2021) were exhaustively involved in addressing the quintessence of historical Kuwaiti features in areas such as politics and international correspondence, and in making Arabian Gulf cultural activities publicly known. Since my research work has a historical base, the gift allows to realise social and economic changes of Kuwait, from colonisation to the discovery and out-turns of oil. I seek to deliver the idea that due to changed material conditions in Kuwait, other concepts in life have been consequently touched, including religion, gender roles, interpersonal relationships, sustainability concerns, and most importantly, the overall symbol and meaning of the gift.

III. THE KUWAITI GIFT: A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

In anthropological theory, the initial definition of the gift is averred to embody a gratuitous, voluntary act, performed by presenting something of quality to another person without compensation. It is free, selflessly given, without an expectation of return (Testart, 2013: 250). Forms of gifting have been represented by iconic figures, utilized to bring nations together, such as the Statue of Liberty (Britt, 2013), or dedicated to demonstrate love, such as the Mughal Mahal, the epitome of the romantic gift (Islam 2013; Dirlam, Rogers & Weldon 2019).

This chapter calls attention to Kuwait's cultural gifting habits and the dynamics that revolve around this practice in reference to noteworthy gift theories from the literature. Gift reciprocation in Kuwait is also studied to understand relationship values and expectations. Afterwards, the influence of Kuwaiti culture on the gift and its presentation is examined, followed by an analysis of the gift in Islam. Kuwait's fieldwork also distinguished materialistic, expensive gifts from selfless, symbolic ones, which included the gift of time and surprise gifts. Finally, to reflect on recent circumstances, the gift-giving practice in Kuwait was also studied during the global COVID-19 pandemic.

1. Kuwait's Gift Theory: Favours, Reconciliation, Reminiscence, Preferred and Received Gifts

To offer gifts signifies that there is an intention to reassure, maintain or strengthen a certain social relationship, and may even be an opportunity to create new ones (Weiner 1992; Benson & Carter 2008). The idea of gift-giving could have originally begun since childhood, for example when children share food among their friends during recess in school. Today, the gift-giving practice requires more effort. It involves thought, evaluation, and selection of objects or services to complete an obligation towards a certain person, or to achieve a spontaneous moment (Macklin & Walker 1988; Bell 1991). Usually, gifts are selected to represent the occasion, the relationship, and the emotions involved (Pandya & Venkatesh, 1992). To put this into context, for example, a man creates a mixtape of his wedding songs for his wife (the relationship) on their anniversary (the occasion), in aims

of retrieving feelings and reminiscing their wedding ceremony (the emotions involved). His gift acts as a sensory reminder that can bring back those memories. Receiving personalised and highly ritualized gifts reinforces sentiment, connection, and commitment between people, giving meaning to their relationship, and therefore improving the overall experience of the gift (Ruth, Otnes & Brunel, 1999).

This section introduces the gift in Kuwait by analysing the classics of gift anthropology. Dominant theories and research conducted by experts in the field are discussed which determine the gift's meaning in different societies. This information consequently distinguishes the role of the gift in Kuwait and acknowledges its prominent features, after having mixed with its Arab culture and social relations. Gift exchange triggers curiosity as Kuwait is influenced by surrounding nations and is constantly bombarded with foreign production. Gift-giving in Kuwait is a precise yet tricky concept because it is portrayed differently according to the situation, such as when asking for a favour, making peace with someone, declaring a truce, or reminiscing a memory. The gift in Kuwait was investigated in terms of monetary value, advertisement that promotes it, and all distinctive emotions that emerge during the selection, purchase and exchange process. A curious result from the fieldwork discusses the mismatch between preferred gifts and received gifts. Furthermore, gift ideas and decisions do not only differ depending on the occasion or the receiving person, but also depends on age, gender and marital status. Gifts may also signify something completely different when compared to a certain era, or another demographic region, such us the West. I call attention to these matters that play an important role in the gift-giving practice and in Kuwait's contemporary society.

Marcel Mauss, a French ethnologist, underwent a full cultural tribal experience in the Pacific Northwest Coast of Canada and the United States. He studied the anthropological side of gift rituals and practices, specifically the *kula* (or the *kularing*) and the *potlatch*. These traditional practices, or feasts, were firmly linked with religious ideas of the autochthonous population, something that structured their lifestyle, and that is why religion is a factor that highlights the gift practice in Kuwait. He contemplated other factors that fluctuated with the gift, such as politics, economics, competition, rivalry, and sacrifice. He reiterated that there is always a reason, an intention and an emotion behind giving gifts.

Mauss had thereafter taken from Durkheim's ideas and developed extended innovations which agreed with Durkheim, that a gift is derived from society demands, memory and political pressure (Mauss, 1925).

Potlatch, a common ceremonial feast practiced to this day, is considered a gift-giving custom among neighbouring tribes and friends. It encourages the distribution and exchange of foodstuffs and property in return of an acknowledged social status. After the *potlatch* became illegal in British Columbia in 1884, anthropologist Franz Boas (1888: 636) described the ban as a failure because it was a good practice with many promising and beneficial consequences to it. It was viewed in line with paying off debt. In this sense, the practice contributed to positivism, sociology, history, and ethnology. Mauss similarly described his study of the gift as a positivist research, as confirmed earlier by Franz Boas. Mauss eventually developed a theoretical foundation on reciprocity in his well-known publication, The Gift (1925) with aims to understand the implications that his assessment could have for other cultures. On the other hand, the famous study carried out by Mauss about the *kula* system specifically analysed the significance of a pure, selfless gift. Blood and organ donations also fall under pure, selfless gifts (Bell, 2019a). Andreoni (1990) showed that while donors cannot ask for an organ in return for such spiritual donations, reciprocation may occur in other forms such as self-satisfaction; the feeling of doing good when helping others, just like when giving charity (Anik, Aknin, Norton & Dunn 2009; Surana & Lomas 2014). Mauss therefore emphasized reciprocation, purity of motives and personal sentiment within gift exchanges³¹.

Prior to Mauss, between 1914 and 1922, Bronislaw Malinowski's study on the *kula* developed a different stream considering exchange (Murdock, 1943). These ceremonial exchanges later developed further models to Malinowski's reasoning, including the Sahlins model (1972) and the Testart model (2013). While the Sahlins model focuses on types of reciprocation (discussed in the following section), the Testart model proposes the distinction between a gift and a trade (commodity exchange). Opposing Mauss, this distinction does not depend on reciprocation because selfish giving also exists. For

³¹ Many other scholars later studied the gift with immense depth and analysis, Mauss' ideas being the main reference and highlight (Ki 2006: 729-732; Mallard 2019; Yan 2020).

instance, the baksheesh (baqšīš), or tipping someone, is performed to show humbleness, but usually to receive more in return, for example to sustain a good service or to become a valuable client. The distinction hereby between a gift and a trade is that the gift giver cannot truly guarantee reciprocation, while the individual who trades, always has the privilege to request compensation. This therefore concludes that the *kula* is not a gift-giving practice but an act of trade since one can demand compensation. Malinowski validated the Testart's model in the *kula* exchange which clearly showed the irregular gift-giving as a key political procedure. This comparatively was not the case with the *potlatch*, which displayed the offering and sharing of gifts and counter gifts among groups. Consequently, Alain Testart re-examined Mauss' theories, particularly that which states the "obligation to reciprocate" (Testart, 1998: 97-110). He criticizes Mauss for not indicating whether the idea of obligation is juridical or simply goodwill, thus darkening the nature and significance of gift reciprocation in history and in society. Conclusively, gift-giving, as Malinowski contended, was not a philanthropic gesture, which is the believed concept among the general public, but is a practice politically encouraged for individual benefit. These propositions are still being broadly debated to date.

In Kuwait, a notion that involves reciprocation is winning a person with a gift. Based on my fieldwork, winning a person with a gift obtained a unanimous agreement for its validity in Kuwait. Seba³² explained that when a person offers someone a tangible item or an intangible service, it makes them stand out from the rest, consequently "winning" that individual. To win an individual usually reflects the motive of personal advantage, self-satisfaction, and improved social status. The gift therefore assists people to reach a certain end and is a friendly strategy that facilitates asking for a favour in Kuwait. Overall, Neilson (1999) claimed that while gift-exchange relationships received sufficient attention in the literature, favour-exchange relationships have not. Doing a favour for someone is largely widespread in the Arab region, regardless of any payment or gift, and is often called *Wasta*³³ (wāsiṭah) or, humorously, Vitamin "W" (Tlaiss & Kauser 2011; Feghali 2014).

³² Seba is a 23-year-old single Jordanian female, born and raised in Kuwait.

³³ The root of the word *Wasta* stems from the Arabic word *Waseet* (wasīt), meaning middleman, intermediary or medium, referring to personal social connections or important people in a certain field (Feghali 2014; Ramady 2016).

Wasta, a culturally based system of social networking, is very prevalent in Arab societies and highly utilized in Kuwait (Ramady, 2016). Unfortunately, this social practice has received little attention in academic literature. The practice involves contacting influential people who could help in obtaining or accessing something, as a favour doing. While usually referring to social networks or connections, the term *Wasta* in Kuwait is now popularly used to refer to an important physical figure. These figures mostly act on behalf of and benefit family, kin, and members of close social circles, like neighbours. A *Wasta* also benefits members who share similar identifying characteristics, for example religion or ethnicity (Tlaiss & Kauser, 2011). In other words, *Wasta* can be a synonym for nepotism, favouritism, or cronyism³⁴ (Hutchings & Weir 2006; Berger, Herstein, McCarthy & Puffer 2019). Based on this, favours are usually performed when there is a relationship of trust, which is also a component of gift exchange (Neilson, 1999).

The *Wasta* practice, although arguably a large factor of corruption³⁵ (Tlaiss & Kauser 2011: 473; Ramady 2016), plays a central role in Arab life. It has gradually become a main unit and integral part of Arab society. Arab collectivist societies foster around traditional values which involve helping one another. In many opinions, *Wasta* has less to do with strong positions or reaching a certain end, and more to do with relationship building and unification (Tlaiss & Kauser, 2011: 477). Additionally, in current-day contemporary culture, norms are being developed to justify this practice. *Wasta* is relatively viewed as a positive phenomenon demonstrating alliance and empathy with one another. Accordingly, being someone's *Wasta* is a symbol of solidarity and loyalty, since group interests are supposed to override the interests of the individual (Tlaiss & Kauser 2011; Berger, Herstein, McCarthy & Puffer 2019).

³⁴ The exercise of power through social, political, and business networks to satisfy familial and kinship goals by befriending influential people, or in many cases, knowing someone who knows someone (Tlaiss & Kauser, 2011).

³⁵ From a Western perspective, the use of influential connections is considered an abuse of power to meet personal objectives (Hutchings & Weir 2006; Ramady 2016). Since *Wasta* is not available to everyone, less fortunate individuals struggle through the normal bureaucratic system and are unlikely to move forward to fulfil private goals. *Wasta* is also often associated with bribery because it causes inequality, unfairness, and inefficiency by giving undue advantages to a person who may not necessarily deserve them (Tlaiss & Kauser 2011; Ramady 2016; Berger, Herstein, McCarthy & Puffer 2019). Studies show that *Wasta* leads to poor performance in many Arab firms and hinders the development of Middle Eastern nations.

There is evidence that the *Wasta* practice has existed for centuries, but it cannot be pinpointed when exactly it first came into general use (Barnett, Yandle & Naufal, 2013). It is certain, however, that its meaning and goal have evolved over time. Its main purpose was to diffuse tribal conflict. Throughout the years, the practice transformed from conflict resolution to economic benefit acquisition (Barnett, Yandle & Naufal 2013; Feghali 2014). Nowadays, it represents a social norm in Arab societies, a way of survival by intercession (Hutchings & Weir, 2006)³⁶.

Doing a favour for someone, or being their *Wasta* to achieve something, usually does not involve the exchange of money. It is a free service merely used to "speed things up" in favour of another person (Tlaiss & Kauser, 2011: 473). This usually means that hierarchy and rules would be dismissed or skipped just for this certain individual. Additionally, Wasta mimics a lifehack to ease civic processes or "jump the queue" of many services. In Kuwait, using a central character or a protagonist to get things done is broadly viewed as a way to receive assistance, especially in acquiring a public service like obtaining employment, gaining admission to a university (or graduating university), securing promotion, or landing a business deal (Tlaiss & Kauser 2011: 470; Barnett, Yandle & Naufal 2013; Feghali 2014; Ramady 2016; Al-Twal & Aladwan 2020). This sometimes involves going around a common law or practice, even in legal processes. In Kuwait, services that require legal assistance include visa issuance, driving licence issuance, residency renewals, removal of fines and so on. In other cases, Wasta is also used in healthcare systems; knowing someone who is eligible to write medical prescriptions or medical certificates, secure a sooner medical appointment and the like. As shown, the use of Wasta by men and women occurs in Kuwait for many life situations, regardless of their age.

³⁶ Wasta-like practices are also present in many other non-Arab societies (Barnett, Yandle & Naufal, 2013).

Although doing favours or being someone's *Wasta* normally does not involve the exchange of money³⁷ (Feghali, 2014), Seba explains that it is sometimes complimenting to approach the person with a gift, especially when there is no close relationship with them. A gift can be helpful to start a conversation with this influential person and "win them over". As shown in the above examples, gifts are used for an ulterior motive that is not just personal, but career related. In return, people accept doing the favour because they have been approached with a gift. Sometimes the favour is done before the offering of the gift. In this case, the gift is given afterwards as a gesture of indebtedness or appreciation (Feghali 2014; Hoyer, MacInnis, Pieters, Chan, & Northey 2018). The "thank you" gift is usually symbolic but elicits the emotion of gratitude and respect from the giving side (Berger, Herstein, McCarthy & Puffer, 2019). This represents reciprocation differences in various cultural contexts.

Accepting to do a favour depends on the approach (linguistic factors: politeness and sentiment), the identity of the person (social factors: status and similarity) and most critically, the size and type of favour (urgency and narrative, context of story) (Althoff, Danescu-Niculescu-Mizil & Jurafsky, 2014). This indicates that the *Wasta* would not accept to do every favour asked of them. A study showed that socially inefficient favours are easier and more likely to be done than costly favours (Neilson, 1999), especially since effort put into doing a costly favour could be higher than the returns. Therefore, since costly favours or services cannot be balanced with a gift, there must be a stronger reason to why the *Wasta* will accept doing it; a person must *earn* them with an established, strong, respectful relationship with the *Wasta*. This distinguishes the difference between doing favours and gift-giving; the individual is free to decide whether to do the favour or not.

After analysing the act of doing favours and the role of gifts in the *Wasta* process, I argue that favours could be bought in Kuwait. The intended notion is presented as such, "I have

³⁷ While giving cash in exchange of one's services is usually condemned or even taboo (considered as an insult), giving gifts may constitute bribery in Kuwait (Hutchings & Weir 2006; Moldovan & Van de Walle 2013). In many cases, gifting and bribery are hardly distinguishable as both involve a similar effect and social behaviour, although giving gifts appears to be a friendlier tactic than a bribe. Ong (2011) calls them "fishy gifts" because they hold guilt and shame. Sometimes, "gifts are exploited blatantly to cover up a less benevolent behaviour", as discussed by Verhezen (2005: 13). To avoid misunderstandings and corruption, some companies or schools in Kuwait underline a no-gift policy in their statements.

bought a gift for you, so you could help me with something else". It suggests that the favour is not being done, but being bought using the gift, and so, the bigger the favour, the bigger the gift and vice versa. This indicates that favours always expect reciprocation; one cannot be left with nothing (Neilson, 1999). Seba realises that not only the Kuwaiti gift is materialistic and selfish, but also suggests that even people may have a materialistic objective. Therefore, accepting to do a favour also depends on what will be received in return, even when the favour-doer, or the *Wasta*, acknowledges that there is no immediate benefit (Althoff, Danescu-Niculescu-Mizil & Jurafsky, 2014). In this sense, the favour depicts a (temporary) debt which is supposed to be repaid in the future (Feghali, 2014). Repaying the favour would show that personal bonds are valuable. This establishes that reciprocity³⁸ is what distinguishes the *Wasta* practice from a bribe (Tlaiss & Kauser 2011; Ramady 2016). It keeps people in long-term commitments through gift exchanges bounded by tradition and culture. Even in non-Arab countries, such as India, it is fundamental to promote exchange by reciprocating gifts, assisting in time of need by doing favours and showing hospitality (Berger, Herstein, McCarthy & Puffer, 2019). Similarly, Seba clarified that the gift plays a major role in social connections and networks within Arab societies. Nevertheless, many favours are performed without receiving anything in return (Neilson 1999; Althoff, Danescu-Niculescu-Mizil & Jurafsky 2014). Therefore, I reckon that performing a favour can have similar meanings to giving a gift because of ambiguities in reciprocation (Verhezen, 2005).

Some moral values, however, could be touched during a *Wasta* practice. It is somewhat humiliating for the receiver to be deceived by the gift, especially to reach a different end other than strengthening interpersonal bonds. Therefore, acknowledging the misuse of the gift, the requested favour might be rejected, which would infuriate the gift giver. Neilson's study (1999) revealed that people are extremely unforgiving. If a person ever fails to perform something that was asked of them as a favour, the relationship could be terminated forever. Accordingly, rejecting a gift may signify rejecting a relationship. Graycar and Jancsics (2016) further studied how relationships are compromised due to the ambiguity of the gift practice. On the other hand, gift takers might only accept the gift out of fear of

³⁸ Owing or being owed favours.

disappointing the giver, but with no guarantees that the favour will be successfully executed. Another apparent reason for accepting the gift was mentioned by Tahani³⁹, "It [the gift] is not a measure, people cannot be valued with gifts". Tahani's comment suggests that a gift cannot balance a person's value or position, but it would still be accepted as a small compensation to their efforts. Some favours, especially expensive or troublesome ones, cannot be reciprocated with a gift. This again places social relationships in top position in Arab societies; when there is a firm, recognised bond with a person, a gift is no longer necessary.

Aside from the *Wasta* practice and giving gifts in exchange of a favour, a completely different viewpoint was realised with regards to "winning a person" with gifts. It was found effective when trying to earn someone's support or affection, romantically (Chen, Shang, Lin & Chen, 2015). Gifts are categorised as a smart dating strategy in Kuwait to win over someone who seems reluctant; to try to "win" their interest or care. Lee (2013: 634) described giving gifts as "taking advantage" of someone to induce their love. Nevertheless, this is not strictly a guaranteed outcome. Dunn, Huntsinger, Lun and Sinclair (2008: 477) revealed that certain gifts between recently acquainted individuals had dissimilar reactions between the genders. Their study showed that bad gifts can influence relationship perceptions. An undesirable gift would give a negative signal to a man that the relationship is strictly incomparable, that there is no mutual chemistry, while women were relatively unaffected by the quality of the gift and felt rather elated. Apparently, for women, an undesirable gift would not cause negative consequences to any future relationship. Women would normally overlook the beginning stages of a relationship, which means they will become more judging of gift choices after an established bond is formed. Therefore, it seems that while gifts can certainly bring people closer together and create better relationships, it still does not guarantee a mutual attraction between couples unless sharing similar interests and having a strong emotional connection. Therefore, it would take much more than a gift to develop a desired relationship in Kuwait.

³⁹ Tahani is a 24-year-old married Palestinian female, moved to Kuwait by marriage in 2016.

According to the above information and the theories put forward by Testart (2013) and Mauss (1925), the *Wasta* practice in Kuwait, or doing favours, can be acknowledged to depict a trade because something will be done in return, whether tangible or intangible. Also, I agree with Mauss when he realised that gifts have an underlying intention to be (almost) always reciprocated. On the other hand, offering presents to achieve a romantic relationship are certainly gifts because one cannot guarantee reciprocation, or a mutual feeling.

Other than self-satisfaction and an acknowledged social status, Mauss (1925) also identified another purpose for gift exchange, to bring societies together. He emphasized that a gift helps resolve arguments or misunderstandings and could make people and nations of dissimilar characteristics become one. It is a vital element that develops peace and alliances as an alternative to war. In fact, Mauss concluded that gifts are considered the "glue of society" (Whitaker, 2017: 5). Thomas (1991; 1994) also stated that social exchange facilitated through gifts could assuage threats of violence and lend support to different parties. Clearly, gifts can influence decisions. This point was confirmed in Kuwait. Giving gifts is a wonderful way to solve problems, as Joanna⁴⁰ affirmed, "I am sure that gifts can help resolve a conflict, especially in a political setting". Due to the political instability that Kuwait has been experiencing, gifts, especially monetary ones as Joanna commented, could be advantageous when presented to high state officials of opposing political parties. Interestingly, gifts can also unite members under the same party. Trying to sort out differences between people that have no personal or close relationship, monetary gifts are viewed more beneficial and persuasive than arguing or discussing the problem.

While Joanna thought of gifts that solve political issues, Qassem⁴¹ discussed a different situation that can also be solved with gifts. He spoke about Kuwait's many tribal groups, and how some can exaggerate their gifts, "People may buy food or plan a big party for someone just to clear things up. Some people go as far as buying a car for others". In Kuwait's culture, this seems normal. Even the most expensive gifts are perceived as a token

⁴⁰ Joanna is a 28-year-old married Lebanese female, raised in Kuwait, currently lives in the United States.

⁴¹ Qassem is a 26-year-old single Syrian male, working in Kuwait.

of appreciation and signal the intention of establishing common ground between members. More importantly, Qassem's comment eradicates Cheal's notion of expensive gifts being viewed as charity. Cheal (1988) determines a base for balancing a return gift to fulfil a "symmetrical" reciprocation. To achieve this, the gift should not change the receiver's moral status or in other words, making them feel better or worse about themselves. The gift should also be sensitive to the receiver's financial status; therefore, it should not be an expensive one, otherwise it will be considered as charity or feeling pity. Cheal's theory of a balanced reciprocation does not appear to be common in Kuwait. It is normal to show generosity and offer big gifts to one another, but this is not very common in other Middle Eastern societies.

Amina⁴² relates this difference to the wealth of a country, "Not all countries earn the same amount of money, so consequently they don't behave the same". Naturally, something to keep in mind is individual income. Working in Kuwait comes with many perks, namely a high monthly salary. Adam⁴³ claimed that people who have not even obtained a university degree are able to work and enjoy a good salary in Kuwait, therefore the value of money is not very appreciated when buying expensive gifts. This means that in other lower income countries of the Middle East, like Egypt or Lebanon for example, gifts are expected to be simpler or cheaper. Furthermore, Bader⁴⁴ said that gifts are simpler in other countries due to certain values and buying ability or power, not to mention peoples' habits, accessible gift options and lifestyles, which are also affected by peer pressure. All these factors influence the gift. Therefore, because of the relatively high income in Kuwait, people can afford more things and buying power is correspondingly high.

After acknowledging that gifts can help resolve conflicts that arise within political parties and tribal groups, Seba came up with another situation that can be solved with gifts in Kuwait. As a very common concept, gifts can be used to resolve conflicts within families and in workplace relations. An example she gave was the typical scenario of a dispute between husband and wife, where normally settling things would need much more than a

⁴² Amina is a 72-year-old widowed Kuwaiti female.

⁴³ Adam is a 31-year-old single Syrian male, born and raised in Kuwait.

⁴⁴ Bader is a 47-year-old married Kuwaiti male.

discussion. According to Seba, flowers or jewellery could more likely lower the frustration between the couple. She said, "a gift would soften the situation" and make it easier to reach a solution. Based on this information, the role of the gift is different in two interpersonal contexts. As earlier established, in Kuwait it is less likely that the gift would attract a potential romantic partner but can certainly help romantic couples come back together after a fight. As for workplace matters, Seba mentioned that businesses would sometimes present their competitors with symbolic gifts when needing to close a business deal for example. She finally added that offering gifts to settle problems in general frequently occurs in Middle Eastern Arab countries. It appears that giving gifts is an iconic gesture and not only a mere practice among Arabs.

The most common motive for reciprocating gifts found within the literature was to link tangible things to a specific time or to an important event (Goodwin, Smith & Spiggle 1990; Belk & Coon 1993; Vasheghani-Farahani, Esfandiar & Tajzadeh-Namin 2014). The items that people exchange within close social relationships hold a strong mnemonic value and therefore a sense of responsibility and care is developed towards them. Possessions with strong mnemonic value signifies that they aid the memory, or they are designed to recall a moment in life, which is a grand quality for a gift (McCracken, 1988a). On a further note, Collins-Kreiner and Zins (2011) mentioned that photographs taken on the occasion would be even more significant in retaining memories than gift-giving.

Gifts can help recall memories of childhood or of hardships for example, which stimulates many distinct emotions between close individuals, like family relatives or best friends. The gift is very personal when it signifies something intimate. Consequently, attention is withdrawn from the gift and is focused on the giver and the relationship. From Kuwait's fieldwork, creating memories was rarely mentioned as a motive to give gifts. Only two older male adults⁴⁵ expressed that gifts can deliver messages that hint at people's histories. Karam⁴⁶ said that giving gifts helps him "remember the person or people who are most dear and close" to him. In this respect, he does not buy gifts for an occasion, but to stimulate thought about others on a more personal level. The gift therefore becomes more thoughtful

⁴⁵ Older adult informants are individuals between 51-60 years of age.

⁴⁶ Karam is a 56-year-old married Jordanian male, living in Kuwait since the 90s.

and heartfelt. Issa⁴⁷ more specifically stated that "creating an intimate celebration becomes" a reminder or a special memory together". Sharing beautiful memories by celebrating occasions was a notion previously mentioned by McCracken (1988a) and Kamptner (1989). Both Issa and Karam are married men who have children and grandchildren. They showed that giving gifts is a special experience that contributes to memory. This interprets the sentimental value of gifts; the more influential they are, the better they are remembered. Based on their age group, it appears that Issa and Karam are passing through life-changing transitions as retirement age approaches. They have also recently become grandparents; or their children have travelled, moved out, or got married. As fewer financial dependents rely on them, older adults become more attached to family relationships, "in contrast to the common belief that older people are isolated from family members and friends", as stated by Walker, et al. (2001: 1). Accordingly, as people age, they exhibit greater capacity to love and work, participate more in social relations, and become more engaged with giftgiving. Gift-giving is therefore a way to boost these social relations where the goal is not to exchange items, but to ensure that shared thoughts and feelings are harmonised with those of others. Above all, older adults exchange gifts to make sure they are remembered, despite their quickly changing circumstances.

After looking into key situations for offering gifts in Kuwait, I have also investigated the type of gift often circulated, which featured several characteristics. According to my fieldwork, the gift is usually materialistic, useful to the receiver and is given to impress or to show-off⁴⁸. This represents the motive of personal advantage. The gift should also be pretty and of good quality. These characteristics describe common received gifts in contemporary Kuwait. It suggests that if the gift were not flattering, it would be exchanged, thrown away or remain unused. An unflattering gift would also be barely mentioned to other people or remembered by the receiver in the future.

Mauss (1925) had expressed that commodities in markets move in a circulation mode among individuals, referring to how items are always reciprocated and exchanged one way or another, mimicking a wheel or a needle and thread. This produces an everlasting cycle,

⁴⁷ Issa is a 60-year-old married Pakistani male, living in Kuwait since the 80s.

⁴⁸ Refer to section: Gifts shaped by the Kuwaiti culture.

hinting at continuity and redistribution. Polanyi (1957) also agreed to this notion as a basic anthropological principle. Mauss added that since exchanging gifts produces an everlasting cycle, this keeps people in permanent commitments. Therefore, reciprocity is a commitment that could stay in effect as long as the relationship is ongoing, as Carrier (2012b) stated. Based on this information, usual received items in Kuwait probably do not represent a gift, but rather a trade, as the Testart model (2013) explains. Expensive items insinuate that a compensation, or reciprocation, is required sometime in the future, which again explains why they are not considered as charity. Presenting expensive gifts can be a strategy to sustain the gift-giving cycle with the receiver and remain in a permanent commitment. With regards to many theories discussed in the literature, the occurrence of a "selfish" gifting practice is determined in Kuwait, leading to a continually escalating giftgiving.

In contrast, there was also a discussion about preferred gifts. Fieldwork findings showed that preferred gifts resembled symbolic, affordable items, although the norm was to receive expensive, usually branded, items. Instead of essentialising expensive gifts, Danah⁴⁹ for example, appreciates books, clothes and theatre or concert tickets. These are all examples of tasteful, consumed items that convey that the thought behind the gift is more important than its cost. As shown, some individuals pay less attention to the gift's financial value and more on its thoughtfulness and symbolic meaning. Offering simple, symbolic items also does not obligate people to remain in constant gift exchange relationships and would not hint that something is desired in return. This can be a way to stand out from Kuwait's materialistic society; to be the exception to the norm. It again demonstrates the need for uniqueness as a dominant concept in Kuwait (Schumpe & Erb, 2015). Evidently, there is a clash between desired gifts and received gifts. The image of Kuwait's materialistic culture is subverted by what people prefer to receive. It matters to understand this concept to develop gift implications for Kuwait in the future. It suggests that there is a disagreement to the material culture that Kuwait is proceeding towards through gifting.

⁴⁹ Danah is a 67-year-old widowed Kuwaiti female.

This section analysed four main reasons for giving gifts in Kuwait: for an occasion, apology, love, and personal advantage, exactly as Tahani stated. Her comment supports four distinct gift dimensions: festive gifts, reconciliation gifts, and love gifts, as defined by Mauss (1925), and self-beneficial gifts, as defined by Malinowski (1926).

2. The Art of Reciprocation: Gift Hunting

A lot of debate has occurred about returning a gift, or in better words, reciprocation, which indicates a relationship of trust between the giver and receiver. The reciprocated gift is determined based on generosity, kinship distance and sociability (Sahlins, 1972). This concept, to constantly give back, may develop varying sensations between the parties involved, including motivation, competition, or frustration (Carrier, 2012b). Mathews (2017: 90) admitted that the gift possessed a dominant role in ancient social customs and then highlighted its importance in "modern economic exchanges". These exchanges reveal that the ideology of the gift is not only an embedded practice among social relations or collective events but is also a factor that determines relationship consequences (Gino & Flynn, 2011). There are also other forms of the gift such as "tipping, self-gifting and volunteering, where relationship development and reciprocation are largely irrelevant", as mentioned by Davies, Whelan, Foley and Walsh (2010: 413).

Understanding Kuwait's market and gift options helped establish the difficulty of reciprocation in Kuwait. My ethnographic findings on reciprocation encourage me to highlight the importance of relationships in Arab societies. This section distinguishes relationships between giver and receiver in gifting occasions. Studying social relationships in Kuwait showed that the gift is not constant but depends on other underlying factors.

Sometimes reciprocation occurs carrying different intentions. There are individuals who return the gift because they are obligated or expected to do so. These events represent situational motives (Saad & Gill 2003; Othman, Ong & Teng 2005; Mayet & Pine 2010). Some gifts are reciprocated on the spot in certain occasions like Valentine's Day, anniversaries, or Christmas. Other gift reciprocations occur later in time, like on birthdays or weddings. Sahlins (1972: 191-210) further describes the types of reciprocation. There is

general, balanced, and negative reciprocation. Usually, there is ambiguity in the time necessary to reciprocate (Bourdieu, 1977). It is also unclear whether to give back costsimilar items. Cheal (1988: 13) proposes rules to balance the gift received or to fulfil "symmetrical reciprocation". To begin with, there must not be any benefit or advantage to the receiver's well-being. The giver and the receiver should have the same position they had before the exchange. Moreover, the gift reciprocated must be something that the receiver may have been able to provide for themselves, because if the gift were far more expensive than the receiver is able to afford, it may be perceived as a charity gift. However, I argue in this case, that it is also important to consider the giver's financial capacity. If the receiver enjoys a high financial status and can provide any item for themselves, it does not mean that the giver should match the receiver's financial capability. On the other hand, in respect to charity gifts, I argue that when a person is financially incapable of providing themselves with a desperately needed (expensive) item, a gift occasion would be a good chance to offer this person with that certain item. Therefore, it would not be a charity gift, but a very considerate gesture. I believe that is the reason why in Kuwait a balanced reciprocity with gifts rarely occurs. It is very normal to receive a pricey item in return for an economical gift because Arabs prioritise relationships rather than dispute over who has bought the higher priced gift. Kuwait's fieldwork findings therefore disregard Cheal's (1988) theory of a balanced or symmetrical reciprocation. Finally, there is the inability to reciprocate (negative reciprocation), which does not necessarily mean that the giver will cease giving.

One of France's most prominent sociologists and anthropologists whose studies contributed extensively to several academic fields and popular culture is Pierre Bourdieu. Pierre Bourdieu's theories included Marxism and Habitus, discussing that motives of individuals should be studied, not the value of objects, therefore symbolic goods supposedly should ensure the coherence and continuity of reciprocation (Bourdieu, 1969). His work involved the gift in a more conventional, sociological manner among various aspects of French education and culture. This perseverance stood out when the gift drew little attention among sociologists, and when it was barely predictable that it would affect humanities and the sociologies all throughout the 20th century. Bourdieu leans towards an

economistic, materialistic, and structuralist direction (Sewell 1992; Evens 1999; Jenkins 2002; Smith 2004). He also argues about the ambiguity of the time frame necessary to return a gift and denied the generous characteristic of it (Bourdieu 1977: 4-9; Schrift 1997). That is because self-interest appears to be greatly visible and inevitable, becoming the highlight in market economies, finally labelling the gift's generosity as a "conspicuous" distribution" (Bourdieu, 1977: 192). Bourdieu therefore expressed disagreement with many of Mauss' stances. In his viewpoint the gift is basically an egoistic circulation, and an admiration of unnecessary, unreciprocated generosity. He emphasized the presence of taboos, secrets, and duplicities within gift interactions. When specifically mentioning the case of the *potlatch*, he described it as a process of social experimentation, rejecting the framework of the French pragmatic sociology promoted by Mauss, that the gift is essential to social life. He particularly did not agree on Mauss' subjectivist stance on the gift (Bourdieu 2004; Caillé 2005). He rejected any character of the Maussian gift and ultimately, free and pure gifts. On the contrary, he explains how the gift is a "competitive system of honour" (Silber, 2009: 177) and then elaborates his disagreement to giving sheer materialistic and distrustful items. Bourdieu spoke about a constant divergence to studies and theories, so even being in opposition to Mauss, Durkheim or even Marx, it is difficult to prevent inner contradictions (Alexander 1982; Potter 2000). In other words, nobody is ever fully consistent. Therefore, the main characteristic of gift exchange according to Bourdieu features, "subjective freedom and objective constraint rules and improvisation, game and strategy" (Silber, 2009: 177). This concludes his opposition with Marcel Mauss. Nevertheless, Bourdieu explicitly admitted that Mauss, among others like Claude Lévi-Strauss (1987) who also developed the idea of reciprocity into a basic notion of social trade (Beckert & Zafirovski, 2005: 304), were the ones to shape the gift into a key field of anthropological research and theory (Silber, 2009: 174).

In Kuwait, gift reciprocation is a difficult task for many individuals below 60. My fieldwork revealed that younger buyers, precisely females, have different purchasing intentions, tastes and preferences compared to older ones. This suggests that gifting is essential for young women. They tend to put greater efforts into making the right decision, pay more attention to specific details and worry more than men about the adequacy of the

gift (Hoyer, et al., 2018). An emphasis was made on the type and strength of the relationship, which impacts the final gift choice. Relationships influence several gift aspects: its budget, time spent to choose and buy it, and its details and thoughtfulness. It would be different if it were for someone who is well known by the giver, like a sibling or a best friend, compared to someone of a more formal or shallow relationship, like a work colleague. Therefore, the gifting experience and type of gift varies entirely based on who it is for. Interestingly, Chanial (2014) discussed that if a person wants to change their relationship with the receiver, to improve or worsen it, they must consider changing the type of gift by making it less or more personal. The gift therefore could change relationships based on how thoughtful it is (Chanial 2012; 2014).

Making the right gift choice is essential to meet expectations and ensure pleasing the receiver. In Kuwait, details in gifts are largely sought. When the focus is on sentimental value, it means personalising the gift according to the receiver's personality⁵⁰. Gift-giving is therefore an entrepreneurial activity. It is about discovering someone's latent preferences rather than satisfying their already known preferences. Knowledge of the receiver's interests or taste would help indicate their delicate desires, for example, their favourite colour, favourite flavours, food or clothing allergies, horoscope and so on. A close relationship with the receiver would therefore avoid questioning these specific matters. Serene⁵¹ clarified, "I always try to gift personal things that convey my love and understanding of the recipient", underlining Cheal's studies (1987; 1988) that propose a culture of love formed through gifts. Accordingly, delivering meaningful messages and love emotions guarantees a longer-lasting effect for the gift. Serene's comment therefore highlights two points. First, the more information shared between giver and receiver, the greater potential the gift has on satisfying the parties. Second, the more care put into the gift, the more it ensures the continuity of the relationship, and that more gift reciprocations would occur in the future.

I reckon that when knowing the receiver for a long time and having a close relationship with them, the gift search and purchase process becomes relatively easy, whereas it is

⁵⁰ For example, is a Muslim or a vegetarian.

⁵¹ Serene is a 25-year-old single Egyptian female, raised in Kuwait.

difficult to find a suitable gift for unfamiliar receivers, especially when there is no specific connection with them. Furthermore, lacking a remarkably close relationship causes indifference to gift choice, neglecting the receiver's opinion or reaction towards the gift. Rashed⁵² admitted that if the relationship with the receiver is not a close one, then many items are found in shops, and any gift can do the job. Rashed disregards the consequences resulting from a wrong gift choice for distant relationships, which degrades the essence of the gift. It means that in Kuwait, although featuring a rich materialistic culture, a person will not always choose a pricey gift to strengthen a superficial relationship. Accordingly, Rashed would consider giving a special gift when the relationship is worthy. The bond and trust urges him to make an extra effort into gifts. Likewise, Mahmoud⁵³ conditioned buying a gift only when a person *earns* one, he said, "When someone deserves a gift, it is not bothersome to buy it for them, it is a pleasure".

As shown, gift hunting requires time, thought and effort. It also becomes increasingly difficult every year. Nguyen and Munch (2011: 117) asserted that the gift-giving experience can produce an immense amount of stress and anxiety. One of the reasons why gift-giving is an unpleasant experience is because "the supermarket life makes choosing gifts hard and confusing", as Bader displeasingly explained. Gift givers face excessive options and brands to choose from, which causes indecisiveness. Faisal⁵⁴ stated, "It is difficult to find something that goes out of the ordinary and makes a special expression".

Contrarily, the senior age group⁵⁵ from the fieldwork showed that albeit the unlimited gift options, they enjoy the overall purchasing process for they are experienced in shopping. Accordingly, seniors find gift-giving a rather pleasureful, easy practice due to their simple interpretation of the gift, therefore reciprocation is uncomplicated. This shows that past to present gift priorities changed; the gift had other meanings compared to our current day. This also demonstrates how material culture has become popularised in the 21st century,

⁵² Rashed is a 30-year-old single Jordanian male, born and raised in Kuwait.

⁵³ Mahmoud is a 37-year-old divorced Moroccan male, works in Kuwait since 2008.

⁵⁴ Faisal is a 34-year-old married Kuwaiti male.

⁵⁵ The senior group represents informants above 61 years of age.

imposing high reciprocation expectations among social relationships and demanding impressive gifts from gift givers.

Although a time-consuming, difficult activity, there are modern-day methods that facilitate the search, selection and delivery of gifts. Hisham⁵⁶ gave thanks to online buying. Finding something for someone has never been easier, in his words, "a luxury". It also shows that technology has caused changes in consumption and purchasing behaviour. I underline the prevalent use of technology and online platforms during gift occasions in Kuwait in a later section⁵⁷. Other contemporary gift alternatives included gift coupons or cheques. These alternatives are chosen out of convenience, especially for difficult receivers. While others choose relationship-affirming gifts, buying gift cards is basically a strategy of "playing it safe". Abrar⁵⁸ admitted she prefers effortless and convenient options over impressing the receiver. I propose that these options represent the easy way of gifting, thus they are "gift shortcuts".

Regardless of the relationship, gift receivers prefer different things. Lunyai, De Run and Atang (2008) have indicated that people are attracted to different things because their preferences are mostly based on love, creativity, shape, colour, and design. Most importantly, people are attracted to something unique to ubiquitous items found in the country; beautiful and traditional items are especially prominent among others. In Kuwait, the gift ought to be something useful, practical and appropriate⁵⁹ for the receiver, rather than an aesthetic item⁶⁰ or something that is kept away until needed⁶¹. This supports Bourdieu's utilitarian conception of the gift (1977), which is a common misevaluation of

⁵⁶ Hisham is an 18-year-old single Egyptian male, born and raised in Kuwait.

⁵⁷ See section: Gifting in the time of Corona.

⁵⁸ Abrar is a 31-year-old married Pakistani female, brought to Kuwait shortly after her birth.

⁵⁹ As part of gift ethics and etiquette, inappropriate gifts in Islam are many, for example, food that contain pork, alcohol, gold and silk for men, intimate apparel like undergarments, lingerie, or nightgowns. See: Gifts shaped by the Kuwaiti culture.

⁶⁰ Such as a vase or a mirror for decoration.

⁶¹ Like photo albums, serving trays, teacups, or candles.

a "good gift"⁶². Arguably, even when the gift is useful to the receiver, it may not necessarily be the correct "desired" one. For example, if the gift were clothes, although useful to the receiver, they might not be the preferred style or even the correct size. The mismatch between gift choices and the receiver's preference frequently occurs since people cannot pre-empt what others like. The standard economic theory of "maximisation of total utility" proposes a solution. Utility maximisation refers to the notion that individuals seek the highest pleasure and satisfaction obtained from their economic decisions (Ythier, 2006). Undeniably, therefore, offering the receiver with cash as a gift would be the optimal choice. Studies like Principe and Eisenhauer (2009) and Sandel (2013b) explain that cash is superior to gifts as it maximises welfare⁶³. Money would allow receivers to choose a gift of their choice and style, thus maximising total utility. However, when measuring employee performance, research shows that presenting non-monetary gifts made a stronger influence on workers' productivity and attitude than monetary gifts (Kube, Maréchal & Puppe 2012; Bradler & Neckermann 2019). According to Mankiw's celebrated textbook, "Principles of Economics" (2020), giving money is considered insulting. Tahani from the vouth age group⁶⁴ argued that a cash coupon in her opinion lacks creativity as it is an impersonal detail. She always feels the need to demonstrate her unique taste in choosing gifts. Gift coupons also reflect a poor economic and financial status, making an unfavourable impression to the receiver, in addition to the downside of limited gift exchange or return options (White 2006; 2008; Tuten & Kiecker 2009). This does not mean that the theory of total utility maximisation failed, but Mankiw (2020) argues that there are other theories in economics one should consider when giving gifts.

The theory of signalling can be used in gift-giving, where givers hint their intentions and exude feelings to the receivers through their gifts. Accordingly, choosing a good gift is a

⁶² The gift paradigm has been propounded by Alain Caillé who also promotes a complex, economistic, and utilitarian conception of the gift (Bruni & Zamagni, 2013: 44-48). He supports the power of rational individual choice, established in Marcel Mauss' work (2002)[1990]. Caillé argues that the anti-utilitarian concept of the gift is supposed to link political and religious foundations of societies, therefore recognising individual and collective identities, which is rarely the case (Caillé 1989; 1994; 1996; 2000; 2001; Godbout & Caillé 2000).

⁶³ However, Sandel (2013a) criticizes utilitarianism because it suggests that money is the default method to measure value. It disregards a whole set of human experiences by equivalating them with money or utility, therefore flattening the moral discourse of society. It fails to consider phenomenal gifts that simply cannot be translated into monetary terms, such as friendship or in Kuwait's case, the *Wasta*.

⁶⁴ Youth informants are individuals below 24 years of age.

way to signal good intentions and can reflect certain intimacy. So, by using the knowledge the giver has about the receiver, gifts can "signal" love, affection, and care, which cash cannot. Cash gifts would also not really contribute to memory provided that sentimental value, time, and effort are omitted (Waldfogel 1993; Davison, Bing, Hutchinson & Pratt 2008). For a cash gift, even the surprise factor would be dropped to zero, and according to the fieldwork in Kuwait, the surprise factor plays a significant role in gift exchange occasions⁶⁵. Likewise, although giving a prudently chosen gift on Valentine's Day may signal an interest in the receiver, giving exactly what a person needs, such as money, would be viewed inappropriate to a romantic other, even though it can maximise individual welfare more than ordinary gifts (Camerer, 1988). Clearly, emotions are absent in wads of currency notes, even though they might maximise utility or represent a good "signal".

Unfortunately, again, the theory of economic signalling is not sufficient. Gift givers can still spend a lot of time, effort and money into choosing a very incorrect gift, for example, mistakenly gifting a cigarette ashtray to a cigar smoker, which would obviously be of no use to them, thus decreasing the overall utility. Another example that utilizes both theories is gifting an expensive wig to a bald co-worker. While it required time, money, effort, and transmitted good signals, it is still inappropriate to give someone such a gift, no matter how well-intentioned it is. Gifts possess a world of their own, and economic theories fail to consider abstract virtues linked with that world. Sandel (2013b) defends his stance on values of humility and responsibility, arguing that gifts are not signals but are *declarations* of love, affection, and care. They are exchanged to connect and reconnect with individuals, so thoughtfulness is also important. Without a *thoughtful* effort in selecting gifts, it will be difficult to establish a connection with the other person and the intended message will not be conveyed. A wig for a bald man or an ashtray for a cigar smoker thus is insensitive and lacks thoughtfulness. The complex world of gifts, which undoubtedly represent tokens of friendship and expressions of love, continues to be analysed by economic theories.

The theories of maximum utility, signalling and thoughtfulness have explained the mismatch between preferred and received gifts in Kuwait, which was articulated in the

⁶⁵ Read more on the surprise factor in the subdivision: Surprise Gifts.

previous section. Gift givers should not simply get what the receiver wants because mistakes or insults in gifts largely occur. This can be why a balanced reciprocation is often difficult to achieve. Also, a gift would sometimes not be considered one if it is already owned by the receiver. When in doubt, the giver should simply demonstrate thoughtfulness with mainstream, symbolic gifts. On the other hand, while expensive gifts in Kuwait are thought to achieve maximum utility and signal a potential interest in someone, receiver preferences reflect the contrary. Offering culturally imposed, expensive gifts lack thoughtfulness in a society infested with materialistic objectives to increase social status and demonstrate wealth. When the focus shifts towards expensive gifts, it results in poor interpersonal communication and relationship neglection because it ignores the receiver's wants and needs, ultimately buying inferior, wrong gifts (Galak, Givi & Williams, 2016). Givers can be unaware of their misplaced, hyper-specific focus. Furthermore, the mismatch in gifts also suggests misunderstanding and misinterpretation of reactions within relationships in Kuwait. Probably, gift givers believe that a smile from the receiver signifies that they are satisfied and impressed with the gift (Yang & Urminsky, 2018).

My fieldwork established that the type of relationship between giver and receiver is a strong factor that could reassess gift choice and its search process. Gift expectations also change based on the type of relationship. A strong relationship implies that the receiver's interests, preferences, likes, and dislikes are already known by the giver. Therefore, it is expected that the gift would satisfy their desires. However, a trusting bond between giver and receiver also suggests that a symbolic gift would be still appreciated and would not displease the receiver, as proposed by Carrier (2012b). The fieldwork highlighted the importance of utility, sentimental value and personal touches in gifts. The gift is supposed to be thoughtful, durable, and should put the receiver's preferences into account before its purchase, in other words, personalising the gift. Paris (2015: 46) emphasized personalising the gift whenever possible as a rule for gift-giving. This gesture signifies the desire to develop (or maintain) a close relationship with the receiver. Gift personalisation has been especially found within wedding or baby gift registry lists. It is a gift strategy that urges abiding by individual preferences, often used to reduce the mismatch between the buyer and receiver's taste ahead of time. Accordingly, gifts would be unappreciated and

disappointing when not sticking to the pre-set gift list. This tactic could be useful after having established the evident mismatch between preferred gifts and received gifts in Kuwait.

3. Gifts shaped by the Kuwaiti culture

Some cultures dictate certain principles of reciprocation and gift-giving in families and platonic contexts. Whereas other various societies disregard the importance of building or strengthening bonds through gifts and reciprocation because there are other means in doing so. There is less of a need for these gift exchanges because key aspects for some cultures include family, self-fulfilment, and sentiment (Joy, 2001).

In the literature, culture was one of the prominent factors that should be considered before selecting a gift. Sociologist Marcel Mauss has highlighted in his eminent book that gift givers should have enough background about various cultural and societal differences of receivers. Some communities even take part in specific gift exchange rituals, which depend on social bonds, the environment, history, and religion of the area (Mauss 1925; Narotzky 1997). Similarly, Parry (1986) after studying a variety of exchange forms, had established that no universal gift practice exists, as gifts are shaped by individual culture and differ according to region, religion, and beliefs (Paris, 2015: 46). In general, it was concluded within the literature that the gift-giving practice does not follow certain state-made laws but rather follows an embedded custom that has been brought down from our ancestors. Between the 20th and 21st century, Carrier (2012b) studied human behaviour; how gifts and people in the Middle East intertwined and connected to one another. A few aspects that he considered within his study were religious beliefs, consumption, and household organization; for example, how a household arrangement and design is related to religious beliefs. He later concluded that all aspects in the human life, which make up societies, are somehow related to one another. It was also interesting that Carrier has differentiated between culture and practice; that they are two completely different concepts. He explained that there are no concrete social laws that humans abide by among specific regions; that people in different situations within the same society transact differently and comprehend matters differently from one another. Matters exactly like gift-giving, described as a social

and economic activity within the context of culture. Studying the Kuwaiti culture in terms of its gift-giving practices was therefore important to consider within this research.

Culture is a critical factor as it can represent a possible entry barrier to some industries. There are also personal ideologies to satisfy and certain cultural taboos to comprehend before purchasing a gift (Quester, Karunaratna & Goh 2000; Robles 2012). Some people feel socially awkward receiving gifts, unless being given for a great achievement. Likewise, many cultures consider certain gifts offending or inappropriate. For instance, previous studies revealed that presenting gifts made in China to Koreans is considered offensive, or that in some societies monetary gifts are rejected. In other countries such as Germany, Spain and France, certain types of flowers are considered inappropriate as they are associated with funerals or death. In Latin American folklore, presenting handkerchiefs is frowned upon due to their association to grief and crying (Morrison & Conaway 1997a; 1997b). For this reason, before a decision is made regarding any gift purchase, it is essential to study the cultural implications that a product or brand may hold (Quester, Karunaratna & Goh 2000; Othman, Ong & Teng 2005).

Evidently, what is culturally "acceptable" and "unacceptable" to buy is identifiable by learning about Kuwaiti values. The Kuwaiti population has distinct characteristics from those in the surrounding Arabian Gulf region, despite the socio-economic similarities like language, religion, and rich in petrol. Kuwaiti families are very much still influenced by old traditions and kinship structures with regards to their consumer identities and purchase decisions (Bahhouth, Ziemnowicz & Zgheib, 2012). As for basic principles in Kuwait, the Islamic community sets certain lines that are taboo to cross with gifts. For Muslims, it is offensive⁶⁶ to present a bottle of alcohol or products that contain pork for any celebration (Paris, 2015: 50). The nature of the gift in Kuwait also differs in terms of intimacy. Personal gifts such as swimming suits, undergarments or lingerie, as Abrar stated, are ethically awkward gifts. Men giving these gifts to women is out of the question, even between

⁶⁶ As implied from my fieldwork, one should investigate why it may be offensive to present Muslims with gifts that stand for other religions for example, the cross or sculptures of the Virgin Mary or Jesus Christ, whereas it is normal and accepted by non-Muslims to be presented with a miniature of the *Kaaba* for example, a copy of the Quran, or fancy prayer beads.

spouses it is extremely rare. Most of the time, Muslim men who pass by lingerie shops face social anxiety and embarrassment. Naturally, discussing underwear with the shop attendant is outrageous (Agence France-Presse, 2012). Whenever necessary, men would hint what they like to their wives, and then the woman browses lingerie stores to buy the product herself. If he is accompanying her, he would usually stand and wait outside. Even between women, these kinds of gifts are normally given in private and the giver stresses not to open it in front of others. Muslim men, on the other hand, cannot be offered gifts of gold or silk. Thus, the type of gift in Kuwait differs according to gender, religion, and traditions, which are otherwise very normal in a typical Western or European society. This can be an example reflecting Bourdieu's theory that the gift holds taboos and contradictions (Chanial, 2010). Furthermore, retail commercialised perfume or (cheap) body lotion combo packs are viewed as mainstream and impersonal items, as per Seba, but are very common gift choices due to their omnipresent nature⁶⁷. However, this does not include traditional Kuwaiti perfume or *oud* ('ūd), musk, *bakhoor* (bakūr) and other (strong) oriental fragrances and incenses⁶⁸ (Hyun-kyung, 2016). These are otherwise considered very high-quality gifts due to their rarity and strong authentic link to the Arabian Gulf culture. These examples are not an exhaustive list, but it shows that many societies have numerous gift restrictions and distinguished gift etiquettes.

According to my fieldwork, the circulated gift in these occasions appears to be a sheer extravagant concept in Kuwait. It is exaggerated, expensive and overdone. It was implied that Arabs in general fancy tangible, material items. Also, the closer the relationship with someone, the greater value the gift is expected to be, and the more emotions are involved⁶⁹. This develops a burden or a load on the individual, as Omar⁷⁰ states, "If you want to buy a perfume you should not buy the cheap kind, it should be a minimum of 100 euros to be appreciated or accepted by the receiver". Clearly, the relationship would be jeopardised if the gift was cheap or of bad quality.

⁶⁷ Paris (2015: 48-49) underscored that perfume and clothing are largely inappropriate in the United States, especially for women.

⁶⁸ These are types of Arabian agarwood, aloeswood, olibanum or frankincense.

⁶⁹ Refer to the section: Emotions and Sentimental Value.

⁷⁰ Omar is a 63-year-old married Lebanese male, came to Kuwait for work in the late 80s.

As shown, despite clear globalisation influences, the gift exchanged in Kuwait has some strong cultural characteristics, reflecting interpersonal Islamic values and ethics. We learn that in Kuwait, there are gifts for every certain occasion, and for every certain person. In a way, people use gifts to communicate messages to one another, even to a person one dislikes⁷¹. These messages hint at the relationship status and individual feelings. Gift intentions are found to strongly affect receivers, so it is important to mindfully choose the gift. Giving gifts that represent a person's own culture, especially edible goods, fragrances or local delicacies, are found widely accepted in Kuwait. Habitually, gifts such as food or sweets are often offered or exchanged to show hospitality in workplaces, homes, hospitals and occasions or ceremonies. These gestures are less concerned with price. Most notably, surprise gifts have also emerged as a general practice in Kuwait. They are gifts offered to someone for no reason or occasion⁷².

The Middle East and North African (MENA) region has plenty of celebrations that involve gifting among friends, families and colleagues. Arabs generally tend to exhaust more gifts because of the numerous occasions that involve gatherings. These again are traditional ways to show good manners, hospitality and generosity since cultural values hover over human bonding. Other than typical cultural occasions like birthdays, graduations and weddings, and Islamic occasions like Ramadan⁷³ (ramadān) and Eid^{74} ('īd), there are often parties to rejoice a party. For instance, after a wedding party there tends to be another date set for giving congratulations, gifts, and blessings, that usually also includes catering, music and so on. There are also *hijab* parties (celebrating the wearing of the Islamic veil) and parties for new-borns, commonly known as *El-sobou*' (al-'usbū'). It typically takes place on the first week of the baby's birth, but in some cultures, it can be set on the 40th day. In certain countries, this festive celebration can be grand, almost resembling a wedding, with relative decorations, gastronomic preparations, and among Muslim families, animal (usually sheep or lamb) sacrifices, otherwise known as performing *Aqeeqa*

⁷¹ Refer to the section: Emotions and Sentimental Value.

⁷² Refer to the subdivision: Surprise gifts.

⁷³ The ninth month of the Islamic calendar, observed by Muslims worldwide as a month of fasting, prayer, reflection, and community.

⁷⁴ Muslims annually celebrate two *Eids* or Islamic festivities, see The Gift in Islam subdivision.

('aqīqah) (Musharraf, 2020). In some Levantine countries like Lebanon and Syria, the appearance of a baby's first tooth is also celebrated.

In the past, Mahmoud recalls his parents gifting traditional Arab objects, a tea set for example, which was what their culture dictated. Furthermore, it is important to highlight the value of handmade gifts. Suzan⁷⁵ expressed her love for handmade items that do not resemble a consumerist society because of their unbranded and unadvertised nature, and therefore they carry more sentimental value. This reflects gifts in the past, as they were created out of individual possessions or belongings. People used to take impersonal objects, mark them with personal touches and details, converting them into gifts. For example, a piece of fabric got transformed into an item of clothing. These items were traded or exchanged among neighbours and family members only to improve social ties, social meaning, and personal identity (Johansson & Carrier 1997; Carrier 2012a). In our current day, it is rare that anyone would make something manually since the gift is likely to be bought from a store. This refers to increased production, globalisation, and an improved accessibility to commodities, as Farbotko and Head (2013) further explain. Buying something from the store requires less effort, and even lower when it is bought online. This signifies that when a handmade gift is offered in our current day, it would be a fabulous surprise due to its rarity and originality.

Valentine gifts were also distinguished from others, as receivers mean differently to the givers than in other occasions. Valentine gifts were a talking point to showcase differences between Kuwait and other cultures. In Kuwait, Valentine gifts tend to be jewellery for females; gold or diamond to be specific (Ertimur & Sandikci, 2005). Arabic names are usually engraved or designed on golden necklaces or bracelets and are extremely common among women in the Middle East. When Joanna had moved to the United States, she recalled how fellow Americans were puzzled that she was wearing her own name around her neck, like a pet wearing a name-inscribed collar lest it gets lost. This identifies cultural differences and a conflict in gifting preferences in western contexts. Apart from jewellery, other common gifts include a pricey watch, an airline ticket (or a getaway), a mobile phone

⁷⁵ Suzan is a 30-year-old married Kuwaiti female.

or even a car⁷⁶. Based on the fieldwork discussions, gifts are made and given in Kuwait just to show-off among peers and impress the receiver as soon as they realise the financial value of the gift.

Culture also plays a role when preparing for Valentine gifts, which is crucial in Kuwait. A lack of planning can be an indication of negligence or thoughtlessness, which consequently results in negative consequences for some relationships. Some people tend to exert a great deal of effort and thought when there is a gifting occasion. They would like everything to be flawless. For some couples, it is necessary to plan Valentine's Day from A to Z, as Seba explained. Usually, a full program for the day is prepared. If Valentine's Day falls on a working day, the celebration is often postponed to the weekend to give more time to execute the plan in mind. Gifts and decorations, such as balloons, ribbons and dried flowers, a reserved place (hotel room or chalet, restaurant, cinema, encampment), a rented car (convertible sportscar or limousine) and huge flower bouquets are all part of the love event, with the help of some companies dedicated to this work. In fact, all the above preparations are also considered to embody the Valentine gift. The main idea is that the more money spent, the more impressed the other person will be.

Culture has also influenced presentation and wrapping, which are essential elements of the gift in Kuwait. In many cultures, gifts are traditionally presented in a certain manner and have certain rules⁷⁷. Generally, gifts are wrapped and complemented by a gift note or card, which would mention the occasion, the date, the receiver's name, the giver's name and usually a few wishing words. Common values are acknowledged through the gift-wrapping design especially when gift giver and receiver share the same cultural background (Reitsma & Van den Hoven, 2017). Gift-wrapping methods revealed numerous levels of social

⁷⁶ Valentine's Day should not be restricted to giving flowers, chocolate, and teddy bears. According to an online survey (A.G. Reporter 2013; Berkani 2013), the number one Valentine's gift among residents of the Arabian Gulf was chocolate but it was the least preferred gift. The survey revealed that females would rather prefer receiving jewellery, a holiday trip, or flowers, while male informants prefer smartphones. This is evidence to the luxurious material lifestyle in the Arabian Gulf enjoys and the high gift expectations during Valentine's Day.

⁷⁷ Some cultures identify certain colours as appropriate for gift wrapping such as the red colour in China and Japan as it connotes luck but writing cards with red ink could be a threat to end the relationship (Brigham, 1986). Other colours such as white, black, and blue, are better to be avoided as they could symbolise other meanings like death/funerals, sadness, destruction and evil. The meanings of colours contradict in every culture. To avoid all the confusion, the gift could be simply placed in a presentable bag.

significance and demonstrated relationship validity. Wrapping is an innovation design and a differentiation strategy in business competition as well (Zhang, Song & Xu, 2010). The packaging of products influences its marketing and its buyers tremendously because it catches the eye. For example, the packaging design and the colour of chocolate were factors of paramount significance when choosing chocolate as a gift for romantic partners (Giyahi, 2012). This explains why companies change the appearance and packaging of their products whenever a gifting occasion approaches, like Valentine's Day or Christmas. Concisely, Hendry (1989) affirmed that gift wrapping awareness is an essential component to ethnographic investigation. However, so far, little is studied about the importance of gift wrapping (Bradler & Neckermann, 2019).

After numerous signs of the efficiency and functionality of gift wrapping, I chose to investigate the importance of this activity. Bashar⁷⁸ finds all kinds of packaging accessories essential to him in gifting occasions. When giving gifts to the opposite sex, Bashar adds a certain scent and dried flowers to the gift box. These extra touches add value to the gift experience. They make the gift presentable and gives off a good impression (Green, Tinson & Peloza, 2016). It suggests that presenting a well-wrapped gift is necessary to look "good" in front of others, especially in shallow relationships. Rashed explained that a close relationship with the receiver signifies trust and understanding, so gift wrapping is a detail to overlook (Hoyer, et al., 2018: 488). Instead, it is more appropriate when sending a gift to a hospital or an office for example, to give off a good impression and satisfy social etiquettes. It is viewed highly inappropriate, even rude, if someone presents a gift to their boss without any packaging or card. It is a behaviour that lacks good manners. The Kuwaiti society gives prominence to enhancing self-presentation, whether through the gift or its wrapping style. It also contributes to the giver's self-esteem, making them more "respectable", so to speak (Green, Tinson & Peloza, 2016). A flawless experience is necessary to achieve this self-satisfaction.

The fieldwork also found that gift wrapping becomes less important when the occasion is more mainstream, like a house gathering, whereas if it was a formal occasion, like a

⁷⁸ Bashar is a 23-year-old single Syrian male who grew up in Kuwait.

wedding, gift wrapping becomes crucially necessary. Amal⁷⁹ said that gift wrapping does the occasion justice. It makes the gift look "complete", that without the wrapping, the gift is just an object. Abrar even noted how gift-wrapping changes according to age. She argued that younger individuals show more attention to these details. Apparently, gift wrapping was more important to her during her younger years, especially when she was dating. Probably, gift wrapping is also viewed differently according to marital status. As it is used to woo receivers, it can be a way to win the affection of a potential romantic partner. Consequently, the importance of wrapping decreases in long-term commitments. In Lamya's⁸⁰ point of view, however, she specifically considers wrapping as part of the gift. For her, wrapping the gift is important no matter the occasion, age or the receiver.

Fatima⁸¹ has taught herself many gift-wrapping styles and techniques. She believes it is a necessary activity and likes to wrap gifts herself. She even adds more special touches to the wrapping, like small handmade wooden dolls or hearts along with greeting stickers. She also enjoys packaging and decorating gift baskets during big occasions like *Eid* and distributing them among her friends. Fatima believes that even when it is her birthday, she should be treating others, not the other way round. It shows her dedication to the gift as she handles them with utmost priority and care. Evidently, these show that the gift was carefully prepared with love. "A well wrapped gift is a double gift!", she remarked, "It makes your eyes more hopeful to what is inside". This suggests that expectations are anticipated to be met as the receiver excitedly starts to unwrap the gift. Rixom, Mas and Rixom (2020) showed that higher gift expectations are created when more money is paid on wrapping and presentation, which again suggests the presence of materialism in Kuwait. Agreeingly, Adam claimed that the wrapping makes the gift "prettier". It means it boosts the gift's quality by making it *seem* more expensive.

Although wrapping is additional or optional, it can sometime impress the receiver more than the actual gift, which creates a memorable experience. Another advantage is that the receiver's attention becomes divided between the gift and the wrapping. Joanna added,

⁷⁹ Amal is a 58-year-old married Syrian female, came to Kuwait after marriage in the 80s.

⁸⁰ Lamya is a 33-year-old single Sudanese female, born and raised in Kuwait.

⁸¹ Fatima is a 78-year-old single Kuwaiti female.

"half the gift is how you present it". If the gift was wrapped poorly or carelessly, it loses significance in the receiver's perspective. Zhou, Hinz and Benlian's findings (2018) indicated reactions of pleasure and excitement when offered a well-presented, colourful package design. Some gift receivers really pay attention to these accompaniments because they "signal" thoughtfulness, deliver an underlying message and communicate a "piece" of the giver's personality. As illustrated by Mauss (1925), the gift is a piece of oneself, like passing along a wedding ring to a granddaughter for example, which holds history and legacy and is a clear representation of the giver.

Wrapping and packaging ideas are also used to manipulate or deceive gift receivers. Seba mentioned examples of gift packaging techniques that trick the receiver into thinking it is something else. This creativity in wrapping gifts has been popular for some time in nonformal occasions. These techniques can help gift givers when they are uncertain or unconfident about their gift choice. Wrapping gives an illusion of quality and depth, and therefore adds value to an unexpensive gift, for example, putting a scented candle in a mobile phone's box, consequently disappointing the receiver after unwrapping their gift. Although it might risk personal relationships, this is done to "humour" gift-giving occasions. Yet, in my opinion, the element of surprise and receiver expectations can be both met using this technique. Contrarily, the gift giver can put their flattering gift, such as jewellery or a smartwatch, in a shoe box. While the receiver unwraps their present and gets the hint that they will have a pair of shoes, little do they know that they are in for a wonderful surprise at the end. The receiver's reaction can be also observed and remembered by the giver, because they have turned the tables around and ultimately impressed the receiver. This is a way to make gifts memorable. I believe this is an opportunity for the gift industry to enhance the element of surprise using creative gift wrapping and packaging.

In most cases, the gift is better given at the end of the occasion, like in a business meeting (Paris, 2015: 49-50). In Arab societies, there is always the question of whether to open the gift instantly in front of the giver, or to wait until people have left and the event is over. In Kuwait, unwrapping presents is an enjoyable activity because it excites the receiver and adds to the "element of surprise". It develops emotions of hope and triggers curiosity,

making the gift more interesting and valuable. Because of this hastiness, gifts are often unwrapped as soon as they are received, which can be a problem if it were an intimate gift, especially during bachelorette parties, wedding anniversaries or Valentine's Day. It represents a lot of shame to receive and unwrap personal gifts during public occasions in Kuwait. It is mostly due to religion and the taboo behind sexually enticing merchandise. Therefore, in these occasions, the gift is unwrapped afterwards to avoid embarrassment or "being put on the spot". It is evident that environmental concerns and social pressures strongly influence this practice (Farbotko & Head, 2013). Nevertheless, there is not a strict rule that necessitates gifts to be wrapped or unwrapped in a certain manner in Kuwait.

To wrap a present is not solely about covering it in colourful paper. It is about the willingness to go one step further. As for the receiver, it is about the avidness, the thrill of discovering what is within. Afterall, gift wrapping was not a prioritised practice in Kuwait. Unfortunately, even when gift wrapping is entertaining for givers and appreciated by receivers, excessive packaging styles that are currently emerging in Kuwait could represent a waste of resources. Some young adult informants⁸² view this as a waste of time, paper, and money, and it is preferred that the cost of wrapping would be spent on something more beneficial. Furthermore, more awareness was demanded to be raised about wasted resources when giving gifts. In this sense, wrapping is an unneeded gesture albeit it makes the gift "look prettier". Apparently, while some were remiss to consider gift wrapping, older groups from the fieldwork think it is an important aspect that complements the gift, given that it is not exaggerated. It shows how material culture has spread dramatically in the 21st century and influenced consumption, which explains why more younger individuals notice the dangers of this habit. Responses were also realised to be neutral between the genders. Females and males alike dedicate similar amounts of time and effort on gift wrapping. Nevertheless, most female informants preferred a wrapped gift, which implies that gift wrapping attracts females. With this knowledge, males try to make the gift more presentable in hopes of pleasing female receivers. Generally, it is still important for

⁸² Young adult informants are individuals between 25-35 years of age.

a gift to be wrapped in a simple manner, otherwise presented in a proper bag as a bare minimum.

If gift wrapping is considered wasteful in Kuwait, why does it persist? The reason behind this spectacle is certainly impacted by culture and the need for uniqueness. Even when there are issues of resource exploitation in Kuwait, a well-wrapped gift is always appreciated because it shows that time and effort had been exerted into its overall presentation. This brings attention to an important issue with regards to sustainability and resource conservation. Cheal (1988: 12) strongly expressed, "gift-giving has often been described as an extravagant waste of resources". Accordingly, Kuwait's recycling system and waste recollection methods should be addressed.

The fieldwork found that designated waste bins and containers for recycling were not available or identifiable on the streets of Kuwait as they are not provided by the government (Makhoul 2010; 2014; 2017; Mani 2020). Apparently, Kuwait only has privately held businesses that take responsibility for these issues. Waste bins that are divided into small recycling compartments were only rarely noticed in shopping malls, universities or in certain coffeehouses and retail shops, which are also privately owned by a family of entrepreneurs or big companies. Movements were also noticed on social media, for example inviting people to take initiative and recycle their items or to volunteer for waste separation. Therefore, there is a high possibility that every other business or restaurant never recycles its products or waste. It is difficult to be environmentally friendly in a country that lacks a clear recycling system. So, thinking of the quantity of plastic waste, paper, tin and many other materials that are generated from households, factories, fast food restaurants, and large corporations, creates a serious and critical problem for the future of Kuwait (Global Recycling, n.d.-a). This also questions the destination of used material and rubbish and how they are being reused or disposed. Long-term goals should be identified to solve this significant issue because it also relates to gift waste. As an activity that adds to the exploitation of recyclable material, it begs to question whether gift wrapping, and plastic packaging are necessary in a country that lacks a proper waste management system. There are signs of a "national waste masterplan" to be accomplished by 2021 with the help of German scientists, according to the Global Recycling Magazine (n.d.-b), but since the

COVID-19 pandemic and economic crisis have caused a delay in many national projects, one can only hope that the goal would be achieved on time to face the future.

As shown, the gift and its complements are distinguished in Kuwait because of certain cultural implications and Islamic values. Nevertheless, they are different from other Arab countries, as Adam stated. He spoke about Egypt, labelling it a "poor country" and so the gift would be simpler as it depends on the income of the person. In this sense, Anna⁸³ identifies a big gap between the rich (mostly natives) and poor (mostly immigrants) in the Arabian Gulf, which reveals differences between social classes in Kuwait. "The richer people care about status and commercial materialistic things, and they want to show that they are rich. I think because to over-triumph the others", she explained. This identifies cultural Kuwaiti values. Part of people's habits and lifestyle is to purchase high quality, expensive items, which has become the norm.

Economically speaking, Sahni and Shankar (2006) define how an increase in income affects lifestyle, behaviour, and attitudes towards consumption. People desire (or try) to match the way they live according to how much they earn, which results in a change of identity. Bearing in mind the high average income in Kuwait, trying to match this income becomes a challenge. People are expected to buy more unneeded products to satisfy this income, which clutters homes and takes vain storage space, as confirmed by Medhat⁸⁴, "[The purpose of Valentine's Day is] to consume more than what they [people] have". Consumption therefore creates a culture hungry for materialistic objects, which satisfies misleading needs, hence a culture that celebrates Valentine's Day (Sahni & Shankar, 2006). Therefore, the rich would not only buy flowers and chocolates on Valentine's Day but would take an extra leap and buy more eccentric and unusual gifts. Notably, consumption does not only include that of products, but also the consumption of money.

Despite the materialistic direction that Kuwait is taking in gift-giving, spending more does not always guarantee a well-received, appreciated gift. Research has showed that receivers are not likely to evaluate gifts based on their financial value (Waldfogel 1993; Solnick

⁸³ Anna is a 24-year-old single female from Switzerland who moved to Kuwait with her family in 2011.

⁸⁴ Medhat is a 45-year-old Egyptian married male, who moved to Kuwait in 2004.

1996; 1998; Wooten & Wood 2004). No research in gift-giving has determined whether receivers value gifts less than, as much as, or more than what givers pay for them (Principe & Eisenhauer, 2009). Even though givers may intend well when presenting expensive gifts as gestures of romance, receivers may interpret it as "saving face". Abusing expensive gifts in newly formed relationships is also often associated to bribery and forced commitments. Some accept simpler gifts; meanwhile expensive, branded ones can be insulting. Overall, giving branded items appears to be of minimal concern because they are normally viewed as commercial gifts rather than messages of love, as I quote from Clarke, Herington, Hussain and Wong (2005: 64), "Giving a popular brand name as a Valentine's Day gift does not mean giving a good quality gift". Receivers are more likely to evaluate gifts based on durability and utility (Larsen & Watson, 2001).

The importance of reserving the genuine, simple, and heartfelt nature of the gift was stressed. It is necessary to respect and reinforce symbolic gifts as they are slowly deteriorating in Kuwait. Omar profoundly argued, "The gift signifies I remembered you and thought about you, not its price". A simple gift, such as a keychain, notebook, or a hand-written love letter, even for Valentine's Day, is very common and perfectly acceptable in many societies. These gifts are more detailed, thoughtful; they represent a symbolic meaning and transmit profound sentiments. They also probably result in less waste than usual gifts and relative decorations. The gift should be used as an aid to express love and nurture relationships by spending time with a loved one. Anna recalls Valentine's Day in Europe and claims that it is more about doing an activity together, not about buying something for each other. Regrettably, the gift is being used as a tool, and every year new (expensive) creative ideas are introduced in Kuwait's market to celebrate gifting occasions. Some want these expensive gifts because they boost their ego. As illustrated by Chen and Kim (2013), the attitudes of consumers when *receiving* luxury branded gifts involved pure enjoyment and satisfaction, while purchase intentions towards *choosing* luxury branded gifts for someone else involved self-use. This shows how the preferred gift always satisfies different inner motives and objectives, such as genuineness, thoughtfulness and personal meanings.

It is noticeable that the gifting etiquette in Kuwait is distinguishable among others in the Middle East. Conclusively, the fieldwork confirmed that the gift in Kuwait is materialistic due to the country's wealth and influences of its Arab culture. The gift is usually overdone when celebrating occasions like Valentine's Day. Monetary value is perceived a benchmark rather than sentimental details and meaning. This information gives insight about how people should prepare for gifting events in Kuwait, and probably re-evaluate their gift choices into one that requires "jingling pocket change"⁸⁵, as Yousef⁸⁶ lightheartedly remarked. There are numerous local and online businesses that dedicate their services to give greater emphasis to the gift. Also, gift wrapping is now custom-made according to set preferences. No matter how small or silly the gift is, gift wrapping adds to the surprise element and deviates attention from the actual item. However, it is still unclear why a rich country like Kuwait has not yet developed a proper recycling system for its citizens. Nevertheless, while gift wrapping and added details such as balloons and ribbons may be perceived as an exaggeration and a waste of resources, we cannot deny the fact that they signal thoughtful intentions and transmit positive feelings, according to the theories of Sandel (2013b) and Mankiw (2020). Hence, regardless of the negative consequences, proper gift presentation and wrapping make the gift "whole" and are always cherished by receivers.

3.1 The Gift in Islam

After studying the gift in terms of Kuwait's rich Arabian Gulf culture, this subdivision aims to distinguish the gift based on the Islamic faith. This subdivision also shows the foresight of Valentine's Day in Islam and how people have been influenced by this occasion religionwise. Being familiar with the Islamic law is important, as it still constructs a critical basis for cultural regulation in the Middle East. I refer to the Quran⁸⁷ because Kuwait, as an Islamic country, builds and bases its constitution on Islamic laws and principles, therefore it is necessary to study what the central religious text of Islam says in various regards. Islamic traditions are also based on the *Sunnah*, which refers to the sayings or *hadeeths*

⁸⁵ An Arabic/Levantine expression that hints at spending (more) money.

⁸⁶ Yousef is a 32-year-old single Syrian male; whose family came to Kuwait after the Persian Gulf War.

⁸⁷ Quran: Arabic and English in Parallel. Translated by Talal Itani (2015).

(hadīt), habits, practices and characteristics of the Prophet Mohammed. The *Sunnah* is the second source of religious knowledge for Muslims after the Quran. Another source for religious knowledge is sermons from preachers (Jones 2004; 2010; 2012).

The gift-giving practice is an act that arises naturally between humans. It is a worldwide instrumental concept and act that has existed for thousands of years (Belk & Coon, 1993). Historically, religion-wise, the concept of the gift was charity, to give free services such as education, healthcare or material assistance and offer food to the less fortunate. In some cultures, gifts were believed to be a sacrifice to the Gods, as it is an act that demands giving without obtaining payment and one that would also please the dead. In return for their gifts, people believed they will be rewarded with happiness and wealth. This act is called "Alms", an ancient morality of the gift which exists in several religions and cultures as a principle of justice (Rosenthal & Gutas 2014; Baqutayan, Mohsin, Mahdzir & Ariffin 2018). Gift-giving is a legitimate concept in Islam, associated with the mercy and benediction of God. Charity has been long encouraged to become part of Kuwait's cultural and traditional identity which makes Kuwait establish a giving culture (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012). Most importantly, one of the fundamental tenets in Islam is Zakat (zakāt). It also forms one of the five pillars of Islam (Machado, Bilo & Helmy, 2018). Zakat is a social justice tool found to alleviate poverty and fill the gap between the rich and poor by ensuring a proper distribution of wealth among the population (Hossain, 2012). It refers to giving a portion of one's wealth to the needy. On an annual basis, Muslims are Islamically obligated to give out a small percentage from the total value of their fixed possessions, in other words, their unused or saved sources of wealth, such as money, gold, resources, livestock, land and real estate combined⁸⁸ (Ahmad & Mahmood 2009; Dhar 2013). It is not certain, however, that the entire Muslim community commits to this Islamic obligation. In Kuwait, the government does not impose this obligation as it cannot monitor every person's source of wealth. It remains an act of conscience, whether to follow and obey Islamic instructions or not. Nevertheless, Quranic instructions and prophetic

⁸⁸ Other forms of yearly obligated *Zakat* include *Zakat Al-Fitr* (zakāt al-fiṭr), which must be paid before the occurrence of the *Eid Al-Fitr*. It involves giving enough money for a meal to feed the poor and needy. Furthermore, the recommended yet optional animal sacrifice (usually sheep or lamb) during *Eid Al-Adha* can also be considered as a gift since it encourages the rendering of food among family, neighbours and the deprived.

teachings lay great emphasis on *Zakat*, its importance is often placed next to *Salat* (salāt) or prayer, as repeatedly shown in multiple chapters, such as in *Surat Al-Baqarah* (2: 43, 83, 110, 177, 277) and in *Surat Al-Nisa'a* (4: 77, 162). Generosity in Islam is therefore an obligation and giving gifts is an act to display this generosity (Baqutayan, Mohsin, Mahdzir & Ariffin, 2018).

The gift in Islam is used to spread love among people regardless of the type of relationship since it encourages bonding. It is acknowledged as a "prophetic Sunnah", an expression of sympathy that could mend hearts and equally open the closures of hearts. Prophet Mohammed was keen to support and legislate everything that would compose hearts and sow love among people (Tolan, 2019). There are several Islamic *hadeeths* or sayings of the Prophet Mohammed that support the gift concept. Abu Hurairah reported that the Prophet said, "Tahadou tahabbou" (tahādū tahābū), meaning, "Give gifts and you will love one another"⁸⁹ or the extension to that is: "Shake hands, for this will dispel rancour, and exchange gifts and love one another, for this will dispel hatred"⁹⁰. Therefore, typically, describing the Prophet's actions, Aisha Bint Abi Bakr, the Prophet's wife remarked that, "The Messenger of Allah (peace be upon him) used to accept gifts and reciprocate for them"⁹¹. In this case, the Prophet tended to accept gifts and reward the gift with something better than it, so that the blessing would increase and supreme satisfaction of God, Allah, would be pursued. The Prophet said that it is preferable to return the gift by giving something similar or better: "Whoever does you a favour, then respond in kindness and reciprocate, and if you cannot find anything to give them, then make duaa' (du'ā') and supplicate for them (pray for them), and keep doing so, until you think you have done enough to repay them"⁹². Therefore, as Islam commands generosity; it does not only encourage giving gifts but also reciprocating them with something better, because whoever is stingy and withholds what Allah has given them, will be stingy to themselves, and that is not for their benefit, as stated in *Surat Al-Imran* (3: 180) and *Surat Mohammed* (47: 38).

⁸⁹ Narrated by Al-Bukhari (2021) in *Al-Adab Al-Mufrad*, 594, Book 30, Hadeeth Number 57.

⁹⁰ Narrated by Malik in Bin Anas (2021), *Al-Muwatta*, Book 47, Number 16.

⁹¹ Narrated by Aisha in Abu-Dawood Al-Sajestani (2021), Sunan Abu Dawood, 3536, Book 24, Hadeeth 121.

⁹² Narrated by Ibn Umar in Al-Nasa'i (2021), Sunan An-Nasa'i, 2567, Book 23, Hadeeth Number 133.

The Prophet explained that the gift is one of the best deeds with Allah and consequently is great in its reward. On judgement day, Muslims believe that people will be asked how much they drew between hearts, and how many souls they brought closer. Allah rewards the charitable who spend their money night and day, in secret and in public. The secret charity however is considered of greater benefit and higher reward, and although performed in secret, nothing goes unseen by God, as mentioned in *Surat Al-Baqarah* (2: 197, 284). Likewise, *Surat Al-Imran* (3: 92) specifies, "You shall not attain to righteousness until you give (benevolently) out of what you love; and whatever thing you spend, Allah is aware of it". Giving gifts and charities with a pure heart appear to have double the credit, thus their reward is multiplied in God's measures. *Surat Al-Baqarah* (2: 272) clarifies, "...Whatever good you do, will be returned/repaid to you, and you shall not be wronged (in loss)". The Quran repeatedly emphasizes in many chapters the importance and necessity to give charity, as this will be reason to atone peoples' sins and will be counted among their good deeds (*Surat Al-Baqarah*, 2: 245, 271-274; *Surat Al-Anfal*, 8: 60; *Surat Yusuf*, 12: 88; *Surat Al-Hadeed*, 57: 11, 18; *Surat Al-Taghabun*, 64: 17).

As for Islamic occasions, the gift given during Ramadan is worth much more in spiritual returns and blessings, as it is a month to get closer to God, through fasting, helping community and getting rid of bad habits, such as smoking, and adopting better ones, such as prayer. Muslims who are unable to fast during Ramadan, due to sickness or other reasons⁹³, can also use the gift⁹⁴ to recompense and participate. In the two Islamic festivities, *Eid Al-Fitr* ('īdu al-fitr) and *Eid Al-Adha*⁹⁵ ('īdu al-'adhā), the *Eidiyyah* ('īdīyah) acts as an Islamic ancient gift custom that has not lost its lustre till today. It is derived from the word *Eid*, which means the multiplication of reward and returns⁹⁶ by Allah to his worshippers, while the gift *Eidiyyah* literally means "to be repeated"; the hope that blessings, joy, kindness, and generosity are to be repeated the next year. The *Eidiyyah* generally represents gifts of cash that are distributed among (younger) family members. It

⁹³ Sickness, menstruation, travelling, permanent disability (mentally or physically) and old age are valid reasons that exempt from fasting (*Surat Al-Baqarah*, 2: 185; Fierro 1997: 87).

⁹⁴ Through monetary, clothing or food donations.

 $^{^{95}}$ One celebrates breaking the fast after the completion of the month of Ramadan, and the other celebrates the end of pilgrimage or the duty of *Hajj*.

⁹⁶ Which can be both material and spiritual returns.

is deliberately presented in the form of money so that *Eid* would be distinguished from other occasions such as birthdays, graduation and so on. Even when the gift is cash, a symbolic *Eid* must also be sensed, so, the money is usually freshly printed new wads of currency, presented in a colourful envelop or another creative approach. This ensures the *Eidiyyah's* moral value rather than its monetary value. Kholoud⁹⁷ once gave her nieces and nephews a fresh 10 Kuwaiti Dinar bill, stapled and presented in a stack of quarters. Other well-known traditions during *Eid* are wearing new clothes, gifting sweets, visiting relatives, and going on collective trips to the cinema, amusement park, the zoo, aquarium, commercial centres and the like. Other Islamic holidays that encourage gatherings, gift reciprocity and hospitality include *Eid El-Mawlid El-Nabawi* ('īdu al-mawlid al-nabawī) that celebrates the birth of Prophet Mohammed, and the *Hijri* (hijrī) New Year that marks the beginning of a new Islamic lunar year. Satt (2017) specifically studied how stock market prices are significantly influenced by the approach of such religious holidays.

Besides the *Eidiyyah*, *Sadaqa* (sadaqah) or giving charity is another strong concept in Islam (Rosenthal & Gutas, 2014). In *Sadaqa*, one can give as they please in the amount they desire, which can be in forms of food, clothes, money, and the like. This hereby differentiates *Zakat* from *Sadaqa*, as *Sadaqa* has no pre-set quantity or time. This too is the purest most selfless gift of all, since it is believed that it can save a stranger from distress, thus purifying human beings from their sins⁹⁸ (Abdullah & Suhaib 2011; Dhar 2013).

Omar, a senior informant, explained how essentially Muslims have two festivities or *Eids* to exchange gifts, and correspondingly for Christians, those would be Christmas and Easter. His response suggests that gifts are only supposed to be exchanged on religious events when celebration is permitted. As for any other occasion, it is certainly not one for Muslims. He remains unaffected by the temptations of the West. In this sense, Valentine's Day does not correspond with Omar's Islamic beliefs and is not considered an event to

⁹⁷ Kholoud is a 44-year-old married Lebanese female, moved to Kuwait by marriage in 2002.

⁹⁸ There exist comparable significances of selfless charities in Judaism and Christianity, which denote acts of righteousness and extraordinary deeds (Donin, 1972: 48). For example, Mishneh Torah, Laws of Charity (10: 7-14) explains that the act is of greater reward when it comes out selflessly without being asked or forced to do so, or begged from, because it is humiliating to the other person and causes hurt (Sefaria, n.d.). In the Bible, Luke (11: 41) explains that giving gifts with a good heart will surely have its reward, "So give for alms those things that are within; and see, everything will be clean for you".

celebrate and be sharing gifts. Valentine's Day is frequently interpreted in Islamic terms. Muslims analyse Valentine's Day to understand whether it is religiously acceptable to celebrate, among many other western-originated occasions. Since the meaning of "love" can be easily distorted, celebrating Valentine's Day in Muslim communities could lead Muslims to think that Islam has accepted showing love physically and emotionally in nonmarital relationships, which is not the case. Omar explained that the Muslim community should not blindly follow others but take a moment to think whether Valentine's Day is suitable for the reputation of Islam.

For many, Valentine's Day is an *invented*, man-made creation. It is simply a story, as Seba pointed out, like Romeo and Juliette, which eventually became a followed norm to celebrate annually. Bashar clarified, "calling Valentine's Day a feast means we have incorporated it in our religion, which is not true". The fieldwork therefore determines that Valentine's Day is a pageant practice, demeaned in Islam and does not match Kuwaiti or Arab traditions. It shows the strong role Islam possesses on the Kuwaiti society. In the West, Valentine's Day is not linked with religion at all. Even when Valentine's Day is an acknowledged western-originated occasion, it is not a *religious* Christian occasion, but was simply established from a Christian saint (Van Dyk, 2013). Logically, it was not mentioned in any religious book. This distinguishes Valentine's Day as a cultural gift-giving occasion rather than a religious one.

Although Omar's statement clearly restricted festivities to the two Muslim *Eids*, he still claimed that Valentine's Day's purpose is "to better social relationships". This shows that Islamic beliefs do not conflict with the essence of a certain occasion, as long as it is created for the right reasons that are not Islamically forbidden. Based on this, Omar considers Mother's Day and Father's Day far more appropriate occasions to celebrate. Conclusively, he believes that there are only two Islamic occasions to party, but also supports plenty of situations that require the exchange of gifts. Omar frequently surprises his wife with gifts, sometimes for reconciliation, and regularly brings back home a little something for his children, which can vary in value, from a mug to a laptop for instance.

It is crucial to acknowledge that Islam does not prohibit love any less than it prohibits dating, however it is conditioned to marriage (Rashid, 2017). The Islamic religion supports and ranks love as one of the top principles to follow, as per the teachings and characteristics of the Prophet Mohammed, who articulated love to his wives (Al-Shammari 2009: 31-69; Debas 2009; Naseem 2019), neighbours, companions, and fellows. In fact, Islam commands to communicate love, compassion and kindness towards others, and to *perform* everything with love and good intentions.

Nasir (1994) states that as per the Islamic law, gifts are only to be romantically exchanged with spouses, and returned to its owner when a marriage contract is legally broken or void. However, the Quran instructs differently. In matrimony, the Quran clarifies that if either party offered a gift at one point and afterwards there was separation or divorce, nothing presented to the other person before this incident should be taken away, no matter how valuable or insignificant it is. *Surat Al-Nisa'a* (4: 20) reads, "How would one take back something unjustly by slandering the other and committing a manifest wrong, when clearly the time and relationship have changed?". Gifted items remain in the possession of the receiver even after the marriage has ended because it would make no difference to the situation for the better. If anything, more gifts should be given to convince the reunion of the parties. It is also considered culturally rude to return a gift to the giver.

The Quran also orders to believe in all the other "Abrahamic faiths", or heavenly religions, their books and prophets, and not to make any distinction between them, as mentioned in *Surat Al-Baqarah* (2: 136) and *Surat Al-Nisa'a* (4: 152). Therefore, I would also like to embark on Prophet Moses' story, which revolves around favour-doing. *Surat Al-Qasas*, chapter 28 of the Quran, explains his story in detail. Precisely, I want to highlight the help that Prophet Moses offered to the Bedouin ladies in *Madyan*⁹⁹ after fleeing Egypt, for which he was later rewarded by their father (*Surat Al-Qasas*, 28: 23-28). Prophet Moses performed a selfless favour to people who were strangers to him. The Quranic verses contemplate that he helped the ladies for no apparent reason, and then went to sit under a

⁹⁹ Historically mentioned in the Old Testament, the Hebrew Bible and the Quran, *Madyan* is a geographical area, the location of which, in our current day, would encompass the northwest Arabian Peninsula, southern Jordan (Gulf of Aqaba) and the Egyptian Sinai peninsula (Bosworth 1984; Dever 2003).

tree's shade, praying to God for any good to be bestowed upon him. This implies that even when doing such favour, it was not in Prophet Moses' intention to receive another favour in return. He had simply offered his unconditional help without being asked or obliged and above all, he did not expect it to be reciprocated. The ladies' father, however, still felt he had to thank and reciprocate Prophet Moses' act of kindness, which was not materialistic, expensive, or tangible. In a way, personally expressing gratitude is also considered a gift in Islam. Clearly, Prophet Moses was deemed deserving of the reward because the thoughtful, unselfish help he offered was a great aiding service to the *Madyan* ladies and a favour to their father. The Quran praises these selfless deeds; and not to be arrogant, self-deluding, or boastful only because charity or help has been given to those in need (*Surat Al-Nisa'a*, 4: 36). For these reasons, the gift according to Islam also includes a genuine gesture or a selfless service, just like the one Prophet Moses performed, which eventually brought him closer to the *Madyan* tribe as God's reward for him¹⁰⁰. After all, this shows that doing a favour is certainly a gift, but only if performed out of good will and intention (consciously doing good), and not for an exchange of something else.

Intentions behind gifts are significant, as similarly portrayed by Mauss (2002: 81), "You have given gifts, but you have not given gifts of love, you have not given with a kindly heart". This can also somewhat relate to Marxism, a socioeconomic approach that began to emerge in the mid-19th century, which claims that value could be measured not by the worth of objects, but by the actions and efforts of individuals (Heyman, 2018). Along the same lines, Godelier's captivating studies about gift exchange were also based on Mauss' ideas. He links the significance of gifts in our current day to charity and social solidarity, while reflecting upon Durkheimian sociology, Marxism, religion, and psychology (Monaghan 2003: 411; Morrison 2006). Godelier (1999) dedicated the first chapter of his book, "The Enigma of the Gift", to honour Mauss' name, calling it "The Legacy of Mauss", and undergoes his own ethnographic experience in Melanesia. His conclusion was that the

¹⁰⁰ He was then offered to marry one of the *Madyan* ladies, received a job and eventually revelation came to him to become known as *Kaleem Allah* (kalīm allāh), meaning the converser of Allah (*Surat Al-Nisa'a*, 4: 164; *Surat Al-A'raaf*, 7: 143; *Surat Al-Qasas*, 28: 26-30). These all represent the reward Allah bestowed on Prophet Moses for helping the ladies of *Madyan*.

gift in the religions of many ancient state-level societies is a forever debt that a person owes to their God(s), in return for a dignified existence and respectable living conditions.

Throughout the years, the Islamic community has strived to demonstrate the true purpose of Islam, which is caring for one another by providing social services and sponsoring cultural activities (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012: 13-14). Therefore, gift-giving is one way to boost affection, relieve distress, and select neighbourhood. And if the gift is one of the keys to the hearts, then as per Islamic teachings, it is also permitted to support, give and accept gifts with nonbelievers (Fierro, 1997: 88). In this sense, the gift in Islam can attract non-Muslims to the Islamic religion because it shows cooperation and stimulates invitation. Based on this, "winning someone" in Islam could refer to encouraging togetherness, bringing the distant closer, reaching out to outcasts and stimulating respect and acceptance between distinct groups of people, as defined in the Quran in Surat Al-Tawbah (9: 60). Similarly, whenever two parties or tribes are found in dispute or battle, one should reconcile between them, as explained in *Surat Al-Hujurat* (49: 9). That is why Prophet Mohammed advised people to guide and assist one another; to bring tribes together, hence the Arabic term for gift: *Hadiyya*, which stems from the word "guidance" (Hidāya). God has created diversity among mankind and describes this diversity in the Quran. Surat Al-Hujurat (49: 13) and Surat Al-Roum (30: 22) explain that God created various groups of people to get to know one another to acknowledge each other's differences. From this we can understand that the gift has wondrous and profound effects not only as a cultural practice but even in religion, as it extracts resentment and ill-will, making enmity disappear. Accordingly, gifts in Islam are a supplication for affinity, used to soften and purify hearts, to resolve conflicts and create or maintain harmony among individuals.

Despite being a country that materialises gifts, it was established from the fieldwork that symbolic gifts were favoured over expensive ones. The gift in Islam is defined as a sincere and selfless concept, as simple as offering blessings. Indeed, this shows that when you act in kindness and benevolence, love becomes an exchange with another person, and that is its truest form. I suspect that non-material gifts, like well-intentioned help and favours, as well as spending time with one another, can be more appreciated by people in Kuwait in the future, which determines the transformation of Kuwait's society. Anna for example was not a fan of material gifts. She commented how nowadays everyone has everything. She would rather reserve the pure essence of the gift and reciprocate non-material things. Anna prefers giving, and receiving, a symbolically valuable gift, like her love or time.

3.2 The Gift of Time

Time, a curious concept as a gift. Time as an intangible gift is rarely explored and barely mentioned in gift-giving literature. The "gift of life" is another understudied gift research area. The gift of life is the privilege to be alive, free, safe, healthy and loved, under no threat or fear. Other "gifts of life" include family, friends, animals, nature, food, the change of seasons and other blessings that exist (*Surat Al-Nahl*, 16: 18). Certainly, this also includes saving other people's lives, whether medically or physically (Bell, 2019a), and therefore granting them more time to live and a new perspective on life.

Time is the most important factor in our existence. It contains a personal history of who we were and how we lived. As for the gift of time, it is part of unconditional love. It means giving someone from your time, to make memories, to share an experience or an emotion together, to listen, to support, or simply to be there regardless of the circumstances. These are all concepts that build stronger relationships and contribute to the individual's well-being, which reflect Islamic community principles. Chan and Mogilner (2016) investigated types of gifts that best connect people, whether materialistic or experiential ones, evidently reckoning that people feel more chemistry and connection with the giver when being offered experiential intangible gifts¹⁰¹. This proves the validity of the well-known saying, "it's the thought that counts". I underline this point by showing that non-material gifts can also trigger reciprocation. Money and tangible products are obviously effective and useful, but is time also a worthwhile gift to offer someone?

¹⁰¹ As for tangible gifts, Paris (2015: 48) mentioned that the best gift during travels would be something from one's home country, as it delivers a piece of the giver's identity.

The gift of time appeared to be unrecognized yet highly valued in Kuwait. The chance of spending quality time with a significant other, a long-time friend, or a close relative, is desired and treasured, but not quite common. People are not sharing time with others as much as earlier years, so time has been replaced with giving gifts. In other words, gifts sometimes substitute the physical presence of a person in an occasion. With overwhelming work hours, duties and other responsibilities that cause chaos and hurry, families nowadays usually only get together on the two Islamic Eids, or on sporadic celebrations, such as a grandchild's first birthday, a graduation party, or other more serious circumstances such as a funeral. Since leading hectic lives, very little time is spared to other people. Therefore, time, when given to someone, is considered an irreplaceable and very precious gesture. In Tahani's opinion, meeting up outside of any occasion and spending some personal time with another person, to listen to them and support them, would be the best gift. With reference to the "best" gift, a study by Branco-Illodo and Heath (2020: 418) confirmed that, "the best gifts ever are often associated with unforgettable and life-changing experiences". Suzan similarly expressed that people must think about their overall gift message, so spending time with a specific person, sharing experiences and reinforcing sentimental memories would be more appreciated than offering a perishable item. These notions make the gift practice a successful one. Maier (2020) develops further ideas that encourage spending quality time with loved ones. Quality time includes sharing activities together such as hobbies or doing house chores. Nevertheless, people in Kuwait rarely consider spending time and sharing experiences together as an alternative for giving gifts.

As a collective society, Arabs in general always like gathering and planning events with each other, however this constitutes part of their social lifestyle, not gifts. For example, on a birthday, having a cup of coffee with someone or a planning a barbecue picnic is not considered a gift. A material, tangible gift would still be expected during those outings. Rashed expressed, "I do not see that they appreciate the concept of time. It is not an understandable concept. Time in the Arab world generally does not have a great value to consider it as a gift". Accordingly, the gift of time, although is a "good signal" and an obvious declaration of love and care, does not maximise total utility. Because the gift of time is not really comprehended in Kuwait, Qassem stated that even time management

seems to be a complicated issue. People frequently arrive late to meetings or even postpone it to a later date. This time management flaw has been also implied by Joanna who commented that, "if a Kuwaiti in a high position sits down with you and gives you their time, then this is an indication that you mean something to them". This suggests something in terms of men in the political or domestic sphere. Authoritative Kuwaiti figures, probably a *Wasta*, are mostly dominated by men. They seem to boost their ego by deciding who is worthy of their personal time. Being granted their time can therefore be viewed as a gift because of its scarce characteristic.

The above information determines that material, tangible items validate a gift in Kuwait and not sharing time, love or care. No matter how much a person would prefer or crave the company of other people, the material gift always seems to take a prevailing stance in the Kuwaiti society. Probably, Kuwait's culture disregards the gift of time, but time put into the tangible gift might be evaluated and appreciated. At this point, I tackle the gift of time from another perspective.

Since the gift of time is scarce and more material gifts are exchanged in Kuwait, I wonder whether the time put into the gift is appreciated and valued instead. Is receiving a gift that required a significant effort to find, or prepare for, as equally touching to the receiver?

Informants were asked about the time they take to choose gifts. The fieldwork revealed that time spent in gift search and purchase depends on the giver's personality, gender and age. In the younger age groups, more females than males demonstrated their deep attention to gift planning and decision-making. Abrar and Seba said they do not like to feel rushed into buying a gift, especially considering the variety of gift choices to pick from. The redundant options was a factor that impedes gift purchase and because of this, looking for a gift can start a month or two before the occasion for close relationships because it ought to be expensive, thoughtful and personal. This time frame ensures selecting the "best gift" and delivering sentimental value. Evidently, people in Kuwait strive to maintain bonds by showing care through gifts. On the other hand, if there is no strong relationship strength

directly affects gift purchase, Aseel¹⁰² admitted that if it were for someone she does not know very well, the gift would be bought on the same day of the occasion. Brigham (1986: 322) explained that it is usual to offer inexpensive gifts to colleagues and acquaintances, whereas expensive or amorous gifts are believed more suitable among close friends, romantic interests, or relatives. However, to reiterate a point concluded in an earlier section, a strong relationship also means that the receiver would be equally as pleased with a symbolic gift, as suggested by Carrier (2012b), whilst in other circumstances it would be necessary to give a work colleague or an acquaintance an expensive gift, usually to boost ego and receive something (or a favour) in return.

Other than enough time, a pre-set budget is also necessary when considering an expensive gift. It also depends on when the salary is credited. Informants who considered the financials of the gift were not Kuwaiti. Living costs and expenses form an obstacle for immigrants and hinders the purchase of luxury items since they are at a disadvantage against Kuwaiti citizens who receive many benefits from the government. Chowdhury, Ratneshwar and Desai (2009) showed that when working on a budget, gift motives changed. A high budget makes individuals investigate more pleasure-seeking gift choices, causing to buy several low-priced gifts instead of just one costly item. Accordingly, a high budget indicates why Valentine gifts in Kuwait tend to include more than one item or gesture. Paris (2015: 46) however warns about over-budgeting for a gift. At some instances, something as simple as a hand-written card would be enough.

In Kuwait, monetary value is more important that the meaning of the gift. In this respect, the message communicated through the gift heeds at its financial worth to impress the receiver and maintain the relationship with them. This gives an idea about the role of the gift when monetisation was low in Kuwait, especially before the discovery of oil or during war. Mauss (1925) described the gift-giving practice as a system of economic benefits. A lack of resources and property in the past gave a greater appreciation and value to the gift. Strictly speaking, it represented the transfer of a good or a service to another. Gift exchanges occurred in forms of clan treasures, state property, land donations and charity,

¹⁰² Aseel is a 29-year-old single Canadian female of Egyptian origin, who grew up in Kuwait.

which did not only improve one's social status but also signified alliance between neighbouring families (Mayade-Claustre, 2002). Godelier (1999), in reference to Annette Weiner's insights, described these items as "unexchangeable" as they are sacred and crucial to identity and social reproduction. The *kula* and *potlatch* also aim towards similar objectives. Although cultural interpretations vary, the status of a specific family in a clan or village was not measured by the amount of their possessions, but instead by the amount they gave away. Therefore, the more lavish and bankrupting the *potlatch*, the more prestige gained by the host family. Values of generosity, unity and welcomeness are reinforced in these practices, where people make gifts to entire communities or families for a variety of complex reasons. Since land donations and other forms of gift exchange no longer take place due to the introduction of money and currency, this taught us today to measure our gift. Budgeting is now essential to buy expensive items to reach similar goals: alliance and togetherness. The literature is therefore continuously in conflict to whether the gift practice is a system of economics and politics or a social humanitarian activity.

Senior informants revealed similar patterns demonstrated in younger age groups. Two females, Amina and Mervat¹⁰³, explained that they would start preparing for a gift months before the occasion. They would normally buy something they see suitable no matter how early it is; "Christmas shopping can start as early as September!", Mervat disclosed. They also commented that gifts are bought regardless of an occasion; if something catches the eye, it is likely to be purchased. Furthermore, none of my senior informants mentioned the necessity to budget for a gift before selecting one.

However, middle-aged¹⁰⁴ informants, men and women alike, buy the first accessible gift they find a day before the occasion, or even at the last minute. Last minute purchases were connected to their hectic lives and busy, rigid schedules. This reflects why the gift of time is a rare concept in Kuwait. Tasks are frequently procrastinated because of jobs and occupations. Some of these informants have children and take care of their senior parents. We may judge that with age and more (financial) responsibilities, the pace of taking part

¹⁰³ Mervat is a 64-year-old married Jordanian female, came to work in Kuwait in the 80s, currently lives in Jordan. ¹⁰⁴ Middle-aged informants are individuals between 36-50 years of age.

in gifting events tends to slow down. Selecting "the best gift" and intending to please the receiver was not mentioned, and only Bader from the age group stated the importance of a pre-set budget before buying a gift. Despite being Kuwaiti, Bader faces some personal issues which caused him to lose some citizenship benefits. This shows how difficulties arose to some Kuwaiti citizens as well, which in turn influenced the gift-giving practice. This also shows that social class in Kuwait is easily visible through the gift.

Kuwait's gifting habits revealed that relationship strength and identity of the receiver are crucial, which in turn affect search time and budget. The stronger the relationship, the higher the budget and the more time consumed on gift preparation, whereas the weaker the relationship, the less care and effort are put into the gift. Gift givers also try to convey the relationship value through the cost of the gift. In other words, a high-quality gift signifies that the receiver is very special. Moreover, in potential romantic relationships, Arab Muslim culture has conditioned gift-giving habits among men and women. It is probably taboo to reveal intimate feelings in a conservative society, so underlying feelings are delivered through items rather than communicated with words. This is when the gift comes in handy. The more desire and interest a person has in someone, the bigger and more expensive the gift becomes.

Kuwait's fieldwork found that young individuals and seniors have more time for gifting occasions. Findings also showed that women consume longer periods of time in gift hunting than men (Hoyer, et al., 2018). Male informants proved to be more subtle and uncomplicated when choosing gifts, whereas women prioritise the gift because they probably have more free time or are unemployed, which establishes gender values from an Arab Islamic perspective. Furthermore, regardless of home or work responsibilities, women *make* time to strengthen personal bonds and reach out to others. They then look for a positive reaction from the receiver that compliments their efforts. However, free time was almost non-existent for middle-aged informants, so they usually resort to last minute purchases, which can show negligence and would disappoint the receiver. Curiously, a factor that was overlooked by the informants was the receiver's gender. As per Shanka and Handley (2011), more time is needed to search for gifts for the opposite sex.

Time is significantly precious in Kuwait because of its scarcity in individual schedules. The gift of time, or giving someone time as a gift, was a debatable, unsupported concept. It is curious to understand whether the gift of time can exist in Kuwait's society albeit the repeated mentions of the materialistic gift. The common misconception in Kuwait is that the more (financially) valuable the gift, the more it expresses one's appreciation. The usual gesture is steered towards a lavish party, a fairy-tale-like evening, and splurging away with branded items. However, the gift's financial worth is not enough to determine the sincerity of relationships and gift-giving, as a complex part of human interaction, cannot always guarantee positive consequences. If people are unable to express their appreciation to others due to a lack of personal interaction, pricey gifts are unlikely to express that appreciation either. Receivers would be disappointed to realise that the giver had spent so much money on an undesired item. Receivers would then fake unbridled enthusiasm for something they will either donate or regift. Many receive expensive gifts and still feel underappreciated because they prefer something symbolic. Therefore, gifts do not express appreciation, people do. According to Kuwait's fieldwork, quality time needs to be reinforced, especially between family members. Gift-giving is certainly a strange custom (Mankiw, 2020). People in Kuwait have the time to pick a gift for a *Wasta*, but not the time to spend with someone special.

Favouring personal time over tangible gifts can also imply Bourdieu's notion of "disinterestedness". When critically analysing the interpretations of the gift in society, Bourdieu (1998: 90, 201) stresses his ideology of "disinterestedness" reflecting pure, autonomous, strictly cultural, or aesthetic concentrations resulting from capitalism and neo-liberalism. Bourdieu's general theoretical approach of "disinterestedness" in the gift reflects growing dilemmas and tensions to the point of self-contradiction, calling it the "double truth" (Silber, 2009: 173). The "double truth" in Kuwait's context occurs when receivers are not certain of the gift's truthful message since expensive gifts can be offered for false intentions. Additionally, receivers cannot accurately calculate the time and effort spent on gifts. Therefore, even when some informants admitted that they can spend months finding a suitable gift, receivers might be unable to measure sentimental value. Therefore, they prefer non-material gifts, like the gift of time, and symbolic gifts, like books and

clothing items, to reserve the core of personal relationships, pure intentions, trust and loyalty.

From a different perspective, Kuwait's culture and wealth suggest that material gifts are expected to satisfy societal expectations. Jacques Derrida, in opposition with Bourdieu, argued that as soon as people acknowledge that an exchange will occur, the gift loses its disinterested dimension (Silber, 2009: 180). Derrida and Marion (1999: 67) declared, "I am ready to give up the word [gift], since this word is finally contradictory". Derrida's views reveal constant curiosity of the gift, no matter its financial worth or its underlying message. Tangible gifts in Kuwait are appreciated because they demonstrate significant amount of time and effort. Accordingly, intangible gifts are disregarded and receivers might lose interest in the relationship.

Evidently, the gift of time, whether demonstrated through the gift or shared with people, is strongly desired in Kuwait, no matter how rare it is. The fieldwork established that while material, thoughtful gifts cannot substitute time spent with the person, time spent on pursuing them is appreciated instead. The relationship would then endure and collective community goals would be achieved. Kuwait's gift-giving practice and values might change in the years to come. More people might realise the significance of the gift of time and the cruciality of maintaining bonds with people. These things cannot be bought with material wealth. In the end, unity and alliance are recommendations of the Quran to the Islamic community (*Surat Al-Imraan*, 3: 103).

3.3 Surprise Gifts

As Mauss suggested, a selfless gift is offered without a purpose, without a motive and most importantly, without a foreseen event or occasion. Selfless gifts do not fall under any calendar-marked date where gifts are expected, such as anniversaries, Valentine's Day, and birthdays. This subdivision elucidates that not only expensive occasion gifts exist in Kuwait but also those that come spontaneously. Furthermore, with aims of encouraging historical consciousness, we must look at the past to understand present-day realities, thus developing a framework about the historical meaning of the gift in Kuwait. This subdivision therefore also forms an understanding about gift changes throughout generations, identifying the essence of peoples' gift-giving habits in Kuwait.

Giving gifts "just because"; for no underlying reason represents tactical motives, which involves satisfying feelings of pleasure, security, or escape (Belk 1995; Saad & Gill 2003; Hume 2013). When the gift is spontaneous and unplanned, it signifies care, love and other powerful sentiments, as Belk and Coon (1993: 410) described, "buying from the heart instead of the head". Kaell (2012) revealed that giving gifts from time to time without an occasion apparently boosts the spiritual welfare of others. Moreover, when a gift is unexpected and still satisfies the needs of the receiver, it indicates shared history and good knowledge of their preferences (Belk & Coon 1993; Areni, Kiecker & Palan 1998; Robles 2012). Consequently, the unexpected gift is thoughtful; therefore, successful and appreciated by the receiver (Francisco, et al., 2015).

While unexpected gifts or surprise gifts are especially by receivers, they also build feelings of pleasure and excitement for givers. Good product deals and brand names are less important when buying surprise gifts. They are often bought on the spot, called an impulse purchase, where less information is sought, and less time is consumed in planning as compared to ordinary gifts. Surprise gifts, since bought on the spot, tend to be very symbolic and trivial, satisfying feelings of pleasure. The giver therefore takes a bigger risk, so the surprise gift should include a refund or an exchange option. Unfortunately, however, topics such as the giver's intention to surprise and consequences of surprise gifts were not thoroughly studied in previous literature (Vanhamme & De Bont, 2008). Despite this, surprise gifts emerged numerous times from my fieldwork's conversations, which revealed that it is a rather common practice in Kuwait. They represent pure and symbolic forms of gifting, just like the "gift of time" and the "gift in Islam" explained in the preceding subdivisions.

Several concepts of "surprise" were established from my fieldwork. As acknowledged earlier, the first concept of surprise lies within the wrapping¹⁰⁵. The second concept of surprise related to the receiver's feelings of astonishment and joy. Tarek's¹⁰⁶ objective is to choose a gift that would astound the receiver, and this allows him to witness their reaction. Qassem explained that he often buys surprise gifts for no underlying reason but to share an enjoyable experience. He particularly likes the humour in surprise gifts; making the receiver laugh. People sometimes catch the receiver's reaction on camera to create a special memory. Giving a gift for no reason can therefore be a way to cheer someone up; to offer support and care. Both Seba and Tahani called this, "the most beautiful gift". My fieldwork showed that surprise gifts carry extraordinary feelings as they hold a greater meaning. Rashed explained, "a gift for an occasion, is like an obligation to get it. But when there is no occasion, it would strengthen the relationship with the person and makes them feel worthwhile, that this person has remembered me".

Although giving surprise, unsolicited gifts are considered more thoughtful and genuine by receivers (Gino & Flynn, 2011), it does not mean that they liked the gift or that the right gift choice was made. The economic theory of total utility can hereby achieve two spectrums, the utility derived from the gift itself, and the utility obtained from being surprised (Kapteyn, 1985). Despite the good intention behind surprise gifts, poorly chosen items that do not meet expectations would be a bad surprise and can disappoint receivers, ultimately lowering total utility. On a different note, if someone receives something they already wanted, surprise utility would be at the lower end of the spectrum. For example, a teenager who desperately wants the latest video game would not be surprised to receive it. Under those conditions, a cash gift would not be a bad idea because it would contribute to total utility and help in buying their video game. Accordingly, gift givers should decide on the utility they want to satisfy more, consumption utility or surprise utility.

Given the visibility and necessity of the gift in Arab Islamic societies like Kuwait, Seba claimed that Arab women are especially fond of surprise gifts because it makes them feel worthy and recognised by their significant other. They are reassured of their relationship

¹⁰⁵ Refer to section: Gifts shaped by the Kuwaiti culture.

¹⁰⁶ Tarek is the youngest informant. He is a 17-year-old single Jordanian male, born and raised in Kuwait.

because the gift was not subject to any event, so it must have come from the heart. This satisfies feelings of security. Assumingly, Arab women prefer to be shown gratitude and validity through tangible items instead of words of affirmation or affection. Moreover, men also offer surprise gifts to women for reconciliation, to avoid an unfavourable argument. This satisfies feelings of escape, escaping from certain trouble (Minowa & Gould, 1999).

Joanna clarified that surprise gifts are given to someone you truly care about, "I would say that this happens mostly in either families or in romantic relationships because you have that philanthropic or unconditional type of love for them". Joanna has ruled out providing surprise gifts to superficial relationships, such as one's *Wasta*, co-workers or recent acquaintances. Accordingly, gifts for superficial relationships are usually only given during marked occasions to save face, or to ask for something in return, like a favour or a promotion. However, I would like to point out a conclusion from the "Gift in Islam" subdivision and argue that surprise gifts are also to be given for people with whom you feel conflicted. Furthermore, the Quran, in reference to Prophet Moses' story, implies to demonstrate generosity even to strangers, and not to be stingy, as demonstrated in many chapters such as *Surat Al-Nisa'a* (4: 37).

Despite the fieldwork showing the appreciation for voluntary surprise gifts, results revealed that there are always motives in doing so. For example, surprise gifts would be given to cheer someone up, to apologise, to restore a lost friendship or to clarify a misunderstanding. All these motives indicate an obligation to give a gift. Surprise gifts exist in Kuwait because givers feel they owe the receiver something. Based on this, Mauss (1925; 2002: 3) claimed that gifts are obligatory, which are often disclaimed and mistrusted. This supports the theory of Bronislaw Malinowski (1926) that the gift has an egoistic nature and a materialistic self-interest. An unexpected gift that comes without reason, or "out of the blue", should be given when the relationship is going completely well. It should not represent any self-gain, interest, or occasion, in other words, it should not be the definition of a Malinowski gift (Parry, 1986). Also, my fieldwork found that surprise gifts in Kuwait are largely associated with the concept of giving something without an *occasion*, rather than without a *motive*, which in turn does not fully match Mauss' terms of a purely selfless gift. Gifts, in theory, are voluntary because they should not involve any sort of stipulation.

They are given to show gratefulness and respect. However, when there are underlying motives, such as reconciliation after a quarrel, the person on the receiving end might already expect some sort of compensation, so the gift better be something they desired from the beginning. Conclusively, surprise gifts are those given without an occasion *and* without a motive. Apart from this, ambiguities in surprise gifts develop an uncertainty of reciprocation due to their nature of being non-anticipated. Kuwait's culture has strong reciprocation expectations; therefore, surprise gifts should be planned carefully to avoid disappointment. This once again reflects time ambiguities of return gifts previously explained by Sahlins (1972) and Bourdieu (1977).

The third concept to surprise gifts related to past and present meanings. Older informants claimed that gifts in the past already carried the "element of surprise" within them. Any gift was a surprise gift primarily because there were limited events that allowed to exchange gifts as compared to today. As an uncommon, unexpectable practice among people, there was more focus on social relationships, as Tahani mentioned. On that note, I reckon that the gift of time was probably more prevalent during the former years. This shows that by studying history, interpersonal relationship values can be distinguished.

Most importantly, it was because people lived in a time of war and experienced crucial financial limitations due to economic disruptions. Before the popularity of Valentine's Day and even before oil wealth and affluence revolutionised the lifestyle in Kuwait, people lived in poor conditions and struggled to make ends meet, especially during Iraq's invasion in 1990. The sorrow, mental exhaustion and fear immobilised people. There was no time to dedicate to the gift, let alone celebrate it. Other essentials were worthier of people's time and money, such as food and caring for children. This information suggests that before Kuwait's welfare was visible, keeping up with daily expenses was difficult, so gift-giving was risky. Therefore, the concept of the gift was idolised for its sacred nature. Gifts in Kuwait have evolved radically ever since, providing new insights into their meaning and value.

Even informants who spent their childhood in other Arab countries like Lebanon, Egypt, or Syria, also relate to tough war times and major upheavals in financial markets. These

circumstances made the "wartime gift" a rare and surprising concept. People thought less of the gift since very little money can be spent. Kholoud mentioned that buying a gift required "a great economic effort where any small detail would be a big surprise because people had the minimum indispensable". The unexpected gift turned into a more genuine, precious, and heart-felt gesture, as Nahla¹⁰⁷ described. When remembering the so-called "simpler" times, the winning idea behind the gift was its overall significance and thoughtful intentions. Khodor¹⁰⁸ reflected on his parents' reaction in the past. When they received a gift, they considered it as a prize. Struggling with money and poor mental well-being during times of war made the simplest of things a great treasure, like food, clean water, clothing, security and safety.

People lacked things and were unable to provide for themselves, therefore usually, the gift represented desperately needed or desired items which compensated what was missing from everyday life. Informants from differing age groups, like Tahani, Mahmoud and Amal, described gifts in the past as symbolic, meaningful, and simple, such as a soap bar, a bag of sugar, or a homemade cake. This implies that gifts did not require a pre-set budget or effort. Assumingly, during times of war, people shared similar financial backgrounds and therefore the necessities were similar. This also suggests that luxury items were hardly ever exchanged in Kuwait during wartime or before the discovery of oil.

Gifts in the past were merely rituals. They were punctual and exchanged on very concrete dates. People waited patiently for an occasion in hopes of receiving something they desire. Certainly, it would be a big surprise if the anticipated item would be the one they received. Fares¹⁰⁹ said, "Before, it [the gift] was something that you would receive with a lot of hope, or expectations, or feeling of joy and satisfaction. Now it is more just to meet the day". His comment, "To meet the day" implies that the gift has become predictable on pre-set occasions and is only given to satisfy social and societal expectations. Fares finds that gifts in our current day no longer hold a surprising factor filled with anticipation. The gift nowadays resembles completing a task; rarely is it given for no reason. Surely, gifts were

¹⁰⁷ Nahla is the oldest informant. She is a widowed 87-year-old Kuwaiti female.

¹⁰⁸ Khodor is a 36-year-old single Belgian male of Algerian origin, came to work in Kuwait in 2012.

¹⁰⁹ Fares is a 55-year-old married Egyptian male, came to work in Kuwait in the 90s.

profoundly cherished and valuable, unlike today when they are becoming excessive, as Khodor claimed, "more habitual, less surprising". Nowadays, gifts are given for everything and nothing, "even for achieving a high mark", as Omar expressed. People can turn anything into a praiseworthy accomplishment that deserves a reward. In addition, gifts are now mostly given in hopes of receiving something in return, it represents a selfish characteristic. Bashar explained that reciprocation has become an obligatory matter in Kuwait's society because people would get upset if someone did not take part in an occasion and offered a (expensive) gift. As implied, marked dates like Valentine's Day promote exchange of tangible items while overlooking the true role of the gift, that is showing care towards others. The increasing number of commercialised events that we notice today only "promotes consumption" in Tarek's opinion, ultimately ending up devaluing the gift's significance. Accordingly, "the element of surprise" in gifts is slowly fading throughout generations.

During the period of post-war, the situation calmed down. Maha¹¹⁰ remarked that it was only after her parents had retired and started receiving their pensions, that they slowly started dedicating more time into making and giving gifts.

The surprise factor in gifts was a plus to my research but is unfortunately becoming very scarce since gifts became normalised and more expected. The above information shows that the meaning of "surprise gifts" has changed throughout generations. Fieldwork results found that younger individuals relate differently to objects than older ones. Carrier (2012a) clarified that this happens because people had developed a different impersonal experience with gifts and products in 20th century culture. Younger informants recognise that there are hidden motives to gifts when they are given spontaneously. Their unexpected nature can represent alternative ways to apologise and ease the giver's guilt. Moreover, they can be a way to gain affection or ask for a favour. The gift hereby creates important social cues.

On the other hand, older informants reflected on a war era when speaking about surprise gifts. From a historical viewpoint, war factors are very important to consider but were

¹¹⁰ Maha is a 61-year-old married Lebanese female, who moved to Kuwait in the 80s.

poorly mentioned in gift literature. Wartime gifts during collective occasions like Christmas for example were rare and therefore surprising, a description that was missing from earlier studies. Even wrapping paper was scarce. Gifts were usually wrapped in cheap, low-quality brown paper, newspaper or sheets of cloth (Castelow, n.d.; Imperial War Museums, n.d.). Back then, total utility was not sought as much as surprise utility, any item was perceived to come in handy. In short, the gift positively influenced mental health during times of war. Therefore, older individuals today seek the surprise utility in gifts because of what they meant in the past. They represented scarce, few, necessary and exceptional items that often couldn't be afforded. They were given impulsively and required more thought from the head, more work from the hands and less money spent. They were dearly treasured and people held onto them for a long time. Gifts were rendered to feel excitement, elation, and appreciation, and surprises did not influence relationships. I believe that the older generation still generally perceives gifts as valuable treasures that would always leave them in awe because of the life they lived and because of their childhood experiences. Apparently, the constant subconscious idea of lacking or struggling with money, which served as an imprint rooted from their history, has impacted their current lifestyle. Therefore, for them, gift budgeting is not important, as concluded earlier¹¹¹. This today contradicts gift exchange occasions in Kuwait, which are celebrated to bring out the "richness" of the population and to boast individual wealth. This demonstrates the changes of Kuwait's society, thanks to the meaning of the gift, a clever way to explore how societies change within cultural encounters, globalisation and increased production and welfare. I question whether gifts will always be viewed as simple and more sentimental during the earlier years compared to the time we live in now. In other words, I ponder whether the coming generation would look back on gifts of the 21st century and describe them as symbolic, valuable, and non-materialistic.

From this subdivision, and from a historical point of view, we can establish that gift experiences were not very evident in the past and this shows that lavish gift-giving in Kuwait is a recent practice. It certainly draws attention to the contemporary notion of objects in the 21st century. It is customary to give gifts on certain occasions but giving

¹¹¹ Find the priority of budgeting among different age groups in "The Gift of Time".

spontaneous gifts stand for tokens of appreciation and I believe can contribute to the gift of time because the person has thought of the receiver outside an occasion and spent from their time and effort to surprise them. Additionally, surprise gifts relate to the significance of the gift in Islam, to be given motiveless, without occasion, and regardless of who the person is. The real generosity is to do something delightful for someone without their knowledge. Above all, this is a strong "signal" of thoughtfulness rather than a societal obligation (Walczak 2015: 506; Mankiw 2020). It shows that the pleasure is in the giving not in the reaction of the receiver. An unexpected gift should demonstrate the pure, selfless characteristic that resembles something we once had in the past: a treasure.

4. Gifting in the Time of Corona

This section studies the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on gift-giving practices in Kuwait, and how they differ from other neighbouring countries in the Middle East. It speaks about the technologies and selling platforms that have facilitated buying and sending gifts directly (Vidovic, 2019). As part of the globalised world and Valentine's Day festivity, the success of ecommerce businesses shaped new roles for the gift in the Kuwaiti society. This in turn has enhanced traditional gift ideas that undoubtedly influenced the economy. This section will first define the gift during a pandemic and second will identify a change (if any) in gifting practices and motives. Due to travel restrictions which suspended ethnographic fieldwork (Buxo i Rei & González Alcantud, 2021), some informants were recontacted virtually to realise the implications of the pandemic on social practices and relationships in Kuwait. Beyond any particular geographic setting, understanding the effects of the pandemic on interpersonal relationships and social customs also contributes to theoretical conversations about the gift. In terms of a global pandemic, this area has not yet been thoroughly investigated.

Social media and selling platforms play a very influential role in Kuwait. They are mediums to share information, spread awareness, promote products, and facilitate exchange. It is considered the easiest, fastest method of knowledge acquisition and purchase. The ecommerce industry had developed shopping experiences and became tremendously successful because of the increasing rate of return customers. Furthermore, geolocation, socialisation and customisation are concepts that have extended because of the competitive advantage that online methods enjoy, which in turn have changed lives and habits (Coy 2013; World Trade Organization 2020). According to the fieldwork, social media has also given opportunities to open side businesses stemmed from individual hobbies and interests.

As a fieldwork implication, the internet is considered as a marketing mechanism to encourage consumption and sale in Kuwait. Products have become very accessible, and the entire purchasing process has evolved into a simpler, much easier one. Therefore, social networks and platforms are additional ways to commercialise products and to spread trends, to achieve marketing and profit goals.

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the gifting industry had already been flourishing. There were many online businesses in Kuwait that received gift requests. The gifts would be customised to be wrapped, shipped, and delivered to relative available destinations. Abrar argued that the gift-giving practice has become drastically easier, thanks to technology and the internet. Gift varieties, options, selection and delivery have never been so convenient. With the help of the internet, people are only a click away to compare prices and evaluate brands. Many people use this option when sending gifts for parents, relatives and friends who live abroad, like sending a cake or a bouquet of flowers on Mother's Day for instance (Coy, 2013). It is a thoughtful gesture that also possesses the element of surprise because of the receiver's unawareness of getting a gift. The internet also introduced online gift cards or vouchers for restaurants, coffeehouses, and numerous online retail shops, which are especially popular among teenagers and young adults. This explains the success of online retail businesses in the 21st century.

Accordingly, young individuals use their time gift shopping online to show love to their family and friends. In Kuwait, young female informants use the internet to identify market trends. It helps them realise their gift options and broaden their product knowledge, and possibly compare different vendor prices as well. This means that sometimes, a person would consider a completely different item that was not in mind before, just because of how popular it is -a "trend". Abrar viewed online options especially beneficial when

looking for gifts for children, while Anna expressed that the internet particularly influences her gifting decisions about clothes or jewellery. Tahani even uses gift ideas from the internet and implement or "copy" them using her own accessible (cheaper) resources at home. This reflects on traditional handmade gifts which are considered a better alternative than those being advertised. It is a gesture that demonstrates effort and time put into the gift, which holds greater sentimental value and therefore signifies that the gift had come from the heart. The internet represents a beneficial advantage for younger age groups as they become more aware of alternative "non-conventional" gift ideas, helping them stand out as creative gift givers.

The fieldwork therefore revealed that older age groups¹¹² would not turn to online gifting options due to their unfamiliarity with such practice and their limited knowledge of the internet and technology. They are not influenced by social media or the internet because they cannot relate to this buying behaviour. They proposed the concept of convenience. It is more convenient for them to buy something from a place close to where they live than to search for it online and waste their time. Older informants preferred to stay in their comfort zones where they feel more secure. They showed they are distrusting of online platforms that impose many risks. For example, sharing banking information with a nonphysical business is a suspicious operation, as they are aware of the possibility of fraudulent ecommerce websites. This shows resistance to change old habits. It is defined as "the safety of the familiar" that is found common not only among human beings but also in businesses and workplaces. This similarly applies to celebrating Valentine's Day since it also suggests a change of habit. Bourdieu (1969) discusses in his theory of Habitus that people usually accumulate a hard-to-change, widely regular set of habits, which they learn from social environments and experiences. Through their repeated use, these habits become critical individual traditions, making people act in predictable ways though not following conscious rules. Many studies have been dedicated to uncover why people refrain from changing, or even trying to change, known habits and practices. In fact, changing habits was shown to improve individual moral, business efficiency and status (Dudovskiy 2012; Struijs 2012; Horvat & Perkov 2013). According to this information, older individuals are

¹¹² Above 36 years of age.

less likely to resort to online gift options during a pandemic but would rather think of ways to acquire the item within their given circumstances and financials.

In Kuwait, online gift registries and platforms are found on many mobile applications and websites and have become a profitable business across the country. Services include selection, customisation, and delivery of gifts. Another option is creating a wish list, where desired gifts are chosen beforehand for others to view, pick from and deliver. This strategy is time efficient and decreases the giver's risk of choosing a wrong gift. It is arguable, however, that when a gift is already specified, there would not be as much thought or effort and would not have the same impact on the receiver. The element of surprise would be eliminated thus weakens the essence of the gift. Furthermore, since it is a very broad gift approach, the strength of the relationship between the parties is difficult to determine. Since social relationships play a major role in gift-giving, and vice versa, it is questionable how this "easier" method of gifting would contribute to personal relationships, or as discussed earlier, to resolve a conflict. Physical presence, voice and touch certainly complements a gift. Online gifts would not bestow the same effect as compared to those presented in person. It is however a thoughtful "signal" and alternative for those who live in different countries and want to mark their presence on a specific (special) day, especially during a global pandemic when any social contact is needed and appreciated.

Online gifting by gender has mimicked the overall results of traditional "in-person" gifting¹¹³. In Kuwait, it seems that more women would turn to online gifting than men. This shows that women relate differently to gifts and have a special emotional connection with them. Throughout the past decade, women have been found to purchase more gifts and donate more money than men (WPI 2015; PEW Research Center 2019; Vidovic 2019; Travers 2020). Then, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, women overall have shown more enthusiasm than men in embracing online gifting, according to a research from the Women's Philanthropy Institute (2020). Studies conducted on certain charity centres also

¹¹³ Refer to the section: Dating and Romantic Relationships: Gender roles and gift expectations in an Arab Islamic country.

showed an increase in online financial donations and contributions during the pandemic (Travers 2020; WPI 2020).

Technology has widely impacted gifts in our current day. The internet has introduced people to new, useful gift ideas and business accounts. Gift exchange was realised an excellent method to connect with others during the COVID-19 pandemic (World Trade Organization, 2020). Sending gifts has been shown to be significantly efficient during periods of enforced lockdown and visit restrictions to grandparents and people at high risk of infection. Buying gifts online as an established trend showed a growing percentage from 2019 to 2020 (Travers, 2020). Sullivan (2020) found that this was especially common among people between the ages of 15 and 39. However, although sending gifts during a pandemic was an easy task, overlooked expenses and risks were faced, such as shipping charges and border closures. Nevertheless, these technologies were not solely methods for ecommerce or buying gifts. In 2020, many concepts began to be perceived differently. Establishing a digital connection without personally meeting people alleviated some of the challenges faced in combatting the virus, such as the closure of public spaces, working remotely, social distancing and inability to travel (World Trade Organization 2020; Silberner 2020). Emotional and physical gaps were able to be bridged since staying in touch with loved ones during the pandemic was not an impossible task. The internet has facilitated this objective and helped bring families together albeit behind a screen. According to the World Trade Organization (2020: 1), COVID-19 has "ramped up online shopping, social media use, internet telephony and teleconferencing, and streaming of videos and films". This would have been certainly unfeasible had the pandemic occurred in the 80s or 90s.

The difficult self-isolation, quarantine period in 2020 carried several traditional gifting events in Kuwait, such as Mother's Day, Easter, and Father's Day. That period also witnessed the month of Ramadan and the first Islamic *Eid* of the year, *Eid Al-Fitr*. It was challenging for Muslims to maintain the spirit of these pious occasions, and to sustain a positive, united and above all religious experience within their families. Ramadan, the month of fasting, prayer and reflection, passed melancholically on the Muslim community of Kuwait considering the closure of mosques and restrictions to visit family members in

other neighbourhoods. Therefore, many social, traditional, get-together rituals during Ramadan, such as the celebration of $Gergean^{114}$ (qirqiʿān), occasional $ghabgat^{115}$ (gabqah) and $fotour^{116}$ (fuțūr) invites could not be done.

Considering a far longer lockdown period and de-escalation phase than in other countries, as well as excessive curfews (Gasana & Shehab, 2020), Kuwait's shops remained closed until the end of *Eid Al-Adha*, which fell on the beginning of August 2020. The long-time tradition of visiting elders, sharing food, exchanging *Eidiyyah*, buying and wearing new clothes, and offering sweets and gifts during *Eid* was highly challenging. This also meant that the religious duty of *Hajj* (al-hajj: one of the five pillars of Islam) was highly unlikely to take place as a usual practice. To perform the journey of *Hajj* is reckoned as a fundamental dream to many Muslims, and a precious asset for those who had already performed it. It signifies the solidarity of Muslims by stripping away all indications of social status, wealth, and pride in terms of clothing, accessories and jewellery. Above all, the duty of *Hajj* represents an annual opportunity for Muslims to repent and faithfully worship their creator (Gatrad & Sheikh 2005; Davids 2006; Clingingsmith, Khwaja & Kremer 2009; Ascoura 2013). Because of the virus, their wishes had to be postponed. In 2020 and 2021, Saudi Arabia announced the decision not to receive any international pilgrims to prevent the spread of the virus. Instead of around 2 million Muslims visiting Mecca, Saudi Arabia had to accept only a few thousand citizens and residents from inside the kingdom, as it was not prepared to compromise the safety and health of its visitors. The duty was performed in an abnormal manner¹¹⁷, as health protocols were issued regarding usage of prayer rugs, touching the Kaaba¹¹⁸ (al-ka⁵bah) and the Hajar Al-Aswad¹¹⁹ (al-

¹¹⁴ A social festivity that takes place during the month of Ramadan (usually between the 14th and 16th day of Ramadan), which typically involves knocking on neighbourhood doors for the exchange of sweets, celebrated by children with the help of their parents.

¹¹⁵ A shared meal served late at night, which takes place between *fotour* (the meal that breaks the fast at sunset) and *suhour* (suhūr: the meal before starting the fast at dawn).

¹¹⁶ The meal that breaks the fast at sunset, also known as *iftar*. The terms generally mean the first meal of the day or breakfast.

¹¹⁷ This evidently has happened before during the plague and cholera infectious diseases (Al Khatib, 2020).

¹¹⁸ The *Kaaba* is a cuboid-shaped shrine made of stones. It is the direction of prayer for Muslims and the building that pilgrims walk around during *Hajj*. It is located at the centre of Islam's most important mosque, *Al-Masjid Al-Haram* (al-masjid al-harām) in Mecca, Saudi Arabia. It is the most sacred site in Islam.

¹¹⁹ Arabic for The Black Stone. It is a stone set into the corner of the *Kaaba* encased with silver, revered by Muslims as a sacred Islamic relic. Part of *Al-Hajj* ritual is to stop and touch or kiss the stone.

hajaru al-'aswad) and mandatory social distancing (Al Jazeera 2020; Karadsheh & Qiblawi 2020; BBC News 2020a; 2020b). With COVID-19 restrictions, the practice resembled a disciplined military rather than a unity of Muslims. This serious pandemic situation has changed ritualised Islamic holidays and their significance and it is still unclear when life will return to its normal state¹²⁰.

During the second half of 2020, with the approach of popular gift exchange occasions, such as Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Year, people were still urged to keep their distance and opt for gifts that can be sent online during the health crisis. The COVID-19 pandemic posed a further obstacle to the reunification of families, as country borders remained closed and authorities had scaled down their local activities. Most travel plans were put on hold and so traditional gifting holidays took on a different form. Everything along the lines of social gatherings with older family members, hosting at-home festive meals, food gifts, trick-or-treating, holiday shopping, and collectively wrapping presents, which are all lifelong customs of celebration, seemed to have an unusual aspect in 2020.

The global pandemic had therefore caused an elevated creativity in the gift industry. Numerous blogs and reports were created to suggest virtual gift ideas that can be delivered with zero contact and still provide a sentimental emotion during the quarantine and self-isolation months (Baillie 2020; Sullivan 2020). It was recommended to consider gifting an experience rather than a tangible product during the holiday season since the virus had not been contained yet. Gifting no longer meant giving away a product or an object, but rather offering something memorable which respected the ethical aspect of the gift. The pandemic has therefore encouraged sustainable gifting. Less raw materials are consumed since online experiences do not require gift wrapping, delivery, or human workforce (Baillie, 2020). Experiential gifts are cherished over tangible items since they are more effective in improving relationships and can foster more grounded connections. Receivers therefore become emotionally evocative as these experiences are more likely to contribute to well-being and memory than physical things (University of Toronto 2016; Chan & Mogilner 2016). Exchanging experiences online were used to reinforce happiness and solidarity

¹²⁰ Occasional mobility restrictions, closure of the airport, curfews and limiting in-person gatherings in Kuwait sustained throughout the year 2021.

during the pandemic. It points out how the Kuwaiti gift has changed. When the pandemic began, gift principles and values that were previously impacted by rich Kuwaiti culture have turned into symbolic gestures of appreciation and support.

Online sales were logically deemed to rise since very few stores were open during the lockdown period. Shipping and timing suddenly became two important factors that impacted buying decisions. COVID-19 has considerably impacted consumer shopping practices and boosted retail ecommerce, generating a billion-dollar industry in the digital economy (Sullivan, 2020), even after the reopening of physical stores and self-isolation not being mandatory anymore. The ongoing social distancing further created an increase in demand. Online buying is expected to further increase substantially as people arrange their gifting from home.

Convenient gift options during the quarantine included greeting e-cards, where wishes could be typed down and signed by several people online to be sent to the receiver¹²¹. Another gift that the receiver can immediately enjoy is one that supports their hobbies, such as a digital subscription for video streaming services, e-books, audiobooks, online cookbooks, and a variety of online classes (Baillie, 2020). Other gift experiences during the pandemic included gym membership trials which can be used online or once normal life resumes. This fills the receiver with hope for the future. An exceptionally clever gift idea that stood out was gifting online medical consultations with health specialists and doctors. The gift giver would think about the interests of the receiver with regards to health and well-being and then offer them a consultation with a professional. Personally, I have seen friends gifting others breastfeeding, childcare and psychological online counselling sessions during the COVID-19 restrictions. Consequently, the receiver develops an emotional attachment to these gifts which can be used frequently.

As shown, offering experiential and environment-friendly gifts is a feasible task when store browsing is ill-timed in a global pandemic era. The pandemic gave a grand incentive and opportunity for businesses to consider offering their products and services online, contact-

¹²¹ However, holiday greeting cards and gift cards that can be shipped or virtually sent online can be viewed as a less personal gesture.

less. Most importantly, every shop, bar and restaurant should now strive to develop their digital gift card strategy. In 2021, in the United States, restaurant vouchers, store discounts and free beer were gifts offered to encourage people to get vaccinated against the virus, as informed by Joanna and Hisham.

Along the lines of gifting medical consultations and psychological counselling sessions, there is plenty of evidence that showed that the COVID-19 pandemic has not only affected physical health, but also emotional and mental well-being. It is vital to reflect on the influence of the pandemic on the state of mind (Bhaumik, Dasgupta & Paul 2020; World Health Organization 2020; The Lancet Infectious Diseases 2020; Vich 2020; Schäfer, et al. 2020; Adiukwu, et al. 2020). The state of alarm, lockdown, travel immobility and strict curfews, along with numerous deaths in families, influenced mental health. The COVID-19 pandemic has gravely injured the world's economy, trade, and development (UN 2020; CCSA 2020). Serious consequences to this were high rates of unemployment and therefore poor financial conditions on national terms (ILO 2020a; 2020b; Kalenkoski & Pabilonia 2020; Burhamah, et al. 2020; Falk, et al. 2021). Furthermore, women were faced with limited job opportunities, bringing back gender discrimination and inequality issues in the Arabian Peninsula (Khamis & Campbell, 2020). Post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, depression, social disconnection, and the phobia of gathering with people, were common psychiatric problems derived from the pandemic. According to a study conducted in Jordan, social relationships were negatively affected to a high degree (Naser, et al., 2020). Social distancing and security measures had affected peoples' perception of sympathy towards others. Most exposed groups were children, college students, frontline workers and those stranded abroad away from their home countries (Pfefferbaum & North 2020; Saladino, Algeri & Auriemma 2020). All these factors have caused the pandemic to resemble a situation of war, in this case a biological war instead of a political one (Summers 2020; Bernhard 2020).

Most countries were unprepared for such drastic change of lifestyle. It was necessary that governments and relative authorities provided educational campaigns that can better sociological health. Creating online gifting platforms given these circumstances was not the priority. From this perspective, digital mental health services were created in several Arab countries to aid people and decrease the negative effects of the pandemic using telepsychology and technological devices, hotlines and messaging facilities (Saladino, Algeri & Auriemma 2020; El Hayek, et al. 2020). Still, mental health services remain very limited in the Middle East (UN: ESCWA, 2016: 28). Considering all the above hardships and outcomes of the pandemic, gift exchange should have contrarily decreased because people were focused on other matters and had the minimum to spend and consume.

From this perspective, Yara Hawari and Rosita Di Peri studied Middle Eastern conflict zones, particularly Lebanon and Palestine, during the COVID-19 pandemic¹²². Di Peri remarks that the geographics of countries should be studied along with their political, economic and geopolitical contexts. She explained how the lockdown in Lebanon caused the border with Syria to close, a long-time trading place of food and goods after the Beirut port explosion on the 4th of August 2020. This meant that the two countries would lose social contact as people who live from territorial exchange are now left unemployed¹²³. Beirut's airport was the only means of trade for the Lebanese republic. Therefore, there was a limited entry and delivery of goods. In this sense, the country remained isolated from the rest of the world. This certainly compromises mental health because the option of receiving goods from people abroad to aid the country was no longer available. The poverty line is currently high in Lebanon due to the revolution of October 2019 and the COVID-19 pandemic occurring shortly after. It is important to underline given these circumstances that people won't be buying online products. Lebanese citizens would therefore not be involved in traditional celebrations and gift exchange due to harsh circumstances. Additionally, Hawari highlighted that occupied territories have no deliveries or addresses, and she is not aware of any online buying statistics in Palestine. Accordingly, there is no data about gifting in conflict zones. The ongoing political instability along with pandemic problems have caused preoccupation and stress, making gifts purchase the least of peoples' concerns.

¹²² Their COVID-19 studies include Tartir and Hawari (2020), Hawari (2020a; 2020b; 2020c) Di Peri (2020), Carpi and Di Peri (2020).

¹²³ This is a similar story to the closing of the Moroccan border with Melilla (Spain) which wrecked both economies (Panayotatos 2020; Redondo 2020; Handaji 2020).

This information suggests a very important conclusion to this section. Online gifting, or online buying in general, may not be a common practice in every country because it depends on the country's context. It is inaccurate to assume that online sales will only increase during the pandemic. Considering the above discussions, online buying is considered a luxury, even a privilege, enjoyed by only a handful of non-conflict Middle Eastern countries, like Kuwait. Furthermore, Belbagi (2015: 3) shows that the youth constitute much of the population in the Arabian Gulf states, a third to half of the population being under 25. This age group, as mentioned earlier, represents the number one user of online purchasing platforms. Therefore, according to every country's circumstances, online gifting could either thrive immensely or fail miserably. Since this privilege is available in Kuwait, it encourages to assist other disadvantaged neighbouring countries that cannot enjoy these amenities given the current conditions. This would surely achieve the unity of humans. After the COVID-19 situation, I suspect some drastic changes in Kuwait in terms of the economy, politics, resource allocation, culture, and human rights. However, it is too early to determine whether these changes would be positive or negative.

Gift-giving during a pandemic represents a challenge but also a positive adoption. Given the alternative culture that COVID-19 has created through the digital world, people are advised to avoid going back to the life they were living prior to the virus. The economic and health crisis left lots of people unemployed, hungry, and poor, and this certainly deserves a moment of contemplating where to spend our next dollar. A congruence of war would revert the gift as a scarce and precious concept as it was in the past, therefore being more appreciated and cherished by people in times of crisis¹²⁴. The quarantine period and staying at home also produced new meanings of time. It was crucial to decide what to do with all the time that was given to us. Creative ways to communicate and show care for loved ones therefore emerged, whether giving them an experience to enjoy later, a kind word through a phone call, or a thoughtful gesture from afar. The true spirit of *Eid*, Christmas and Valentine's Day in times of a pandemic is a reminder that our most precious gifts are not found wrapped in ribbon and paper, but among the hearts and laughter of those

¹²⁴ Refer to the subdivision: Surprise Gifts.

who are with us. The pandemic can be considered an opportunity to renew values for connection and appreciate these kinds of experiences together, but apart.

5. The Quran and Islamic Religion: Wasta and Prodigality

As discussed earlier in this chapter, the gift in Islam impacts Arab Muslim practices when bearing in mind its significant benefits. It removes grudges and strips away hatred, hostility, and cruelty between people. Therefore, Muslims act upon the obligation of generosity in Islam. The Kuwaiti gift requires effort and is often fancy. The more elaborate and expensive the gift is, the more it represents this generosity, thus a greater reward from God. However, although Islam commands generosity in reciprocating a "better gift", there is no evidence that it should be of a high financial value. Nevertheless, because religion has been mixed with Kuwait's culture, hospitality and reciprocation construct a strong basis to uphold the community. Apart from *Eidiyyah*, *Zakat* and *Sadaqa*, people in Kuwait look for more events to exchange gifts that demonstrate their generosity, affection and above all, their wealth. The concern lies when intentions are fallacious and gifts are misused. *Wasta* and giving gifts in exchange for *Wasta* are certainly questioned in terms of Islam.

Giving a gift in return for a favour, a common practice in Kuwait, appears to be a way of social networking. The gift here communicates gratitude, debt and reciprocity. Formally dispensing favours through *Wasta*, the system of benefitting individuals from close circles, is an important component in Arab society, the motives to which remain largely unclear (Althoff, Danescu-Niculescu-Mizil & Jurafsky 2014; Ramady 2016). *Wasta* critically affects decision-making in Middle Eastern societies. Any effective achievement, or sometimes restriction, is connected to this "hidden force" (Feghali, 2014). This system of networking differs in western contexts. In Kuwait, the *Wasta* influence can sometimes have no direct relation to the individual, "anyone can perform the *Wasta* action or mediation", even people from other countries, as Tlaiss and Kauser (2011: 475) clarify. Therefore, this practice is recognised as a method to evince power and to acquire prestige, more than a method to assist people (Tlaiss & Kauser 2011: 477; Feghali 2014). Islamic guidelines clearly abstain from using this approach.

First, the Quran frowns upon *Wasta* or doing a favour just to receive more in return, as Surat Al-Muddather (74: 6) indicates. Similarly, the gift should not have underlying intentions of achieving a goal or bettering personal status; it should be performed with clear motives and a selfless conscience. Islam strictly forbids corruption and the unjust practice of taking advantage of others. To exploit someone by bribing them results in a grave sin, as explicated in Surat Al-Baqarah (2: 188). While many people in Arab Muslim communities take the Quran's injunction seriously, it is troubling to learn that *Wasta* is slowly becoming a way of life to triumph others rather than a way of assistance and support (Feghali, 2014). Certainly, it is natural to help one another out of good faith since trust and favours are key values in the Islamic community but this does not mean depriving others the advantage of potentially flourishing in their lives. Islam encourages principles of justice and high value is emphasized on integrity and fair treatment among people, as stated in Surat Al-Nisa'a (4: 58) in the Quran, meanwhile Wasta is biased as it acts on behalf of family and tribal relationships. In reference to Prophet Moses' story, anyone including a stranger is eligible to receive help, not only family members or close kin (Ramady, 2016). It is specifically highlighted in Surat Al-Nahl (16: 90) that Allah enjoins justice and the doing of good to others therefore egalitarianism as a core Islamic principle would annul Wasta in Kuwait (Harbi, Thursfield & Bright, 2016).

Second, and from another point of view, Manolopoulos (2007: 1) argued that the gift is an individual creation and is inevitably a practice for delivering "gratuity, reciprocity, excess and exchange". He inspected the gift idea under two dimensions: the religious and the irreligious, in which its religious scope preserves and respects the dual cycle of thanking and reciprocating, whilst its irreligious scope reflects its "egoistic" nature of taking and enjoying. According to this, *Wasta* in Kuwait can be determined to fall under the irreligious scope, while the gift in Islam fits under the religious one.

For these reasons, using gifts in return for *Wasta* is argued to be unethical, manipulative and offensive because the gift is selfish; not coming from the heart. Givers even err with their gift choice because the act is egoistic and not pure. It contradicts Islamic principles. *Surat Al-Baqarah* (2: 262-264) explains several points about this. First, one should not give back in aims of achieving something else. More importantly, a person must not announce

their good deeds, like doing a favour or assisting someone, or giving *Sadaqa* or *Zakat*. They must not stress their benevolence to be popular among their peers as this causes harm and humiliation to the other party. Consequently, this would nullify the entire act and the reward from God would be substantially lessened. Instead, forgiveness and giving blessings to one another is better than a tangible gift, charity or act of kindness that is followed by hurt or demeaning behaviour. In this respect, giving gifts and doing favours are better rewarding when done in secret, not as an established public act of cultural networking¹²⁵. This again shows a clash between the Kuwaiti gift and the gift in Islam, which commands considerable public and academic attention.

Despite the negative connotations associated with *Wasta*, it is frequently interpreted as a sign of respect. It signifies reciprocal acceptance and highlights the beginning or honouring of an established bond, which here reveals similarities with western business customs (Weir, 2003). Haase (2012: 95) explains that Kuwait enjoys a relationship-driven culture; to help or give someone *Wasta* is also widely considered as a family obligation even when it is linked with injustice and corruption (Feghali, 2014). People often agree to do favours even when they are unable to comply. The offer to help though would still be appreciated and reasons why the favour was not fulfilled would be understood. Therefore, if a gift was offered before the favour, a person cannot ask to take back their gift. Similarly, the *Wasta* cannot withdraw their service if a conflict arose or a gift was not offered.

It is argued that the absence of laws preventing this practice permeates the *Wasta* into Arab countries that lack equal opportunities (Al-Twal & Aladwan, 2020). Accordingly, it is unlikely for *Wasta* to diminish or become irrelevant in the near future because of its traditional, intrinsic role in business and social life. The *Wasta* practice as a well-acknowledged strategy in Kuwait will continue until there are demands for social change, "until the dissatisfaction of those disadvantaged by *Wasta* becomes a significant political issue", as bluntly stated by Cunningham and Sarayrah (1994: 36). *Wasta* is frequently

¹²⁵ Similar notions appear in Christianity, as shown in Matthew (6:1), it is advised to give charity without belittling the suffering of the needy, because doing so would be corroded by God, "Beware of practicing your piety before others in order to be seen by them; for then you have no reward from your Father in heaven".

linked to oil wealth, however it remains a grey area because of the difficulty to assess such a sensitive matter (Hutchings & Weir 2006; Ramady 2016).

Haase (2012: 95) reckons that Kuwaitis judge on appearances, for instance, good quality clothes and high education could mark individual status and prestige, which insinuates a *Wasta* figure. Certainly, the gift can also mark similar attributes in the Kuwaiti society. For example, an expensive gift signifies high status and class. Moreover, a Chinese study found that the type of gift depends on personal values and other social cultural aspects. The personal values reflected in the study included materialism, secular-hedonism, face-saving, and social connections (Yau, Chan & Lau 1999; Chen & Kim 2013). Accordingly, the gift in Kuwait reflects similar values since its culture and wealth pushes consumers into fancying and essentialising expensive products. The fieldwork also recognised that unwrapping presents is a highlight in gifting occasions. The value of any gift increases when nicely wrapped, which again refers to the importance of "appearances" in the Kuwaiti culture. However, no matter how enjoyable the activity is, gift wrapping is considerably recognised as unnecessary and a big waste. At most times, the resources used in wrapping and decoration are later thrown away, in a relatively small country that does not have a clear waste recollection system. It is worrisome that Kuwait, as a country of limited capital, could be at a resource risk.

Due to these interconnected topics, several aspects in Islam had to be investigated with regards to sustainability and prodigality. Özdemir speaks about the excessive production and consumption activities with regards to earth's finite natural resources, and their approach in Islam as a religion of moderation (Alpay, Özdemir & Demirbaş 2013; Özdemir 2017). From an Islamic perspective, *Surat Al-A 'raaf* (7: 31) warns to take care of our planet and not to over-consume: "God does not love the wasters". Islam does not permit thoughtless consumption and wastefulness. *Surat Al-Isra'a* (17: 26-27) similarly advises not to splurge wantonly, as this act is associated with the *shaitan* (šayțān: devil). On the contrary, it is preferred that people spend in moderation, neither being stingy nor wasteful, as stated in *Surat Al-Furqan* (25: 67). Prophet Mohammed also advised not to use, eat, or buy, more than what is needed, and these rules do not exempt *Eids* and Ramadan. Even in Ramadan, there should not be an exploitation of food that would result in squandering,

because the "holy" month should represent contemplation and self-reflection to better oneself; not to indulge in wasteful habits. Kowanda-Yassin (2018) explains the concept of a "Green Islam" or "Eco-Islam" in her book. In Ramadan, the concept can be applied by having a "Green *Iftar*" ('iftār), which refrains from food squandering, especially that the religious month inspires people to get together in large gatherings. As for *Eids*, surely, it is necessary to show generosity through hospitality. It is also permissible to celebrate and have nice clothing, but not to squander, and not to buy more than what is needed.

The relationship between humans and nature is an often-ignored part of Islamic civilisation. The interconnection between sustainability and product "gift" consumption is of particular interest because it relates to moral responsibility towards the country and entire planet. As an Islamic country, the rules and principles found in many chapters of the Quran urge not to mischievously cause corruption in the earth when it has been in order (*Surat Al-Baqarah*, 2: 60; *Surat Al-A'raaf*, 7: 56, 74; *Surat Hud*, 11: 85; *Surat Al-Shuara'a*, 26: 183). Therefore, wastefulness is not only an inconsiderate consumption of natural resources but is also disrespectful towards God. Özdemir (2003) stresses the necessity for an ecological awakening that "man is not separate from or above nature" and calls on humans to take responsibility and act immediately. Defending the natural environment and protecting earthly resources also in a way relates to global charity, since founding of land, cultivating the earth, and planting trees also count as alms.

Additional waste management information is needed to be researched in Kuwait. Most importantly, explanations to solutions, such as a separate waste recollection system, should be provided with instructions on how to implement the system step by step. The public should be aware of this issue to consistently adhere and stick to the system. This eco-friendly system should not be pressured or imposed on the people, but rather be practical as to how this can be implemented efficiently. Consequences to littering should also be strictly outlined because if people are not encouraged to "think green", then there is no use of implementing such system in the first place. Primarily, there should be a public will and a positive response; a contribution and collaboration from the people to separate their waste starting from their homes, to create a "greener" world. Afterwards, more feasibility measures, financing and funding plans should be dedicated on this waste management

project. There is a realm of opportunities for Kuwait as a rich, developing country, so this project must be executed to ensure a better image for the nation.

Özdemir (2003) also comments on the predominant view of science and technology that was supposedly created to satisfy humanitarian needs and solve its problems entirely, without creating new ones. Nevertheless, these inventions were realised to harm the planet as well¹²⁶ because the focus has become on satisfying selfish desires, boosting the economy and wealth of a country. These views were more comprehended during the COVID-19 global pandemic and complete lockdown, which in a way did not only signal a health crisis, but also an environmental crisis. These circumstances brought back the simplicity of the gift while dehumanising social contact. Gifting experiences were more appreciated than material gifts when health and safety were the number one national concern. COVID-19 gave perspective to the gift of time, which was an unrecognised concept due to hectic lives and distractions before the pandemic. Before 2020, occasional encounters with people were often planned ahead of time to make sure they do not clash with other commitments. When the COVID-19 hit, and people were obliged to stay at home during the lockdown, the importance of "staying in touch" was recognised and people had plenty of time to do so. They were eager to maintain connection and relationships, since physically attending special occasions was no longer an option. Typically, people started resorting to other feasible solutions to achieve this objective, online calls and online gifting. It required a pandemic to achieve this global sense of unity around the world. Islamic terms and Mauss' theory show that true happiness and fulfilment is not found in material things, it is found within the company of others. Pandemic culture has created a new phenomenon not only in gift-giving but by putting appearances and competitions aside and paying attention to other critical matters, such as one's health, family elders, and other human dimensions, such as sustainability and religious action. As for the post-COVID-19 lifestyle, social platforms and the internet are expected to be key to gifting occasions.

As demonstrated, the Quran and Islamic religion can be sources of guidance and inspiration to those who seek to ponder on the meaning of Islamic traditions, as it holds divergent ways

¹²⁶ Through vehicles and pollution, excess production, commercialisation, globalised markets, misinformation through social media etc.

and different paths of thought. For this research, Islamic guidelines were contemplated upon for Kuwait only to draw attention towards concerning areas and to avoid potential problems in the future. Above all, it helped develop a sense of motivation to be committed to a certain (better) lifestyle. For concerned Muslims in Kuwait, an ethical imperative and responsibility was deemed necessary to maintain and preserve the balance of ecosystems. Kuwait's findings realised areas of concern with regards to levels of consumption. The solution to excess consumption and waste cannot be solved in an individual manner but through a nationwide movement and initiative.

When mindfully paying attention, Kuwait might witness a growth in sustainability and increased market revenue. As a job more critical now than ever, it will be of Kuwait's interest to proceed with sustainable solutions, primarily a waste recollection and recycling system, to guarantee an improved gift exchange experience. Surely, business models involving retail and sale will have to be reformulated completely if Kuwait is going to respond to all these changing market activities. Fortunately, awareness about these issues, environmental responsibility and ecological consciousness are already proceeding. Kuwait's fieldwork consisted of many young, well-educated informants who were inherently more likely to be sensitive and informed about sustainability. There was a strong inclination towards going back to the simplicity of the gift and the reinforcement of personal relationships. Likewise, several contemporary Muslim environmentalist researchers and groups are increasingly being inspired by Quranic verses that emphasize the conservation of nature. While Kuwait's rich culture still stands, the country has limitless opportunities to improve on an economical, educational, and social level.

6. Conclusion

The gift-giving practice has many interdependent and interconnected themes in Muslim societies. Reciprocation occurs in many shapes and forms, whether by exchange of gifts or acts of service, such as preparing dinner or doing a favour for someone. A balanced reciprocation is a troublesome concept in Kuwait because of certain gift ambiguities and relationship expectations. My fieldwork showed that these ambiguities included gift adequacy, price or budget, time and effort required to choose a gift.

After learning about the gift and its meaning to people in Kuwait, I establish that gift exchange, as an economic form of transaction, is a manifestation of larger societal values (Mauss, 1925). The practice is incredibly powerful, once a gifting tradition is set, it will be hard to break that tradition. It creates a sense of obligation, often moulded by requirements of society. In Arab Islamic cultures, bonding and maintaining relationships are highly valued customs that support the society's social structure. When a person decides not to share gifts with their family members for example, it suggests that they do not truly care about those relationships. Evidently, gift relationship dynamics and reciprocation are complex phenomena (Ashworth, 2013).

Difficulty in reciprocating gifts in Kuwait depended on the existing relationship with the receiver. The stronger the relationship, the more thoughtful, useful and memorable the gift experience becomes. Focusing on the receiver's unique traits, their personality, interests, and preferences is performed for relationship continuity. Accordingly, a positive reaction, such as surprised, joyful emotions, means gift expectations have been satisfied and relationship intentions have been clarified. This consequently fills the giver with feelings of accomplishment and pride.

It is still a question whether knowing the receiver's preferences and interests makes the gift experience an easier or harder process (Cheek & Goebel, 2020). When the giver knows the receiver, the objective becomes to reflect this knowledge through the gift that is chosen, thus going that extra mile and paying more attention to detail. This becomes an exhausting task. On the other hand, knowing the receiver, or having a close relationship with them, signifies that the list of potential gifts is already known by the giver, making it an easy task.

The fieldwork also proved that not only the type of relationship shapes gift choice, but also gifts play a strong role in relationships. If someone wants to reject or discontinue a relationship, then the gift should change to a more impersonal or uncreative one, one that would instead decrease total utility and discard thoughtfulness, like cash gifts or vouchers. Also, these gift choices hardly contribute to memory for their non-sentimental nature.

Most importantly, I highlight strong female roles with regards to gift-giving in Kuwait, a country where women are underrepresented in some areas, hence it is an opportunity to produce an improved female image in the Arabian Gulf and Islamic countries. Young, single females have a growing role and interest during gift exchange occasions, in terms of social media, consumption, online purchasing and gift wrapping. The fieldwork concludes that as part of gender values, gifting is essential for young women, and they are more selective during their shopping, so they make and take more time than men in preparing for a gift.

Generally, gifting was a difficult task for younger individuals due to the immense gift options that deliver different meanings and intentions. Excessive options causes confusion and makes the gift experience a non-enjoyable, "painful" one (Amir & Ariely 2004; Barkley-Levenson & Fox 2016). The accessibility and availability of products weakens the essence of the gift, as put forward by Johansson and Carrier (1997). An excess in production and consumption has created a mess in the marketplace with brutal competition, an overload of similar goods, and an overflow of brands, chain stores and shopping places. Indecisiveness leads gift givers to resort to last minute purchases, probably buying something that the receiver already has, thus reducing total utility. Therefore, appreciation of the gift would decrease due to the increased facility of choosing anything ¹²⁷. Indecisiveness could also lead to choose (easier) gifts, like online gift cards, vouchers or subscriptions. Online gift alternatives were found to be chosen because of convenience and mostly when the giver is not very familiar with the receiver. In all cases, it would not satisfy expectations for lacking originality and thought.

Senior informants argued that gift-giving is supposed to be a simple, comfortable and pleasurable practice. Online gifting and social media influences were not found particular in older generations. Their attachment to the gift mirrors its significance in the past, embodying a prize or treasure. Due to limited resources during an era of war, any item, irrespective of how small or symbolic, was considered precious and valuable. Gifts in the

¹²⁷ Despite this analysis, sometimes having plenty of options to choose from can be a positive, hedonic experience for decision-makers. It can be a pleasurable activity because of the curiosity and excitement, as Tang (2017: 98) affirmed, "A person may wish to prolong this state, for instance, in the process of picking the best possible gift for a loved one".

past were also surprising because they were least expected and very scarce. Naturally, it is difficult to disregard these items for once representing something greater than a gift. Accordingly, older individuals are more likely to purchase surprise gifts; regardless of an occasion, reason or cost because of the war-rooted understanding that gifts can elevate people from distress. Comparably, the gift nowadays has become very mainstream and no longer exciting. Curiously, however, gifts during the COVID-19 pandemic have mirrored similar attributes to wartime gifts: precious, rare and difficult to personally purchase. Since surprise gifts are a highly respected and an admired concept in Kuwait, future research should confirm the intentions behind offering surprise gifts and should identify whether givers make accurate predictions of the receiver's reaction. Are surprise gifts as equally appreciated as anticipated ones? This would also distinguish relationship consequences when offering expected gifts compared with unexpected ones.

Although reciprocation ideas and surprise gifts showed no changes with regards to nationality, more non-Kuwaiti young informants mentioned budget-setting and financial planning prior to gift events. First, this shows that immigrants struggle with their financials in a culture that has high expectations and disregards income status during gifting occasions. Kuwait's culture strikes to encourage a materialistic lifestyle, one that expects a good-quality gift without excuses. Second, it shows that older adults and seniors do not focus on the price of the gift but on its simplicity, which contradicts Kuwait's materialistic gift culture and shows different gift standards from past to present.

Preferred gifts in Kuwait represented characteristics of utility, simplicity, adequacy, good quality and style, while received gifts represented expensive, branded items. Selecting a good gift depends on how the item will provide value to the receiver, rather than how good it will look when they unwrap it. Relationships therefore are expected to strengthen with pricey gifts. They are offered mostly to please the other person, avoid humiliation, attain social status, achieve favours in terms of *Wasta* and show-off. Furthermore, a gift to resolve conflicts, as a confirmed concept in Kuwait, can be a manipulative approach to please or "make peace" with someone without discussing the problem. Solving conflicts with gifts were identified in politics, workplaces, among tribes and between romantic couples. Assumingly, a simple apology and expression of regret is not sufficient to completely

reconcile after a quarrel. Presenting gifts as means to sort out problems between people was claimed to be recognised in other Arab countries as well. Conclusively, the fieldwork showed that giving a gift is not restrictively an altruistic act in Kuwait. It is given in hopes for reciprocation or possibly for an underhand purpose, like asking for a favour or service (Braiker, 2004). This again puts forward the Testart model (2013) used by Malinowski, that the gift is exploited to accomplish individual gain and benefit. Nevertheless, the "ideal" gift should achieve these three dimensions: maximum utility, good signalling, and thoughtfulness. On the other hand, simply asking people what they want still appears to be morally inadequate in Kuwait.

Because of Kuwait's contemporary and busy lifestyle, exchanging gifts has become the substitute of time spent together to converse and maintain personal bonds, causing the deterioration of communication skills. Time, although a pure, appreciated, and desired gift, was "invalid" in Kuwait's society for lacking tangible or material value. This could be more evidence to Kuwait's materialistic gifting culture. More money than time is spent on social relationships. There were also notions of giving a gift only when *deserved* and a Kuwaiti influential figure would only spend their time with another if deemed *worthy* of it. Similarly, more time is spent preparing a gift for close relationships, but if it were for an unfamiliar person, effort put in the gift is not necessary, so again unworthy of their time. Memory recollection during gift occasions, although a very powerful concept in gift literature, was also rarely mentioned in the fieldwork. Typically, you cannot reminisce memories with someone you do not have time for. Older adult informants appreciated making memories through gifts more than younger ones, as they experience life transitions that urge them to interact with others. The gift of time, or whether time is a sufficient gift to give someone on Valentine's Day, is a concept to develop and comprehensively elaborate in future studies.

On the other hand, the gift in Islam, the religion Kuwait follows, is very significant, regardless of the price value of the gift. It can be as little as an act of kindness or a good word. As for reciprocation, it should only be made selflessly, in hopes for a greater reward from God. Islam validifies the reciprocation of symbolic and non-material gifts. Mauss' (1925) views on reciprocity are in accordance with the Islamic description of the gift. The

significance of the gift in Islam reflected community values, bringing harmony among hearts. Gifts with regards to religion shed light on the importance of generosity and psychology of giving. Simplicity, thoughtfulness, and pure intentions are the characteristics of the gift in Islam, but above all, non-tangible things, such as time and assisting one another, are immensely appreciated. However, it is difficult to become closer to people, serve them and perform selfless acts of kindness when time to share with one another is limited in Kuwait. More time is spent at work than with loved ones. In my opinion, when the love is real, you do not have to find time for each other, you will *make* time. After conducting lifestyle research in Kuwait and analysing the gift in Islam, findings showed that the simple gift is remotely sought. Even when the Kuwaiti gift is used to demonstrate one's generosity, it still insinuates success and status. Again, as shown, the gift is ever-changing across eras.

For these reasons, there is a noticed change in Islamic values and teachings in Kuwait, and a concentration on the commercial world that overindulges branded, quality items. With the purchase of such items, it suggests a spendthrift society and the presence of materialism in Kuwait has become a cultural value during gift exchange. Through the above-mentioned ideas and learning Kuwait's gift-giving habits, I take that Kuwait's culture encourages purchase and consumption in a world of limited resources. Conclusively, the work shows that both gender and social class can be traced by the gift in Kuwait.

The gift has opened many areas of debate, culturally and Islamically. It is undoubtedly a "fundamental cornerstone in a rich and complex theoretical edifice", as I quote from Silber (2009: 187). My fieldwork shows that there are many intercorrelated matters occurring in Kuwait, most of which are invisible in Muslim communities because of understudied or unpublished work in these disciplines for the time being. Areas of future interest involve building on the influences of war and distress, rethinking cities in a post-COVID-19 world, the psychological variable (how psychology plays a role in choosing gifts for example), and the need for uniqueness, prestige, and ego matters in the Arabian Gulf.

IV. THE KUWAITI VALENTINE'S DAY

As demonstrated, gift theory is a prominent topic area in many academic fields and disciplines, explicitly in anthropology (Mauss 1925; Malinowski 1926; Sahlins 1972; Sherry Jr. 1983), consumer behaviour (Belk & Coon 1993; Belk & Sherry Jr. 2007), business and communication studies (Lombardo, 1995), history (Davis, 2000), religious studies (Moufahim 2013; Heim 2015; Davies & Thate 2017), sociology (Cheal 1988; Giesler 2006), and even philosophy (Derrida, 1995). Gift-giving is a ritual that has been established from cultures and subcultures, which involves adding meaning to mere goods and services to be presented to other individuals or groups (Otnes & Lowrey, 2004). The gift and non-monetary exchanges have made a crucial impact in the Near East, in both urban and rural settings. Valentine's Day has been chosen as an event to examine how these cultures and subcultures have influenced gift-giving rituals in Kuwait. The main motive for this choice is that Valentine's Day is a cultural event for almost all age groups to celebrate, declare love and emotion through simultaneously giving and receiving gifts. It is therefore easy to realise primary sources for this research as no fixed criteria is required (Leslie, 2001). Another motive for choosing Valentine's Day is because it has clearly received less attention as a gift-giving occasion compared to Christmas for example (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994). What makes Valentine's Day unique from all other gift-giving occasions is that it is the only one that communicates romantic gift-giving (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne 1994; Clarke, Herington, Hussain & Wong 2005). Leslie (2001) has described Valentine's Day as a spiritual occasion of non-material nature because it represents relationships of the soul. Even consumption can be linked spiritually where individuals can enjoy the essence of a consumerist culture and material presence amid romantic atmospheres. He therefore has linked spirituality with religion and claimed that this image of Valentine's Day has been quite hidden by the media and within previous literature. This chapter precisely analyses Valentine's Day in terms of religion, consumption and romantic relationships in Kuwait.

Having started in Western Europe, festivities such as Valentine's Day have become a significant trend in contemporary Kuwait and other Arab countries. This festivity has influenced gender, age, ethnic origin, level of education and marital status (Kovzele, 2019).

A culture-wide event like Valentine's Day provides a useful opportunity to explore potential influences on Kuwait's society and investigate the effects of cultural events on gift dynamics and interpersonal relationships. The following sections describe the influences that made Kuwait, as an Islamic nation, adopt Valentine's Day as a gift-giving practice and debate various viewpoints about the festivity. This information supplements the limited literature on Kuwait's Valentine's Day gift-giving rituals.

In many cultures, the western-originated occasion has been considered an opportunity to enhance romantic relationships by celebrating love and affection through gift-giving (Chopik, Wardecker & Edelstein, 2014). The occasion is celebrated and perceived differently in the Arab Islamic world in general and in Kuwait in particular. The meaning and purpose of Valentine's Day depends on each person's relational goals. Nonetheless, Valentine's Day is believed to bring upon positive thoughts and feelings to those in a relationship (Close & Zinkhan 2006; Quintero González & Koestner 2006).

As in the rest of the world, Valentine's Day is celebrated in Kuwait on the 14th of February. People in the Middle East and North African (MENA) region are slowly being accustomed to the relatively recent celebrated event. It is difficult to pinpoint the precise beginning of this large-scale cultural celebration in Kuwait. Yet, testimonies of informants and shop owners claim that Valentine's Day was not widely recognised nor celebrated in the 90s. They indicate the start of the 21st century as the beginning of Valentine's Day.

To understand the economic background of the Arabian gulf region, it is necessary to undergo an anthropological study and acquire rudimentary knowledge about relevant languages, especially Arabic. Valentine's Day has several names in the Arab world. Some call it, *Eid Al-Hubb* ('īdu al-ḥubb) – "the festivity of love", or *Eid Al-'ushaaq* ('īdu al-'uššāq) – "the festivity of lovers", or humorously, the Arabized version of the original name, *Al-falantayn* (Kreil, 2016). Based on the Arabic names for Valentine's Day, the occasion seems to be restricted to couples who share an intimate relationship: lovers. Overall fieldwork results in Kuwait showed that both genders condition Valentine's Day to a romantic relationship; no celebration will take place if a person is not romantically involved.

Valentine's Day is portrayed differently in the Arabian Gulf than in other regions of the Middle East. The spread of Valentine's Day seems to have taken a steadier path in the Arabian Peninsula. There were attempts to ban Valentine's Day in many Muslim societies. Former Kuwaiti orthodox ruling figures viewed it as an extravagant, almost immoral celebration because it does not reflect Kuwaiti cultural traditions and, based on Islamic premise and thought, physical dating before official marriage is not allowed. Opponents of Valentine's Day in the Muslim community portray the event as a Christian revelry, which consequently influenced its ban in Kuwait following Saudi Arabia in 2008, however the approval of the ban never took place (Elias 2008; Garcia 2011; Brosius & Wenzlhuemer 2011: 47).

The influence Saudi Arabia has on the Arabian Gulf countries is significant for being an icon of conservative Islamic culture, the home of Prophet Mohammed, and the site of prayer and *Hajj* at the "holy" land of Mecca, as Tahani explained. In turn, religion is often seen as central to the conception of Saudi Arabia. The broad salience of Valentine's Day has become more polemic to preserve the image of Islamic indicators. Allegedly, taking part in Valentine's Day carries dangerous repercussions including the loss of Islamic identity and pure religious practice of Muslim communities (Gardner, 2000). Outside influences and practices therefore were believed to promote anarchy among the Muslim believers. Several religious bodies condemn the event, arguing it is a bad innovation that encourages sinful passion and desire between unmarried couples, occupying individuals with shallow thoughts and objectives (Ismail, 2013). Moreover, Islamic rules and Kuwait's rigid societal structure do not allow public displays of affection, despite the knowledge that Valentine's Day is "the festivity of lovers". Therefore, the presence of the event disregards Islamic laws. This shows the discordance in Islamic principles in the region. Tarek thinks it is better to launch cancer awareness campaigns for example rather than promote Valentine's Day. Other religious scholars in the Middle East argue that Muslims should only celebrate the two Islamic festivities¹²⁸, Eid Al-Fitr at the end of Ramadan and Eid Al-Adha commemorating the sacrifice of Prophet Abraham (Kreil, 2016).

¹²⁸ A claim mentioned earlier by Omar, see: The Gift in Islam.

Joanna strongly disagrees with these notions. She claimed, "These are simply cultural beliefs that have no basis in the true foundations of Islam. Islam is an all-encompassing religion that encourages critical thinking and progressive change. There is nothing in the religion that admonishes love, it is quite the contrary". Conversely, some scholars are less strict in their condemnation towards Valentine's Day. The interpretation of Islam was requestioned to seek a midpoint between modernity, tradition and religion. This midpoint offers rational and flexible methods to cope and conform to the current century's international standards, while enriching family values and glorifying the past; the wish to be original. Thereafter, a changing reality was acknowledged. Religion became elastic since the contact with the West. For many people, religion existed only in the background and was only truly witnessed in occasions of joy or grief. Surat Al-Bagarah (2: 225) states that Allah judges based on what the hearts have earned. Therefore, if intentions are sincere, there is no harm in celebrating Valentine's Day. Bashar, Seba and Tahani shared positive ideas regarding the occasion and claimed that it is a beautiful day to strengthen relationships and to truly bring out underlying feelings towards other people. Despite not being part of Islamic festivities, Bashar said that it could be a good opportunity to communicate a certain message, probably also to declare a romantic interest in a person, thus, it is a day that contributes to happiness. Muslim communities usually do not condemn the event itself but condemn the debauchery that is incited among the youth and unmarried couples who "alienate" themselves from their religion by enjoying their "forbidden" relationships. In fact, there was no religious alienation at all. The attachment to religious traditions were found to be more prevalent than in the earlier decades, but the local version of Islam was disappearing (Palme, 2009).

Based on the above information, this presents the concept of voluntariness. In the future, it is a personal preference whether someone wants to change their viewpoint on Valentine's Day or keep their religious customs and principles, as Rogers (2006: 490) bluntly expresses, "no one is holding a gun to the heads of people" forcing them to act in a certain way. Apparently, since Valentine's Day can boost Kuwait's economy, contradictions with the West are resolved by voluntariness. Along the same lines, Amina stressed that there are limits to a country's transformation, "Kuwait will not magically become London because

we started taking on new events or customs, it will always be Kuwait, with mentality of Kuwaitis or Arabs, with Kuwaiti parliament, monarchy and rules".

The popularity of Valentine's Day is controversial yet inevitable in Kuwait. It has developed into a widely celebrated practice in the country. Acknowledging that is it an event to show care and affection, the fieldwork revealed that Valentine's Day is especially popular among the younger generations and celebrations are noticeably expanding every year. I would like to point out two informants' answers, mother and son, Amal and Qassem. While Qassem claimed that it is an occasion increasingly being celebrated by teenagers and adolescents, Amal, on the other hand, claimed it is more popular among youngsters and young adults, which is Qassem's age group. It seems that every person distinguishes Valentine's Day as an occasion for the "younger" ages, i.e., younger than them. Similarly, Fatima claimed, "nowadays young people celebrate anything they hear about, no matter how small or silly". No informant mentioned that Valentine's Day is popular among their own cohort and peers, but rather accused younger age groups of being more invested in the occasion. This interprets that as years pass by, older individuals become less engaged in celebrating and more younger people start taking on foreign practices. Abrar mentioned that Valentine's Day has become less interesting throughout the years after getting married and having children. Despite having celebrated it in the past, she became more religious throughout the years and more heedful to her Pakistani traditions. This shows that values and interests before marriage vastly change to that after marriage. Sometimes, before marriage, young Muslim Arabs feel curious to go out of their way and try different things from their family traditions, like celebrating Valentine's Day. Once they experience them, they grow out of these curiosities and settle down when they are married. Others, on the other hand, use marriage as an excuse to untangle from traditional household rules and be able to celebrate Valentine's Day freely, which was before controlled, or unallowed, in their parental household. From another perspective, even when certain people place importance on Valentine's Day, they probably realise after marriage that their partner's expectations and interests differ from theirs, thus the importance of the occasion diminishes.

Lamya commented how there are both extremes in Kuwait and Valentine's Day varies depending on every collective family's culture and religion. Likewise, Bashar claimed that some families are more attached to their original norms than others. Reassuringly, Joanna added that Valentine's Day is "restrictive to conservative families". Accordingly, in Arab Islamic societies, culture and religion form material constraints that impose on habits and thoughts, consequently influencing individual practices (Block, 2015). This is especially the case in terms of gender roles, familial values and traditions. However, culture and religion are widely confused as interchangeable, interdependent concepts, when they are, in many situations, very much incompatible (Bonney 2004; Rees 2017).

Many cultural concepts refer to collective knowledge that does not trace back to religion but is rather a way of life and generational upbringing, such as dress code, social standards, and traditional rituals. Accordingly, religious or spiritual principles and customs vary depending on the cultures or context they exist in. For example, a Muslim child raised in a western context like the United States would be different to a Muslim child raised in Saudi Arabia because of the distinct cultures they were brought up in. Some families set certain principles at home for their children to follow, as Lamya clarified. For example, they focus on education, sports, career, religion, or travel, which represent essential foundations to that very family. Other families indulge in hospitality, gifting, socialising, and practicing various cultural occasions and celebrations.

Abrar described how her family accepts the celebration of Valentine's Day. This identifies a shift in cultural gifting practices within families and explains an adaptation to outside concepts. Furthermore, it was often remarked, that although Valentine's Day is not usually celebrated within respective families in Kuwait, it is still a widely popular occasion among friends and colleagues. Abrar's father normally gets a flower for her mother, and interestingly added that he does so because "everyone else is doing that". This highlights the influence people have on each other, especially among peers and social circles. Integrating new lifestyle practices and celebration rituals will cause others to copy and conform; if someone is seen giving a flower on Valentine's Day, their friends or relatives will eventually start doing the same. By this, I succinctly articulate the idea that Kuwait's society exists and is constituted not by autonomous individuals, but by the practices in which individuals and collectives engage. This too relates to essentialism, as explained by Bucholtz (2003: 400), where attributes and behaviour of socially defined groups is determined in reference to cultural practices or biological characteristics, believed to be inherent to the group.

Similarly, Joanna's family usually does not celebrate the event, but she claimed they still set a certain ambience to remain in the spirit of Valentine's Day. Valentine's Day in the Middle East revolves around the main colour, red. Women often clad accordingly. Clothing items and many other products display English words such as "love" emblazoned in bright colours (Kreil, 2016). She said, "I remember my mother having a *hijab* with red lines that matched her sweater of red hearts, and she always liked to wear that on Valentine's Day for fun. She always asked me what I was going to wear too. But for me, I see that this is nonsense and ridiculous, it can be a reason for people to make fun of me". Receiving criticism from others shows that Valentine's Day is not a normalised practice in Kuwait and that its significance is still controversial and strange to the culture.

As shown, Islamic principles and values widely differ between Muslims; their views are expressed without the direct affiliation to Islam, hence the varying levels of tolerance towards non-marital romantic relationships (Halliday 2003; Pappé 2005: 263). Some scholars distinguish between Muslim ethnicities. For example, Muslim Arabs were realised to have different doctrines and public spheres than Muslim Asians (Lipset, 1994). As for my fieldwork in Kuwait, my research study found no association between the informants' level of religious spirituality (or attachment to religion) and race, ethnicity, nationality, education, or socio-economic status. In this respect, through the ideas of Sana¹²⁹ and Mariam¹³⁰, there are observed disputes even among Kuwaiti tribes over ideological differences. Eickelman (2001: 194) asserted, "It is incorrect to assume that Muslims, more than the followers of other religions, are guided by religious doctrines". Islam is variant, accommodating, and open to new interpretations, where demands and propositions vary with time and place.

¹²⁹ Sana is a 38-year-old Lebanese married female, was born and raised in Kuwait, currently lives in Jordan.

¹³⁰ Mariam is a 66-year-old married Syrian female, came to Kuwait shortly after its liberation in 1991.

Joanna and Abrar served as two informants who expressed how their parents somewhat celebrate in their own way, but among other responses, Valentine's Day is generally not approved and viewed as "outlandish" by parents, as Qassem stated. Parents and elders are set in their ways and believe Valentine's Day is a foolish, non-beneficial event. Joanna in her statement described implications of Valentine's Day in Kuwait, "I believe that in Kuwait, due to its conservative culture, there is a majority of people who believe that it encourages sin and is not approved by parents and elders as they believe that this is just a made-up, Western-born event that does not reflect their own values and traditions". Seba similarly highlighted that in her parents' view, the occasion conflicts Arab Muslim ethics and morals. This gives reason for some youngsters not to celebrate Valentine's Day so that they would not displease their parents. Doing so would imply distancing from family traditions and individual identity.

It is somewhat taboo to talk about western festivities with elders in Kuwait. It would be more appropriate to discuss them within similar young age groups. Anna mentions how she does not prefer to live up to contemporary societal expectations just to satisfy social trends. She would much rather demonstrate love spontaneously without being tied to a specific date. Nevertheless, she does look forward to Valentine's Day among her close circles and has expectations for it. This again demonstrates the youth's indecision; the puzzling dilemma of whether to celebrate the day or not. It suggests that in Kuwait, young people hold in their emotions and unusual opinions to make them more acceptable. When they keep their opinions about foreign practices to themselves, less harm would be done to Kuwait's (Islamic) society's image. This forms a struggle to show their whole self with their community today. Celebrating western practices could reveal how they are easily swayed by society changes. Afterwards, they veer far from their culture and be viewed as someone who trades traditional Arab Islamic celebrations with western "sceptic" ones, a person who "abandons" their original identity. Because of these reasons, the young prefer not to "belong" to a certain hype so they will not be attacked by the public. Anna's answer also reveals that her opinion changed when living in a different country. Living in Kuwait made her realise certain cultural differences and barriers compared to her European identity, which developed inhibitions. Seba finally remarked it is necessary to have an "open mind" so that the festivity would be celebrated by the young and old.

The fieldwork has showed that Islam and tradition are two different concepts. Apparently, even with occasional criticisms and attacks from ultraconservative Muslims trying to cease the occasion and traditional families trying to stick to their usual practices, there are still plenty of people who celebrate Valentine's Day, as Bashar claimed. It shows the inclination of Kuwait towards other lifestyles and the beginning to adopt, albeit slowly, an obvious culture of love (Cheal 1987; 1988). I reckon that celebrating Valentine's Day is not a matter of opposing Islamic rules and teachings, it is a personal preference which may disappoint or upset parents and family elders. This brings me to a conclusion that people do not reflect their religion, nationalities, or families, they reflect themselves.

Kuwait is increasingly being exposed to other cultures, histories, practices, and lifestyles. More education enriches the society and encourages openness, freedom of speech and opinion. Education systems in Kuwait have been greatly influenced by globalisation, trade and commerce, and technology. In the field of technology, changes and growth in the Middle East were evident during the early 20th century. Pappé (2005: 322) asserted, "Competitive markets and global media became the norm". The gradual rise in education and technology levels in Kuwait ever since the early 90s has triggered a receptive, prejudice-free perspective in its contemporary society. They caused more global and cultural awareness, knowledge, and a rise in movements about sensitive matters, such as gender equality and role of women in Arab societies (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012).

To be openminded and embrace knowledge is to become less ignorant, as Bashar expressed. Consequently, this has altered parent ideologies. Abrar shared how her mother's views and upbringing have changed, "My mother started accepting things for my children that she did not accept for me when I was their age because of technology. She is now arguing that I should let my children make their own decisions and depend on themselves, which was not an option when I was a child". All these factors contribute to the change of a society, transferring "changed" values to children, paradoxically slowly turning Kuwait

from a collective society into an individualistic one¹³¹ (Ghabra, 1997). According to the fieldwork, kinship affiliation is not a main factor in Arab or Kuwaiti societies like it was in the 1950s. Yousef views Kuwait as a community that tries to act as a collective society, although he believes otherwise. People are becoming more independent and establishing their own separate identities without the decision-making of groups or collective families. The youth consequently adapted to the society they live in; they could not follow the same ways of their parents, a change that was both evident in, and spread through, the media. As times have changed, Khaled¹³² commented, original culture cannot always be emphasised because "it may not match with our current time". Most importantly, this proves the tolerance and acceptance of foreign values and customs by the youth of Kuwait.

Arguably, "open-mindedness", a term that was sufficiently used by fieldwork informants, is not only limited to people, but also to nations and constitutions. To have an "open mind" can be a complicated phenomenon. Respective surroundings of where one lives must also be in accordance with this impartiality. For example, it would not be compatible to support LGBT+ movements in countries such as Saudi Arabia or Kuwait where Islam and the regime repress this collective (Rehman & Polymenopoulou 2013; Qibtiyah 2015; Zahed & Bharat 2019). To practice "open-mindedness", the country should primarily possess a relative social, religious, and political climate that establishes certain cultural tolerance. Afterwards, using the example of homosexual movements, this altered climate would allow, for instance, the freedom to protest for homosexual rights. However, this sort of "extreme" tolerance is out of the question for Kuwait, even in the distant future. Tahani discussed that even though homosexuality rates are increasing, it would still be an immense problem to come forward as a homosexual in Kuwait because it is Islamically outrageous. I reckon that at the moment, it is about finding the balance. Valentine's Day, as a cultural practice widespread among younger generations, does not cross any "major" Islamic lines. The occasion highlights common relations between the East and West and represents one of the products of an "openminded" Kuwait. Comparably, if the government senses that

¹³¹ Individualization is a key characteristic of modernity. Beck (1992) provides more detail about how individuals today and, above all, individuals coming from wealthier parts of the world, are less constrained by social structures than they perhaps once were in more traditional societies.

¹³² Khaled is a 20-year-old single Lebanese male, born and raised in Kuwait.

Valentine's Day encourages homosexual acts, the occasion will indisputably be abolished and definitively banned. Here I question the role of Islam in Muslim communities, seeing that some concepts are tolerable while others are extremely non-negotiable. The notion of an "unclear Islam" will be tackled in a later section.

Other theories argue that migration helped address political and social issues of the Muslim world. Migration processes are a factor to 21st century cultural and religious reality (Aixelà-Cabré, 2006: 76). The aspect of Arab-Muslim migration in the 19th century is often retold in popular memory but rarely discussed in academic work. Travel and the exposure to many nationalities, ethnicities and religions entering Kuwait play a large role in its society and celebrations (Eickelman, 2002a). People who were from over-populated large countries have migrated to oil-rich states, like Kuwait, because those states hold a lower number of inhabitants and higher job opportunities. "Kuwait has welcomed populations of different origins coexisting despite their differences", as Sahar¹³³ stated. Furthermore, an increasing number of immigrants augmented the probability of marriage and reproducing offspring with dissimilar cultures, thereby raising children in a mixed household, turning Kuwait into a multicultural society. Immigration changes societies, as identified by Gamero Cabrera (2015). It involves postmodern concepts and the anthropology of boundaries. He calls them "new approaches to transnationalism". Kholoud claims that immigrants have adapted to Kuwait's customs and lifestyle while simultaneously practicing their own. A significant concept in migration studies discusses immigrants' sense of belonging to the host society. It relates to theories of assimilation, cultural appropriation, and transculturation, where people incorporate another country's cultural expressions, linguistic words and phrases, rituals, artifacts, history, technologies, and ways of knowledge to their own, regardless of intent, ethics or outcome (Atiyyah 1996; Rogers 2006). Those acts indicate acceptance or positive evaluation of a culture. Studies show that immigrants' identity, sense of belonging and their subjective well-being are deeply influenced by overall life satisfaction and religious motivations in the host country (Amit & Bar-Lev, 2015). Evidently, Seba explained that due to Kuwait's cultural diversity, national origins of people are difficult to pinpoint. The accents and common language have also diversified, she clarified, "Most

¹³³ Sahar is a 37-year-old Syrian married female, born and raised in Kuwait.

people talk in English. We can only know if they are Kuwaiti from their style (the way they dress). As foreigners here, we are also following their style and speaking the Kuwaiti (Arabic) accent". This shows how children of immigrants in Kuwait, or third culture kids, would demonstrate different skills, values and probably even different interests than their parents'. For example, a Lebanese national who was born and raised in Kuwait would adopt Arabian Gulf characteristics and express themselves differently from a Lebanese who was raised in the United States¹³⁴. Both would not represent a typical Lebanese who was born and raised in Lebanon. With different developed ideologies, political environment and cultural ethics, they would only demonstrate half the knowledge about their country: the knowledge transmitted by their parents. Conclusively, Hall and Gay (1996: 4) proposed that identities are about questions of history, language, and culture in the process of becoming not "where we came from" or "who we are", but rather "what we might become"

The increasing mix of nations and people in Kuwait causes "a loss or blur of customs", in Faisal's opinion, even more so, it will create "delusions of the person's own culture", according to Ghada¹³⁵. In other words, when there are changes in typical homeland and familial customs, a person's exact tendency towards a particular culture cannot be pinpointed. Earlier studies showed that these changes can lead to identity issues, as well as ethical or cultural dissonance, distress, and in some cases, mental health problems (Thompson 1997; Bhugra 2004; Lee & Mjelde-Mossey 2004; Bhugra & Becker 2005; Lim & Lim 2010; Lillevik 2015). This is because it is difficult to understand and accept other lifestyles, so criticising what is not appropriate to Kuwaiti culture is troubling, as Loulwa¹³⁶ explained. Other consequences to migratory flows include instability, diaspora and deterritorialization of a nation¹³⁷, which, as Appadurai (1996) suspects, will continue to take place as formations of new ethnic and religious movements increase in a country, resulting in population divisions and conflicts with oppressed minorities (García-Canclini, 2001: 316). There are constant tensions between tribes, *Bidums* and traditional groups in

¹³⁴ In the 1800s, a huge number of Arabs in Lebanon and Syria began to migrate to Europe, West Africa and the Americas. There were even greater population shifts by the 20th century (Mackintosh-Smith, 2019).

¹³⁵Ghada is a 36-year-old single Egyptian female, born and raised in Kuwait.

¹³⁶Loulwa is a 37-year-old married Jordanian female, born and raised in Kuwait.

¹³⁷ A clear characteristic of modernity, as per García-Canclini (2001).

Kuwait, which are observed in the media. In addition, the imbalance between a low number of oil-producing countries and a high population headcount has led to educational and occupational competitions and provoked issues in the region (Kamrava & Babar 2012; Abdalla 2015; Al-Waqfi & Al-Faki 2015). Sahar underscored that during the recent years, the increasing number of foreign population entering the country caused conflicts with respect to the Kuwaitis for their different privileges. Immigrants therefore feel alienated and challenged in Kuwait. Aseel and Adam recognise that many negative views about immigrants have generated traditions that are derogatory to humans, which permit status recognition, discrimination, racist and sexist prejudice, xenophobia and uniformity. Some Kuwaiti nationals accuse immigrants of disrupting typical Kuwaiti tradition and culture¹³⁸. In the words of Amina, "Each person enters the country with their own beliefs, preferences and way of life", therefore, it is only natural for their customs to disseminate within the environment they live in. García-Canclini's analysis (2001: 316) concludes that "all cultures are hybrid and borderline", and territories are all full of tensions and differences, or in the words of Appadurai (1996: 188), "the whole planet has become a deterritorialized, diasporic and transnational". García-Canclini (2001: 36) states with a markedly postmodern accent that "cultures are impossible to delimit".

Gamero Cabrera (2015) contrarily feels that it is a luxury to enjoy cultural richness and benefit from diverse migration groups, an outlook that both Appadurai and García-Canclini overlooked. Fatima argued that Kuwait could use its diverse multicultural society as an opportunity to learn about or even adopt some values from other nations, for example, citizenship rights, national security or pension plans. "It will make the country better", she added. In this light, interactions with other cultures enrich a society and cause openness and tolerance to other ideologies. People would also adapt to non-traditional lifestyles and explore other societal roles, Hisham believes this would "make them smarter".

Albeit a complex and vague process, Kuwait's transformation or development was also associated with external factors falling beyond the individual's immediate circle, for example colonialism (Carrier, 2012b). Halliday (2003) argued that the subject of Islamic

¹³⁸ Similar views were found in Egypt, see Kreil (2016).

intervention with the West was identified for over a millennium ever since a conflict of civilisations was confirmed. However, more precisely, Winstone and Freeth (2018: 56) wrote, "Kuwait before the days of oil was a Muslim state barely touched by outside influences". The Arab Gulf states slowly became affected after the British suppression of 1839 and then the expansion of oil trade in the 20th century. The West and United Nations began to deeply intervene in the Arabian Gulf region especially after the oil discovery of Bahrain in 1932. This in turn influenced Kuwait's wealth and resources. Kuwait's political independence from Great Britain was therefore a priority. Undoubtedly, state independence and migration are strong factors that have influenced the Middle Eastern and Arabian Gulf situation (Schofield & Schofield, 2016). It involved the ratification of Islamic values and authority. Islamic passages were reanalysed to match time changes, for example to encourage democratization. Goldschmidt Jr. and Al-Marashi (2019) claimed that specific events in the Middle East, such as the Palestinian Israeli cause and the aftermath of the Persian Gulf War, have triggered the evolution of Islamic institutions and culture, and the reconstruction efforts of Middle Eastern governments. More tension on the Middle East from the West was specifically provoked after the September 11 attacks (Halliday, 2003).

Inevitably, war affected Kuwait's practices. The Persian Gulf war was a transformative event for the Middle East. It appears that war had uncovered many "buried" issues within social groups and country practices (Al-Mughni 2001; Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012). It generated new social consciousness amongst the population and efforts were put towards a more desirable, appealing lifestyle to suit an independent Kuwait (Al-Mughni, 2010). In fact, some Islamists were attempting to reform modernity, not reject it (Safi, 2003). They attribute modern or liberal explanations to Islamic texts to achieve assimilation. This differentiated Islamic practices from local familial traditions, in which Khurshid (2015) stated was a "tool" of Western imperialism. Disciplines within the Kuwaiti society; social habits and norms, were in alteration by the government and the media. As Emile Durkheim affirmed, people who act collectively can transform their "traditional" society into a "modern" one (Fararo, 2006).

Most notably, Kuwait had installed a US-based military which was necessary for its liberation from Iraq in 1991 (Terrill 2007; Lilli 2018). The United States presently has a

big impact on Kuwait. Apart from security, Kuwait's special relationship with the United States involves economic, diplomatic and political affairs, protection of Kuwait's sovereignty and independence, provision of an extensive range of products and the establishment of many company and restaurant franchises, in return for oil¹³⁹. Generally, Kuwait's liberation caused a social and cultural transformation with regards to urbanisation, women, employment, politics, and education (Hidayati & Apipudin, 2018: 369-374). The Persian Gulf war specifically put a lot of gender roles in question. The theoretical debate of "feminism" arose, discussing several new insights about the general image and combat position of women during the war. The scope of women activities was then expanded from the domestic sphere to many global economic development activities, improving women's status in Kuwait (Al-Mughni 2001: 151; Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012: 18-21). An entire generation of young Kuwaiti women are growing up with choices never afforded to their mothers, just as Aixelà-Cabré (2000) established in her study about women in Morocco. Several females from the fieldwork like Majida¹⁴⁰, Serene, Joanna and Anna, argued that several outdated traditions need to be obliterated. Sarah¹⁴¹ strongly believes that "Kuwait has to 'modernise' so that the women would have a place in society to be more free and liberated". These responses from female informants suggest new directions in feminism in the country. Accordingly, granting women life-changing opportunities to reach their full potential and allow them to express their role in society would show a "modern Kuwait". Plenty of rules and policies that hinder gender equality are being changed or eradicated in Kuwait, and more rights are sought to be provided particularly in matters of employment, marriage, and women representations in the public sphere. Debates about women rights and remembrance of war martyrs have aided in nation development and history reinforcement. Curiously, Amal, Issa and Maha also linked Kuwait's transformation to modernism. Modernism, modernity, and modernisation are concepts very disputed and segregated in academic literature, where "modern" has no

¹³⁹ Abrar specifically connected Kuwait's identity with the United States of America and Saudi Arabia and added, "these are one of the reasons of an oppressed society". For its dependence on other nations, Kuwait is neither an industrial nor a touristic country, "even foreign labour is imported", as Fatima disclosed.

¹⁴⁰ Majida is a 31-year-old Egyptian single female who grew up in Kuwait.

¹⁴¹ Sarah is a 65-year-old married Egyptian female, who lived in Kuwait during different intervals of her life.

precise definition to date (Barzinji, 2013). García-Canclini (2001: 44) admits that modernity is a problematic and complex phenomenon.

Conclusively, changes in Kuwait's society were a result of education, technology, migration and social belonging, colonialism, war and globalisation. The growth of globalisation in Kuwait had generated many positive and negative opinions. According to Danah, it can simultaneously enhance economies and impoverish the richness of cultures. On the one hand, Nahla, the oldest female informant, argued that change benefits societies, "Our image would be improved if we try to fit in". The Middle Eastern image that can improve might relate to the strict patriarchy, women oppressive representations (González Vázquez, 2013), and their expressions of "religious" clothing that generate popular misconceptions and stereotypes about the Arab Muslim world. Other examples relate to "backward" traditions and ideologies that are sought to be abolished, such as child marriages, virginity testing and honour killings¹⁴². To improve the image is necessary in an increasingly Islamophobic or Arabophobic climate, whereas to resist change and stick to tradition is to turn a blind eye to basic human rights, such as the women suffrage and anti-discrimination systems. Serene believes that several gaps and issues within tradition should remain in history books, she said, "we don't need to live in the past to maintain our identity". Young, single male informants like Adam, Yousef and Rashed think that it is good to preserve certain traditional customs but it would be a mistake to avoid all means of foreign influences. Cultures are not static. There are many exemplars where new customs coexist with others (Todorov 2010; Zhang 2016; Banban 2018).

In terms of the present study, Valentine's Day was a welcomed concept. There was a significant recognition of Valentine's Day emotional characteristic in Kuwait. We can acknowledge that showing love for one another can represent freedom of rights and expression, as Karam stated, which are positive qualities in a contemporary society. This gradual cultural alteration allows Kuwait to evolve as an Islamic society, respond to current changes and be more aware of cultural diversity.

¹⁴² For more information on these issues, see Cohan (2010), Riyani (2014), Oberwittler and Kasselt (2014), Abboud, Jemmott and Sommers (2015), Eltahawy (2015), Alsaidi (2015), Sadath (2019), UNICEF and UNFPA (2020).

On the other hand, Kholoud believes globalisation destroys individual identity and makes cities look the same everywhere. Despite the exposure to the West, the Kuwaiti society is conservative in some respects because of the Islamic religion, strict regime, and strong commitment to customs and traditions. Family connections are strongly believed to be the basis of tribe formation and values are set around a collective society to maintain control of tradition or how parents were raised. To this day, Joanna claimed, people still relate to their "original" tribe and follow the larger family unit in Kuwait. Arabs following western trends would allegedly make them outcasts in their own country. Fieldwork implications show general resentment or discomfort regarding Valentine's Day. Negative connotations associated with the event draw upon overlapping religious, nationalist, anti-consumerist, and moral arguments. The reluctance to celebrate Valentine's Day was justified with the strong desire to hold on to the Arab Islamic identity and traditions. Kuwait enjoys many traditional gift occasions; feasts, gatherings and coming together, especially during Ramadan and *Eid*. Fatima acknowledged that Valentine's Day is a celebration imposed from the West and in her opinion, celebrating one's authentic traditions is more important, such as the celebration of Gergean, which is not practiced in other countries outside the Arabian Gulf. Celebrating Valentine's Day, in this sense, is unnecessary.

Furthermore, love is celebrated regardless of a commercialised occasion. As inferred, love is not dependent on one day that is predetermined by "westerners". Many ideas involved "copying" other cultures' trends, specifically the United States. Practicing national identity differentiates people from others, whereas to copy, as per Tahani, or in better words, to transnationalise, would slowly diffuse Kuwaiti culture and character. In her words, "certainly Kuwait would lose its sense of originality to follow blindly". On this note, many western practices are adopted in Kuwait without comprehending their history or what they stand for. More research and awareness should be directed towards other cultures' habits or customs before deciding to be part of them. Instead of implementing a love occasion, Adam believes more promising and beneficial concepts can be learned from the West. Focus should be directed towards the development of Kuwait with regards to human rights, such as retirement plans, universal healthcare, free education and the like. Since these concepts are absent in Kuwait, I realise that copying others in celebration rituals relates

more to marketing techniques' success in attracting consumers and not a response to western culture.

Danah recognises a risk of having a diverse nation: the disappearance of small cultures by a greater economic or political weight. Probably, due to the awareness of other cultures and migration, offensive gifts in Islam that were previously discussed, such as alcohol bottles, would start to represent casual gifts presented to non-Muslim homes. Therefore, it is a concern to lose the essence of unique Kuwaiti festive occasions since celebrating western practices creates a vague and mixed culture. For the long term, Tarek, Qassem and Eman¹⁴³ prioritize Arab Middle Eastern traditions. They believe this would protect heritage and sustain traditional practices among younger generations. Some efforts are made to emphasise these traditions in the television industry for example. Accordingly, not celebrating Valentine's Day would also preserve traditional Arab marriage rituals, as discussed in a later section. Nahla claimed that many countries hold conventions, have prosecution groups and start revolutions so not to forget their history, roots, origin and identity. Therefore, even when Valentine's Day is popular in Kuwait, it does not mean it is common across the country. Rural areas and suburbs still appear to many Kuwaiti nationals as a stronghold of tradition.

Kuwait is embracing foreign cultural practices while not detaching from its own rituals and traditions. Valentine's Day appears as an incentive to discuss the contemporary subject and Islamic viewpoints. There is an obvious indication of a change in employment, gender roles and now festive occasions in Kuwait. Valentine's Day and its yearly institutionalization of romantic gifting offered new paths to the experience of intimate aspirations that connects love to transnational imaginations. However, Kuwait's Islamic constitution and monarchy have not publicly revealed this transformation, making the country quietly continue its prewar routines. Khaled affirmed that cultural diversity is implied but is "not widely expressed in the culture or the region". The gifting field, among many others, should be examined to show Kuwait's tolerance in accepting and adopting other practices to its culture.

¹⁴³ Eman is a 68-year-old Saudi Arabian married female who moved to Kuwait after marriage in the 70s.

1. Dating and Romantic Relationships: Gender roles and gift expectations in an Arab Islamic country

Arab Islamic notions of identity are defined by traditional gender roles, usually constructed around a typical androcentric understanding (Aixelà-Cabré 2000; González Vázquez 2013). Islam therefore has been widely comprehended as a "masculine" or "male-centred" religion (Amiraux 2003; Aixelà-Cabré 2006). However, gender remains vaguely defined yet complex in the Arab world because of constant changes and movements in society's layers of taboo, stigma, and inequality. In the recent years, the academic world began to interpret expressions of gender within Arab nations, but the gendered Arab identity had been fundamentally stereotyped. The criteria of masculinity and femininity have been closely observed during the research of this thesis (Jones, 2009), and the findings have fortunately set out performative aspects of the Arab Islamic identity and clear gender roles with regards to gift-giving, Valentine's Day, and societal relationship expectations. This can mirror what an Arab Islamic society would favour for males and females in terms of social practices, as the theory of Habitus suggests (Bourdieu, 1969).

We often hear the perception that women in general are drawn towards the "emotional" side of any matter. They are widely stereotyped as the "warm, sensitive" sex in many cultures. Also, they are not expected to be ambitious or career-oriented, otherwise they would be criticised and labelled as "bossy". Men, on the other hand, are the more "assertive, serious and rational" sex (Broverman, et al. 1972; Fischer & Manstead 2000; Brody & Hall 2000; Plant, et al. 2000; Hatfield, Rapson & Le 2009; Sandberg 2013). On that note, Jones (2009) depicts stereotypical definitions of gendered identities, where men are brave fighters who do not shed tears, while women are defenceless and habitually cry.

In consequence to these characteristics, the sexes tend to take on certain hobbies and interests¹⁴⁴. In society, men take on positions of power and leadership¹⁴⁵ and automatically

¹⁴⁴ Accordingly, this suggests the invisibility of the LGBT+ community in Arab Islamic countries since Islam and the regime repress this collective.

¹⁴⁵ Not only in the business field as Vice Presidents or CEOs, but also as tribal chiefs and warlords (Chanial, 2012). Sardar (2013: 3) declared, "The favourite pastime of men is, of course, war, perpetuated in the name of religion and ideologies ... Men and violence go together".

assume they are entitled to a fulfilling personal life and a successful career, while women are told by society and the media that eventually, they will have to compromise between career and family (Sandberg, 2013). As an enforced gender role since childhood, women are more focused on the daily care of children and strengthening family bonds (Tétreault, 2001), using many approaches, namely gift exchange. These roles are usually given to women to "save face", bind friendships, build and ensure the continuity of relationships (Silber 2009; Shanka & Handley 2011). Gift exchange occurs in one-on-one intimate family relations, or in bigger contexts such as tribal dimensions, making women and gifts the "glue of society" (Whitaker, 2017: 5). As shown, in many Muslim communities, the woman has been recognised to belong in various circles of socialisation, not solely Islamic ones (Amiraux, 2003), which proves that the patriarchy cannot observe this complexity.

Historically, most Kuwaiti women were housewives, but during the past few decades, the improvement in democratization and social development in Kuwait have opened doors for females to hold distinctive, authoritative, influential positions politically and in the labour sphere. They have risen to high ranked roles such as ambassadors, educational directors, and business entrepreneurs (Al-Mughni 2001; Al-Suwaihel 2010). The rise of feminism has also made an impact on the development of consumption sociology, which encouraged further studies relating to fashion, shopping, and household management (Campbell, 1995: 98-99). Women made a significant contribution in this respect because most consumers were realised to be women. Women shop more because allegedly, they make the majority of household buying decisions. They also shop out of habit and not out of rational decisionmaking. Furthermore, during shopping, they are more engaged with sales associates and seek additional information (Wharton University of Pennsylvania, 2007), which explains why women would generally take more time in choosing a gift, or preparing for one, than men would. Evidently, as Kuwait's fieldwork confirmed, women were more invested in the gift shopping experience on many dimensions. Budgeting, timing, evaluating and comparing, and finally choosing a gift were all realised as precise details that women pay attention to during a gifting occasion. Women therefore have a gift gender role of socialising and understanding before purchasing gifts (Otnes, Lowrey & Kim, 1993). Bourdieu views women as structurally predisposed to be less concerned with symbolic profits, freer to pursue material profits, and therefore closer to the "economic truth" of exchange than men (Bourdieu, 1977: 171). Strathern (1990) even studied "the gender of the gift", her main viewpoint familiarises the commodity with an anthropological, feminist direction. Gender, clearly, is an essential element to consider in the world of gifts. Usually, studies about gifts in non-western societies tend to overlook gender because they would rather focus on the actual ceremonial exchange practice although in fact, both factors share equal importance when selecting a gift (Shanka & Handley, 2011).

A gift from a woman even holds different characteristics than that from a man. It is commonly noticeable that a woman's gift, albeit a small one, would carry great underlying emotion, detail, and care, despite anthropological literature showing that utility and individuality are the key characteristics of the gift. However, the definite characteristic of care has been demoted from modern society because male gifts were viewed the most important since they dominated the public sphere, namely politics, rituals, and war (Chanial, 2012). In contrast, women were confined with gifts that involve the intimate and private spheres, therefore their gifts were unrecognised, long negated and devalued in traditional societies. Yet, female "gifts of care" have now taken over because they remind us of our original frailty and dependence on women (Chanial, 2014). This shows social changes in gifting rituals, where women are not only more involved in gift-giving than men but are also better gift givers (Pollmann & van Beest, 2013). Women are now recognised as the primary caregivers as well as the primary gift givers in societies and families (Sherry Jr. & McGrath, 1989). Apparently for women, gift-giving vitalizes the feminized perception of love (Cheal, 1987). Literature also shows that women possess more control in gift rituals. Women, gifts and power are somehow related to one another¹⁴⁶ (Osteen, 2002).

Studying Valentine's Day in Kuwait is an emotionally charged topic that has allowed to uncover many cultural and religious standards in gender roles and expectations of romantic

¹⁴⁶ In Japan, when Valentine's Day was first introduced in 1958, women used to give gifts of chocolates to men, but men did not give any gift to women (Ogasawara 1996; Minowa, Khomenko & Belk 2011; Jordan 2013). This Japanese custom somehow reflects two ideologies, inequality between the genders obligating solely women to buy gifts, or power over men so they feel vulnerable on this occasion.

relationships. The occasion specifically brings forward notions of relationship security and status (Wood & Wilson 2003; Chopik, Wardecker & Edelstein 2014). From a cultural point of view, having a romantic partner on Valentine's Day was crucial for the validity of the celebration in Kuwait. The high recognition of Valentine's Day has drawn couples into misusing the day as an *excuse* to be romantic and exchange gifts, as Farbotko and Head (2013) explained. Valentine's Day was even welcomed by senior informants like Nahla who wish to celebrate the love occasion if there was someone to celebrate it with. Single people therefore feel compelled to satisfy this condition. In the ensuing analysis, it turns out that the downside of being single was the least liked aspect about Valentine's Day, mainly because frequent public displays of romantic love reinforce feelings of inadequacy. On the other hand, married or romantically involved individuals feel frustrated about satisfying their partners and worried about breakups (Morse & Neuberg, 2004). I reckon that commercialisation has influenced peoples' habits by fostering materialism, shaping gender roles, and encouraging togetherness (Close & Zinkhan, 2006).

Minowa, Khomenko and Belk (2011) claim the persistent gender asymmetric nature of Valentine's Day. Marketing efforts have portrayed it as a female-oriented occasion. Massmedia has reinforced ads showing that women are supposed to receive special attention and be showered with gifts by men; specifically depicting happy women receiving roses and jewellery (Belk & Coon, 1991). The occasion in Kuwait therefore triggers high expectations of happiness because the media depicts it that way. When women are presented with gifts, it boosts their self-esteem and pleasure, which positively impacts relationship satisfaction (Nguyen & Munch 2011; Kaell 2012; Hyun, Park & Park 2016). As illustrated by Illouz (1997), romantic love urges to attain happiness through communicating feelings, which influences the success of relationships. Even in conflict, women look for the consideration of their feelings, while men prefer the more logical and "less emotional" approach to the problem. A gift can therefore be enough to avoid discussing the problem (Mauss 1925; Thomas 1991; 1994; Minowa & Gould 1999). It reassures the woman of her "value" and validity in the relationship. In this respect, I add that the gift represents kindness and a method for asking for forgiveness, which reflects on my earlier notion about "winning a person with a gift". The gift is also an instrument of love; to judge the sincerity of the relationship, and the fancier the gift, the more it encourages women to post about it on their social media¹⁴⁷.

Women tend to be more affected by the internet and this shows high education and technology levels in Kuwait. As young women, their role is more indulged and courted in lavishness. Young women like to play the "princess role", as described by Close (2012), and expect lavishness to escalate year after year because it provokes excitement, envy, and attraction. They are significantly influenced by their peers and are provoked to compete over having "the perfect relationship". They try to outdo one another by showing off their possessions and gifts on social media platforms, a rite to reconfirm their gender identity. We can determine that women possess more power in gifting occasions in Kuwait, which indicates their control in the relationship. Close (2012: 15) declared, "This is especially interesting in light of how marketing and advertising often position Valentine's Day as the one day that highlights and embraces femininity and womanhood".

The media usually portrays and promotes the image of a "happy" couple during an idyllic romantic date, which has become the society's normalised perception of Valentine's Day (Close, 2012). Quarrels, separation, or break ups should not occur around Valentine's Day, or any other major collective occasion, such as birthdays, Christmas, or New Year because the overall atmosphere is supposed to be "happy". This also shows the pressure that Valentine's Day has on peoples' mood. A notion implied from the fieldwork argues, "I'd rather be happy than be alone on Valentine's Day". Even in long term marriages, the day is carefully planned beforehand, and a good gift should be prepared to impress romantic partners¹⁴⁸. Several male informants, like Issa, Fares, Bader, and Mostafa¹⁴⁹, do not approve of the occasion, but it is their priority to make their wives happy. The importance of making someone happy forms an obligation to purchase a Valentine gift. Because of the

¹⁴⁷ See subdivision: Social media and content display.

¹⁴⁸ After studying people from the Arabian Gulf and MENA (Middle East and North African) region, online surveys showed that more than two thirds of people would make plans in advance, typically a few days up to a month before the event (AG reporter 2013; Berkani 2013; 2014). Even if they do not plan to celebrate, almost half the participants from the survey admitted that they intend to be nicer to their significant other on this day. Top responses showed they would celebrate Valentine's Day to "show their partner they care for them" and because they enjoy the event themselves, meanwhile only a very low percentage expressed they would do so because of "pressure from their partner".

¹⁴⁹ Mostafa is a 68-year-old married Kuwaiti male.

marketing image that positions and surrounds Valentine's Day, men feel obtruded by women to be "gentlemen"; to give gifts that demonstrate "advertised" standards of love (Goodwin, Smith & Spiggle 1990; Mayet & Pine, 2010). They feel pressure from the media, their significant other, and their peers. Men feel the need to repeat this practice every year for the sake of "saving" the relationship, which indicates a mutual gain (Rugimbana, Donahay, Neal & Polonsky, 2003). Nguyen and Munch (2011) discuss in their study that some people might perceive romantic gifting as a chore, where obligation depicts an anxious attachment to do something remarkably different from the year before, and this might not be equally reciprocated by female counterparts. This highlights the importance of romantic relationships in an Arab culture, yet it imposes a burden on men (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994).

Valentine's Day expectations have therefore also become negotiated in terms of relationship rejection (Van Dyk, 2013). Not receiving a gift on Valentine's Day can compromise the relationship (Belk 1976; Ellsworth & Smith 1988). If there is no gift, Mahmoud stated, he would "look bad in front of her", and Yousef commented he would "*fail* in her eyes". Men in turn, also have the power in affecting women's emotions and reactions. They enjoy this cultural freedom and the temporary opportunity to deliver mysterious gift meanings on this day. Men usually pay more attention to women on Valentine's Day to meet their expectations and elevate their relationship by offering gifts that have been previously desired by their female partner (Otnes, Lowrey & Kim, 1993). Based on this, the male gift gender role aims to please, provide and compensate. The Kuwaiti society has gendered the occasion as one that cares for females and pushes to look after them even when they are competent to do so themselves. Evidently, studies show that men spend about twice as much as women do on Valentine gifts (Chance & Norton 2011; Wilson, Wang, Banerji & Carlson 2015; Zayas, Pandey & Tabak 2017). In contemporary western societies, women were found to simultaneously give and *receive* more gifts than men (Caplow 1984; Cheal 1988).

From this, we can understand that the male gift could represent altruistic, selfless motives because they have put the other person's happiness before theirs. Tworek and Cimpian (2016: 1109) also link this to systematic bias, arguing that due to inherence, "people tend

to judge what is typical to be also good and appropriate". They found that people usually relate objects to intrinsic facts, for example, men believe that since red roses are beautiful, it is good to give roses on Valentine's Day. I also use inherent bias to support my findings as such, "Valentine's Day makes my partner feel happy and special, so I have to celebrate it". Romantic gifting has shown to separate between self-esteem and narcissistic motivations. Narcissistic individuals are not likely to resort to gift-giving as an instrumental act to maintain a relationship.

While married and non-married men from my fieldwork expressed their obligation to celebrate and give gifts on Valentine's Day, married women on the other hand, believe it is not necessary¹⁵⁰. In fact, celebrating Valentine's Day and validating the relationship on social media varied depending on age, marital status, gender, and lack of other prominent roles, for example a mother. Abrar, a mother of two, conveyed a different gender role from those who do not have children. She stated, "life became tiring for us, so we don't really pay attention to this event". Women who have more serious relationships and families of their own have answered that they opt out of celebrating Valentine's Day. Valentine's Day, for them, is an occasion infested with "society-pressured" gifts, so it is not the main occasion that keeps the relationship "alive". They realise that expensive, fancy gifts might not hold positive consequences since it does not guarantee or promise anything for the couple in the future. The awareness on consumerism and consumption generated reversed reactions towards the commercialised product.

Married women are more focused on true romance and meaningful, sincere gestures which determine the quality of the relationship. Eman for example, emphasized non-tangible gifts, something as simple as "a kind word, a hand-written letter, helping around the house or fixing something". She argued that Valentine's Day is an occasion to *give*, most of all, to give time to loved ones. These are all "signs of love", she declared. Joanna also mentioned that non-material Valentine gifts are acceptable, such as "gifting an

¹⁵⁰ Contrarily, men feel that Valentine's Day is a big deal for women, as Tarek stated, "maybe for girls there is a more romantic or sentimental value to the occasion ... the gifts are very important for them in that sense". The importance of the occasion was then realised to differ depending on the woman's marital status.

experience¹⁵¹ or a homemade meal". Married women showed that baking a homemade cake or sharing any activity, such as helping with house chores, could still count as "eligible" Valentine gifts. This way, activities related to housework that are largely linked to female gender roles would then be performed with pleasure rather than imposed obligation. Even sharing quality time with one another was considered enough to celebrate and appreciate the occasion. This explains why men usually pay twice as much on gifts. Men are typically more price-conscious and practical with gifts, while women are more concerned about the gift's emotional significance. This similarity was demonstrated by Kamptner (1991: 209), "Younger and male subjects emphasized the active, physical, instrumental, immediate qualities of possessions, while females and older subjects emphasized symbolic and interpersonal features".

Non-material gifts have conquered many forms, "the gift of time" as illustrated earlier, and now "the gift of a spotless home", "the gift of a home cooked meal", and even "the gift of peace" (T.O.T. Team, 2017). An important perspective is now emerging that rejects the individualistic view and focuses on the importance of social interactions in human lives. Individual consumption of brands does not define our lives but rather meaningful established relationships, as proposed by Cova, Kozinets and Shankar (2007). In this sense, none of my female informants mentioned the need to receive a special gift on Valentine's Day. I conclude that cultural expectations and commercialisation compel men to buy gifts and prepare for Valentine's Day, which mostly excite single, young women who are exploring romantic relationships. This supports studies that found that single people spend more on Valentine's Day than married ones (Chance & Norton 2011; Wilson, et al. 2015; Zayas, Pandey & Tabak 2017).

Evidently, the study on Valentine gifts in Kuwait has provided knowledge on materialism, and helped underline gifting identities and motives during social, romantic interactions. As supported by several previous studies, obligation, self-interest, and altruistic motives dominates the giving for men in Kuwait (Wolfinbarger 1990; Goodwin, Smith & Spiggle 1990; Rugimbana, Donahay, Neal & Polonsky 2003). Generally, a lot is expected from

¹⁵¹ Studies show that one of the best gifts are experiences because they involve deeper meanings (Otnes & Beltramini, 1996).

male figures in Arab Islamic societies. Men are supposed to be the bigger givers and are expected to show care and desire by pampering their women. For many generations, until today, men are expected to provide for the family. Belk and Coon (1991) affirmed that these expectations existed ever since the 18th century, probably even earlier. They even argued that it is the man's obligation to pay for dates in romantic relationships. In Islam, being providers forms part of male responsibilities, gender roles and social identities (Aixelà-Cabré 2000; 2007b; Bani & Pate 2015)¹⁵². Therefore, Valentine's Day advertisements further pressurise the cruciality of a man's presence in a woman's life. The intention to demonstrate true feelings is weakened when acts are done out of obligation, to meet expectations and satisfy marketplace pressures (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994). The eagerness to impress someone by "manipulating" them with a gift can probably create a fake, non-genuine emotion (Cheal, 1986). In moments of vulnerability and gratefulness, even genuine emotions are not permanent. Regrettably, Robles (2012) said that normalising fake emotions during gift exchanges implies that "everyone has to lie".

Valentine's Day has been polemic in many Islamic communities. It is largely viewed as a social and religious transgression because it distracts the youth and turns them away from authentic traditions, according to Brosius and Wenzlhuemer (2011: 47) and Kreil (2016). In Kuwait, as transnational circulations started to increase since the 1990s, associating romantic love and "Islamic" marriage with western modernity has become an evident social struggle (Cole & Thomas, 2009). The occasion is perceived as a false representation of love. It gives wrong ideas about relationship standards, elicits expectations from partners and obstructs marriage because young couples get comfortable with their relationship situation since nothing binds them legally. Traditionally, elders refuted the idea that love is fundamental for marriage and believed that the young have love affairs only for the purpose of fulfilling their lustful passions (Kreil, 2016). This shows clear differences from romantic love in European or Western contexts, an important gap to be addressed.

¹⁵² Providing for women does not indicate men superiority, domination/subordination, or gender inequality. These stereotypes have been changing in various Arab Islamic countries since the early 20th century. Women in fact have been acquiring new social responsibilities, reconstructing gender roles, and intending to dissolve the patriarchal hierarchy (Aixelà-Cabré 2006: 74-75; De Bel-Air, Safar & Destremau 2018).

A high percentage of marriages in Arab societies are arranged by parents or elders and still take place using the traditional method: marrying from the family, lifelong neighbours/family friends or close acquaintances. The couple's opinion or wishes are often disregarded and any relationship that have resulted from "secret dating", like meeting on Valentine's Day for example, is not recognised (Mooro, 2019). However, in some families, marriage is also viewed necessary when two are in love. As per the Quran, *Surat Al-Baqarah* (2: 189) instructs not to enter houses from the back, but to enter them from their proper door, and to fear Allah. More colloquially among people, this verse has been interpreted into, "enter the house from its door, not from its window", in better words, do not go behind the parents' back and date in secret, but come forward, introduce yourself and make your intentions known to gain permission to date or marry them [women] (*Surat Al-Nisa'a*, 4: 25). Typically, this is meant for men since they are the traditional proposers of marriage.

Introducing oneself to the family imposes tremendous pressure on romantic couples. Because of its taboo nature, dating in the Middle East automatically translates to, "When will he propose?" or "When is the engagement?". There is no space or time for romantic relationships to grow and flourish without the pressure of these formalities. To truly know someone, casually and slowly without expectations, is very difficult, so the relationship remains secret. On a further note, even friendships with the opposite sex are complicated, often questioned and provoke gossip in Arab societies. In many Muslim families, these friendships are prohibited, and for a married woman, they are typically out of the question because it makes her seem "unrespectable" or "promiscuous". Since it is difficult *not* to be friends with the opposite sex for work or educational purposes, these platonic relationships are therefore also secreted.

Whether an arranged or a love relationship, marriage holds many standards in Arab Islamic societies. As an unwritten rule of marriage, the groom must come from a good family, and from a similar financial, educational, and cultural or ethnic background. Above all, the couple should have the same beliefs and religion. The bride also faces a lot of expectations from the groom's family. She is supposed to be pious, well-mannered and shows signs of good "kitchen and cleaning skills". In other words, she should show that she would be a

good housewife and is fit to mother the offspring of the man. Inevitably, these traditional "outdated" standards provoke feelings of misogamy and further delay marital commitments.

When these marriage standards have been satisfied, what follows is the actual marriage process: the proposal, engagement, marriage, and wedding. Since marriage is a costly endeavour in many Arab countries, it constitutes an economic hurdle to romanticism. To marry without the parents' financial help is practically impossible. The intermediary period between the engagement and signing the marriage contract is used to prepare for costly requirements, such as the dowry, the down payment, housing and furniture, gifts for the wedded couple, and finally the wedding, which normally becomes very long due to financial limitations¹⁵³. Based on this, monetary constraints on marriage seem to tame romantic ambitions, leading to breakups.

These unrealistic, traditional marriage standards and heavy financial burdens have made Valentine's Day prominent in exploring relationships, conveying feelings and promoting love ideals among non-married individuals, in other words "love modernism" (Kreil, 2016). The occasion clearly supports conflicting conceptions of love in an Islamic society. It fulfilled the need to be loved and cherished as young adults (Abela, Vella & Piscopo, 2020). The convenient access to affordable commodities has also formed a big success on Valentine's Day. Valentine's Day became an opportunity to accept dating openly and not to put so much pressure on making relationships all "buttoned-up" in terms of marriage out of fear of "what people will say"¹⁵⁴.

As I have explained in the previous chapter, although Valentine's Day is not related to religion, the conduct that takes place during the event is still questioned in terms of religion.

¹⁵³ In every Arab country, these marriage conditions differ. Many ask for an "impossible" amount of money, others practice the *yusr* or lenience concept in Islam (Al-Oueid, 2012), meaning to facilitate marriage with a symbolic amount of money. Other families split the marriage costs between the bride and groom. These methods are used to speed up the marriage so the couple would not fall into sin and lust when the intermediary period is long. Additionally, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, many of these rules and requirements were overlooked since wedding ceremonies and social events were banned to take place. Many couples simply announced their marriage on social media or text messages. ¹⁵⁴ This refers to the concept of *'aib* or shame in Arab societies. See section: The Quran and Islamic Religion: *'Aib* and Ostentation.

Valentine's Day is believed to oppose Islamic teachings, as Tahani expressed, since it encourages intimate non-marital relationships, which Islam forbids. Nevertheless, the Kuwaiti government does not prohibit celebrating the event, but celebrations should be held within religious boundaries. Kuwait's conservative society has shaped Valentine's Day to match with the country's religion and beliefs, and this differentiates the occasion from other regions. Even though the government allows it, Abrar mentioned that couples discreetly celebrate it. There are no public displays of affection but rather a quiet dinner to avoid suspicion. Anything beyond holding hands in public would be frowned upon, Joanna stated.

On this day in Kuwait, couples meet at city spots that most people find romantic. Abrar explained that non-married couples make sure they would not get "caught" by authorities. Since Kuwait follows the Sharia Islamic Law, unwed couples are not allowed to cohabitate or book a hotel room without a marriage contract. Nonmarried children live with their parents and are under their responsibility. Therefore, when a man is with his girlfriend on Valentine's Day, or any other day, authorities who suspect the couple would inspect their IDs and then ask for their legal guardians to pick them up from the police station. As Joanna clarified, "Girlfriends/boyfriends do not frequently go out in public displaying their relationship before a more formal, legal relationship is established with the family approval". While some parents might be fully aware of their child's relationship, an unmarried couple found together in suspicious areas is usually punishable by law in Kuwait. Consequences include deporting from the country or paying a large fine.

Since relationships between people who are not married are a relative taboo in Islamic societies, young individuals try to conceal their relationship not only from public authorities, but also from their parents and family. Although dating and Valentine's Day are popular in Kuwait, women are especially more discreet about their romantic relationships since it is perceived negatively in a conservative society. Women usually claim that the gifts they have received on Valentine's Day are from female colleagues or friends. They use social media instead to "live their lives" outside of said society and away

from prying eyes, in other words, independent of family views¹⁵⁵. Joanna stated that the female youth prepare extensively on festive occasions. They visit the beauty salon and tend to dress fancier and apply heavy makeup and perfume as casual attire is not encouraged for most occasions in Kuwait. Generally, Arab women are judged on their appearance. They feel under tremendous pressure to look beautiful and physically attractive, an aesthetic that is usually defined by European physical traits (Mooro, 2019). Being attractive tempts flirtations in academic institutes, workplaces, and coffee shops. These practices are used to open doors, create opportunities, and imagine love, where the role of courtship gifts is to satisfy a romantic partner and probably even attract a potential spouse (Belk & Coon, 1991). This is called the Halo effect.

Adam spoke about an individualistic culture in Kuwait, where "everyone is doing what they please, especially the girls, some even lie to their parents. They say they are going to camp with their friends but in reality, they travel to Dubai or wherever to do things and express their freedom". This can be an indication for enhancing religious gender liberty in Islamic communities.

As implied, Valentine's Day in Kuwait is not about "pure love" but about the love without commitment found in alliances between boyfriends and girlfriends. "Boyfriend" and "girlfriend" are commonly inappropriate terms that do not belong in Islamic societies, unless intending and publicly announcing to marry the person, then the correct term for the couple would be "engaged", replacing boyfriend/girlfriend with fiancé/fiancée. This becomes labelled "*halal*¹⁵⁶ (halāl) dating", a way for Muslims to get to know one another and decide if they want be married (Ali, et al., 2019). Arab Islamic societies discourage romantic love outside the context of marriage, therefore being engaged or married is considered an "official legal" relationship and casually dating someone with no clear commitment intentions does not count as one¹⁵⁷. My fieldwork findings reveal that

¹⁵⁵ Refer to the subdivision: Social media and content display.

¹⁵⁶ *Halal* in Arabic translates to "permissible". In Islam and in the Quran, *halal* is the opposite of *haram* (forbidden). ¹⁵⁷ In the West, "single" signifies "not in a relationship", whereas in Arab societies it means unengaged or unmarried. Young Arab men and women who are romantically involved have to explain their relationship statuses when approached by potential romantic interests.

Valentine's Day is popularized among young, single individuals; therefore, Valentine's Day in Kuwait is an occasion that attracts those who are not in an "official relationship".

With Valentine's Day, this forms a great debate since the government cannot fully prohibit non-married couples from celebrating or meeting together. Apparently, Kuwait will always face this issue. Curiously, how can marriage happen in a country that looks down upon dating and forbids affection? This once again questions the true role of Islam in Kuwait.

It seems necessary to elaborate that while Kuwait does not consent to dating, Islam tolerates love in all its forms, according to Osman, et al. (2013). It is permissible to love but with the parents' approval and respecting the country's boundaries. To condemn non-marital relationships during Valentine's Day because it jeopardises marriage plans and defames Islamic principles only protects Kuwait's morality and reputation, for being almost as conservative as Saudi Arabia. Tradition has taught that marriage in romantic relationships is compulsory and is the end goal, but Islam taught that a meaningful, respectful and fulfilling relationship is the goal, marriage becomes a by-product. Therefore, it is not about the "reputation" of Islam. It is about the reputation of Kuwait and how to develop to accommodate to an era of technology and globalisation, to combat oppression and intolerance, thus the concept of voluntariness (Kilani, 2011). Qassem confessed that there are parties in Kuwait where alcohol and drugs are shared "under the table". This shows that Kuwait's prohibitions cannot be justified in the name of "Islam", but certain changes to the typical culture were in order because current times no longer match with past ideologies, hence the consent to celebrate Valentine's Day for representing an occasion like Mother's Day. Adam suspects that Valentine's Day will become more popularized across Kuwait in the future, "even beyond what is there in the West", he affirmed. He implies the instigation of more incidents against the Islamic religion, probably homosexual and non-marital sexual relations.

Kuwait's research concluded that celebrating the event and exchanging gifts was focused on two major aspects: age and marital status. Generally, it showed that if the individual were single and young, they would like to celebrate the day, whereas if the individual were married and young, they would probably not. Finally, if the individual were old and single, they would not either. As for a gender analysis, men were the bigger gift givers during Valentine's Day, but women were bigger fans of the occasion.

Throughout years of literature and research, women have overshone men in their gifting ideas, creativity, and thoughtfulness. Studies have supported gift exchange as a female domain, mostly because men are perceived to dislike being involved in shopping. However, the study of Palan, Areni and Kiecker (2001) showed that the male gender role in gift exchange is a typical misconception by society. External factors were found to improve the male participation in gift-giving as compared to the past (Otnes, 1994). Likewise, Kuwait's fieldwork showed that men are taking on more divergent social roles associated to the private sphere. Despite their aversion to shopping, men were the bigger gift givers during Valentine's Day. Although they feel obliged to prepare expensive thoughtful gifts, they still agree to do so to attain social status and respect, and most importantly, not to indicate relationship rejection or denial. Women, on the other hand, celebrate out of love. Married women represented a different gift gender role than single ones, where they usually present emotional non-material gifts reflecting "gifts of care". Based on these results, I agree with Mauss (1925) that gift exchanges are at most times obligatory and I conclude that while women are the main gift givers in society, men dominate gift-giving during Valentine's Day.

1.1 Amour-Propre: Modernisation, Education, Women Empowerment

Previous studies and literature have primarily focused on the prevalent norm of interpersonal gifting and have shown that women are the main gift givers in society. That said, my fieldwork revealed that women are also creating alternative approaches to gifting during Valentine's Day in relation to the contemporary, globalised, and commercialised lifestyle in Kuwait. This subdivision discusses distinct concepts of love during Valentine's Day, specifically *Amour-Propre*, or self-love, which has developed from several women from the fieldwork. This concept consists of self-pride, self-esteem and self-respect, fuelled by the good opinions of others to better the general image of Arab Muslim women

worldwide¹⁵⁸. The information is then used to analyse modernisation, education and women status in Kuwait.

In historical Islamic feminist literature, women coming from the Middle East, or as defined "third world countries", continue to be treated as a sub-category and are only included during debates about race or colonialism (Coello de la Rosa, 2008). Indeed, with the general view about Muslim women being oppressed under a rather "masculine religion", the Islamist position towards equal gender rights appear to be problematic (Aixelà-Cabré 2006; EI-gousi 2010; Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner 2012; Platt 2013; Saddiqui 2020). So much of Kuwait as a Muslim state takes its cues from Islamic teachings. During the 1980s, gender inequalities and interests of women were barely articulated in Kuwait's society. Instead, they were expected to follow traditional roles; obey the husband or a dominate male figure, and their roles were strictly dedicated towards the family and house chores (Hidayati & Apipudin, 2018: 370). Owing to a male domination and an anti-feminist ideology, women were denied many contributions and rights on a societal level, in terms of employment, political participation, mobility freedom and safety from domestic violence, which made them feel estranged and disoriented. Women were compelled to stick to the private spaces which included family relations, close friends or neighbours, and not to interfere with "masculine affairs". This was even more provoked by gender-segregated areas in Kuwait, such as work and educational places, which cut off women from having access to the opposite sex. This shows how the Arab Muslim identity can condition gender. These oppressive views were common misapprehensions and stereotypes stemmed from little to no cultural religious exposure (Cole & Ahmadi, 2003: 57-58). It was appropriate thereafter to challenge these views that represented regressive ideologies.

Fortunately, the proliferation of voices during the late 20th century highlighted common gender issues; openly debating the role of Islam in contemporary society. Consequently, the androcentric structure or the "male-controlling individual" within a typical Arab family was slowly fading and women became more powerful. It was only until the 1990s when new roles for women began to emerge in the public sphere in Kuwait (Al-Mughni, 2010).

¹⁵⁸ Read about Jean-Jacques Rousseau's prominent philosophical argument on *amour-propre* compared to *amour de soi* in Bass (2013) and Wang (2017).

The Persian Gulf War of 1990-1991 was proof to women's nationalism, loyalty and political competence (Kohn, 2020), which proposed their potential in the country's development. There was a strong desire to "modernize" Kuwait, believing that implied the emancipation and education of women, and it was considered vital to achieve it. Women rights were redefined as a national issue. Consequently, many Kuwaiti women were engaged in "soul-searching" to assess "who they are", which involved religious exploration and a reinterpretation to Islamic texts, since many concepts in society were linked to religion (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012: 23-24, 28-29). Islamic exploration, or *ijtihad* ('ijtihād), clarified fundamental rights and obligations of both men and women and specified their roles in social development. This was impacted by the revolution of modernity, as studied by Eickelman (2002a), which legitimised and denied many religious and political system activities (Martianov, 2018). Eickelman (1998; 2002a: 40-42) spoke about social change *and* validated being Muslim and modern in the Middle East, calling the concept "Modern Transnationalism". The concept involves globalisation, public diplomacy, open communication and secular human rights movements towards goals that improve human conditions. In fact, he declared, "Many voices and practices in the Muslim world call for or tend toward more open societies and diverse religious interpretations" (Eickelman, 2002a: 41).

The ongoing alienation of women in society does not trace back to the teachings and enjoins of Islam (Al-Mughni, 2010). With an increasingly Islamophobic climate after the September 11 attacks and due to militant groups such as ISIS and the Taliban, Muslims find themselves defending their community and faith against those wishing to exploit (mis)perceptions of Muslims. They are especially relegated to playing terrorists and oppressors. This is very detrimental for children who only see prejudiced versions of themselves displayed in the media. Without proper education and role models, kids can become apathetic, and potentially even perform the stereotype (Mooro, 2019). Therefore, the Islamic faith and Sharia are continuously being clarified, justified and distinguished from the actions of groups or leaders claiming to act in its name, an exhausting demand that is missing in other faiths, i.e., an armed group or war criminal claiming to act in Christ's name for example. I take this as an opportunity to educate, question double standards, propagate against bigotry and challenge bias.

The normative teachings of Islam are antithetical to the current treatment of women. In fact, there is no evidence in Islam that men hold the power and right to control female lives (Ranchod-Nilsson & Tétreault 2000; Al-Mughni 2000). As it turns out, Islam provides a balanced system for the sexes in a way that women are not weak nor inferior neither are subordinate to men (Elius, 2012). Submission, dependence and conformity are simply cultural female stereotypes (Almadanat, 2018). Islam in fact teaches that men are responsible for women; their roles and duties include respecting, supporting, protecting, and providing for them (Bani & Pate, 2015). Because of more financial responsibilities (towards women and children), this is also why a male has double the right in heritage than a female (Surat Al-Nisa'a, 4: 11). The disparity between male and female therefore lies upon responsibility, performance and strength (Surat Al-Imran, 3: 36; Surat Al-Layl, 92: 3-4), whereas we realise that in terms of God's judgement and creation, males and females have been complemented alike biologically and psychologically (Surat Al-Najm, 53: 45-46), and the parity between them exists in work, in merits and penalties (Surat Al-Imran, 3: 195; Surat Al-Nisa'a, 4: 124; Surat Al-Nahl, 16: 97; Surat Ghafer, 40: 40). As shown, women, although equal before Allah, are unequal before man (Ali 1998; Kia 2019). This constitutes a big difference between what Islam wishes for women and what culture and tradition have forced women to do.

Islam permits women to define their own norms; participate in elections, hold ministerial positions, work and choose their own life partners and destinies (Al-Mughni 2010; Anggadwita, Mulyaningsih, Ramadani & Arwiyah 2015). For instance, Khadijah Bint Khuwaylid, Prophet Mohammed's wife, was a successful and wealthy entrepreneur (Razwy 1990; Koehler 2011; Peracha 2017). Khadijah was also widowed twice before marrying Prophet Mohammed. Many of Prophet Mohammed's wives were widowed and/or divorced (Mus'ad 2001; Al-Hashimi 2011; Demireşik 2012). This would cause controversial disputes and shame if it were to happen today.

Marriage is a minefield of stifling, impractical expectations for women in the Arab world. Women with previous marital relations are disfavoured because Arab societies are "closed" conservative societies. Traditional families taboo divorced and widowed women as they are commonly viewed as "second hand"¹⁵⁹, "neglectful parents" or "licentious", and widely blamed for failing to "keep" their husbands, thus they are unlikely to be remarried (Savaya & Cohen 2003; Nassar 2015; Soukayna A 2018; Mooro 2019). Above all, divorce is considered a concept that contravenes basic collective values and social traditions of Arab culture. Although permissible in Islam, it is illustrated as "the most hated halal to Allah"¹⁶⁰. Expectedly, these societies have focused on the adjective "hate" and overlooked divorce's nature of "halal". This adjective has quickly turned divorce into a social stigma that particularly affects the life of divorced women. As a result, women sustain the marriage and endure abusive or toxic husbands to avoid the harm of demeaning stereotypes or, in many cases, for the sake of their children (Mooro, 2019). On the other hand, single women below 30 are conditioned to "secure" a partner early and are rushed into marriage before they reach "spinsterhood" and suffer from damaging labels (Herouach 2019; Khalifah 2021). Ironically, this pressure and haste from families can be reason for the high divorce rates in the Middle East. This shows the difference between how Islam projects females in marriage and how tradition has distorted that projection, ultimately regressing Middle Eastern countries. Gender inequality and female oppression is claimed to be a result of the discontinuation of the practice of *ijtihad* (Al-Mughni, 2010).

Many girls and women attend Quranic schools to use the attained knowledge to argue for better rights and freedoms from an Islamic perspective (Zoepf, 2016). With religious exploration, females produced, fostered, and reinforced the feminist ideology in Islam, which is often linked with orientalism (Abu-Lughod 1998; Abu-Lughod, Yegenoglu, Arat, et al. 2001; Aixelà-Cabré 2006; Platt 2013; Al-Nakib 2020; González Alcantud 2021). The transformation of culture began with the collection of thought, experiences, beliefs, values, and assumptions set by a self-sustaining group (Jandt, 2010). It encouraged the improvement of a modernist Islamic discourse which involved advocating the separation

¹⁵⁹ Or "unfit for marriage". This is mostly debated over virginity notions.

¹⁶⁰ Narrated by Abdullah ibn Umar in Abu-Dawood Al-Sajestani (2021), *Sunan Abu Dawood*, 2178, Book 13, Hadeeth
4.

between the state (Kuwait's liberal ideology) and religion (Kuwait's Islamists) (Al-Mughni, 2010). The focal objective was to dismantle traditions that included female obedience to a male figure, housework as a gender role and purpose, and the obligation to marry and reproduce. These traditions represented barriers to their ideas, creativity, and capabilities.

Education played a key role in reforming endeavours. It was believed that education would develop Arab cultures into a less oppressive one and so, women were encouraged to pursue an education, take on jobs and depend on themselves. They slowly began to face down religious and social tradition, and started transforming their daily routines, creating new purposes¹⁶¹; delaying marriage, travelling more, driving their own cars, pursuing professional goals, fighting for equal salaries, filing for divorce, owning houses and launching businesses (Zoepf, 2016). Women's education was believed to "modernize" Muslim societies and challenge an "unmodern" Islam (Khurshid, 2015). In fact, Islam's teachings emphasise the importance of seeking knowledge, for both men and women. In the 1919 Egyptian revolution, education was the main reason for the women's movement and feminist activism, which expanded their social circles outside the common familial walls (Al-Ali 2002; Ramdani 2016; Linhares 2018). This educational and social development had a positive impact on the family environment. It meant that mothers will be more aware about proper methods of upbringing, and life practices would be based on hands-on knowledge gained from education, not from cultural myths and traditions brought down by great grandparents.

Within the Arabian Gulf region, specifically Kuwait, this "shift" of women roles took place later during the second half of the 20th century. By the 1980's, the female percentage enrolled in universities exceeded that of the male's, in Bahrain 53%, Kuwait 56% and Qatar 57% (Pappé, 2005: 256). Young Arab women currently continue to outnumber men in educational rates (UN: ESCWA 2016: 32; Zoepf 2016). The discovery of oil in Kuwait and its liberation from Iraq in 1991 notably influenced the high enrolment rates for women, which consequently also affected the female ratio in the labour force (Garrison 2015;

¹⁶¹ Other than the typical, culturally imposed purposes: to marry and procreate.

Alzuabi 2016; Momani 2016). New professions were available to women, especially in the fields of dentistry, pharmacy, and medicine. As part of 20th century modernism, Islamists specifically encouraged the medical field as a very appropriate domain for women in the Middle East since it meant that women could now examine other women¹⁶². Furthermore, women were attaining leadership roles which empowered their social communications, increased their self-confidence, and supported their independence and personal growth (Al-Mughni 2010; Al-Suwaihel 2010; Hidayati & Apipudin 2018). These opportunities have equipped women to compete on a more political, economic and social level in Kuwait (AlAzmi, 2014). Women in Kuwait have shone in the public sphere, continuously striving to be involved in positions that were previously only entitled to men. Women are proving that the "sensitive sex" can achieve self-growth as protagonists, making an impact in society by adjusting laws and fighting for their rights. More importantly, there was a strong emphasis that marriage and having children are now personal choices and not traditional obligations.

Education particularly was one of the factors that facilitated the end of subordination to men (Aixelà-Cabré 2000; 2006: 72). Women's education represented a potentially better future for the Middle East, liberating women from oppressive roles, transforming a given status quo, encouraging freedom of choice with regards to family and marriage, and taking control of their destiny (Arenfeldt & Golley 2012; Khurshid 2015). Later, coeducation became popular, leading to the gradual diminishment of segregation. Even though "Islamic" morals were known to contain women and prohibit pre-marital relationships, there were less-conservative Middle Eastern families that accepted male and female relations if they were in a group or in a work context (Bowen & Early, 2002). Mixed schooling contributed towards "love modernism", which facilitated romanticism, thus the noticeable popularity of Valentine's Day (Kreil, 2016). Gender-segregated areas that are still common in Kuwait include some schools, university halls, cinemas, banks, gyms, spas,

¹⁶² Arab Muslim women are largely embarrassed from male practitioners and doctors examining them. Others are forced by their husbands or families to be examined by a female doctor for religious reasons. After Islamic exploration, these views were found erroneous, since medical check-ups or life-threatening situations are urgent and desperate measures. In these cases, the *yusr* concept in Islam is applied to simply ensure health and well-being (Al-Oueid, 2012).

and hairdressers or beauty salons. Probably, genders are organised as such in public spaces not because of discrimination but to avoid harassment and ensure personal comfort.

Gradually, there have emerged new viewpoints and practices demonstrating women empowerment and stability, liberating them from traditional values that reflected the pre-Islamic era. The diversity and transition in the Arabian Peninsula have promoted feminism and postmodernism in Kuwait, and inspired changed ideas about marriage, work, and lifestyle that resembled features from both the Western model and the traditional collective family model (Tétreault 1993; El-Haddad 2003; Rashad 2015; Tijani 2018; Al-Khraif, Abdul Salam & Abdul Rashid 2020). Arab traditions and western culture were blended where popular demands included social justice and equality in the participation of men and women alike in public life (Al-Mughni 2001; El-Aswad 2010). Females transformed their worldviews, including societal images of themselves. Joanna remarked that women have pushed the boundaries from being the main caregivers of family units and caretakers of the households to being leaders in other fields.

Even Valentine's Day concepts about gifting and love have shifted. Women are fighting the image that the media and society portrays of the desperate necessity of having a man, not only during Valentine's Day, but in their lives. Suzan, a married woman, remarked, "I do not need a man to show me love on Valentine's or any other day". Suzan's answer stresses that a woman can show love to herself any time, regardless of the occasion or purpose. This shows feminist views and indicates a female revolution in Kuwait (González, 2013), eradicating the common belief that the lives of Arab Muslim women are incomplete without marriage. These ideas, and people who believe them, degrade and disrespect women. Clearly, this represents a change of Muslim gender conceptions.

Fieldwork results showed that females not only triumph in interpersonal gifting but in selfgifting as well. Self-gifting was previously only studied in Western cultures, particularly the United States. Tynan, et al. (2010: 1112) suggested to "reflect on the meaning of this behaviour in non-Western countries". They believe that self-gifting is less self-oriented in collective societies. Nevertheless, quite the opposite was found in Kuwait as a collective non-Western country. Self-gifting was a very recognised concept, particularly with young women. Ghada, Abrar and Suzan, claimed that they very much use this method to selfindulge and make themselves feel better (Mick & DeMoss 1990; 1992; Ward & Tran 2008). Along these lines, Cullen (2018) also emphasizes the concept of "me time", an informal slogan that became popular in western contexts and then spread to Arab countries. It refers to time spent relaxing rather than doing things for others or working. While the usual expectation of Valentine's Day is to be spent with a loved one and shower them with gifts, Cullen explains that more younger individuals are adapting to the idea to indulge and simply spend quality time by themselves on this overcrowded and overrated occasion. "Me time" was also common in Kuwait. Accordingly, self-gifting was not restricted to buying tangible gifts. A woman could gift herself services, experiences and wellness treatments. Abrar, a married woman, views self-gifting as a reward after having worked so hard on something. She takes a portion of her earnings to spend on herself and gift herself. She called this a form of "self-appreciation". She explained how these rewards represent something greater than just mere items, "These things, or gifts I buy, are very dear to me because they represent the long working hours and the hard achievement of their price. It means I don't need or don't wait for Valentine's Day to get what I want because I already know how I can reward myself". Chapman (2014) identifies the offering of gifts as one of the love languages. Women possibly express their love language to themselves using gifts to obtain emotional fulfilment; thus, these concepts are realised as a chance to reduce stress or restore energy.

The fieldwork showed that Valentine's Day could be shared with non-romantic partners as well, who are also loved (Close & Zinkhan, 2006: 356). Two young single females, Seba and Majida, stressed that there is no rule that obligates exchanging gifts solely with romantic partners on Valentine's Day¹⁶³, it is merely an option. They discussed that the occasion can be spent and celebrated with whomever you love; parents, siblings, and close friends, since some of these relationships might have lasted longer than a romantic one. Seba for example wants to change the norm that pressures being romantically involved during Valentine's Day. Instead, she gives flowers to her friends to express her love and

¹⁶³ However, contradictorily, according to several other informants, being single was found to be inconvenient. Just like wedding anniversaries, Valentine's Day is an occasion originally meant for couples, and when a person does not fulfil this criterion, they feel they have been excluded from the event (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994).

gratitude. This shows the distinction of emotions that are present in the occasion. In reference to the literature on emotions, platonic relationships involve showing care and appreciation to one another, conveying feelings of love, affection, closeness, and friendship (Rosch, et al. 1976; Smith & Ellsworth 1985; Shaver, et al. 1987). Majida even started a Valentine ritual among her friends. She said, "Yes I participate, between friends we give and sometimes make small gifts as a tradition". This idea stops the circulation of Valentine's Day's typical cosmopolitan gifts like flowers, chocolates, and teddy bears. Apparently, celebrating with friends or relatives creates better memories and bring out individual originality. Women celebrating Valentine's Day with friends and family has been found in the study of Otnes, Ruth and Milbourne (1994). An explanation to this is that apparently, men consider a "significant other" to be a romantic partner, while women consider a significant other to be a well-trusted friend or lifelong companion¹⁶⁴. The occasion would be spent socializing with other single friends who have no plans for the day¹⁶⁵. This information does not necessarily imply that romantic love is on the decline in Kuwait. The reality is that people are displeased with Valentine's Day's commercial trends and expectations.

Conversely, I believe that men might have been misjudged in Arab societies. As a male gender conception in many cultures, showing emotion is forcefully believed as a sign of vulnerability, so men try to suppress their feelings or tend to shut them out. Instead, they are pressurised to convey characteristics of "masculinity", such as strength, reliance and responsibility, which make up some traditional gender roles as well (Jones, 2009). Therefore, as probably interpreted as a sign of weakness, less men engage in gifting to family or friends during Valentine's Day for the concern of being perceived as "emotional". On the other hand, women are more naturally comfortable displaying their emotions and are more elaborate with their gestures and body language (Hyde 2007; Hatfield, Rapson & Le 2009). In addition, BBC News (2017) showed that male figures become role models to their sons. Therefore, if the father was observed to give gifts to his

¹⁶⁴ Not to mention that even in Islam, love and kindness are to be demonstrated towards God, homeland, family, neighbours, and even passing strangers (Kreil, 2016).

¹⁶⁵ While single women on Valentine's Day enjoy the company of their friends and family, romantically involved men realise it is self-rewarding to spend intimate quality time with their "other half" (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994).

family and friends, his son would follow accordingly. Similarly, a young man helping his wife in the kitchen might have seen similar doings from his father growing up and consequently mimics the same at his own home. Gender roles are therefore created within household walls, not dictated by society pressures.

Women are progressively leaning towards anti-Valentine gift options, such as gifting an experience, spending time with friends, or treating themselves. Self-gifting and nonromantic gifting are very welcoming, popular concepts in Kuwait during Valentine's Day. They compensate the absence of a romantic relationship, relieves the pressure of feeling "alone" on Valentine's Day and teaches how to be resilient. This establishes that the notion of "being happy rather than being alone" is essential for these women. Nevertheless, although these methods are an "appropriate alternative" when someone is not romantically involved, it was not specific to single people. Even though Arab societies have emphasised the man's presence in a woman's life, these gifting approaches are expressions that show that happiness can be attained regardless of marital status. Evidently, women realise that self-respect starts with loving oneself and not following societal or familial expectations. Furthermore, not only do these methods reinforce happiness, but also represent independence and the ability to satisfy personal needs. Women therefore display their independent status to draw attention of others towards an "unfamiliar" love concept, as the fieldwork established that showing-off was a common motive for gifting among young women¹⁶⁶.

I highlight the above female informants who transmitted different approaches to celebrating Valentine's Day in Kuwait. Those approaches reunite two purposes: self-reward and self-love. These informants have admitted the stereotypes of being a woman in the Arab world and recognised the challenges of being fully dependent on themselves. I conclude that due to the culture's influence, Valentine's Day has become diverse and nowadays represents an opportunity to visualise and empower women, simultaneously communicating to men that the occasion does not necessarily concern them. Above all, women use these gifting methods to manifest balance, inner peace and self-sufficiency, not

¹⁶⁶ See the next subdivision: Social media and content display.

to manifest in material things. For these women, this was not only a cultural success but a personal success too. It shows they make their own decisions to satisfy their needs when they do not sense a desired response from their significant other¹⁶⁷ or when they lack one. More importantly, since dating and non-marital relationships are frowned upon in Kuwait's society, these alternative methods would be approved by the public thus reducing criticisms during Valentine's Day. The occasion has become more about "feeling involved" than "spending special time with a romantic partner", which suggests renaming Valentine's Day in Arab societies to *Yawm Al-Hubb Al-'Alami* (yawm al-hubb al-'ālamī), "The International Day of Love", rather than *Eid Al-'ushaaq*, "the festivity of lovers".

As shown, basic principles of a gifting ritual were applied to Islamic ideology (Starrett, 1995), which generated "*halal*" concepts. Women were able to express their gifting identities through their lifestyles and individuality, which are both features of a "contemporary modern mentality", as discussed by Morgan and Pritchard (2005). Female social realities and gender roles in Kuwait have developed according to global circumstances and time changes (Strathern, 1990), including the emergence of modernisation, migration and openness to the West, as Tahani mentioned. The cinema, popular music, globalisation, education and the increasing rate of divorce and domestic violence were all powerful conveyors of female aspirations to change outdated cultural traditions (Anser 2013; Alzuabi 2016; Parekh & Wilcox 2020; Rehim, Alshamsi & Kaba 2020).

This social transformation consequently altered women's fashion and work dress codes to a more western representation (Bowen & Early, 2002). Even with Kuwait's strict governmental bureaucracy, women have become more elaborate in self-expression. Fatima recognises that women's clothing is starting to resemble European styles. Extravagant haircuts and dyes, tattoos, and piercings are also on the rise as forms of self-expression in Kuwait. Furthermore, with the introduction of social media, women have become famous makeup artists, fashion designers and media influencers in the Arab world, exposing their

¹⁶⁷ In reference to the previous section, this again shows that the "obligation" that men feel to celebrate or give gifts on Valentine's Day can be a misunderstanding or even an illusion. Female informants continue to stress that if the man does not wish to celebrate Valentine's Day, it would not jeopardize the relationship.

long-hidden talents and personalities and making a living from home. Maha admits Kuwait's individualistic character, although slowly emerging, where liberty expressions and individual preferences are being demonstrated without the influence of peer groups or kinship relations. These highlights drew politicians' attention and inspired scholars. Pappé (2005: 317) claimed, "The Middle Eastern city is thus simultaneously closer demographically to the western world than it used to be, and yet very distant politically and economically".

Nevertheless, this freedom of self-expression is subject to plenty of criticism, physically or verbally, for representing something unusual to the Islamic religion and family values. Islamic rules are claimed to be originally created to precisely control this frivolous, dangerous behaviour of women (Mernissi, 1975). Omar expressed that these signs show that people have *abused* the privilege of education in Kuwait. Instead of nation development, increased exposure to outside values caused abandonment of Arab identity and principles (Bowen & Early, 2002). The change in gender roles has developed ambiguous situations in numerous countries. For example, young female adults often find it difficult complying between traditional customs and the increasing crave for heterosexual intimacy. Therefore, women to this day are restrained with marriage and are pressured to focus on "making their own families". These pressures are generated from parents that resisted contemporary changes and were not convinced of explanations from religious exploration. Fatima finally claimed, "Arabs now prefer the foreign country to their own nation, because of social pressures, because of racism and discrimination". Clearly, there are no taboos in western countries; limits and boundaries end in the homeland. Outside, Arab Muslims are "free".

Despite significant advances, there were numerous contradictory views and conflicts as people from the rural areas, such as villages, small towns, and country sides, did not fully accept these changes. Modern Muslim legislation still separate women duties from women rights (Aixelà-Cabré, 2007b) and this cripples Arab communities as it changes cultural modes of life (Sharabi, 1988). Islamic fanatics are still incapable to acknowledge the intellectual and spiritual transformation of women (Kreil, 2016). The stereotype lingers in place; women are held to a higher standard by society, their families and themselves

(Mooro, 2019). They are expected to comply and carry out traditional "Islamic" responsibilities and roles due to deeply rooted creed, as it is believed they do not possess enough social and public skills. This indicates that in many instances, the female figure is disempowered and abused in the name of religion (Eltahawy, 2015). Many people refuse to tolerate the necessity for women contribution in the public sphere because they have different religious interpretations. They resist women empowerment, feminism, and gender equality, and are unlikely to follow a female leader in politics or society (Al-Mughni 2010; Al-Suwaihel 2010). Apparently, these social concepts are considered to represent Western countries which have "lost sight" of all restraint in values and religion (Kreil, 2016). Islamic fundamentalists therefore claim that reinforcing and educating women should have been the final step to economic modernisation, which significantly contributes to the backwardness and repression of some Islamic nations (Pappé, 2005).

The situation of women in the Middle East is widely related to their family dependence. Any familial trauma would fall upon the female since she is more in charge of domestic matters and household duties and is the initial caregiver to children (Al-Mughni, 2010). For instance, if women were to expand their social circles due to education and a career, this might lead to family neglect, as they will be unable to balance between family care and job responsibilities. This does not signify that women disapprove of their gender roles; it signifies that they can accommodate them to their liking (Oláh, Kotowska & Richter, 2018). Work can probably even trigger sinful behaviour or ideas, such as extramarital relations. However, this does not pardon male behaviour. If they refuse to carry out their traditional and Islamic roles, like taking responsibility and providing for the family, it can also bring shame to the household, but not to the extent a female can.

The overall emphasis is on the female sex because the female icon has been overlooked or minimized in many studies (Aixelà-Cabré, 2007a). Throughout the Arab world, women stories and voices have not yet been told or heard (Zoepf, 2016). Women feel they should constantly prove themselves in a society that expects little of them and their capabilities. For that reason, women who attain titles and achievements in numerous distinct fields, such as politics, architecture and business, are applauded and prided to remind Arab nations of what they are capable of. This also means that there can be plenty of talented and skilled

women but are hindered by the androcentric system and the stereotype of being the primary caregiver (Almadanat, 2018). The female position has only risen in Kuwait due to her noble contributions and competence during the war, so beliefs and practices modified over time (Shaaban 2009; Al-Mughni 2010). In search for new meanings, conventional views on women were questioned and more rights were demanded. Some "less sceptical Arab feminists" realised certain gaps or injustices within their households and responded more favourably to gender equality and solidarity (Bowen & Early, 2002).

After examining various sources, I find that antagonism towards women stems from patriarchy, tradition, conservative religious interpretations, and the concern and threat that women will be competing with men for the same public positions (Ballington & Karam 2005; Al-Mughni 2010; Eltahawy 2015). Accordingly, I reckon that these are simply psychological barriers derived from cultural stereotypes among Arab populations.

It is assumed that all women are condescended upon in the Middle East, which is an exaggeration, since this depends on the origin of the women being studied (Pappé, 2005). Women's statuses vary from one area to another, depending on the extent of which Islamic rules are being complied by (Milani, 2014). In Kuwait, women are believed to be progressing towards modernisation more rapidly than women in other Arabian Gulf States (Archibald 2011; Alzuabi 2016). This shows that every country has progressed on different levels, creating different versions of Islam. However, it is too premature to claim the presence of an established Islamic feminist movement. The Middle East is still behind especially in female political representations (Ballington & Karam, 2005). Women still face challenges in social, cultural and political domains, as well as discrimination in several situations. Above all, they remain being treated as "dependents" of men under the Kuwaiti law and as "second-class citizens" across the Middle East and North Africa, rather than individuals with equal rights and duties (Eltahawy 2015; Alzuabi 2016). There are two controversies of women in Kuwait: oppressed and free. Some females approve of their roles and understand their differences with men, so they are unlikely to opt for an equal gendered system. Women will not excel in Kuwait's society without a social awakening to overcome cultural bias and taboos, to ultimately achieve a serious turn in gender equality (Eisenstadt 2003; Destremau, Latte Abdallah & De Regt 2013).

Women empowerment and gender equality (or views of equity) are areas of interest that require further investigation in countries like Kuwait¹⁶⁸. The Middle East is a promising region to build theories, develop arguments and explore world history. In this subdivision, I hope to have underscored the differences between the "Islamic role" and the "traditional role" of women. Intriguingly, the process of transition from traditionalism to modernity in the Arab world can affect both genders. As a start, men emotionality or vulnerability should be normalised, and divorced or widowed women should be viewed as brave, inspiring and competent individuals (Alterman 2000; Tétreault 2000). The question remains whether Kuwait would prefer to improve the gendered situation or maintain tradition. With reference to several studies showing the attempts to separate state from religion, and after identifying the different practices of Valentine's Day gifting, I propose a secular Kuwait in the distant future (Munavvarov & Schneider-Deters 2003; Wu 2007; An-Na'im 2008; Al-Rawashdeh & Al-Rawashdeh 2014). The secular movement calls for the dignity and respect for the female gender, packed in a Western content. It pleads for a transformative social power that publicly legitimises the political and communal practice of women. Despite the discussed gender rights and opportunities available to women in Kuwait today, Das (2012: 91) debates the true meaning of women empowerment, "Women can be empowered only if they are given education and made aware of their rights and hence, they themselves prioritise their lives. Violence has to be completely eradicated from her life, then and only then can the dream of empowerment become a reality".

1.2 Social media and content display

Social media is a powerful tool that subconsciously influences us. There is no question that social media, or social network sites (SNSs), have impacted our lives in countless ways. It caused paradigm shifts on communication, self-expression and knowledge (Fotis, 2015). It facilitated education acquisition, developed thought, created new meanings to online and offline relationships, and influenced individualism in many cultures (Liu 2010; Miller, et al. 2016). Social media is transforming into an ever-growing foundation to everyday relationships and tasks. On the other hand, we cannot overlook the harm social media

¹⁶⁸ Just as Hoza (2019) investigated whether feminism exists in Saudi Arabia.

possesses on physical health and activity, mental health and well-being and certainly, the risk of deception, hate crime, propaganda and the spreading of fake information (Lomanowska & Guitton 2016; House of Commons 2019). This subdivision studies the influence of social media and online platforms on romantic relationships during Valentine's Day. It examines how the internet has created further motives to celebrate a gift-giving occasion. I also question whether the extent of social media exposure threatens the privacy of romantic relationships in Kuwait.

The display of personal content on social media plays a strong role in Kuwait's society. Its influence is generally significant in the Arabian Gulf (Reyaee & Ahmed, 2015). In Kuwait, social media is a decisive actor that had changed, and continues to change, society. The impact is tremendous on peoples' lives irrespective of nationality or social class¹⁶⁹. It increased awareness about understudied regions, as Lamya said, "With the internet, the world is a small place. Kuwait is getting exposed". It has brought together a multiplicity of narratives by introducing people from different tribal groups and ethnicities to each other. The internet is a powerful platform for social change (Eltahawy, 2015). Omar explained that since we can see what other people are doing in other continents, we learn about their nations' crises and natural disasters and understand their cultural norms in clothing, food, individual expression, and practices.

On an international level, the use and rise of social media have challenged discrimination and stereotypes about the Middle East. Social media therefore gave a voice for minority and underprivileged groups (Arab Digest, n.d.). It constituted a medium to broadcast and protest against political, cultural issues and fight for rights that constitute individual motivations, like gender equality (Askool 2013; Davies 2015). As a learning resource, it helped raise awareness about numerous matters in Kuwait's society, such as women rights, sexual harassment, social myths and taboos, and unjust laws. Social media has also created opportunities to launch businesses and attain jobs. Many women use these platforms to spread news, express dissimilar talents and share advice on skincare and beauty, pregnancy, motherhood, marriage, cuisine, and the like. Many Kuwaiti women have become well-

¹⁶⁹ According to Kuwait's fieldwork, social media usage was dependent on age and gender, where young female users below 35 are more active than their male counterparts.

known entrepreneurial figures, "online celebrities" or "influencers", representing distinct fields (Bria 2013; AlAjeel 2018; Altarkait 2019). Companies recognise the power of social media in marketing. They target these influencers to communicate corporate messages with the public, sending them free products and gifts to advertise to their online followers during several occasions, thereby becoming "online representatives" and "sponsors" (Duffy & Schwartz 2017; Mashino 2019). It is true that this means income depends on the continuity of social media, but it is very convenient especially for women to generate this income at home without neglecting their "duties", families, and household responsibilities. Therefore, social media played a key part in women empowerment and social mobility (Loiseau & Nowacka 2015; Abubakar 2018; Thanavathi 2018; Mądra-Sawicka, Nord, Paliszkiewicz & Lee 2020). Clearly, social media disseminates public information and is therefore a strong factor that impacts globalisation.

The introduction and then popularization of Valentine's Day in Kuwait was claimed to be prompted by media communications. The younger generation specifically is easily affected by other cultures (Radcliffe & Abuhmaid, 2020). Seba explained that Kuwaiti satellite and cinema, among other media service providers and mass media technologies, broadcast many English-based channels and Hollywood filmography (Satti, 2013), that develop awareness about other parts of the world. Commercials, programs and shows affect public awareness towards Valentine's Day. Anna claimed that Valentine's Day has been made known with the introduction of the internet and social media that showed its popularity in the United States and helped spread certain conceptions of love, mainly presenting chocolates and roses. She added, "Through increased use of smartphones, information exchange and exposure, I grasped an idea of Valentine's Day and how to celebrate it, even if the Islamic community resents the West. We people are like mammals sometimes. We follow things that we see. With the role of social media, we see people are very happy because of roses and gifts!", when they are in fact not measures of happiness.

This awareness of other country's practices brought Valentine's Day to the attention of Kuwait's locals and business franchises, bringing in its relevant products. This established the acceptance and adoption of Valentine's Day into Kuwait's norms. As Serene described, this cultural tolerance "makes for a more peaceful and enjoyable environment in Kuwait,

rather than a judgemental and divided community"¹⁷⁰. Cultural deviation was evident with globalisation, travel, ease of internet access, along with the increasing number of expatriates of different nationalities and religions entering Kuwait. Social media did not only influence education, gift exchange and celebratory practices, but has also become a reference to relationship expectations, relationship "success" and a measure that determines social status (Gunter, Elareshi & Al-Jaber 2016; Lenze 2017).

Adam believes that Valentine's Day's reputation has been degraded because of the competitive environment present in Kuwait, especially that couples always think of it in a sexual point of view. Having learnt about Valentine's Day from social media, young individuals would assume as part of ritual that the love holiday should end in sexual relations (Close & Zinkhan 2006; Close 2012), otherwise known as *zina* (*zinā*), a serious sin in Islam for the unmarried (Shahnaz Khan 2006; Dialmy 2010; Adamczyk & Hayes 2012; Akande 2015).

In general, people resort to posting online when there is a grand celebration. However, in Kuwait, a grand celebration is also a motive to show-off. On Valentine's Day, posting online valuable, expensive gifts from romantic partners is practiced to attract attention and admiration from others. This is achieved by receiving likes and comments on online posts, new ways of showing interest in someone. Seba claimed that this is very common among young female Arabs who show on social media how they are pampered with luxurious services and pricey gifts by their male counterparts to reflect a flourishing relationship and to establish their ideal self and boost their self-esteem (Cheung & Gardner, 2016). Ghada confirmed that girls use these pictures and videos to convey to others that, "My boyfriend loves me so much he got me an expensive [x]". Apparently, posting these gifts online gives others the impression that the relationship is successful because "he takes care of her". Abrar remarked that teenagers who are more influenced by social media act like "love-birds" during Valentine's Day because "they are not mature". These online love posts are

¹⁷⁰ Adam commented that Kuwaiti nationals are proud individuals who flaunt their privileges on others, discriminating other nationalities (Human Rights Watch 2001; Jureidini 2005; Janahi 2015; Kuwait Society for Human Rights 2017; AlTaher 2019; Ulla, Lee, Hassan & Nawaz 2020). He calls for social justice so Kuwait can be a welcoming and loving nation.

not admired because they are perceived as cliché or clearly fake (trying to copy western "fairy tale" love stories). This therefore offends the credibility of social life. Social media has turned youngsters into gadget freaks, attention seeking individuals (Sundaram, 2017).

The objective of this practice, as Joanna declared, is to "out-do one another with shows of affection, showing the world how extravagant you can get and induce jealousy". It is a way for women to compete with their peers by flattering themselves and bragging during events like Valentine's Day, anniversaries, and birthdays. Seba described the content of many women's social media accounts in Kuwait. They show personal moments and post what they have received from their partners, and even sometimes post a video of the entire celebration for everyone to see. Tahani further described the competitive celebrations shared on social media. It would usually be a surprise party on a yacht, or a trip to some exotic island; mostly anything that appears unique and distinct. With social media in the picture, there is a completely different audience or a "sea of followers" to impress. This practice provokes other young women and makes them desire a similar treatment from their significant others, which initiates conflicts in romantic relationships (Yacoub, Spoede, Cutting & Hawley, 2018). Affirmatively, Mauss (1925) indicated notions of rivalry and competition within gift exchanges. Grange (2020) explains that from an early age, we learn that life is a competition and that winning is a must, or at least doing better than others. This message is drilled into us by parents, peers, teachers and coaches, and on some level, many people are afraid of failure.

Adam said the reason why he should celebrate Valentine's Day is so that his girlfriend can show others what he has prepared for her or bought for her¹⁷¹. He added, "Mostly, it is a big expensive bouquet that they [women] take a picture of to show-off on social media. They are deeply influenced by social media, and movies from the West influenced their thinking". Similarly, Yousef explained that girls especially show-off expensive jewellery. He added that they would wear the piece of jewellery every day and feel special when others comment about it, remarking that her boyfriend or husband got it for her. In this sense, a prevalent gender conception indicates that men are expected to demonstrate certain

¹⁷¹ Women eager to show others what they have received on Valentine's Day again suggests the obligation towards men to give gifts and celebrate the event.

traits that prove to their partner, and everyone else who is watching, that the relationship is not mediocre. The male figure is again expected to provide for the woman and take care of her. Lindholm (2006) pointed out that romantic expectations have changed. Social media has perverted and ridiculed true representations of love. When people are pushed to post about their gifts and relationships during Valentine's Day, it creates untrue emotions of celebration and invalidates relationship sincerity. It suggests that it is better, or more convincing, to show affection by giving someone a tangible pricey item. Accordingly, a symbolic gift would otherwise harm the relationship. Philippe Chanial (2008: 19) sensed sorrow in Bourdieu's (2000) writings who claimed that despite the importance of shopping and gift-giving in our lives and culture, the gift has lost its true meaning and has formed "either an utterly interested rational strategy or an impossible ethical prowess".

Social media platforms have caused fundamental changes in how people communicate and project themselves. Women can easily shape their "ideal" relationships online and demonstrate how they are maintained by their significant others (Butler & Matook, 2015). This practice in Kuwait suggests that women feel forced to post about Valentine's Day celebrations on their social media accounts to achieve a "sense of belonging". Chukwuere and Chukwuere (2017: 9966) disclosed that "social media refines how females think, interact, communicate, and fall in love". In fact, they realise that social media has become an addiction for female students. On the other hand, Aguiton, et al. (2009) found that the more people engage in adventurous behaviour and show-off, the more likely they will be making new friends.

As shown, the amount of content or self-disclosure that is displayed on social media establishes one's identity on the internet. Social media use is especially a concern for the "smartphone generation" that engage with both local and global audiences (Griffiths, Kuss & Demetrovics 2014; Aljazzaf 2017). Rana¹⁷² blames parents who exert no effort into monitoring their children's internet use and are unwilling to place certain rules on their upbringing. Parental control over media exposure is critical considering its influence on children. They are deeply influenced by what they see, imitating the West and chasing after

¹⁷² Rana is a 31-year-old single Jordanian female, raised in Kuwait.

a materialistic lifestyle to keep up with Kuwait's social expectations. By conforming to what others are doing, it helps these youngsters to play a role in society and position themselves among their peers. Omar stated, "God knows what these children are doing or displaying behind their parents' back". In this respect, the exposure of intimate content comes to the fore with regards to social threats. In a rather conservative, collective society like Kuwait's, posting lustful online stories, pictures of romantic settings, and amorous texts on Valentine's Day are likely to be attacked and disrespected by the public and are considered distasteful to family elders. Since love relationships are concerned with private lives, some people do not wish to know about them. Furthermore, these romantic posts hurt individual integrity because it gives a wrong image to the youth about love standards, causing them to fantasise about a "perfect love" and opt for online "dating" to explore romantic relationships, which are troubling concepts in Islam outside the context of marriage (Bajnaid & Elyas 2017; Rochadiat, Tong & Novak 2017; Ali, et al. 2019).

Technology grants many communication benefits, facilitates intimacy and affection, especially in long distance relationships, and possibly even helps to encounter a significant other (Lo & Aziz 2009; Finkel, et al. 2012; De Rooij 2020). However, deception and intentionally misleading information are widespread on social media. It does not show the full picture of a person's life because everybody tends to display certain parts of it, which are usually the good, positive parts: the rich and successful (Sanchez, 2016). This creates many prejudices by the public. Followers usually believe this information and then try to apply it on their own relationships. However, showing-off gifts on social media is not the determining factor on a successful relationship. In fact, social media is sometimes an escape to cover for an unfaithful partner, therefore relationship authenticity cannot be assumed (Murray & Campbell, 2015). Stillman (2018) in her online newsletter titled "The more miserable you are, the happier your social media posts", provides disturbing examples of real individuals claiming to have displayed the opposite of their actual lives on social media. Research shows that people resort to social media when they are dissatisfied with their lives to create "fake realities" which only produce temporary pleasures because apparently, social media has no direct influence on life or relationship satisfaction (Hand, et al. 2012; Tiggemann & Anderberg 2019; Buchanan 2020;

Arikewuyo, et al. 2020). On the contrary, it is more likely to have a strong negative impact on well-being and mood (Bao, Liang & Riyanto 2019; Orben, Dienlin & Przybylski 2019; Raza, Qazi, Umer & Khan 2020). Social media, although a strong factor of individualism, has replaced face-to-face social interactions, and because the focus has become on the next content to post, it diminished physical quality time, energy, and affection for romantic partners, leading to loneliness and social fragmentation (Underwood & Findlay 2004; Miller, et al. 2016: 181; Sanchez 2016; Carrier 2018; Bouffard, Giglio & Zheng 2021).

Mounting number of studies show that the use of social media has an unfavourable impact on relationship dynamics as it blurs boundaries between online and offline relationships (Hertlein, 2012). Social media also influences our relationships with ourselves. Users start to compare themselves with peers, for example when they show off holiday photographs, making them feel inferior (Tandoc Jr., Ferruci & Duffy 2015; Miller, et al. 2016: 83, 195, 202). Because social media is a trigger to self-comparison and self-esteem, it leads to problematic obsessions and causes social anxiety (Elhai, et al. 2016; Christensen 2018; Jiang & Ngien 2020). Individuals feel curious about others' daily life, endeavours and achievements, and fear missing out (FOMO) on a social opportunity or situation, so they constantly stay connected.

Nevertheless, the jealousy-enticed strategy is still very popular. Social media is receiving a growing importance in the lives of Arab youth¹⁷³ (Radcliffe & Abuhmaid, 2020). Even with the knowledge that social media cannot represent a realistic lifestyle, young individuals feel an increased desire to share, or find something to share, online. It has given an incentive to spend more money on appearances, and further indulge in tangible commodities thus promoting a material culture. Tahani expressed that in Kuwait "success is measured by the amount of money you own, not your education or manners or behaviour". Apparently, social status and respect is determined based on the luxurious items a person owns. This reflects the level of consumerism and materialism of the country and its potential response to Valentine's Day and other cultural occasions. Therefore, this judgement also depends on what is shared on social media. Joanna explained, "It is only

¹⁷³ The fieldwork showed no association between people's education or socio-economic status when it comes to the tendency of posting online.

natural for the Kuwaiti population to feel a satisfactory inflation of their ego whenever they get to show-off what grandiose gifts they have given and received". Competing with peers on who has received "the best gift" sets a very high bar for those who are unable to keep up with Kuwait's opulent, materialistic lifestyle. Joanna realised a problem behind this, "Being part of the consumer masses sets a very high expectation for people to adhere to these made-up occasions". Criticism of Valentine's Day was widely generated from people stating to belong to the market-oriented middle class (Geiger 2007; Kreil 2016). More non-Kuwaitis have criticised the overrated, unrealistic standards of romantic gifting. Every year, new celebration and gift ideas emerge, making it more difficult to compete since not everyone has equal monetary acquisitions or privileges in Kuwait. Consequently, young individuals experience various feelings of dissatisfaction, frustration, discomfort and self-inadequacy from not being socially compatible with others in Kuwait's society. They may choose to completely withdraw from social media because they do not "fit in" (Sanchez, 2016). This can be experienced by conservative Muslims who can't celebrate Valentine's Day, or single/recently separated individuals.

Studies cannot ascertain whether social media triggers happiness or comfort (Miller, et al., 2016: 193-196), but Kuwait's fieldwork has shown that it provokes envy, jealousy, isolation, unhappiness, stress, and disappointment (Muise, Christofides & Desmarais 2009; O'Keeffe & Clarke-Pearson 2011; Utz & Beukeboom 2011; Kross, et al. 2013; Tiggemann & Slater 2013; Tandoc Jr., Ferruci & Duffy 2015). The rivalry of "displaying a utopian lifestyle and demonstrating an impossibly perfect life", as Joanna described, "may hurt the generations to come in the long run". The constant comparison and competition with others are "killing" the Kuwaiti society.

In an era of transition, social media is a privilege but it cannot only be beneficial, it can be abused. When thinking of Kuwait, Khaled describes it, "desert country, social media and trends". The momentum that makes us attached to social media through influential icons eventually leads to following certain trends in fashion or dance for example. Qassem explained this is "to portray the openness and globalised mindset and to be cool", or according to Amal, it is followed "as a showcase of so-called modernism". These trends do not enrich tradition but opposingly causes to lose local customs. Fieldwork results found

that at this rate, social media can only influence people negatively, as Omar claimed, "This internet caused a loss of morals, I could say it might have ruined the world".

Instead of manifesting in false standards of love, self-comparison, and showing-off, social media can be used to increase awareness about Kuwait and the Arabian Gulf region because until now, Maha believes it is "a very quiet country although it is diversified and modern". The general idea about Kuwait is petrol-rich and a "sheikh" theme, according to Kholoud. Seba said that foreigners are shocked when they find that English is widely spoken in Kuwait because they assume it is an ignorant society. This shows social media has not properly portrayed the region. Apart from invalidating widespread stereotypes, the social media can also be an opportunity to discuss topics and resolve plenty of issues within the Middle East. On a separate note, I can disagree that the main reason of social media during festive occasions in Kuwait is to induce jealousy among couples. Some humble individuals show their holiday photos and gifts just to stay in touch with their family or friends and to share their experiences. Furthermore, during the COVID-19 pandemic, this competitive activity would have significantly lessened considering the quarantine, lockdown and inability to purchase expensive items or celebrate extravagantly. Lastly, it was acknowledged that social media was a main factor that popularised Valentine's Day in Kuwait, but I also assume it can be used to promote opposing, hateful propaganda towards the love event.

2. Promoting the Love Occasion in Kuwait and Arabian Gulf countries

Valentine's Day has been picked specifically because it falls outside of the typical Kuwaiti Islamic culture and its relative celebrations. This section provides a better picture of the ambience of Valentine's Day in Kuwait to understand western event preparations in an Islamic society and their influence on people's habits. These preparations include decorations, commercialisation methods and advertisements, which offer an insight into the careful positioning of Valentine's Day. Many studies have concentrated on mass popular culture in western countries, it was therefore appropriate to acknowledge this culture in a country that represents a different community, ideology and beliefs. Finally, I comment on how commercialisation has become part of Kuwait's culture in supporting a ritual of shared meanings and symbolic representations, consequently concluding possible implications for the future of Kuwait. This information contributes to the understudied area of Valentine's Day celebrations in the Arabian Gulf region.

The first dedicated study on Valentine's Day was conducted in 18th century England (Holloway, 2019). The study argues that over the course of about 200 years, the occasion had been refashioned as a modern ritual. The transformation included replacing older customs, such as lotteries, with newer ones like the exchange of Valentine cards. At that moment, commercialisation of the event started thriving with the creation of homemade cards filled with passionate forms of expression for those who were unable to convey their own loving emotions (Van Dyk, 2013). Groom's study (2018) revealed a curious connection between early methods of celebration in the 1800's and traditional practices. He argued that mass print culture and literature, such as poetry and writings of William Shakespeare, have provoked the spread of celebrations, precisely Valentine's Day and Halloween. Similarly, in the United States when printing and manufacturing methods had advanced by the 1840s, Valentine's Day became a significant commercial endeavour. The gradual transition to a commercial celebration was affected by the appearance of Valentine's Day writers which demonstrated a rise in the occasion's popularity. By the end of the 1840s, the occasion was established as an immensely popular, unofficial American holiday (Weinrott, 1974: 160). This example of an emerging consumer society had evolved from folk tradition. It illustrates that commercial culture can certainly boost, challenge, and eventually reshape practices of love into a mass popular cultural phenomenon. Based on this, every era had developed its own unique traditional identity, rejuvenating or even "reinventing" social practices, which consequently contributed to early modern history.

Valentine's Day has been strongly labelled as an event-marketing strategy that had risen in the United States and Great Britain during the 19th century (Schmidt, 1993). Since then, the 14th of February has become a worldwide phenomenon for the celebration of romantic love. The marketing industry plays an intense role in (and is therefore responsible for) creating, maintaining, developing, and finally legitimizing ritual celebrations and cultural norms. Studies show that marketers exhaust their efforts into constructing these norms to

gradually shift us to the following stage in the transformation process (Cross, Harrison & Gilly, 2017). A change in lifestyle choices, values and practices determine the transformation of a certain nation. These marketing efforts usually pressurise people to succumb to a certain occasion. For example, after studying consumption and material culture, a survey in 2003 showed that the media significantly influenced Valentine's Day celebrations in India (Sahni & Shankar, 2006). Similarly, Wilk (1994) studied the link between consumption and media, rather than consumption and identity or lifestyle. The media method chosen by Wilk at the time was the television. He recognised the link between choice and impact of timing, how new commodities are introduced to be consumed depending on the time period. The television was then determined as a disruptive medium for changing present preferences into future ones. Nowadays, numerous other technological platforms and media devices have been introduced that impact our decision-making processes.

Valentine's Day has enticed merchants and advertisers to acquire a larger consumer base. Historically, the holiday primarily involved young men and women (Van Dyk, 2013), but the celebration was expanded among other age groups in Kuwait through aggressive marketing techniques. Advertising was instrumental in attracting large crowds. Seba added that the immense promotions during Valentine's Day do not only attract single people, but also the young and old who recently came out of a relationship, which does not represent the essence of the occasion¹⁷⁴. Merchants at one point also tried to include children in the holiday by creating a "juvenile Valentine's" (Schmidt, 1993: 229). Single people, older people and people who do not support or celebrate Valentine's Day are eager to know about the occasion's offers and discounts, therefore eventually accepting the presence of the western occasion. Marketers expanded the popularity of Valentine's Day by prolongating the duration of the celebration year after year (Schmidt, 1993: 227). Recently, Valentine's Day's campaigns start as early as January 2nd, soon after New Year celebrations end (Farbotko & Head 2013; Gursky 2016). Marketing strategists control the message,

¹⁷⁴ Qassem called Valentine's Day promotions and displays "little gimmicks", which he finds annoying. They neglect the feelings of separated or widowed individuals. Those people would feel unloved and left out, naturally afterwards criticising Valentine's Day due to loneliness. This again indicates the essentiality of having a romantic partner on Valentine's Day, hence its name in Arabic, *Eid Al-'ushaaq*, "the festivity of lovers".

location, and timing. Roses and chocolates are noticed more often and people's reactions towards these items rise in positivity and love association (Zajonc 1980; Zayas, Pandey & Tabak 2017). This is called customer attention which is usually achieved by means of product exposure and eye-tracking, therefore triggering customer preferences and sales. Accordingly, customer attention is captured in Kuwait when a "hype" is followed or a product is increasingly purchased, signifying the success of advertising (Otnes & Scott 1996; Florack, Egger & Hübner 2020).

The informants from the youth and young adult group highlighted the increased giveaways, discounts and offers in shops, restaurants, spas, and hotels during Christmas and Valentine's Day. The same is done during Islamic occasions like Ramadan and *Eid*. On the other hand, businesses also use these occasions to increase product prices. Flower shops precisely earn a sizable component. On Mother's Day and Valentine's Day for example, flowers cost triple their usual value in Kuwait. Strangely, there are two extremes on Valentine's Day with regards to pricing strategies; raising the cost of flowers and chocolates, meanwhile reducing prices in retail outlets and service-based businesses, all for the same purpose, to promote and welcome the event. Despite the various Kuwaiti and Islamic celebrations, businesses feel inclined to be involved in other commercial occasions to practice their PR and generate (more) money. Berkani (2013), who had studied Valentine's Day across the Arabian Gulf, wrote in her online report that "gift deals and advertisements from local restaurants make it hard to ignore the increasing popularity of the holiday". As shown, Valentine's Day awareness has spread to neighbouring "conservative" countries as well.

Although Saudi Arabia's Valentine's Day ban in 2008 greatly influenced Kuwait's practices to adhere and follow accordingly, risking the businesses and jobs of many people (Garcia, 2011: 2), the decree refused to execute it. Nevertheless, Valentine's Day is discreetly celebrated in Kuwait, as Omar expressed, "people try not to emphasize it". Siddiqui's study (2016) similarly showed that Valentine's Day celebrations in India occur discreetly, and some media intend to cover it. In Kuwait's case, it is controlled to avoid "ill-disciplined" behaviour that does not coincide with the Islamic religion. This establishes that despite the obvious commercialisation and popularity of the event, Valentine's Day in

Kuwait remains very subtle compared to other countries in the Middle East, like Egypt or Jordan for example, as Bashar, Seba and Qassem stated. It is because of religion that Valentine's Day is believed to be "more daring" in the West. Garcia (2011: 2) contrarily claims that decorations and celebrations during Valentine's Day in Kuwait are "just as extensive as western countries". Aseel lived in Canada for several years before moving to Australia; she claimed that "It [Valentine's Day] is the same thing". This shows the gradual resemblance between gifting occasions in Arab societies and western ones.

In 2018, Saudi Arabia lifted the ban, arguing that Valentine's Day can represent occasions like Mother's Day (Al Arabiya English newspaper 2018; Dorsey 2018). As a consequence, a significant shift was noticed in Kuwait's markets. The media, shops, and vendors showed special interest in the love event and promoted it further, especially after Saudi Arabia, the "reference" to Islamic tradition for many Muslims, has allowed it. This normalised Valentine's Day marketing campaigns. Suddenly, Islamic opposition to Valentine's Day regarding nonmarital sin among romantic couples was not in question and it no longer represented an "alien" practice (Garcia, 2011: 2). Instead, the newly recognised holiday was excitingly praised (Schmidt, 1993: 214), stating that a love culture is needed and is not Islamically forbidden. This raised serious disapproving arguments, especially about it resembling Mother's Day. Adam unravelled the situation, "Saudi Arabia allowed a lot of things to happen at once, and an oppressed society like this one with this sudden freedom is a negative change". This started the transformation towards a "liberal" economy. Now, promotions in Kuwait do not differ from those of any other occasion, Islamic or non-Islamic. Valentine's Day, an established marketed holiday, became "one of three greatest gift-shopping days of the current era" (Van Dyk, 2013: 1), alongside Ramadan. On a similar note, Anna stated, "It [Valentine's Day] is like Christmas. There are many expectations to be happy". In my opinion, it is unusual to compare a social cultural event like Valentine's Day to a very collective religious holiday like Christmas, but this shows the similarities in global event publicity.

With Kuwait's wealth and accessibility to foreign production, Valentine's Day has become a progressively successful occasion for the welfare of the economy and market (Geiger 2007: 83; Van Dyk 2013). Commercial occasions are just like tourism, while they represent distinct industries, both are tools to jumpstart the economy.

Economic growth was predictable in a consumer culture that advertises consumer rituals. The love event in Kuwait starts before the 14th of February and lasts longer because restaurants, stores, offices and brands promote Valentine's Day by throwing parties, exchanging gifts and providing discounts. Numerous venues also hold special events. Merchants and marketers engage in the distortion and commodification of romantic love and "dramatize" the holiday products as items of allure, romance, fantasy and magic that will be viewed valuable to consumers to ultimately increase their profits (Schmidt 1993: 224; Rogers 2006). In Kuwait, vendors research Valentine's Day celebrations in other parts of the world to "copy" some rituals, gifts, and decoration ideas. For example, the Beauty and the Beast rose was a magnificent hit when it reached the Kuwaiti market a few years ago. The rose that allegedly never dies was expensively sold in a golden plated glass dome. It was viewed as a worthy Valentine gift for females. Valentine merchandise is therefore "familiar", in which De Koning (2009) describes as successful in mastering globally dominant cultural codes. The production of affordable Chinese products, like teddy bears and stuffed hearts, have spread to many residential neighbourhoods in Kuwait. The extensive popularity of Valentine's Day and its mass-produced commodities fit excellently into the definitions of popular culture, as presented by Storey (1993). Furthermore, many inscriptions on Valentine products are in English, which shows the strong connection between the celebration of the event and access to "cosmopolitan capital". In this sense, Mahmoud light-heartedly remarked, "We are just a Chinese copy of the celebration of the original American Valentine's Day". Van Dyk (2013: 2) concludes, "Valentine's Day can be classified as popular culture due to its status as an unofficial holiday in which many people participate, primarily due to the popularity of commercial items being representative 'of the people' and made 'by the people'".

More iconically, one cannot fail to realise the countless red flowers, balloons, hearts and boxes of chocolate that are put together for this day. Bashar specifically stressed the red heart as a symbol of Valentine's Day. These symbols mostly interest young individuals. Fatima disclosed that an absurd event full of hearts and decorations of Cupid arrows does not suit her age as she "grew old for these silly things". She prefers simple, classical gifts, like music, poetry, books, and glass items, something that is not "stained" with the media's excessive advertising. The fascination with classical objects reveals emotional ties to the past. These examples embody a pure gift, something coming from the heart, as depicted by Mauss (1925). Jewellery stores also offer heart-shaped necklaces, bracelet charms or earrings. They also customize jewellery by writing the person's partner's name on a golden ring for example. Another idea that flourished in the jewellery business not so long ago was to record the voice of a significant other saying something like "I love you" then taking that voice frequency and designing it on a golden necklace to be worn by the woman¹⁷⁵. This creativity reveals the importance of gold and jewellery gifts in Kuwait.

As Valentine's Day approaches, the red colour instantly stands out in Kuwait's shopping malls, hypermarkets and coffee shops, and many people wear the colour as a sign of celebration. Some shops start decorating in red, stocking their shelves with red products or wrapping their products in red. These shop displays come with music, colourful sights, lights and visual attractions, triggering consumers into buying, or at least window shopping. "Everywhere you go you would see, "For you and your loved one!"", as Qassem claimed. People become constantly reminded that they must take part in the event by purchasing gifts and getting together with loved ones (Mortelmans & Damen, 2001). Constant visual reminders represent societal pressures (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994). They urge people to buy by targeting their emotions, deceiving them, which evidently signifies that marketing psychology plays a significant role in our decision-making processes.

Sales of advertised products remain on the rise in Kuwait. The government has ensured jobs that nourish highly skilled human capital to achieve those sales (Belbagi, 2015: 4). Rashed said that salesmen sometimes work double shifts on such big occasions, some work till after midnight to fulfil customers' needs. This shows that although Valentine's Day was designed to encourage love and strengthen romantic bonds (Morse & Neuberg, 2004), consumption is dominant in Kuwait, thanks to commercialisation and the media. In the

¹⁷⁵ Islam prohibits men to wear gold and diamond, but not silver (Al-Qaradawi, 1999: 79-80).

evening, Kuwait's streets are over-crowded with traffic and restaurants are packed with people, Aseel stated, "you are unable to dine without a prior reservation"¹⁷⁶.

According to the fieldwork, Valentine's Day is another *invented* corporate occasion and a high budget is annually exhausted on its commercialisation in Kuwait¹⁷⁷. It is normal, Tahani argued Arab countries in general tend to exaggerate these celebratory occasions, including weddings and dowry payments¹⁷⁸. In her opinion, it is an irresponsible spending of money. Maha claimed that misspending money to benefit multinational companies is an indecent manipulation of those who are in love. Valentine's Day in Kuwait is widely viewed as following a trend or copying other cultures' practices that set standards on how love should be demonstrated. The adherence to these "repetitive mass events" are disliked and impersonal for Mahmoud and Medhat. Joanna expressed that events like Valentine's Day "suck consumers into the hype", a smart marketing strategy to get people to spend their money. Apparently, for these informants, brand creativity and promotions are not always anticipated during Valentine's Day; the more people are pushed to buy, the less they want to be part of the occasion, which contradict the findings of Otnes, Ruth and Milbourne (1994) and Othman, Ong and Teng (2005)¹⁷⁹.

The concept of romance has been reshaped by excessive commercialisation on Valentine gifts. Instead of declaring amorous sentiments and sharing memories, Valentine's Day has become "commodified", encouraging material culture and setting abstract relationship standards. AG reporter (2013) declared in an online statement that, "Valentine's Day consumerism has reached such staggering proportions that it makes you wonder if love has succumbed to the most fickle of emotions". Valentine's Day reconceptualization have

¹⁷⁶ Al-Fuzai and Fattahova (2014) developed a newspaper column raising awareness about Valentine's Day and suggesting more ways to celebrate in Kuwait.

¹⁷⁷ Concrete data regarding the financial amount spent individually in Kuwait, or collectively in the Arabian Gulf was not studied, which introduces a subsequent research area.

¹⁷⁸ This is further discussed in: Dating and Romantic Relationships: Gender roles and gift expectations in an Arab Islamic country.

¹⁷⁹ Results of these studies revealed that people are more willing to purchase romantic gifts due to the success of some commercial advertisements during Valentine's Day. Whereas my fieldwork showed that the business-tainted event is pressurizing and manipulative to an extent that people deliberately do not take part in it. They acknowledge that Valentine's Day is becoming a programmed technique amidst capitalism.

therefore produced a materialistic consumer-driven culture in Kuwait, successfully redesigning a historical ritual into a market-oriented celebration.

Some defend love modernism, while loudly oppose Western models. Albeit the successful commercial advertisements, there were still negative views towards Valentine's Day propaganda. Apparently, so much money is consumed on an event that does not "trace back" to Kuwaiti traditions. Before Valentine's Day became a popular occasion, Kuwait annually celebrated *Hala Febrayer* (hala fibrāyir: Arabic for "Hello February"), which is also a period of increased sales and promotional offers during February. This shows an obvious adoption of material culture, that businesses take advantage of any occasion to boost their profits.

Other occasions that are widely popular are Christmas, Halloween, Black Friday, Mother's Day and Father's Day. More recent gifting events in Kuwait that are also implied by the West include Secret Santa, baby/bridal showers, gender reveals, and bachelor or bachelorette parties. Qassem declared that this change in conventional practices does not necessarily signify a cultural or religious transformation, but simply a result of globalisation and advanced technology, and this alone indicates Kuwait's fast-developing culture. The luxury of internet and media access have made the younger generation easily influenced by other cultures. Globalisation therefore has a hand in Kuwait's transition period and promotion of western notions. It has affected heritage discourses and practices and the diffusion of new ideas (Vesajoki 2002; Al-Nakib 2020). Al-Ghanim (2015: 6) called this the "modernisation phase" in the Arabian Gulf. Contemporary debates on globalisation argue on its positive, dynamic effects and qualities (Wang 2007; Kashima 2014). For example, it has reconstructed masculine bias, addressed gender equality and reinforced awareness of diversity of national culture and identity (Benería, Floro, Grown & MacDonald 2000; Kolářová 2006; Metcalfe & Rees 2010; Budianta, Budiman, Kusno & Moriyama 2018). As an international event, Valentine's Day has become an esteemed sign of modernity and urban belonging; therefore, participating in the event gives people a sense of purpose in society. In Bader's opinion, "[Valentine's Day is] getting closer and closer to be a global phenomenon to unite the world in a single day, which is good, disregard politics, religion, society etc.". It makes the Kuwaiti society relatable to other

cultures, thereby establishing a "closeness" with other people from different regions. However, these views are widely disputed since globalisation also consists of negative outcomes, for example it undermines national identity and increases cosmopolitanism (Shah 2004; Ariely 2019).

Following Kuwait's liberation in 1991, the nation attracted considerable political attention and business affairs. This induced the establishment of several international schools (American, British, French, Indian, and Pakistani institutions that follow diverse curricula), which play a vital role in the social structure of Kuwait. Some schools implement certain skills and concepts that others do not, such as a desegregation system and participation in western celebratory events, like prom and homecoming. Seba disclosed that many students now study western lifestyle and background. Apart from studies on the Arabian Peninsula, schools in Kuwait also teach European and Western history. Seba explained that although some may think that it is pointless to learn about the scandal of Wallstreet for example, she finds it essential to learn about other countries and world facts, "People who do not know world history would have no future", she affirmed. Other informants like Adam, Lamya and Sahar agreed that gaining cultural knowledge makes a nation more developed and tolerant to external norms¹⁸⁰.

Even when diverse schooling systems and curricula represent components to Kuwait's development as a nation, the fieldwork revealed that many parents and elders blame these systems for their westernized and somewhat secular methods, consequently passing certain unfamiliar values down to their children. Many social media hashtags, challenges, among other movements are followed by the youth and parents link this to a faulty upbringing and education system. Seba argued that parents cannot enrol their children in foreign (non-Arab schools) and worry about losing their mother tongue or Arab identity. She added, "Some parents force their kids to speak in Arabic at home and leave their foreign personalities in school". This is critical since the Arabic language is inextricably associated with Islam

¹⁸⁰ In contrast, Gobert (2014) found in respect to education in the United Arab Emirates, that students are more interested in reading indigenous literature. Learning about one's own culture apparently fosters a sense of belonging and identity. On the other hand, English language learners are faced two conflicting choices, modernizing (learning English) or perpetuating their local culture and traditions.

because it is the language of the Quran (Mall 2001; Wekke 2018). The English language particularly constitutes an important part of Valentine's Day opposition, with slogans like, "Sorry Valentine's Day, I am Muslim" (Kreil, 2016: 141). In the future, the occasion poses a threat for Arab Islamic culture. Parents like Medhat, Amal and Omar were concerned that their children are more aware about Valentine's Day's than the approach of Ramadan or *Eid*. Ramadan (2009a) recognises an identity crisis due to globalisation. Preferring a unified type of practice sometimes leads to detaching from own culture. Raikhan, Moldakhmet, Ryskeldy and Alua (2014) found that young individuals specifically no longer take an interest to own culture, a result also realised from Kuwait's fieldwork¹⁸¹.

From this information, I determine that Valentine's Day's target market is the youth, whose age ranges from the teenage years to the early twenties. Seba argued, "Why do we stay up to celebrate New Year's Day, while we sleep on the Hijri New Year?". The youth transformation in Kuwait, as addressed by Alnaser (2018), proposes that due to globalisation, the media and an increased exposure to western practices, it is now common to adopt foreign celebratory ideas and see a Christmas tree in Muslim homes for example. Based on the fieldwork, these practices, or "copying foreigners", were repeatedly linked to being "modern", "civilised" and "developed" people. Abrar argued that these concepts of modernity are widely misinterpreted. On the contrary, for her, these practices reflect a lack of awareness. Despite Kuwait's noticeable growth since the late 20th century, there are still many gaps that hinder its success and development, which are measured by productivity; what was achieved, not what is practiced. In other words, the concept of "modernity" includes much more than incorporating western festivities. She spoke about the lack of achievements or "signs of modernity" in Kuwait. Innovation in transport systems, communication methods, industrial and agricultural processes, and work structures, not to mention basic human rights policies, are absent in Kuwait. She mentioned the poor infrastructure and the declining economy, and finally remarked, "the only thing that is still doing well is petrol". Clearly, outcomes of a "modern" society include an enhanced,

¹⁸¹ This was also the case in India. During the late 20th century, India's liberalised economy has popularized Valentine's Day especially targeting the urban youth. Exchanging cards and gifts as means to express feelings of love and affection, with an evident display of red decorations and roses, have made this festivity a predictable routine. Even academic campuses were decorated for the event, with red hearts painted on walls and red roses brightening up many offices (Patel, 2014).

dignified life and better social stability; however, it does not always mean that it is a positive change, or that it lacks drawbacks.

Modernisation carries traditional tensions and hostility when implementing western components into a non-western country, according to Naofusa (1983). Trying to assimilate new concepts to an existing culture developed Islamic challenges and arguments, both in the West and the Middle East (Klausen, 2012). Before a transformation happens, the reaction of the citizens must be considered, especially of those who are greatly attached to tradition and ancient practices. Hirai Naofusa in 1983's symposium argued in favour of coexistence, "Our lives have become much more affluent, convenient and comfortable than ever before... (but) how can all nations establish coexistence and coprosperity? We should tackle these problems... beyond ethnic and national backgrounds. Traditional cultures need neither to reject modernisation nor to be absorbed in the streams of modernisation. These two must harmonize and complement each other". Likewise, regarding the case of education in Kuwait and leaving "foreign personalities" in school as Seba pointed out, Musah (2011) proposes that balancing between collectivism and individualism can be simultaneously achieved by innovation and accountability.

Evidently, the influence of the West on the Middle East was endogenous to Kuwait's society and Islamic culture. A social transformation towards a democratised society and Islam (Fierro, 1997: 90), which was especially recognised in the Arabian Gulf after the British withdrawal in 1961 (decolonisation), gradually abolished ideologies of "medieval fanatics" who promoted political Islamic fundamentalism, repression, and terrorism (Esposito & Piscatori 1991; Kepel 2002; Ruthven 2004; Hunter & Malik 2005; Voll 2006; Ettmueller 2006; Peterson 2016; Islam & Islam 2017). I here argue that tolerance for other lifestyles is determined according to each country's culture, history and colonial impacts.

During the 19th and 20th century, European imperialism in Asia and the entry of Europeans in the Arabian Gulf, alongside increased religious exploration, caused a cultural revolution that altered ideas regarding Arab and Islamic practices today. Diverse opinions and lifestyles are witnessed within the region and many Islamic traditions are influenced by the globalised world. Global migration trends (Shah, 2004), and the inevitable ethnic and racial

diversity that followed in Kuwait's case, influenced changes including the restoration of citizenship policies, the establishment of international schools, the adoption of foreign cultural practices and the practical withdrawal of sex segregation in social events, schools and organisations, thereby prompting gender equality discourses (Aleinikoff & Klusmeyer, 2000).

Islamic studies therefore incorporate decolonial theories and debate the uncertain character of the contemporary Middle East. Its issues are discussed in terms of orientalism, Marxism, and postmodern, postcolonial perspectives (Abu-Lughod 1989; Pappé 2005; Bhambra 2014; Wilcox 2018; Tayob 2018; Sparkes 2020; González Alcantud 2021). These studies radically argue that Islam is not one phenomenon but many. In every country, or even every household, Islam is practiced differently. It suggests that Muslims treat their religion and beliefs based on their respective cultures, with varying restrictions and degrees of openness towards western traditions¹⁸². Every era dictates certain traditional practices and social commitments. Manar¹⁸³ linked this to the "influences of evolution", reasoning why it is difficult to pinpoint Islamic dogmas from cultural codes.

The fieldwork shows that there is not just one version of being Muslim or Arab: it is a whole spectrum. There are over fifty Muslim states¹⁸⁴ and there is no single body, political or religious, that speaks for the Muslim world. In fact, Mackintosh-Smith (2019) claims that the Arab world has not been politically unified since the 7th century, and according to Halliday (2003), the only common foundation found in the Middle East is the historical suffrage it experienced during the colonial epoch. Modernity shifts and changes, some nations adapt, others are slower to change. To reach a definite conclusion is difficult since every country is formed with distinct political patterns. It would be erroneous to identify Islam as one religious body, just as it is impossible to identify one African or Asian body for example. This would raise criticism based on prejudice, as Ramadan (2009a) declared.

¹⁸² For example, older age groups from the fieldwork were found to strongly abide by Islamic principles.

¹⁸³ Manar is a 51-year-old married Jordanian female, born and raised in Kuwait.

¹⁸⁴ As per PEW Research Center (2011) and World Population Review (2021).

I therefore ultimately debate the notion of "No Clear Islam", or in better words, "The Dissimilar Islam" across the Middle Eastern-North African region.

A shift in lifestyle practices is much more complex in Kuwait. Indulging in commercial exchanges, spending money and benefitting companies were argued to encourage a spendthrift society, which oppose Islamic instruction (Metwally, 1997). The anticonsumerist argument insists on the celebration's product exploitation and useless expenses to express lavishness (Close & Zinkhan, 2009). Latifa¹⁸⁵ for instance views these commercialised promotions on products as scam or fraud¹⁸⁶ because they manipulate the public. Evading Valentine's Day commodities relates to moral avoidance which, as described by Lee, Motion and Conroy (2009), occurs when the buyer believes that the brand or product would deliver a negative impact on society because it contradicts with their principles or ideologies. This has happened in India. Valentine's Day provoked hostile reactions because of rapid changes to traditions, specifically impacting the arrangedmarriage system (Patel, 2014). There were two fanatic groups fighting contra Valentine's Day. One group claimed that this occasion is just an undesirable western effect of neoimperialism supporting commercialisation and targeting the Indian middle class. The other group was convinced that Valentine's Day is a conspiracy theory brought by the West, resulting in "cultural pollution", defaming the traditional Indian identity and culture. Some card and gift shops got destroyed, and young couples were attacked by Hindu and Islamic extremists, who are usually more physical in their protests.

For now, development of civic life has not matched with economic growth in Kuwait. Conservative families seem to remain unaffected by Kuwait's cultural transformation and have resisted this Islamically controversial change, especially parents and elders. Consequently, many young informants like Seba feel hesitant to take part in Valentine's Day because they seek validation from society or their family. Because the Kuwaiti

¹⁸⁵ Latifa is a 62-year-old married Kuwaiti female.

¹⁸⁶ Scam or fraud is "an act of deception or misrepresentation that violates ethical standards" (Chop & Silva, 1991: 166). Additionally, fraud involves "the breach of good faith and fair dealing ... for money; an intentional deception made for personal gain or to damage another individual" (Gupta, 2013: 144). According to these definitions, celebrating Valentine's Day is a misrepresentation of Kuwait's traditional practices and standards, and because it involves over-consumption and purchase, it causes people to misspend their money, which determines an unethical behaviour.

community still functions as a group; youngsters follow collective family practices rather than individual choices. Parental pressure and expectations on specific matters, such as marriage and reproduction, are still important and stressed, although this is noticeably changing through increased religious exploration and reinterpretation of religious scriptures (Ahmad, 2011). It is a concern, however, whether Kuwait's "moral avoidance" would reach to India's extremism in the future since the fieldwork identified a strong desire to stick to traditions and marketize Islamic holidays (Armbrust, 2002). On the other hand, I also put forward the theory of conservatism. While many families put an emphasis on traditions to maintain an Arab Islamic society and protect heritage, some aspects of liberalism are demonstrated outside that society, for example owning houses in Paris or London to enjoy a different, western lifestyle.

Another motive to moral avoidance in Kuwait would be to show unusual consumption behaviour (gift resistance) and not conform to majority views therefore avoiding Valentine's Day. As per psychologists, this is known as the "need for uniqueness" (Schumpe & Erb, 2015). In Ghada's opinion, there are other occasions more worthy of exchanging gifts, such as birthdays and anniversaries. Extended theories that explain these behaviours involve individualism and the use of other means that substitute consumption, such as offering experiences or reinforcing personal meetups.

Evidently, the fieldwork revealed that feelings during Valentine's Day commercial period do not only include excitement and happiness, but also defeat and loneliness. There was an overwhelming love-hate relationship towards the marketing campaigns in Kuwait. Senior informants for example spoke more about materialism and the commercial aspect of Valentine's Day. There were less responses about love and more about consumerism, mass consumption, and the wasteful spending of money (Darr, 2017). In fact, answers involving consumerism were repeated more often than those involving religion or tradition. Repeated ideas included "following blindly" something that does not represent original traditions and the youth conforming with the occasion. Understandably, it would be difficult for Kuwait to draw back from celebrating Valentine's Day and the benefits that come with this commercial occasion. However, as many informants emphasized, there should be an equal focus on encouraging Kuwaiti traditions to enrich its culture. To do that, there must be a balance in promotions with regards to time preparation period, types of offers and their duration in the market. In the meantime, it is expected that Kuwait will continue to celebrate love discreetly, whilst encouraging responsible consumption and minimising "exaggerated" commercialisation.

The fieldwork determined that this "fad" attraction depends on age, where younger individuals prefer to take part, and even more if they are single. Valentine's Day does not only signify making plans to spend the day with a loved one, but also buying products and services during the promotional period. In other words, people participate in Valentine's Day as a response to a commercial holiday rather than a love occasion (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994). Valentine's Day is therefore popularised through mediatization, a concept put forward by Hernàndez i Martí (2006). Despite this, promoting western occasions in a conservative Islamic society is a perilous game. Kuwait could be at risk from ultraconservative Muslims who seek to return the country back to its prior conventional state using hostility and violence, which has occurred in several Islamic societies in the past (Shirazi, 2019).

3. The Quran and Islamic Religion: 'Aib and Ostentation

As implied in this chapter, there seems to be a conflict between what is practiced in Islamic countries and what the Islamic religion dictates and commands. Many societal views, standards and customs are confused with the Islamic religion (Fierro, 1997: 88), bearing in mind that something which is *haram* (harām) is different than *'aib* ('ayb). *Haram* coincides religious beliefs and means forbidden, while *'aib* means socially inappropriate, disrespectful or shameful (Al Jallad, 2010). Jaffe, et al. (2014: 12) finds that "shame societies" include Arabs. Arabs are cautious about what others think of them; hence they concentrate on appearances and a demonstration of a "successful dignified" life¹⁸⁷. For example, it is not *haram* to speak of love and show affection, but it is considered *'aib* as one must convey modesty even in their discourses and behaviour. A better example with regards to Valentine's Day, while it is not *haram* to date, it is however *'aib* to declare

¹⁸⁷ As implied by the fieldwork, many parents pre-set their children's future, enforcing education and careers in engineering, medicine, or law, while emphasizing close tie-ins to religion, a social proof of a "blessed Muslim".

having relationships outside of matrimony (having a boyfriend or girlfriend). In that sense, depending on each's beliefs, some Muslims are more sceptical than others and may consider Valentine's Day as *haram*, while others may simply view it as *'aib*.

In addition, ideas raised about many topics concerning women remain undiscussed including divorce, sexual intercourse, breastfeeding, childbirth, and menstruation. These topics are still largely taboo in Arab societies because they have also been distorted and misinterpreted by culture. Controversially, these topics are all openly discussed in the Quran and in Islam, however silenced and shamed in society. Religion is very pervasive, but common confusion tends to stem from social criticisms that cannot level with contemporary cultural practices and the essence of Islam (Kluijver, 2013: 27). Tahani defends this by saying, "Our religion is beautiful, but our Arab society has given it the ugliest image". Other fixed concepts in life such as marriage, reproduction and dress code are also commonly non-negotiable with parents or family elders (Ali, 2006). Also, much of women oppression and "religious extremism", such as child marriages, virginity testing and honour killings that are exercised in several Muslim communities, are largely performed to avoid 'aib, or social humiliation, but are claimed to be performed "in the name of Islam" (Abu-Odeh 2010; Paulusson 2013; Alsaidi 2015; Eltahawy 2015; Sadath 2019; Chen 2020). Even when religious decrees have been issued against these concepts, they do not seem to take effect on limiting or stopping their practice in Arab and Islamic countries. Evidently, the Quran repeatedly mentions that neither religious preachers nor philosophers nor law makers base their opinions on knowledge, but on mere guesswork and conjectures (Surat Yunus, 10: 36, 59). Consequently, people follow their forefathers and religious or worldly leaders on the "inherited" assumption that they were great people, therefore they must be right, and the tradition continues for generations to come. These ideas and social standards about haram and 'aib are also intentionally delivered by schooling systems and television programs to further spread a "conservative" culture.

Firstly, regarding schooling systems, Joanna stated that her conservative views have been significantly shaped by the Kuwaiti government's-imposed teaching curriculums. She added, "I also attribute this to my own conservative parents' upbringing of myself and my siblings. Kuwait's culture has definitely affected my personality in that I am not as social

as I would like to be, and my habits and practices are docile in comparison with people who grew up elsewhere". Bashar also mentioned the education system. In Saudi Arabia and Kuwait for example, Islam is obligated to be taught in schools to Muslims, forming a rather early conservative culture among the youth, whilst other Arab governments are lenient to such educational material, creating secular thought freed from religion (Kilani, 2011). This determines that children of immigrants, or third culture kids, are influenced by Kuwait's culture, and, during adulthood, they realise differences among their peers or cousins who have grown up elsewhere. This certainly questions individual attributes, whether they truly form a person's personality or they have been acquired from external factors, such as their upbringing, social circles, or government's bureaucracy. Accordingly, attributes that have been acquired from a person's surroundings would change if they had lived in different environments.

Secondly, the fieldwork seems to corroborate that influential groups and elites control national Kuwaiti television and media due to "political interest and power", as agreed by Ghada, Faisal and Latifa¹⁸⁸. A religiously conservative image is portrayed to emphasize strong cultural ethics and "preserve what is left of tradition", as Adam claimed. Western dominance in television and songs created a threat to the Muslim community, especially when they were viewed as a self-deceptive invention. Western styles were also fused in music, fashion, and philosophy (Eid & Karim, 2014). In Iran for example, Sreberny-Mohammadi (1990) explained that revolutionaries who once acknowledged the television as a threat were now creating their own subjectivities and trusting its content "as if it were the Holy Quran itself", as described by Pappé (2005: 322). Therefore, transmitting a sense of Islamic belonging and stability controls society by preventing people from becoming too individualistic, according to Sana and Amina. This demonstrates the regime's resistance to change the conventional depiction of the Arabian Gulf region.

In Kuwait, the government imposes censorship on television, cinema, the internet and educational material. This is to make sure that the information transmitted and published is acceptable for the Arab Islamic image. For example, graphic sexual material or

¹⁸⁸ Along the same lines, religion has been distorted due to the egregious conduct of self-proclaimed groups like the Islamic State or ISIS in aims to attain their updated Caliphate prophesies (Mason, 2017).

pornographic websites are banned, and intimate scenes are cut out from cinema and television filmography. Movies that involve ideas about God or religion are also banned to be broadcasted. Some textbook data has also been tempered with and censored in schools, for example content about politics, Israel, nudism, or phrases that disrespect religion is redacted. This is done to ensure the political security of the country and for the preservation of future generations by suppressing sinful behaviour or ideas that conflict Islamic tradition. Historically in the Middle East, several libraries were destructed and books were banned to be sold or even burnt for similar reasons (Fierro, 2014). Eickelman (2000) argued that governments can no longer control what their people know and how they think. Serene linked this to hypocrisy, arguing that the media does not acknowledge the openness and change of many religious conservative values and views, and thus this does not display Kuwait's true lifestyle. With other sources of media communications and online streaming, viewers become confused as they struggle to differentiate between western social values and true local ideology and culture (Sardar, 1988). There are mixed feelings and contradictory ideas that oppose the West, but at the same time the desire to imitate or follow western achievements is still present (Bowen & Early, 2002).

As shown, much of Arab tradition is somehow enforced by media systems and educational curricula, which may contain falsified or biased content and misinterpreted or forged Islamic scripts and Prophetic sayings (Fierro, 1997: 82, 85). The main emphasis often lies on humility and modesty as key characteristics. Since the media and television generally do not announce the event's celebrations, and after having established that couples discreetly celebrate Valentine's Day in Kuwait, other regions may consequently perceive it as an oppressed, backward society. A country cannot be judged based on what it displays on their media, an explanation to the many misconceptions about the Arab Muslim world. Fatima explained that the government of Kuwait is interested to reflect the old time Kuwaiti folklore and the image of how "religion" was practiced: "a shy woman with traditional clothing". She added, "When you show the desert, the camel, the buying and selling from the floor, it gives an image for the entire world that this is Kuwaiti culture, not the modern reality that we have: the most expensive, newest cars, technology, infrastructure". This reflects the lack of awareness about Middle Eastern practices, it can explain why

Valentine's Day is an understudied occasion in the region. Rashed elaborated that apparently the world believes there is a chance that people in Kuwait still ride on camels and live in tents. This also generates wrong perceptions about Muslim Arabs, associating them with pejorative stereotypes and attributes about their character and upbringing.

With religious exploration, Muslims "reconstructed" religion, community, and society throughout the years, in aims of distinguishing the *haram* from *'aib*, in other words, they were able to differentiate between the new and the traditional. Islam has been objectified in the consciousness of many people in the Arabian Peninsula through mass education, mass communication, technologies, access to new media and ease of travel. This constitutes "Islam in the Modern Era" or "a new era of post-Islamism" as studied by Eickelman (1992; 2001: 193-194). Developments in many Middle Eastern societies suggest a period of profound social transformation. Initially, there was a lot of resistance towards the implementation of foreign cultural activities. However, this awareness defined alternatives to dominant ideologies. Joanna reflected on Kuwait's substantial social and economic growth when the population have come to terms with the necessity to accept foreign ideas and embrace other practices.

In fact, studies show rapidly emerging levels of literacy in the Arabian Peninsula (Eickelman, 2001). Language, music, poetry, film and humour are strong features in Arab communities, playing a larger role than that in Asian or African communities. Therefore, a nation labelled as "oppressed" generates distorted judgements, leading to racism, discrimination, and prejudice towards others. Acknowledging that the Middle East and North African (MENA) region does not have one concrete Islamic constitutional entity, academic and journalistic investigations reveal that the proper way to be familiar with the region is by analysing and studying "Islam" (Eickelman 2002b; Madsen & Strong 2003; Sweet, et al. 2008; Masud 2009; Abusharaf & Eickelman 2015). There needs to be an understanding of distinct histories, ethics, and politics before an analogy between Middle Eastern countries is made, or more specifically Islamic countries.

Besides schooling systems and the media, there were other factors generated from the fieldwork that interpret a dissimilar Islam in the Middle East. First, it is worth noting that

Kuwait is still in its early stages of growth and development, only founded in the 1940s, as Joanna explained, while other Arab nations like Egypt or Lebanon for example have had thousands of years of civilisation and history. The western influence and colonialism were also introduced at a much earlier stage than in Arabian Gulf countries. Secondly, immigration and transnationalism impacted the dynamics of social religious transformation within the Muslim diasporic space (Habti, 2014). The population of Kuwait and Saudi Arabia for example are predominantly Muslim, unlike Egypt or Lebanon where a large percentage of nationals are non-Muslim. Rana argued that different religions existing in one country influence its Islamic legislation, where the government accepts or rejects many concepts, thereby shaping individual lifestyle and thought. Clearly, the geographical proximity Kuwait has with other countries like Iran and Saudi Arabia also suggest strong Islamic ties. Likewise, Abrar spoke of tourism. Religions and social practices become catered when more ethnic nationalities are welcomed into the country, therefore Kuwait as a non-touristy destination is "more conserved when it comes to Valentine's Day". By this reasoning, the ideology behind Valentine's Day becomes either normalised (receptive culture) or taboo (hostile culture) depending on the country's diversity. Finally, Anna relates a dissimilar Islam to a country's wealth. In a privileged, rich-majority society, Valentine's Day celebrations differ when "they [men] can buy their girlfriends a car for example". Her statement shows that oil plays a major role in Kuwait's lifestyle. This sets different relationship expectations among Arabs in other geographic locations and triggers many debates regarding the Islamic instruction on splurging¹⁸⁹.

On that note, it seems necessary to analyse the presence of ostentation, or showing-off, in Kuwait in terms of Islam. From an Islamic perspective, the Quran acknowledges a competitive behaviour among humans. *Surat Al-Hadid* (57: 20) reads, "Know that the life of this world is merely diversion and pastime, and an adornment and source of boasting with one another, and a rivalry in the multiplication of riches and children". Because of shallowness and arrogance, people believe that their possessions give them supreme success or status. However, we must not overlook the severity of evil that comes in return

¹⁸⁹ A discussion on squandering and splurging is provided in the section: The Quran and Islamic Religion: *Wasta* and Prodigality.

from envy, as mentioned in Surat Al-Falaq (113: 5). Surat Al-Hijr (15: 88) recommends not to look towards the life pleasures that God bestowed on other people. The reason for this is provided in another verse from Surat Al-Baqarah (2: 61), "Will you trade what has benefit for you with what is inferior?". The Quran therefore dissuades from showing-off these "worldly" things, as they are created to mislead humans into believing they are predominating and strong (Surat Al- 'Alaq, 96: 6-7). In numerous verses, the Quran does not cease to remind us of our "temporary life" and that everything a person earns from this "temporary life" is created to allure them, as mentioned in Surat Al-Imran (3: 185), "The life of this world is nothing but the enjoyment of deception", and Surat Al-Hadid (57: 23), "Do not rejoice over what has been given to you, God does not like every arrogant human". The Quran explains that Allah has created different social classes and bestowed gifts of wealth, health, beauty, position, and noble lineage among people and nations only to observe what good will be done towards others, for example charity, as implied by Surat Al-An'aam (6: 165) and Surat Al-Qasas (28: 77), "Do not forget your share of the world and do good as Allah has done good to you". Unfortunately, Kuwait's fieldwork shows that these gifts have only resulted in the subjugation of some by others, as also predicted by the Quran (Surat Al-Zukhruf, 43: 32).

As discussed earlier, Kuwaiti citizens enjoy various governmental benefits which form a competitive advantage over others. These privileges set standards to discriminate against other individuals coming from the middle and lower social classes, mainly expatriate workers, which shows that social stratification and xenophobia exists in Kuwait. Consequently, judging others as inferior is created on false premises. *Surat Al-Hujurat* (49: 11) specifically orders not to scoff or look down upon any person, man or woman, because they may be better in God's judgement. Islamic teachings clarify that a person's heroism is to be humble and modest, as that would attain a higher degree in Allah's sight (*Surat Luqman*, 31: 18). Allah only helps a nation through their supplication, prayers, and sincerity, "and in that let the competitors compete", as *Surat Al-Mutafifeen* (83: 26) explains. Thus, the real pride is in pure intentions, in work and in achievement. Finally, *Surat Al-Qasas* (28: 83) states that the heavens are rewarded to those who are not boastful

or corrupt. This shows a clash between Islam and Kuwait's society and that even the purest of concepts like love and religion have become increasingly materialised and negotiated.

As there is no "pure culture" in the world, there is no "pure religion" either. There are countless explanations to justify why it is highly unlikely that two Muslims would act identically, even if they come from the same country, religious background or family. This also determines that being an Arab is one identity and being a Muslim is a completely different one, ever existing in one person (Fierro, 1997: 81-82). Despite numerous studies being made about Islam in the Middle East, and sources being easier to access, it remains a rather difficult region for westerners to comprehend and an insufficiently studied topic; often still viewed as a shallow, distorted media stereotype. The West has already created an image and made assumptions about the local culture of the Middle East: a great contradiction between an "enlightened" western lifestyle and a "vile" Arab-Eastern lifestyle. These debates occur precisely because Islam cannot be studied as a cultural tradition (Fierro 1997: 88; Bowen & Early 2002). In fact, Islam does not educate people about whether they should embrace "modernity" or "conventionality" (Halliday, 2003). Islam is based on three fundamentals: creed, code of ethics and legislation. While all prophets and messengers received the same revelation and religious instruction (creed and code of ethics) (Fierro, 1997: 82), the changing element was legislation (Eickelman, 2009). Despite having the same religion, every Islamic country has a different history and government that interprets its customs in a distinct form, thereby creating different Islamic legislations and practices. Affirmatively, the Quran acknowledges a nation that will never cease in differing (Surat Hud, 11: 118). Issa calls these differences the "shades of religion".

4. Emotions and Sentimental Value

The gift-giving practice, as an act of socialization, embodies complex emotions to endure ties between people. Emotions and sentimental value are a prevailing gift-giving aspect integral to be discussed as a tool to communicate identity, ascertain misunderstandings and define demands that continuously operate in communities and civic life (Delgado, Fernández & Labanyi, 2016). Peoples' social influences and individual motives can also be interpreted by studying how they express, experience and value certain gifts. For instance, the research in Kuwait showed that gifts can facilitate moving on to the next stage within romantic interests and attracting a potential spouse. However, it requires effort as well as bravery to make the move and offer the gift. The history of emotions is an area of growing interest and a potential field in the study of culture (Escolano-Benito, 2015), or in a contemporary love culture (Cheal 1987; 1988). This section gives perspective on the emotions that gifts possess in Kuwait and contributes to the study field of affective science.

Many gifts are driven by social emotions. Emotions are generated from a thought and knowledge process and are deemed perilous because of their power to move people and influence perceptions, making them a major component of social and political life. Emotions are recognised in interrelationships, education, language, religion, diversity and cultural heritage; therefore, they determine interconnections (or a meeting point) between local and transnational relations. In other words, emotions underline differences or similarities in race, ethnicity, gender, and are significant in inter-faith and inter-cultural relations (Soto & Levenson, 2009). Studying emotions can encompass lifestyles, value systems, traditions and beliefs of a society, but more specifically we can understand individual culture that constitutes of spiritual, material and intellectual characteristics (UNESCO, 2006: 12). Therefore, emotions can identify inside and outside culture, individual and collective values, and mind and heart rationing.

The role of emotions in social movements in Kuwait drives historical change because it reveals contradictions and confrontations with certain aspects in that very culture, such as religion. Emotions demonstrate how Islamic communities react towards many notions and cultural practices (Medina-Doménech, 2012). Studying Valentine's Day provided knowledge about Kuwait's tolerance towards individual expression and western ideology, which consequently triggered intergroup dialogues and produced new spaces, to the extent that social norms can be challenged (Brosius & Wenzlhuemer, 2011: 47). The gift-giving occasion encompasses several gender roles and expectations within interpersonal relationships since it fuses the material with the immaterial, allowing to construct "emotional communities" (Ahmed 2004; Fernández 2016; Highfill 2016). Articulating conceptions of love and freedom proposes that genuine emotions reveal a country's social situation and civic life, which mesh societies together (Zambrano, 1996). Valentine's Day

as a diverse, international practice therefore crosses borders and connects directly to people's sensitivities (Council of Europe, 2008).

Several studies have reflected upon peoples' sensuality and emotional presence during gift exchanges. Individuals with higher emotional understanding are more likely to purchase gifts and experience joy when gift-giving (Pillai & Krishnakumar, 2019). They can express certain unspoken messages or communicate feelings through them to the receiver (Close & Zinkhan, 2006). In western societies, it has been emphasized how gifts in their nature play a role of sentiment. Cheal (1987: 150-169; 1988: 40-55, 106-120) dedicates his work to address emotions of love, affection, and care, which have not received much attention in social sciences. He explains that gift reciprocity reinforces confidence between the parties involved and gives perspective to the continuation of the relationship. It is another way to say "I love you" or express gratitude to parents, spouses, employment, even to religion, the past, present and future. Finally, he validates that "the gift economy in western societies is actually part of a culture of love" (Carrier, 2012b: 288).

Kuwait's fieldwork realised different forms of love through gifts: "Eros" in young relationships, "Ludus" in potential romantic attractions, "Storge" in platonic gifting, "Pragma" through satisfying cultural relationship expectations, "Mania" through showingoff on social media and "Agape" through surprise gifts (Lee 1973; Ferrer-Pérez, et al. 2009). Islam also advises that love should be a prevailing emotion in society (Osman, et al. 2013; Mian 2018), therefore creating social bonds and feeling a connection are essential goals in Kuwait's society. Furthermore, we cannot deny the significance of the gift in Islam and charity that demonstrate kindness and forgiveness. These voluntary gifts cause emotions of humility and compassion. As for age influences in gift-giving, the fieldwork showed that empathetic, companionate love lies within older generation due to their frailty, often gifting experiences. For Medhat, gifts are a reward for something significant, such as "a long friendship or a dear wife". Older people reminisce about the past and reflect on their life purposes to defy aging (Minowa & Belk, 2018).

Besides love, the gift in Kuwait generated other positive emotions. Prior to receiving a gift, emotions like excitement and anxiousness occupy receivers. The fieldwork found that

hand-made items such as a gift basket, chocolate box or mixtape are worthier than typical economic products. The selection of the gift also depends on the emotional value and strength of the relationship between the giver and the receiver (Caplow 1984; Shanka & Handley 2011; Pillai & Krishnakumar 2019). For example, as part of gift ethics, the daughter's gift should be more valuable and special than that of the niece, or that two daughters should have equal gifts in value. Accordingly, special gifts remind us of the giver. After the occasion is over, the emotions that were exchanged linger around. Recalling these memories foster pleasant feelings and prompt heartfelt sentiments, which increase emotional attachment towards the gift. We develop long-term relationships with certain gifts particularly because of the sentimental value we attribute to them. This consequently develops a "feeling of duty" that keeps us from disposing the gift, such as empty perfume bottles or dried flowers (Hetherington 2004; Daniels 2009).¹⁹⁰

Valentine's Day typically involves a myriad of passionate and intimate emotions. People take this day as an opportunity to reveal feelings to the beloved on a romantic night. Qassem offers gifts to deliver emotions of sympathy, love and support. Informants from older age groups, Bader, Ghada and Sahar, reflected other sentiments including praise and comfort. Valentine's Day is a time to compliment and cherish significant others by expressing gratitude, commitment and reassure fidelity to them. Giving thanks and showing appreciation is extremely essential on this day (Wolfinbarger 1990; Weiner 1992; Clarke, et al. 2005; Quintero González & Koestner 2006). It also includes making the other person feel happy and special¹⁹¹. A dedicated day for loved ones means to consider their gift preferences, to always be there for them by showing care and desire, and finally to acknowledge that money is worth making them smile (Belk & Coon 1993; Areni, Kiecker & Palan 1998; Kaell 2012). Evidently, Valentine's Day is a celebrated occasion to indulge in its significance, rituals and be romantic.

¹⁹⁰ Areas of future interest should focus on the material and sentimental attachment to objects in general (importance of objects), not only in the field of gifting.

¹⁹¹ Although many informants stressed the importance of pleasing and elating the receiver with a gift, none expressed whether those emotions are reflected on them as well. Future research can explore whether the receiver's pleasure also brings the giver pleasure.

Regardless of supporting or condemning Valentine's Day, there was an emphasis on the occasion's expressive aspects in Kuwait, especially its popular commercialisation. Although the fieldwork established that Valentine's Day is a celebration for those who have yet to marry, the media and shop advertisements exert great efforts to convince even married couples that the event concerns them, and that romance is key to celebrate the event (Kreil, 2016). With the pressure to explicitly foster love by signs of affection (through caress or body language), flirtations and sweet talk, Valentine's Day has been projected as an opportunity to revive long-term relationships besides daily worries and responsibilities. Older and married informants emphasized the preciousness of symbolic gifts or gestures. Aesthetic presents such as love letters, non-materialistic gifts and a dress code have been realised to create a happy occasion among married couples. For them, true love is determined through congenial cohabitation after marriage, whereas anything before that is considered temporary appeal or attraction.

Love letters, according to Orsini (2006), are an ideal medium to create and convey intimacy in a protected "secret space", where certain emotions can be expressed that cannot be vocalised face to face. Furthermore, there is a resonant corpus of love poetry in the Middle East, where at one point some believed it had reached its all-time zenith (Hamori 1990; Sells 2000; Chittick 2014; Kreil 2016; Mackintosh-Smith 2019). Poetry is an identified source of historical content, which has reinterpreted meanings of love. The refinement of the Arabic language began to create a unified voice in terms of art, identity and politics. Moreover, the poetic language and message of the Quran particularly attracted, and continues to attract, believers and scholars. It was this cultural and linguistic harmony that made the unity of both Islam and Arabs possible (Mackintosh-Smith, 2019). Poetry is widely popular in Arab culture and Islam in terms of expressing loyalty to God, praising his creations and praying for his blessings. Poetry also articulates divine respect to parents, women, and circle of life (Sanni 1990; O'Donnell 2011; Ernst 2013; Borg 2015; Shehabat 2016; Athamneh 2017; Fortier, Kreil & Maffi 2018; Fortier 2021).

When expressing feelings is a challenge, writing sentimental proclamations down by dedicating original poems, verses of poetry or songs to romantic partners on Valentine's Day is an effective method to indicate relationship intentions. Bader emphasised that gift

cards and letters play a very important role in gift-giving in Kuwait. They add a special touch, especially handwritten ones. Cards and hand-written letters were preferred to accompany the gift, sometimes even considered to be the gift (Subrahmanyan, 1999). They were mentioned at least once among all fieldwork age groups, thus established as a special favourite for all generations. These gestures do not carry any material significance, yet they hold tremendous symbolic and sentimental value, making the gift more memorable and durable, tying individuals together (Wilk, 1996). Apparently, cards give a bigger impact when reciprocating gifts because they trace back to the occasion. Therefore, when the gift has been used, eaten or even thrown away, the card still leaves a mark and creates a lasting, special effect. As confirmed by Otnes, Ruth and Milbourne (1994: 159-164), cards are part of the package that influence gift-giving practices. Evidently, gifts are "somehow bare without cards attached".

For younger couples, however, showing love on Valentine's Day is a constant struggle bound to stereotypical counterattacks in Islamic communities. For them, Valentine's Day is more than just superficial words and genuine gestures. Contemporary expressions of love require to spend more money to satisfy the same gift expectations. Tahani explained that interpersonal bonding has been replaced by gifts and brands in Kuwait. Young men feel obligated to demonstrate their love by giving something valuable that conveys that emotion. Relationship satisfaction ultimately showed that it does not depend on emotionality or sensitivity. Arguably, abusing love as a strong melding emotion would falsify enduring communities, according to Nussbaum (2013). On the other hand, societal pressures urge young women in Kuwait to share their flattering received gifts on social media to show-off and compete with other couples. The ritual of posing before a camera became convenient with personal smartphones and the internet. Self-perception can therefore be aligned with social perception to achieve a sense of belonging. Irritation, envy and jealousy are triggered with this competitive virtual activity, which Adam Smith (2005) classified as "unsocial passions" because they involve self-reflection and self-evaluation. Apparently, engaging in this practice indicates insecurity instead of fulfilment (Ngai, 2007). People are forging relationships with their personal circles and with their own selves, according to Carrier (1990), and it is due to the growth of shopping and retailing practices. This reveals how technological modernity encourages the transfer of emotions. The role was first taken up by the radio and subsequently the television in the 20th and early 21st century, whereas now with the digital media, emotions can go viral (Highfill 2016; Ferrándiz 2016). Users frequently share their emotions online about what they are experiencing and even declare their emotions to others more easily than in person. As shown, studying gift emotions can provide information about the dilemmas and pressures faced during Valentine's Day and other occasions (Otnes, Ruth & Milbourne, 1994). Demonstrating love in Kuwait on Valentine's Day was found to vary in terms of marriage, age and gender. Indeed, it is correct to presume that love is a deluxe gift when it is reciprocated.

Relationships and gifts are directly related to one another, consequences are captious especially during unbalanced reciprocations. The fieldwork showed that gifts in delicate contexts, like when asking for a favour, reassuring a relationship, or self-comparing with other couples on social media, can also trigger negative emotions which tend to occur without much cognitive processing, such as hatred, frustration, disappointment, humiliation, and anger (Belk & Coon 1991; Fischer, et al. 2018). Not only are these emotions critical, but also intentional because they involve an orientation towards an object (Ahmed, 2004). Additionally, intimate gifts such as lingerie in wedding or bachelorette parties can provoke embarrassment and shame in Muslim communities, which are self-conscious emotions. Thus, there is a fine line between the emotions of humiliation and satisfaction in gifts (Álvarez, 2016). Just like before, hating the gift can lead to hating the giver as well, which as per Charnon-Deutsch (2016) can still bind communities together in terms of physical or cultural stereotyping.

Gender studies are also significant in the development of emotions. Previous literature confirmed that gifting is traditionally a woman's interest, so the focus has become on women emotions (Caplow 1982; Cheal 1988; Fischer & Arnold 1990). Previous 19th century literature described women as unrestrained, destructively passionate, emotionally violent and irrational, thus feminising sentimental emotion because it "disempowers" (Miguélez-Carballeira, 2016). Hatfield, Rapson and Le (2009: 34) remarked that awe, disgust, distress, embarrassment, fear, guilt, happiness, love, sadness, shame, shyness,

surprise, and sympathy were considered "feminine emotions". Only anger, contempt and pride were thought to be "masculine emotions" (Plant, et al., 2000). Based on this scientific evidence, women differ than men by displaying a wider range of emotions along with more facial expressions (Hall 1984; Kring & Gordon 1998). It is fascinating that throughout different eras, upbringings and cultures, male and female emotions have remained roughly the same.

In gifts, men and women possess different emotional ideologies in their close relationships (Pizzetti, 2016). According to the fieldwork, they displayed different levels of passions, feelings, and trust. Cultural gender stereotypes depict the same. Men and women vary on how honest they are about their exhibited emotions. In most cultures, it is more acceptable for women to display or express emotion (Pleck & Sawyer, 1974). Women also prefer direct communication and demonstration of emotion, through words, gifts and physical contact because they take relationships more sensitively than men, therefore they have more expectations during gifting occasions (Close, 2012). Firestone (2003: 126-127) stated, "Women live for love and men live for work". Love can be expressed in numerous forms, for example, women are often portrayed as the caregivers, taking care of the family's well-being, maintaining a neatly organized and clean home, and offering gifts. Likewise, men generally exhibit their strong points by working and providing for their family. Their efforts tend to be directed towards wealth growth and striving for a dignified life. Although it seems like a truism, women act for emotional fulfilment because they are barred from significant social activity in society, and men advance more rapidly in societal practices because of the love "poured" onto them (Dinnerstein, 1999).

Gift-giving practices must also be studied at different time periods of history (Zaragoza-Bernal 2013; Gouk & Hills 2019). Extreme conditions including World War II, the Persian Gulf War of 1990 and the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic were key objects that triggered plenty of intense emotions during gift exchanges in Kuwait. My fieldwork revealed that war generated the most passionate responses. During war and moments of crisis, the role of emotions in public life was omitted or ignored. Mainly, there was grief and emotional insecurities, thus more positive emotions had to be stimulated through other social means, namely gift-giving. To express feelings through gifts has been established from the fieldwork as an essential method used in the past to comfort and connect with someone. This plays a role in today's "emotional capitalism" and in the history of modern and contemporary political thought (Illouz 2007; Moscoso-Sanabria & Zaragoza-Bernal 2014).

Historically, women emotions were needed in times of conflict or war, when men experienced chronic instability and terror (Fernández, 2016). Thus, women emotions were redefined as a necessary tool for public life and historical survival. Notions of granting equal gender rights were reconsidered, such as the women's suffrage, or simply a better representation of women in public social contexts. Similarly, after Kuwait's liberation in 1991, women's emotional competence helped in restructuring a "modern" Kuwait (Tétreault, Rizzo & Shultziner, 2012). This suggests that men are considered to lack emotional competence, they can however learn it from women. Accordingly, the concept of emotionality, specifically love, seems to relate to hostility, where emotional incompetence is a strong factor in gender violence (Delgado, Fernández & Labanyi, 2016).

Emotions, although a subtle phenomenon, are complex due to their high sensitivity to personal and contextual circumstances; therefore, explaining them requires a long, careful analysis (Ben-Ze'Ev 2000; Barrett, Lewis & Haviland-Jones 2018; Berrios 2019). In other words, not all our emotions are retrieved from what we have previously gone through, but we also interpret situations differently to create more arrays of emotional experiences (Fox, Lapate, Shackman & Davidson, 2018). It is an opportunity to study emotions to understand how some gifts deliver different gender values and intentions among romantic couples. As discussed earlier, for men, gift-giving signifies care and appreciation. For women, giftgiving can mean an opportunity to be independent, not to wait for gifts from men, yet still maintain a close contact and a good relationship with them. When we focus on emotions, it unties knots influenced by culture that contain romantic expectations and principles. Emotions give perspective to our motivations, truths and identity, which are everchanging. Emotions can also help change a country. The women's suffrage in Kuwait for example was driven by the multiple emotions expressed by men and women to attain those rights. Additionally, during times of war and a pandemic, emotions were necessary to maintain an optimistic, positive environment. Demonstrating love emotions helps sustain nations and relationships, prevent deterritorialization and connect with diaspora populations. Without emotions, social communication is lost, transnational cultural interactions are elusive, leading to a melancholic, uniform life.

5. Conclusion

Valentine's Day has achieved brilliant success in the Middle East. Valentine's Day's ambience in Kuwait mainly includes red decorations and clothing, an extensive variety of huge rose bouquets, and unbelievable traffic. It is not just a day, but a season. Evidently, Valentine's Day is a "culturally hybridized and popularly celebrated consumption ritual", as defined by Minowa, Khomenko and Belk (2011: 44). Despite the popularity of Valentine's Day in Kuwait and its success in attracting customers, the intensity of promotions can also develop negative opinions because they pressure people to buy, a clever marketing strategy often linked to mass-production, materialism, consumerism, capitalism and unethical manipulation of shops. In popular, material culture, these concepts have reduced gift significance and sentimental value, simultaneously developing strong sentiments towards anti-consumerism and anti-commercialism, as thoroughly discussed by Close and Zinkhan (2006) and Carrier (2012a).

The chapter has given explanations about the different versions of Islam that exists in every Muslim-majority country, rectifying the widespread misconception that Islam is mainly about machismo and piousness. During the 20th century, Pappé (2005: 282) declared that "Islam was a very powerful factor, more focused and more orthodox than in the past decades and yet powerful as never before", and there was an attempt by Islamists to liberate countries from western dominances. Some Islamic cities in Asia have been accepting market trend changes while rejecting to adopt western ideology and norms (Weller, 1998). Nevertheless, "dependence on the West continued into the postcolonial era" (Pappé, 2005: 47). Indeed, Kuwait combines western practices to its Islamic society since traditions and family values were realised to be separate from religious dimensions or the Islamic *Sunnah*. This shows the obvious distinction between ethnic backgrounds, even if they belong to the same religion. Initially in Islamic tradition, notions of secularism, modernisation, and gender equality are generally rejected (Halliday, 2003). It was not normal to separate between important life principles such as religion, social relations, and political

organisations, but these changes have been a result of colonialization and post-colonization and being part of the international marketplace (Watenpaugh, 2012). Globalisation, and words like freedom, democracy, choice and justice are not pleasantly intercorrelated in Arab Islamic societies (Fierro, 1997: 90). The "development of traditionalism" was a complicated concept because it brings forward a lot of matters that question ideologies of culture and authenticity of religion. These ideas build on intense emotions, and emotions are contagious, spreading from one body to another by uncontrollable means. Nowadays, the ongoing objective in Arab Islamic communities is to effectively balance Arab nationalism and Islam with theories of globalisation. Islamic states that remain strongly connected to the Islamic concept are Iran and Saudi Arabia (Al-Naqeeb, 1990).

Kuwait strives to enrich its original traditions, indigenous knowledge, Islamic identity and Arab nationalism, and not be led by global phenomena. Valentine's Day was recognised as an occasion that does not "belong" to Kuwaiti norms and seems to pose a threat to the authenticity of Kuwaiti culture. This has been described as a western political manipulation to the region (Joffé, 1987). Middle Eastern Arabs come from a very tight, collective society, which means that decisions are made in groups, between close-knit tribes, kinship ties and family (Greene, 2013). Even day to day activities are structured around the family's convenience and routines. In a traditional culture, individuals get together and share their experiences and emotions. For example, when a small group live in a town, they would already have habitual practices and defined styles that they are accustomed to, like the way they wear their hair or fashion their clothes, and these styles would then be brought down to their offspring. Traditional concepts have the tendency of remaining longer periods of time. Modernity in the Arab world was more common among Christian communities, while Muslim communities remained longer attached and loyal to their traditions (Pappé, 2005). Furthermore, change was clearer among politicians and businessmen, more than among rural people who were hesitant to modify their customs. Kuwait is basically a conservative system, but this does not mean that new ideas are not accepted and incorporated from time to time. There is no guarantee that children will continue to practice things similarly when they grow up. Young individuals are developing new understandings of western revelries that allow them to celebrate adequately in an Islamic society, without being subject to any criticisms. Some people believe that it is possible to strengthen Arabism; to preserve culture and maintain traditions while being "modernised" at the same time because the powerful influence of the west in economics and technology cannot be denied (Bowen & Early, 2002). Evidently, fieldwork results showed that being attached to traditions, although important to maintain heritage, was not necessary in a changing society.

Much has changed throughout 50 years of gifting culture, namely the incorporation of Valentine's Day in Kuwait. Religion no longer exerted a strict control over Muslim lives because conformity to some rules were no longer "relevant" in a contemporary society (Kluijver 2013: 27; Winstone & Freeth 2018). Kuwait in its part played a major role as an oil producer and subsequently adopted the contemporary paradigm despite the continued strong presence of Islam. During the recent years, western culture has widely extended, encouraging drastic changes. It supports core principles such as freedom, equality, and democracy, which were missing in the traditional culture (Horn, 2009).

Kuwait's research has revealed that the West has a big influence on Kuwait, its cultural practices and occasions, politics, business operations, and circulated commodities. "The West" referred to Europe, but more often the United States. Contemporary Middle Eastern and North African states are based upon European roots and systems (mainly British, French and Spanish), therefore slowly inheriting their ideologies and reshaping the cultural, economic and political structure. This typically refers to the historical process of secularization, where religion loses its identity in a social or cultural context (Carrier, 2012b). Allegedly, the fieldwork revealed that copying liberal, secular lifestyles gives an "openminded, modern" image to others. "Modern" (the term not the theory) was exhaustively mentioned by informants to describe Western countries, western cultural practices and people from the West. It has become one of the most used and abused adjectives, overstated to the point of becoming void in significance. The idea that Arabs perceive European or American lifestyles as "modern" is an interesting, emic and

problematic concept. Since no research has confirmed it¹⁹², the ideology behind this statement is fairly unknown and faulty¹⁹³. Therefore, subsequent research about this topic is necessary to be considered as part of contemporary history.

Further factors have influenced individual practices in the Middle East. In Kuwait for example, apart from religion (Islam), the political regime, economic system, social ties and kinship values are considered. The country's diversity also possesses a key role within the community. During the end of the 20th century, thousands of people from various nationalities fled their countries to take on new job roles and career paths in rich, oilproducing nations which created mixed, changing cultures. In Kuwait and other Arabian Gulf states, ethnic diversity has been increasing substantially. People fly in from different regions and bring along their own customs and traditions, which blend in with the country's public and its marketing practices. Eventually, a small percentage of Kuwait's population constitute of natives, while the rest are immigrants. Kuwait's local culture became compromised through the adoption of other religions, lifestyles, cuisines, music, and fashion. Subsequently, Kuwait's Arab Islamic society was affected by migration flows, globalisation, and the western market and politics (Babb 1990; Wilk 1996; Crapo 2003). Rogers (2006: 498) has interestingly remarked "Culture is never fixed, never fully seen in its totality, and is always changing, because it is a network of relations, not an entity". However, more studies should be dedicated on the xenophobic climate in Kuwait and the reason behind resisting cosmopolitanism, as Ullah, et al. (2020: 203) confirmed, "Xenophobia has not received sufficient attention although anti-migrant sentiments and practices have been on the rise in receiving countries".

The invention of new technologies such as telephones, televisions, airplanes, mass communication, and computer systems also contributed to modernisation since they helped broaden world views and personal outlook of life (Naofusa, 1983). The research on gifting

¹⁹² In the European framework, Mardin (1974) specified that the goal of civilisation in a modernising context was achieved by establishing the European Union as a global and regional transformation, thereby inducing "superwesternization" (Hearn, 2004). Civilisation in a modernising context is yet to be defined in the Middle Eastern framework.

¹⁹³ Instead, "transformation" can be used as a substitute term to modernisation in Arab countries, i.e., they have transformed, not modernised.

celebrations in Kuwait has examined those outlooks and identified a shift in cultural practices. When religion is not emphasised or intervened in culture by the state, it can either promise national development or national disgrace. According to the fieldwork, the latter is more likely to occur as it is believed that too much of something is harmful. For instance, too much of women independence, equality, commercialisation, or social media activity is believed to result in negative consequences.

Valentine's Day has been countlessly described by men and women from the fieldwork as a consumerist event that promotes the misuse of money. Demonstrating generosity has been misshapen by dissipation and splurging to the extent that the exaggerations amounted to ingratitude and extravagance that Islam forbade. Romantic gifting in Kuwait became a reason to show-off on social media. Despite bothering some groups, displaying private relationships and personal lives online has somewhat become normalised, used as a method to acquire validation in society. This activity is not concerned about the significance of events, but about increasing one's prestige and self-worth; to feel important with the help of social media, as put forward by Halina (2019). The misuse of these technologies, which have been undreamed of by our grandparents, has created problems in society in racing for a better "perceived" standard of living. This again stresses that Kuwait is a proud, moneyoriented nation. My fieldwork has shown that Mauss' theory of a pure, selfless gift is rare in Kuwait. Expensive gifts are necessary to achieve something in return, in this case, to draw attention on social media. Therefore, people who do not receive flashy gifts would not be praised by their peers. Excessive commercialisation and marketing communications provoke this activity and designate gender roles within romantic relationships.

Men in celebratory events face tremendous stress to be providers and spoil their significant others with gifts, while women compete to show a "successful" relationship. Romantic couples cushion themselves against societal pressures and expectations by displaying a dreamlike and rather unfeasible lifestyle to project an "ideal" image of themselves, thus achieving moral honour, as Mauss (1925) and Malinowski (1926) proposed. This manipulative mechanism creates unreal social positionings and inaccurate conclusions to one's lifestyle, consequently enlarging the gap between the rich and poor in the country. From an Islamic perspective, boasting is a symptom of arrogance, hypocrisy and pride. The boasters cling to appearances because of the illusion that expensive possessions signify a successful life. Islam, as a religion of moderation, advises to find a middle ground in every way of life; one must act with humility not with ostentation (Özdemir 2003; Ushama 2014; Islam & Khatun 2016). A bold statement from Rasoulallah.net (2009: 6) declared, "The fact is, that we ruined our lives by materialism, by forgetting our religion, our Islamic civilisation, and the teachings of the Prophet". Furthermore, social media deludes individuals from the truth because it forges instant communications and information. Social media influence is dangerous for young "gullible" individuals, especially females, who believe that others have a better romantic life than them. However, the fieldwork showed that there were no noticed changes in the relationship whether the couple celebrated Valentine's Day or not. Some only support Valentine's Day in the name of love, but love was not restricted to Valentine's Day. Little daily gestures turned out to have a longerlasting effect in romantic relationships than celebrating one commercially enforced holiday. To this end, I reckon that not every Valentine's Day is for lovers, but it is also a funeral for countless hearts that have been disappointed in a generation of digital media, incapable to express true forms of love. As a study still in its early stages, it is necessary to build on the notion that posting on social media is a motive for gift exchange. Further research should also examine the hostility towards romantic content display on social media in Arab Islamic societies.

The wide spread of Valentine's Day has become a very controversial topic among Muslims with regards to societal views and religious adequacy. Its origins are often blurred by the public, insisting on its bad influence on the youth who shy away from religion to obtain the approval of others. The occasion is also viewed to obstruct marriage for young adults because it encourages long-term "sinful" dating. Furthermore, it is believed that romantic aspirations encouraged by Valentine's Day are crushed by "realistic" choices. The dream-like ambience that the occasion creates does not demonstrate real relationships and the sacrifices, responsibilities, effort and perseverance it takes to maintain one. There was also the concern that teenagers and young adults would turn away from Islamic occasions like

Eid and celebrate western practices like Valentine's Day¹⁹⁴. As implied, the youth do not realize that these actions may hurt and scandalize their parents' and grandparents' beliefs. This transformation in gifting practices and romantic expressions has disrupted and destabilized Islamic communities.

These discussed issues and stigma encouraged a change of the overall image of Valentine's Day and its association to the West. Depictions of intimate heterosexual couples exchanging cheap Chinese commodities, which promote a global strategy, are slowly being eradicated by young women. In Kuwait, romantic relationships were not a rule to abide by. Albeit not falling under Islamic or Kuwaiti celebrations, Valentine's Day can celebrate kinship and platonic relationships (Close & Zinkhan, 2006). Women probably identify friendship as a key component for trade and gift-giving, that without it, exchange would be a bit of a gamble (Carrier, 2012b). Therefore, Valentine's Day can be a day to spend with friends, cherish a parent, or have a night out with work colleagues¹⁹⁵. Kuwait has created its own domain of Valentine's Day, where the celebration was tweaked to suit the Muslim community "for the right reasons". This introduces the idea that daughters can now ask their fathers to be their Valentine, a typical representation of the saying, "a girl's first love is her father" - a "halal" concept. This in turn decreases criticisms and pressures of societal norms and media expectations. The concept of self-gifting was also common among young women. It is established as a force of habit necessary to express self-care. Cultural gifting occasions therefore condition how to be men and women in Arab societies, but most importantly, they identify that women can take a leading role in gifting, however not restrictively offered to men or romantic interests. This implies that perhaps in the future, the definition of Valentine's Day could be altered, its purpose being to show love to whoever and whatever, even to yourself¹⁹⁶.

¹⁹⁴ This concern suggests both coexistence and deterritorialization situation in Kuwait. Future research is suggested to confirm which of the two is the prevailing concept.

¹⁹⁵ An online survey in the MENA (Middle East and North African) region concluded that a large percentage of parents, close friends, and other family members also expect to be wished a "Happy Valentine's Day" (Berkani, 2013). ¹⁹⁶ Future research is suggested to focus on self-gifting and platonic gifting, as they lacked sufficient supporting literature. Additionally, more research should favour gender-related gift studies, for instance, the evaluation of male and female spending habits during Valentine's Day in Kuwait, or the Arabian Gulf. Lastly, gender implications suggest developing a research that could identify an "ideal" gift for both men and women, as put forward by Shanka and Handley (2011).

Through religious exploration, new customs can be justified to be accommodated into Kuwait's culture by checking what both society and religion accept as "morally correct" to be practiced, while leaving out the bits that do not suit them. In other words, separating society into independent components: religion, economy, politics, social relations and so on. Consequently, different approaches and versions of an occasion, or "idea", would be created in an attempt to fuse western ideology into traditional Islamic "honour" structures.

Commercialisation and social media were important factors that influence Valentine's Day's celebration in Kuwait. The research raised a lot of debate about whether people participate in Valentine's Day because their beliefs changed, or it was simply a shift in response to globalisation and marketing. Results revealed the latter. Likewise, if the popularity of commercial occasions had to assume that Kuwait is evolving into a western society and adapting to their values, my fieldwork results invalidate that assumption for the time being. It was clear that people romanticise material, popular culture while showing signs of market resistance. The dominance of Western methods and thought may be a historical fact in Arab societies but it does not necessarily indicate a permanent situation. Kuwait still enjoys a deeply rooted, rich Islamic culture. Despite global media, rise in education, modernisation and hybridisation, people in Kuwait did not withdraw from their own traditions (Bahhouth, Ziemnowicz & Zgheib, 2012). Maybe it is finally a question of the gift, reciprocity, and consumerism, and not a deep cultural change for Kuwaiti people. This determines that Valentine's Day did not have a blanket effect on the Kuwaiti population, and this leaves room for further investigation.

Conclusively, Kuwait is leading its way towards a diversified culture within Islamic limits and religious principles. Living in a globalised world, it is natural to encounter some inconsistencies within a certain society. With reference to inherent bias (Tworek & Cimpian, 2016), I propose that resisting this occasion is reasoned with the idea that, "Valentine's Day is derived from the West, so I should stick to my traditions and not celebrate it". On the other hand, adopting this occasion is reasoned with the idea that, "Valentine's Day would make me more relatable to the western world, so I should take part in it". I assume that Muslims celebrate Valentine's Day to seem more approachable and knowledgeable about other cultural practices, portraying in a way that they are "openminded". This may improve Muslims' political status as a minority group in western communities. I acknowledge that Kuwait is steadily heading towards an individualistic direction with a salient feminist activism; a dynamic culture that does not fail to aspire for uniqueness (Moghadam 2010; Sreberny 2015; Doaiji 2017; Hoza 2019).

With the vast spread of Islam across continents, from West Africa to Indonesia (Mackintosh-Smith, 2019), it is still difficult to pinpoint how a relatively small country like Kuwait would have dissimilar views about religion and lifestyle practices among population groups. This suggests that neighbouring countries, such as Bahrain or the United Arab Emirates, would also reveal a completely different culture, social life, and common values, despite having the same geographic and religious background as Kuwait. In every country, and within every family, religion and perceptions of it are expressed differently. The mainstreams of Islam have been manipulated through Arab nationalism or, conversely, modern secular ideas, so they became interpreted and implemented in different ways (Lambton 1981; Eickelman 2002b: 13). Even dress code or rituals during Islamic festivities differ. This shows that Islam is not one strict system of mandatory rules, but some principles are adjusted according to the country's constitution, heritage and history. Because of this, contradictions are found within the same population. Even the Quran and the five pillars of Islam, which are unchanging among Muslims, are interpreted differently in terms of practice methodology. In other words, while the original scripture of the Quran has allegedly remained unaltered since its revelation, unlike other religious scriptures (Surat Al-Imran, 3: 78; Surat Al-Nisa'a, 4: 46; Fierro 1997: 82, 85), and the five Islamic foundations of testimony, prayer, fasting, almsgiving and pilgrimage are consistent in Muslim communities, many Quranic verses or the correct manner of prayer for example are largely disputed among Islamic scholars and religious leaders. Conclusively, even with the Prophet's teachings, Islamic texts and the Quran, there is no explanation or guide to how religious material should be interpreted or acted upon. In the meantime, we acknowledge that Arab societies can confuse religion with tradition (Fierro, 1997), while western nations believe that Muslims act solely upon religious instruction.

V. FINAL CONCLUSIONS

The Middle East is an essential region to be scrutinized among other geographies to generate conclusive theories and knowledge. It is reckoned that building more awareness about the Arabian Gulf, as a non-conflict region, could have enormous growth in generating theories for academic literature. It appeared to serve other functionalities and purposes, away from the international scrutiny of being a problematic region criticised for its oppression, gender inequality, vulgarity, war, and conflicting individual differences. These views have provoked and generalised hate towards Muslims in European and North American contexts (Heindl 2017; Saira Khan 2020). The initial aim of this study was to understand the process that led to successfully adopting and integrating western practices into Kuwait's culture using a historical approach, and how this impacted Kuwait in terms of gender, religion and social class today. I employed qualitative methods, precisely indepth interviews, for an exploratory understanding of this social, cultural, historical and emotionally charged topic. This research has shown how transformed Kuwait has become as compared to the past century and how cosmopolitan occasions, like Valentine's Day, are tolerated and welcomed to be celebrated.

The topics of this thesis are curated in a way to defend the main statement of Kuwait's progressively globalised modernity, specifically shedding light on Western liberal modernity, as expressed by Aixelà-Cabré (2018). It suggests that every person is free to choose their actions and therefore is held responsible for the consequences. I similarly put forward the concept of liberalism that is slowly emerging in Kuwait, enlarging the gap between seculars and Islamists. Some Muslims desire to follow western practices to abandon certain traditional "religious" customs that reveal cultural backwardness. Doing this, they can represent a different image that better demonstrates their roots, religion and cultural richness. This study therefore simultaneously promotes individuality and conformity. In many cases, the fieldwork narratives in Kuwait showed signs of progression and openminded ideologies but the country itself is not supportive of them. In other words, albeit Kuwait's residents favour equal gender rights or freedom of expression for example, Kuwait lacks these concepts, and this is where notions of oppression arise. These notions are fought to be changed to represent a better Kuwait and more importantly, a better Islam.

More information should be produced on the complexities and the steady secularization of the Arabian Gulf region after the 20th century. In the meantime, the fieldwork has proven the presence of transnationalism and modern traditionalism in Kuwait that has become evident during the 21st century (Galland & Lemel, 2008). This is the argued case that could be associated to Kuwait as an Islamically devoted country. For example, Valentine's Day is adopted after checking how it can be Islamically applied and accepted into the culture as a common practice. This establishes one of the main arguments of this thesis, proving cultural deviation in Kuwait and validating a dissimilar Islam within Muslim-majority countries. This pedagogy and knowledge about accommodating western practices within Arab Muslim lives can create new forms of dialogue between academics, public intellectuals, activists and policy makers in different societies.

The second aim of this study was related to how Valentine's Day unveiled social gender construction in Kuwait, which changes in terms of age, romantic relationships and societal expectations. This was identified by historically and anthropologically analysing the significance of the gift between couples in Kuwait as an Arab Islamic country. Finally, the third aim was related to how the gift during Valentine's Day has allowed to reveal social stratification and consumerism in Kuwait in terms of class and migrations. Conclusively, the work shows that both gender and social class can be traced by the gift in Kuwait.

Valentine's Day gift research identified many interrelated topics that affect interpersonal relationships and celebrations during the 20th century and the present. This thesis examined gifting habits, distinguished different interpretations of the gift, its intentions and social values, and above all, analysed Valentine's Day's gift givers and receivers. However, Valentine's Day was largely considered a petty or silly topic, representing a consumerist "made-up" holiday, which creates the assumption that it is an unworthy field of research. This explains the lack of supporting literature on Valentine's Day in the Middle East. In fact, the research of Valentine's Day was mainly key in identifying issues that have no relation to the occasion itself. I was able to uncover many topics within the Middle East that gave a deeper insight about Muslim actions and behaviour. In this sense, the Islamic doctrine and instruction was a strong reference to form an analogy with 21st century culture, which revealed challenges and misconceptions about Islam in several contextual situations.

As Valentine's Day forms part of material culture, the occasion was examined on commercial, social, religious and economic dimensions, which also showed Islamic misapprehensions, sustainability and consumption issues, cultural change, and versatile gender roles. Thanks to the study on the gift and Valentine's Day, there is now a better understanding about the role of women, the contradictions between culture, tradition and religion, and the ideologies within Arab societies that are influenced by many underlying variables, like family, hierarchy and importance of the patriarchy. Despite this, the Arabian Gulf Peninsula remains relatively underexplored in contemporary contexts. More studies should concentrate on the Arabian Gulf region in general and on its prominent features, like collective values and habits. National or civic concerns can also be a focus, for example, the condition of ecosystems, sustainability and resource allocation, familial versus individual principles, how children behave or think differently than their parents and what factors have affected that outcome. In that sense, given the social and cultural approach of my thesis, it is of interest to analyse some notions individually, such as gender roles, freedom of self-expression, intimate relationships, family standards, clothing and fashion. Evidently, cultural history can be exercised in various fields including politics, kinship, religion, economics, gender and all their interlocking and overlapping domains.

Cultures and geographies change, and their changes are highlighted in history, language and material life. My fieldwork showed that not only science, medicine, technology and climate are everchanging, but also much detailed practices that form day-to-day activities, like gift-giving. A formal definition for the gift is rarely defined because it contains many interconnected theories and is influenced by various phenomena, particularly globalisation.

Globalisation has influenced large-scale historical shifts (Appadurai, 2000: 1). It has spread throughout Asia and the Middle East causing not only the popularity of Valentine's Day but also the emergence of other cultural gift-giving innovations, such as New Year celebrations. Gift exchange rituals in Kuwait reflect marketplace trends and gender expectations with strong tie-ins between contemporary culture and religious values. Gifts in Kuwait are grand gestures, mainly used as means to an end, to incarnate a specific intention or an emotion, which can either be admiration or disappointment. Therefore, the gift has been converted from a simple beautiful practice, into a confusing economic duty. However, considering the COVID-19 global pandemic, the simple gift and a kind word are more likely to prevail, reflecting definitions of the gift in Islam. During crucial conditions like wars and pandemics, the choice is likely to be steered towards what is good for the soul and planet, rather than what is good for one's ego. Furthermore, time is considered a very important gift since we are not entitled to it neither can we control it, but a person can choose how to celebrate every moment they are given. Amid an Arabian Gulf country, concepts of Islam and spirituality could be demonstrated with an active role in preserving resources and encouraging togetherness and charitable acts.

Festivities are also everchanging in terms of their functions, customs and even attitudes and knowledge of people. As Kovzele (2019: 71) claims, "Festivities are one of the most stable forms of spiritual culture which undergo significant transformations as the result of globalisation". As a region often interpreted as an exceptionally orthodox Islamic one, this thesis establishes that Valentine's Day has been a result of a remarkably successful marketing campaign in Kuwait, evermore resulting from a globalised culture.

Valentine's Day was deemed a non-monotonous occasion, increasingly gaining popularity in Kuwait, laden with cultural rituals and ideologies communicated through romantic conversations during card and gift exchanges (Close, 2012). Furthermore, it was recognised that high value is placed on careful following and recording of social activity on media platforms and public networks. Allegedly, Valentine's Day in Kuwait has been adopted without a thorough understanding of its history nor its various references to the West. Muslims never had the intention of becoming accustomed to non-Muslim habits and conforming with the masses¹⁹⁷, but over the years, traditionalist ideas in Islamic communities began to merge unnoticed with the general culture of the West, pushing people to follow relative occupational and social aspects of western society (Sedgwick, 2009). This process had occurred because of globalisation; because of the reliance on western communication and information in terms of the economic system (Pappé, 2005). Western influence is profoundly involved in the social transformation and economic globalisation of Kuwait. This is identified within social movements that encourage evolved

¹⁹⁷ Many Muslims take issue with western ideology and the outcomes of colonialism, and fight any mockery or disrespect about their religion, namely through social movements and product or company boycotts.

ideas like changing gender roles and traditional attitudes, promoting "images of well-being that cannot be satisfied by national standards of living and consumer capabilities", as claimed by Appadurai (2000: 5). Not only do other cultures influence Kuwait but also people who have arrived and resided from different countries and ethnicities. To imagine other social life and regions of the world is now a globalised phenomenon, embedded by internationalism and transnationalism (Appadurai, 2000). However, studies conclude that the exact method of how the Middle East has been reformed remains to this day an unsolved riddle (Abu Lughod, 1978). Therefore, this research must be taken beyond an exploratory stage to better address this transformation.

The common perception of Valentine's Day in Islamic societies widely involves religious connotations. The fieldwork showed that Valentine's Day obstructs traditional marriage and falsely portrays love. Arab culture and tradition classifies many "unusual" concepts as Islamically forbidden or frowned upon, especially self-expression or freedom of choice. Muslim conduct in Kuwait is always questioned to decide whether it is "Islamically approved". In fact, countless principles are excessively debated in Islam, like dating or the *hijab*, so definitive policies are still unclear. However, even when some concepts were proven appropriate in Islam, they are still culturally tabooed and infested with tradition, so not to disappoint elders and ridicule years of traditional heritage and identity. More research should be dedicated towards shame, or *'aib*, and how it interferes with modes of life in the Middle East. I believe that the concept of *'aib* hinders talent and progress in Arab nations, especially with regards to women capabilities (Almadanat, 2018).

As I reflect on my research, I reckon that religion is often understood as a system that prohibits, condemns and punishes. Perhaps the mistake lies in the manner of how Islam is projected, especially towards those who are new to it. The approach is commonly faulty and the blame rests with the Muslims, not with Islam. Instead of sensibly educating about the Islamic revelation, the five pillars of Islam, prophetic principles and morals, secondary rules and regulations often precede. Usually, it starts off with concepts like dating forbiddance, alcohol and pork abstinence, a modest dress code and obeying the maledominating figure. Coercion of these rules causes inhibitions as one doubts that almost everything in religion is sinful. The obsession about following these rules creates the fallacy that this is the essence of religion, and that is what determines a "good Muslim". This ignorance can make Islam seem scary or restrictive, producing an archaic society. Maybe the essence of Islam is realising that it is not set to obstruct freedom or life, but that in fact, "God is unconditionally forgiving" (*Surat Al-Zumar*, 39: 53), that "true faith is judged by the intention in the heart" (*Surat Al-Baqarah*, 2: 225), and that "God does not burden a soul greater than it can bear" (*Surat Al-Baqarah*, 2: 286). Once those ideas are absorbed, and after the moral foundations on which Islam was set are explained, more "secondary" matters could then fall into place. Evidently, the error is not in religious methodology, but in those who claim to apply it (Bowen & Early, 2002: 181).

To increase confidence, it is necessary to keep pace with society changes and decrease resistance towards "unusual" concepts in Muslim-majority countries, such as Valentine's Day or a woman being the primary breadwinner of the house. These subjective one-sided perceptions should be questioned by further religious exploration. Traditional reprehensive methods that were once dictated by Arabian Gulf culture could be changed using the yusr concept in Islam, in other words, using forgiveness, lenience and empathy (Al-Oueid, 2012). Additionally, in the Quran, it is mentioned in Surat Al-Bagarah (2: 185) that Allah desires ease for people and not hardship. Rather than stressing young couples to get married or forbidding them from dating, Valentine's Day can be a way to explore relationships and probably with the knowledge of one another, divorce rates could be significantly reduced. To date someone without the constant pressure, stressful scrutiny and uncomfortable questioning could help avoid many wrong decisions or regret regarding life partners. Maybe then, we would see many happy couples in happy relationships, rather than oppressed women in abusive, neglectful marriages. This cultural western occasion has provided the young generation with opportunities to socialise; to connect with others, to be noticed and heard. Valentine's Day might not morally corrupt the youth but is rather a feature of symptomatic individualism in a changing society. This promises progress in Muslim-majority countries and a better representation of Islam. We understand that Valentine's Day integration is blamed on the western capitalistic culture and globalisation but is also due to a universal changing youth culture (Patel, 2014).

It is true that embracing modern traditionalism envisions Kuwait as a diverse country, empowers social justice and reinforces rich cultural heritage and national identity. However, modern traditionalism has some recognised limits, such as unpleasant social conditions (Harkness, 2020). This shows how some countries are perceived differently internally and externally¹⁹⁸. Kuwait should begin adopting new approaches with the public, for example integrating more awareness programs regarding cultural taboos that appear completely appropriate to openly discuss in terms of Islam, like mental health, reproduction, sexual relations, sexually transmitted diseases, male and female anatomies, gender roles, Muslim conduct, homosexuality, modesty, dating, conjugal relations, validations for divorce and many others. The fieldwork suggests that discussing these themes is shameful and portrays an "openminded" community, but after expanding my awareness, I reckon that Islam is quite an openminded religion structured around a set of divine rulings. Certainly, promoting such awareness programs determines the level of tolerance in Muslim communities, in other words, the higher the level of awareness, the more transformed an Islamic country becomes. Encouraging critical thinking and group discussions, even among families, will create an effective and engaging environment that fights backwardness and oppression, which Islam disfavours for its followers. In turn, learners must also act accordingly, and demonstrate responsibility for their knowledge, becoming more consciously active in a motivating, religiously open Arab environment.

Kuwait is witnessing a social transformation, albeit at a slow pace, and can be labelled as a fashionable society in narratives of history. Kuwait today shows pragmatism towards its external relations. That being said, tensions between modernisation and preservation in the region certainly exist (Verdeil & Nasr, 2017). Kuwait can be leading two radical paths in the future. It can be heading towards a more conservative society due to the presence of ultraconservative Muslims in its parliament, or towards an increased tolerance in lifestyle activities and adoption of multicultural practices. This depends on the law structure and parties who have the power to place rules, lead the country and guide the people.

¹⁹⁸ For example, while Qatar externally brands itself with its megaprojects in numerous fields, internally those views are forged given a flawed labour system, strict immigration laws, financial regulations and government policies, notwithstanding with the Islamic faith (Harkness, 2020).

Finally, there were a few understudied areas that lacked supportive literature during my fieldwork in Kuwait and some recommendations are provided to develop the study of the gift and Valentine's Day. It is encouraged to increase variability in the research sample and investigate the larger population of Kuwait to incorporate a greater number of responses. This allows for a better analysis of gift-giving activities. A closer look regarding differences in social class, gender, age, culture, and subculture need to be further explored within the gift-giving context. Firstly, as I have only studied people coming from similar social or income classes (mostly middle class), it would be interesting to study a research sample that involves prestigious individuals, such as businessmen or entrepreneurs (high social class), or ethnic tribal groups that live in rural areas, like Biduns and Bedouins (low social class), and observe differences in responses. Secondly, interviewing more Kuwaitis. Since my study focused on the Kuwaiti culture, it did not target exclusively Kuwaiti nationals. This could be another opportunity to examine a change in results. Thirdly, interviewing people of other religions. Since my findings ascertained that few individuals from my informant sample celebrate Valentine's Day, I believe it is mainly due to their Islamic faith. It is problematic for Muslims to take part in Valentine's Day or Christmas in Kuwait because it acknowledges western dominance in an Islamic society and suggests "distancing" from religion. When informants realise they are being recorded for their answers, they would like to protect their Islamic identity and traditions and seem more attached to their customs to create an image of a "good Muslim". However, when answering questions about promotions and discounts during Valentine's Day, they seemed less edgy. It is therefore a good idea to interview people of other religions that reside in Kuwait to find out whether religion was a factor that made my informants claim they do not celebrate Valentine's Day. Similarly, if I had interviewed ultraconservative Muslims in Kuwait, the responses would have led to different conclusions. Finally, this thesis urges to consider studying other gifting occasions in Kuwait to realise cultural similarities and differences compared to Valentine's Day.

Further research should be made about how technology has influenced a change in diets, lifestyles, points of view, dreams or even individual ideology. Accessibility of information and increased awareness has allowed Muslim states to move forward. Because we are all

connected, thanks to the internet, people are detaching from traditions that were passed down by their parents, and realise they are free to search for explanations through religious exploration and interpersonal communication to broaden their views about the world. In a way, the coming generation would represent different ideas from their 21st century parents.

Additionally, it can be an opportunity to extend the research by pursuing bold underexplored areas related to the Arabian Gulf. For example, there is a dearth of research on the alliance between the Arabian Gulf and other non-Muslim, non-Arab countries. The multi-layered relationship between Kuwait and the United States or China for example deserves deeper investigation¹⁹⁹. On a further note, considering the large percentage of Asian population and workforce that lives in Kuwait, future works could assess the relationship Kuwait has with countries including India, Afghanistan, Pakistan and the Philippines. Considering this information, future efforts can define the impact of these countries on Kuwait's culture, in terms of technology transfer, political and security dialogues, international trading activities, human and social development, cultural practices and religious understandings.

¹⁹⁹ A previous study stated that Japan's main export to the Arabian Gulf is technology, and its main import is energy. Japan has also contributed to the security and stability of the Arabian Gulf region. The relationship between Saudi Arabia and Japan has been described as an "exchange of petroleum and technology". As for the relationship between Saudi Arabia and the United States, it is an "exchange of petroleum and security" (Nakamura, 2016: 6-7).

VI. GLOSSARY

All terms are presented in their singular form.

Abaya, عباءة, 'abā'ah [pages 8 and 64]:

A long women's cloak. Essentially a simple, dark-coloured robe-like dress, worn in parts of the Muslim world and is widely spread in the Arabian Peninsula.

Abu, أبو, 'abū [page 57]: Father (of).

'Aib, عيب, 'ayb [pages 183, 226, 227, 230, 255]:Socially inappropriate, disrespectful or shameful.

Al-Masjid Al-Haram, المسجد الحرام, al-masjid al-ḥarām [page 136]:

Islam's most important mosque located in Mecca, Saudi Arabia, which contains the *Kaaba* that pilgrims walk around. It is the most sacred site in Islam.

Aqeeqa, عقيقة, 'aqīqah [page 97]: Animal (usually sheep or lamb) sacrifices.

Bakhoor, بخور, bakūr [page 96]: A traditional, oriental (strong) fragrance.

Baksheesh, بقشيش, baqšīš [page 74]: A tip. A sum of money given to someone as a reward for a service.

Bidun, بدون, bidūn [pages 38, 54, 55, 59, 166, 258]: Literally signifies "without", referring to a stateless (without nationality) Arab minority in Kuwait.

Chai el-thahha, شاي الضحى, šāy al-ḍuḥā [page 57]:

Women's morning tea.

Dishdasha, دشداشة, dišdāšah [page 64]:

An ankle-length, loose traditional garment, commonly worn by men in the Arabian Peninsula. Different terms for this attire exist in every country.

Diwaniya, ديوانية, dīwāniyyah [page 57]: Predominantly men's gathering lounge.

Duaa', دعاء, duʿāʾ [page 109]: To make a prayer. To address God and request something in a humble manner with supplication.

Eid, عد, 'īd [pages 97, 101, 110, 111, 112, 117, 135, 136, 141, 145, 146, 171, 214, 221, 248]: The multiplication of reward and returns by Allah to his worshippers, which can be both material and spiritual.

Eid Al-Adha, عيد الأضحى, 'īdu al-'aḍḥā [pages 108, 110, 136, 157]:

The second Islamic festivity of the year that celebrates the end of pilgrimage or the duty of *Hajj*, commemorating the sacrifice of Prophet Abraham.

Eid Al-Fitr, عيد الفطر, 'īdu al-fițr [pages 108, 110, 135, 157]:

The first Islamic festivity of the year that celebrates breaking the fast after the completion of the month of Ramadan.

Eid Al-Hubb, عيد الحب, 'īdu al-ḥubb [page 156]:

The festivity of love.

Eid Al-'ushaaq, عيد العشاق, 'īdu al-'uššāq [pages 156, 198, 213]:

The festivity of lovers.

Eid El-Mawlid El-Nabawi, عيد الموك النبوي, 'īdu al-mawlid al-nabawī [page 111]:

The festivity that celebrates the birth of Prophet Mohammed.

Eidiyyah, عيدية, 'īdīyah [pages 110, 111, 136, 142]:

The hope that blessings, joy, kindness and generosity are to be repeated the next year.

El-sobou', الأسبوع, al-'usbū' [page 97]:

Party for new-borns that typically takes place on the first week of the baby's birth, but in some cultures, it can be set on the 40^{th} day.

Emir, أمير, 'amīr [pages 52, 53, 54]: Ruling Prince.

Fotour/Iftar, فطور/إفطار, futur/'iftar [pages 136 and 146]:

The meal that breaks the fast at sunset. The terms generally mean the first meal of the day or breakfast.

Gergean, قرقيعان, qirqiʿān [pages 136 and 171]:

A festivity practiced in Arabian Gulf countries that takes place during the month of Ramadan (usually between the 14th and 16th day of Ramadan), which typically involves knocking on neighbourhood doors for the exchange of sweets, celebrated by children with the help of their parents.

Ghabga, غبقة, gabqah [page 136]:

A shared meal served late at night during Ramadan, which takes place between *fotour* and *suhour*.

Hadeeth, حديث, ḥadīt [pages 107 and 109]:

Sayings (usually of the Prophet Mohammed).

Hadiyya, هدية, hadiyya [page 115]:

Arabic term for gift which stems from the word "guidance": هداية (Hidāya).

Hajar Al-Aswad, الحجر الأسود, al-ḥajaru al-ʾaswad [page 136]:

Arabic for The Black Stone. It is a stone set into the corner of the *Kaaba* encased with silver, revered by Muslims as a sacred Islamic relic. Part of *Al-Hajj* ritual is to stop and touch or kiss the stone.

Hajj, الحج, al-ḥajj [pages 65, 110, 136, 157]: Pilgrimage.

Hala Febrayer, هلا فبراير, hala fibrāyir [page 219]:

"Hello February" is a period of increased sales and promotional offers in Kuwait which takes place during February.

Halal, حلال, ḥalāl [pages 185, 191, 198, 248]: Permissible in Islam.

Haram, حرام, ḥarām [pages 185, 226, 227, 230]: Forbidden in Islam.

Hijab, حجاب, ḥijāb [pages 8, 9, 64, 65, 66, 68, 97, 161, 255]: The Islamic veil or headscarf.

Hijri, هجري, hijrī [pages 111 and 221]:

The *Hijri* New Year marks the beginning of a new Islamic lunar year. The *Hijra* was when Prophet Mohammed migrated from Mecca to Medina upon invitation to escape persecution from the Quraysh tribe who prevented him from preaching and spreading the word of Allah.

Ijtihad, اجتهاد, 'ijtihād [pages 64, 189, 191]: Religious exploration.

Imaan, إيمان, 'īmān [page 57]: Piety.

Kaaba, الكعبة, al-ka bah [pages 95 and 136]:

A cuboid-shaped shrine made of stones. It is the direction of prayer for Muslims and the building that pilgrims walk around during *Hajj*.

Kafala, كفالة, kafālah [page 59]: Work or guardian residence sponsorship.

Kaleem Allah, كليم الله, kalīm allāh [page 114]:

The converser of Allah.

Oud, عد, ʿūd [page 96]: A traditional, oriental (strong) fragrance.

Ramadan, رمضان, ramaḍān [pages 97,110, 135, 136, 145, 146,157,171, 214, 215, 221]: The ninth month of the Islamic calendar, observed by Muslims worldwide as a month of fasting, prayer, reflection, and community.

Sadaqa, صدقة, şadaqah [pages 111, 142, 144]: Giving charity.

Salat, صلاة, şalāt [pages 65 and 109]: Prayer.

Sawm, صوم, şawm [page 65]: Fasting.

Shahada, شهادة, šahādah [page 65]: Testimony.

Shaitan, شيطان, šayṭān [page 145]: Devil. **Sharia, شريعة, šarīʿah** [pages 53, 64, 67, 184, 189]: Islamic religious law.

Shia, شيعة, šīʿah [page 55]: One of the two main branches of Islam.

Suhour, سحور, suḥūr [page 136]: The meal before starting the fast at dawn.

Sunnah, سنَّة, sunnah [pages 107, 108, 109, 242]: One of the two main branches of Islam. The Prophet's *Sunnah* refers to the sayings, habits, practices and characteristics of the Prophet Mohammed. It is the second source of religious knowledge for Muslims after the Quran.

Sunni, سُنِّي, **sunnī** [pages 55 and 61]: Those who follow the Prophet's *Sunnah* and represent the *Sunnah* branch of Islam.

Tahadou tahabbou, تهادوا تحابوا, tahādū taḥābū [page 109]: Give gifts and you will love one another.

Um, أم, 'umm [page 57]: Mother (of).

Waseet, وسيط, wasīț [page 74]: Middleman, intermediary or medium.

Wasta, واسطة, wāsiṭah [pages 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 91, 118, 122, 126, 142, 143, 144, 145, 151, 231]:

Favour-doing through social networking with influential figures.

Yawm Al-Hubb Al-'Alami, يوم الحب العالمي, yawm al-hubb al-ʿālamī [page 198]:

The International Day of Love.

Yusr, يسر, yusr [pages 183, 193, 256]:

An Islamic concept that urges to use forgiveness, lenience and empathy.

Zakat, زکاة, zakāt [pages 65, 108, 109, 111, 142, 144]: Almsgiving.

Zakat Al-Fitr, زكاة الفطر, zakāt al-fiţr [page 108]: Almsgiving that occurs before *Eid Al-Fitr*.

Zina, زنا, zinā [page 205]: Sexual relations outside of marriage.

VII. WORKS CITED

1. Primary Sources

1.1 Informant Biographies

- Abrar is a 31-year-old Pakistani, married and has 2 children. She was born in Pakistan and brought to Kuwait as a baby where her family worked since the 80s. She holds a degree in business management. She has recently launched her own skin care/makeup online business on a social media platform. She is Issa's daughter. Interviewed in her house in Farwaniyah, Kuwait in April 2019.
- Adam is Syrian, 31 years old, born and raised in Kuwait. Recently engaged and works as a customer service and sales team leader in one of the leading companies in perfumes and oriental fragrances companies in Kuwait. He was unable to attain his bachelor's degree in business administration for personal reasons. Interviewed in Hawalli, Kuwait, in April 2019.
- Amal is 58 years old and was born in Syria. She moved to Kuwait after she got married in the 80s and has 3 children. Interviewed in her house in Mangaf, Kuwait in August 2019. She is Qassem's mother.
- 4. Amina is 72 years old. She is Kuwaiti of Iranian heritage. She is widowed and was interviewed in her son's house in AlZahraa, Kuwait in August 2019.
- 5. Anna is Swiss. She is 24 years old and single. She moved with her family to Kuwait in 2011 after her father got a job at the Swiss embassy. She has a master's degree in Migration studies. Currently in Costa Rica pursuing another master's degree. Interviewed in Barcelona in March 2019.
- Aseel is an Egyptian Canadian. She is 29 years old, single, and was raised in Kuwait. She has a degree in medical sciences from Toronto and is currently studying medicine in Australia. Interviewed online in March 2019.

- 7. Bader is a 47-year-old Kuwaiti, married and has children. He has a PhD in Engineering and an MBA. He is a construction engineer. Interviewed online in April 2019.
- 8. Bashar is Syrian. He is 23 years old, single, born in Syria and raised in Kuwait. Works as a receptionist and customer service agent while simultaneously pursuing his business administration degree. Interviewed online in June 2018.
- Danah is Kuwaiti, widowed, 67 years old. She has 7 children. She lives with her 4 youngest children in Hateen but was interviewed in her daughter's house in Rumaitheya, Kuwait, August 2019.
- 10. Eman is from Saudi Arabia, married to a Kuwaiti. She is 68 years old. She came to Kuwait after marriage in 1974. She used to help her husband with his business/trade of traditional dresses, oriental fragrances, dates and sweets. Now her children took over the business while she looks after her grandchildren. Interviewed in her house in Rawda, Kuwait, in June 2018.
- 11. Faisal is Kuwaiti. He is 34 years old, married and has children. Works in a bank as a financial analyst, has attained his MBA in 2016. Interviewed in Mishref, Kuwait, in June 2018.
- 12. Fares is 55 years old and is a civil engineer. He is Egyptian and got his bachelor's degree from Egypt. He came to Kuwait in 1993 with his wife and has three children. Interviewed online in February 2019.
- 13. Fatima is Kuwaiti of Palestinian origin, born in 1942. She has had a passion for tourism and art for the last 40 years. She creates wooden and ceramic handcrafts in her home studio to gift them. She survived war and had to take care of her younger siblings because her father fell ill and passed away, so she remained unmarried. Interviewed in her house in Jabriyah, Kuwait in February 2019.

- 14. Ghada is 36, single, Egyptian, born and raised in Kuwait. She has a degree in design technology from UAE. She is currently a fitness trainer and sport brand advertiser in one of the gyms. Interviewed in Salmiya, Kuwait in April 2019.
- 15. Hisham is 18 years old, single, Egyptian, was born and raised in Kuwait. He finalized his secondary school studies and is enrolled in a university in the United States to study Sports management. Interviewed in his home in Salmiya, Kuwait in June 2018.
- 16. Issa is 60 years old. He is Pakistani, he is Abrar's father. He came to Kuwait in the 80s, got married and has 5 children. He is an experienced travel agent and tour advisor. Interviewed in his house in Farwaniyah, Kuwait in April 2019.
- 17. Joanna is a 28-year-old Lebanese. She was born in Lebanon, raised in Kuwait. She studied medicine in Lebanon. Moved to the United States in 2017, got married, and is a physician (medical doctor). Joanna is Omar's daughter. Interviewed online in February 2019.
- 18. Karam is Jordanian of Palestinian origin. He is 56 years old. He came to Kuwait for work after the Persian Gulf War, got married and has 7 children. He is Seba's father. He works at a car sale outlet and repair company. Interviewed in his house in Salwa, Kuwait in July 2019.
- 19. Khaled is 20 years old. He is single, from Lebanon, born and raised in Kuwait. He is currently in Ukraine, studying to become a plastic surgeon. Interviewed online in August 2019.
- 20. Khodor is Belgian of Algerian origin. He is 36 years old, single, and has a PhD in physics from Italy. He moved to Kuwait in 2012 and currently works as an academic. Interviewed online in August 2019.
- 21. Kholoud was born and raised in Lebanon. She is 44 years old and holds a master's degree in social studies. She moved to Kuwait after marriage in 2002. She has 3 children and

currently works as a social coordinator in a school. Interviewed in her house in Salwa, Kuwait in July 2018.

- 22. Lamya is a single 33-year-old Sudanese female. She was born and raised in Kuwait, has a master's degree, worked as a research assistant, and is currently a freelance yoga instructor. Interviewed in Al-Bidaa', Kuwait, in February 2019.
- 23. Latifa is Kuwaiti, 62 years old and lives in Khaldiyah with her husband, children, and grandchildren. Interviewed in her house in May 2018.
- 24. Loulwa is Jordanian, born and raised in Kuwait. She attained a degree in design technology from Jordan and is currently a freelance artist in Kuwait. She sells her art on a social media platform. She is 37 years old, married and has 2 children. Interviewed online in May 2019.
- 25. Maha was born and raised in Lebanon. She is 61 years old. She got married in 1981 and moved to Kuwait with her husband where they can work and start a family. She is a very dedicated civil engineer. Interviewed in my house in Salwa, Kuwait in August 2019.
- 26. Mahmoud was born in Morocco in 1983 (37 years old). He graduated from Morocco and came to Kuwait for work in 2008. He is a lawyer in one of the banks. He is divorced and has 1 child. Interviewed in Kuwait City in April 2019.
- 27. Majida is 31 years old, single, Egyptian of Sudanese heritage who came to Kuwait when she was 5 years old. She has a bachelor's degree in Marketing and works as a PR executive. Interviewed in Salmiya in April 2019.
- 28. Manar is 51 years old, half Iraqi half Jordanian, born and raised in Kuwait. She is married and has 3 kids. She has a business management degree from Jordan. She used to teach finance in university and currently works in the quality management department and contracts. Interviewed in Mishref, Kuwait in June 2018.

- 29. Mariam is 66 years old and has had a long career in teaching. Due to segregation (Islamic) laws in Kuwait, Mariam mostly taught in all-girl schools since Kuwait's liberation. She is Syrian and lives with her children and husband. Interviewed in her house in Salmiya, Kuwait in June 2018.
- 30. Medhat is a 45-year-old Egyptian. He was born in Egypt and moved to Kuwait for work in 2004. His family (wife and children) still lives in Egypt. He has attained a secondary school education and works as a security guard in one of the residential buildings. Interviewed in my house in Salwa, Kuwait, in June 2018.
- 31. Mervat is Jordanian born in 1956 (64 years old). After finalizing her studies in nursing, she came to Kuwait with her husband in 1985. She is currently retired and has returned to Jordan in 2015. Interviewed online in October 2018.
- 32. Mostafa is a 68-year-old married Kuwaiti father. He had a long-time career in aviation and aircraft operations. Interviewed online in August 2019.
- 33. Nahla is the oldest informant. She is a widowed 87-year-old. She is Kuwaiti, from a Lebanese mother. She was born and raised in Lebanon. She experienced several wars, World War II, Lebanon's civil war and the Persian Gulf war. The family returned to Kuwait in the late 80s. Nahla made money as a young adult by knitting and making hand-stitched frocks and woollen sweaters. She lives with her sister, her children, and grandchildren. Interviewed in her house in Shamiya in May 2019.
- 34. Omar is 63 years old. He is Lebanese. He has a civil engineering degree from Lebanon and came to work in Kuwait in 1988. He has 3 children, one of them is Joanna. Interviewed in his house in Salwa, Kuwait in August 2019.
- 35. Qassem is a 26-year-old Syrian. He was born in Syria and raised in Kuwait. He is single and has a diploma in nursing and works as a nurse. He also holds a bachelor's degree in English Literature. Interviewed in Mangaf, Kuwait in August 2019. He is Amal's son.

- 36. Rana is a 31-year-old female. She is half Syrian and half Jordanian of Palestinian origin. She is single and has studied business administration. She works as a Human Resources representative. Interviewed online in March 2019.
- 37. Rashed is a 30-year-old Jordanian of Palestinian origin. He was born and raised in Kuwait. He is single and had worked as a technical computer engineer. He has obtained a bachelor's in Electric (computer) engineering and a master's degree in Drone Engineering. Interviewed during different intervals between May 2018 and March 2019 in Ardiyah Industrial area, Kuwait, Madrid and Barcelona.
- 38. Sahar is Syrian and is 37 years old. She was born and raised in Kuwait. She is married, has children, and holds a bachelor's degree in English Literature, currently a housewife. Interviewed in her house in Salmiya, Kuwait in April 2019.
- 39. Sana is 38 years old. She is half Lebanese, half Serbian (formerly Yugoslavia), born and raised in Kuwait. She has a degree in Business management, got married and now lives in Jordan with her 4 children. Interviewed online in October 2018.
- 40. Sarah was born in Egypt in 1955 (65 years old). She came to Kuwait with her family (parents and siblings) when she was 8 years old. During the Persian Gulf War, they went back to Egypt, and she came back in 1995 for work. She is married and has 4 children. She used to work at a law firm in Kuwait City. Interviewed in her home in Surrah, Kuwait in August 2019.
- 41. Seba is 23 years old and single. She is Jordanian of Palestinian origin, born and raised in Kuwait, has a degree in business administration and works in administration and contract management. She is Karam's daughter. Interviewed in her house in Salwa, Kuwait in July 2019.
- 42. Serene is a single 25-year-old Egyptian female architect. She was born in Egypt and raised in Kuwait. She attained her architecture degree from UAE. Interviewed online in February 2019.

- 43. Suzan is 30 years old. She is Kuwaiti and her mother is Lebanese. She is married and has a baby boy. She attained her master's degree in Petroleum Engineering. Currently enrolled in a PhD program and works for an oil company in Kuwait. Interviewed online in October 2018.
- 44. Tahani is 24 years old, born in Palestine, got married and moved to Kuwait in 2016. She is a university student, currently in her first year in International Business. Interviewed in her house in Hawalli, Kuwait in July 2018.
- 45. Tarek is 17 years old, single, Jordanian of Palestinian origin, born and raised in Kuwait. He is finishing his last year of high school. Interviewed in his home (with the approval of his parents) in Salwa, Kuwait in June 2018.
- 46. Yousef is a 32-year-old male. He is single and of Syrian nationality. His family came to Kuwait for work after the Persian Gulf War. Currently works as a coordinator, helping in client complaints and team stimulation. He has a bachelor's degree in Design management from a university in Syria. Interviewed in Salmiya, Kuwait in July 2018.

1.2 Consultation of Digital Written Archives

'File 5/24 Khalid bin Mohamed Al Faraj', British Library: India Office Records and Private Papers, IOR/R/15/2/114, in *Qatar Digital Library*. File Record History: 6 Aug 1927–17 May 1930. Available from:

https://www.qdl.qa/archive/81055/vdc_10000000193.0x000351 [Accessed 27 September 2021].

1.3 Statistics and Official Governmental Data

- Committee for the Coordination of Statistical Activities (CCSA). (2020). How COVID-19 is changing the world: a statistical perspective. United Nations Statistics Division. Available from: https://unstats.un.org/unsd/ccsa/documents/covid19-report-ccsa.pdf
- Council of Europe. (2008). White Paper on Intercultural Dialogue: "Living Together As Equals in Dignity". Launched by the Council of Europe Ministers of Foreign Affairs at their 118th Ministerial Session. Available from:

https://www.coe.int/t/dg4/intercultural/Source/Pub_White_Paper/White%20Paper_final_revised_EN.pdf

- European Parliament. (2014). The Situation of Women in the Gulf States: A study for the FEMM Committee. Directorate General for Internal Policies, Policy Department C: Citizens' Rights and Constitutional Affairs, Women's Rights and Gender Equality.
- Falk, G., Romero, P. D., Nicchitta, I. A., Nyhof, E. C. and Carter, J. A. (2021). Unemployment Rates During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Congressional Research Service (CRS) reports. Available from: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R46554.pdf
- Greenley, H. L. (2019). The World Oil Market and U.S. Policy: Background and Select Issues for Congress. Congressional Research Service (CRS) reports. Available from: https://sgp.fas.org/crs/row/R45493.pdf
- House of Commons, Science and Technology Committee. (2019). Impact of Social Media and Screen-use on Young People's Health. UK Parliament, Fourteenth Report of Session 2017-2019. Available from:

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmsctech/822/822.pdf

- Ministry of Planning (MOP), Kuwait. (2007). Statistics and Census Sector (SCS). Available from: https://unstats.un.org/unsd/dnss/docViewer.aspx?docID=1595
- Showkat, N. and Parveen, H. (2017). In-depth Interview. Media and Communication Studies, e-PG Pathshala (University Grants Commission and Ministry of Human Resource Development).
- State of Kuwait, Central Statistical Bureau. Available from: https://www.csb.gov.kw/
- Statista Research Department. (2016). Money spending for Valentine's Day gifts for pets 2008-2016. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/217846/money-spending-for-valentines-day-gifts-for-pets-since-2008/ [Accessed 13 June 2020].
- United States Department of State. (2019a). Kuwait 2019 Human Rights Report. Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights and Labor, Country Reports on Human Life Practices for 2019. Available from: https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/kuwait-2019-human-rights-report.pdf

- (2019b). Report on International Religious Freedom: Kuwait. International Religious Freedom Report for 2019. Office of International Religious Freedom. Available from: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-report-on-international-religious-freedom/kuwait/
- World Trade Organization. (2020). E-Commerce, Trade and the Covid-19 Pandemic. 1–8. Available from: https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/covid19_e/ecommerce_report_e.pdf

1.4 Consultation of international organizations' webpages and national associations

- Amnesty International. (2013). The 'Withouts' of Kuwait: Nationality for Stateless Bidun Now. September. Available from:
- https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/16000/mde170012013en.pdf
- Barzoukas, G. (2018). Paper beats rock: GCC geo-economics. European Union Institute for Security Studies (EUISS), Brief Issue No.8. doi:10.2307/resrep21131
- El-Haddad, Y. (2003). Major trends affecting families in the Gulf countries: A background document. Report for United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Division for Social Policy and Development, Program on the Family (2003). Archived at: https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/family/Publications/mtelhaddad.pdf
- Ghoshal, N., et al. (2018). Audacity in Adversity. LGBT Activism in the Middle East and North Africa. Human Rights Watch.
- Human Rights Watch. (2001). Racial Discrimination and Related Intolerance. Human Rights Watch World Report, events from November 1999 through October 2000. Available from: https://www.hrw.org/legacy/wr2k1/print/racism.pdf
- (2011). Prisoners of the Past: Kuwaiti Bidun and the Burden of Statelessness. Available from: http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/kuwait0611WebInside.pdf
- (2016). World Report 2016: Events of 2015. Seven Stories Press: New York.
- International Labour Organization (ILO). (2020a). Impact of the COVID-19 crisis on loss of jobs and hours among domestic workers. Available from: https://www.developmentaid.org/api/frontend/cms/file/2020/06/wcms_747961.pdf
- (2020b). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on jobs and incomes in G20 economies. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). Available from: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/--cabinet/documents/publication/wcms_756331.pdf
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). (2012). Kuwait: 2012 Article IV Consultation. IMF Country Report No. 12/150. Available from: http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2012/cr12150.pdf
- (2015). Kuwait: Selected Issues. IMF Staff Country Reports, Middle East and Central Asia Department, Vol. 15, Issue: 328. https://doi.org/10.5089/9781513512266.002
- Katzman, K. (2005). Kuwait: Post-Saddam Issues and US Policy. Common Reporting Standard (CRS) Report for Congress.

 $https://www.everycrsreport.com/files/20050518_RS21513_0fe049d75f34e726749a1f7d398b2be17eb90d78.pdf$

Kuwait Society for Human Rights. (2017). A Report on the State of Kuwait's Commitment to the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. Available from:

https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CERD/Shared%20Documents/KWT/INT_CERD_NGO_KWT_28063_E.pdf

- Malit Jr., F. and Naufal, G. (2017). Labour Migration, Skills Development and the Future of Work in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) Countries. International Labour Organization (ILO) Working Paper, December 2017. Available from:
- https://www.ilo.org/newdelhi/whatwedo/publications/WCMS_634982/lang--en/index.htm National Democratic Institute for International Affairs (NDI). (2007). Kuwait: Citizens'
- Perceptions of Women in Politics. Findings from focus group research conducted in February 2007.
- Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR). (n.d.). The human rights of women wearing the veil in western Europe: a new human rights analysis. Women's Human Rights and Gender Equality (WRGS). Available from:

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Women/WRGS/Pages/VeilinEuropereport.aspx Panayotatos, D. (2020). Reform Past Due: COVID-19 Magnifies Need to Improve Spain's Asylum System. Refugees International.

https://www.refugeesinternational.org/reports/2020/7/22/reform-past-due-covid-19-magnifies-need-to-improve-spains-asylum-system [Accessed 17 November 2020].

- Plackett, B. (2018). Anxiety and Depression Often Shadow Arab Youth. Al-Fanar Media News Organization. https://www.al-fanarmedia.org/2018/02/anxiety-depression-often-shadowarab-youth/ [Accessed 20 November 2020].
- Rashid, N. (2017). How Young Muslims Define 'Halal Dating' For Themselves. National Public Radio (NPR) Media Organization. Available from: https://www.npr.org/
- Rutkowski, M. and Koettl, J. (2020). Saudi Arabia announces major reforms for its migrant workers. World Bank Blogs. https://blogs.worldbank.org/peoplemove/saudi-arabia-announces-major-reforms-its-migrant-workers [Accessed 26 September 2021].
- Tri International Consulting Group (TICG). (2016). Objective One: Articulation of Kuwait 2035 Vision and Corresponding Opportunities. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and General Secretariat of Supreme Council for Planning and Development (GS-SCPD), Kuwait City. Available from: https://procurementnotices.undp.org/view_file.cfm?doc_id=108233

UNICEF and UNFPA. (2020). Child Marriage and Other Harmful Practices: A Desk Review of Evidence from South Asia. Available from: https://asiapacific.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-

pdf/child_marriage_and_other_harmful_practices_unfpa_apro_and_unicef_rosa_2020.pdf

- United Nations (UN). (2020). Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Trade and Development: Transitioning to a New Normal. United Nations publications: New York. Available from: https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/osg2020d1_en.pdf
- United Nations (UN): Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA). (2016). Against Wind and Tides: A Review of the Status of Women and Gender Equality in the Arab Region: 20 Years after the Adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action. New York. Available from: https://archive.unescwa.org/
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2010). Economic Empowerment of Kuwaiti Women. Project Document, Government of Kuwait, General Secretariat of Supreme Council for Planning and Development (GS-SCPD) and Ministry of Social Affairs and Labour (MOSAL).

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). (2006). UNESCO Guidelines on Intercultural Education. Document 33C/5, Draft Report of the Commission II, item 3.1. Available from: http://www.ugr.es/~javera/pdf/DB2.pdf

World Health Organization. (2020). Mental health and COVID-19. https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/covid-19 [Accessed 24 November 2020].

World Population Review. (2021). Muslim Majority Countries 2021. https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/muslim-majority-countries

1.5 Documentaries and Audio-visual archives

Samar Al Mutawa commenting on Kuwait's lifestyle on *Chai El-Thahha* program aired on KTV1. (2018). Available on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xMkeg1iE4LQ

2. Secondary Sources

2.1 Bibliographies

- Abboud, S., Jemmott, L. S. and Sommers, M. S. (2015). "We are Arabs: The Embodiment of Virginity Through Arab and Arab American Women's Lived Experiences". *Sexuality and Culture*, 19(4), 715–736. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-015-9286-1
- Abdalla, I. A. (2015). "Being and Becoming a Leader: Arabian Gulf Women Managers' Perspectives". *International Journal of Business and Management*, *10*(1), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v10n1p25
- Abdullah, M. and Suhaib, A. (2011). "The Impact of Zakat on Social life of Muslim Society". *Pakistan Journal of Islamic Research*, 8(8). Available from: https://iri.aiou.edu.pk/indexing/?cat=1353
- Abela, A., Vella, S. and Piscopo, S. (2020). Couple Relationships in a Global Context: Understanding Love and Intimacy Across Cultures (European Family Therapy Association Series). Cham: Springer Nature.
- Abu Hwaij, O. (2012). "The Benefits of Hijab". *Undergraduate Journal of Gender and Women's Studies*, 1(1). Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4c09451z
- Abubakar, S. (2018). *The Role of Social Media in Empowering the Involvement of Women in ICT*. Beau Bassin: Lambert Academic Publishing.
- Abu-Dawood Al-Sajestani. (2021). Sunan Abu Dawood. Riyadh: Darussalam.
- Abu-Lughod, J. (1978). "Recent Migrations in the Arab World". In *Human Migration: Patterns and Policies*, McNeill and Adams (eds.), Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 225–237.
- Abu-Lughod, L. (1989). "Zones of Theory in the Anthropology of the Arab World". *Annual Review of Anthropology*, *18*, 267–306.
- (1998). "The Marriage of Feminism and Islamism in Egypt: Selective Repudiation as a Dynamic of Postcolonial Cultural Politics". In *Remaking Women: Feminism and Modernity in the Middle East*, Abu-Lughod (ed.), Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 243–269. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400831203-010
- Abu-Lughod, L., Yegenoglu, M., Arat, Z., Hoodfar, H., Tucker, J., Moghissi, H., Mir-Hosseini, Z., Kandiyoti, D., Mernissi, F. and Ward, R. V. (2001). "Orientalism and Middle East Feminist Studies". *Feminist Studies*, 27(1), 101–113. https://doi.org/10.2307/3178451
- Abu-Odeh, L. (2010). "Honor Killings and the Construction of Gender in Arab Societies". *American Journal of Comparative Law*, 58(4), 911–952. https://doi.org/10.5131/ajcl.2010.0007
- Abu-Rabi, I. M. (2013). *Theodicy and Justice in Modern Islamic Thought: The Case of Said Nursi*. Farnham, Surrey; Burlington, Vermont: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Abusharaf, R. M. and Eickelman, D. F. (2015). *Africa and the Gulf Region: Blurred Boundaries and Shifting Ties* (Gulf Research Center Book Series). Berlin: Gerlach Press.
- Adamczyk, A. and Hayes, B. E. (2012). "Religion and Sexual Behaviors: Understanding the Influence of Islamic Cultures and Religious Affiliation for Explaining Sex Outside of Marriage". American Sociological Review, 77(5), 723–746. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122412458672
- Adiukwu, F., Orsolini, L., Gashi Bytyçi, D., El Hayek, S., et al. (2020). "COVID-19 mental health care toolkit: an international collaborative effort by Early Career Psychiatrists section". *General Psychiatry*, 33(5), e100270. https://doi.org/10.1136/gpsych-2020-100270

- Aguiton, C., Cardon, D., Castelain, A., Fremaux, P., Girard, H., Granjon, F., Nepote, C., Smoreda, Z., Trupia, D. and Ziemlicki, C. (2009). "Does Showing Off Help to Make Friends? Experimenting a Sociological Game on Self-Exhibition and Social Networks". In *Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Weblogs and Social Media (ICWSM 2009)*, San Jose; Menlo Park, California: Association for the Advancement of Artificial Intelligence (AAAI).
- Ahluwalia, P. and Miller, T. (2016). "Why do wars happen?". *Social Identities*, 22(4), 347–349. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504630.2016.1158952
- Ahmad, M. U. and Mahmood, A. (2009). "Zakat fund concept and perspective". *International Journal of Monetary Economics and Finance*, 2(3/4), 197–205. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijmef.2009.029058
- Ahmad, N. (2011). "The Concept of Collectivism in Relation to Islamic and Contemporary Jurisprudence". *The Open Law Journal*, 4(1), 15–20. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874950x01104010015
- Ahmed, S. (2004). The Cultural Politics of Emotion. New York: Routledge.
- Aixelà-Cabré, Y. (2000). *Mujeres en Marruecos. Un análisis desde el parentesco y el género.* Barcelona: Edicions Bellaterra.
- (2006). "Islam and Women; Europe and Islam: Mirror play". *Transfer, Journal of Contemporary Culture, 1,* 67–76.
- (2007a). "Feminine Strategies in Maghrebian Kinship. Moroccan Women Arranged marriages". *Analele Universitâtii din Oradea*, 17, 163–179.
- (2007b). "The Mudawwana and the Koranic Law. The substantial Changes to the Moroccan Family Law". *Language and Intercultural Communication (LAIC)*, 7/2, 133-143.
- (2009). "Los códigos de familia en el mundo arabo-musulmán. Una comparación desde una perspectiva de género". *The Scientific Journal of Humanistic Studies*, 1(1), 1–8, Cluj-Napoca: Argonaut Publishing House.
- (2012). "La presentación social del cuerpo marroquí en contextos migratorios. Entre la afirmación identitaria y el rechazo islamófobo". *Disparidades. Revista de Dialectología y Tradiciones Populares*, 67(1), 19–48. https://doi.org/10.3989/rdtp.2012.02
- (2018). The Management of Religious, Ethnic and Cultural Diversity in Europe in the 21st Century: The Variety of National Approaches. Translated by Konvalinka, N. A., Forward by Stolcke, V. Lewiston, New York; Lampeter, Wales: The Edwin Mellen Press.
- Akande, H. (2015). A Taste of Honey: Sexuality and Erotology in Islam. London: Rabaah Publishers.
- Akhileshwar, S. (2018). "Crude Oil's Past as a Powerful Future Global Resource: Rise of OPEC". International Journal of Business, Management and Allied Sciences (IJBMAS), 5(1), 159–165.
- Al Jallad, N. (2010). "The concept of shame in Arabic: bilingual dictionaries and the challenge of defining culture-based emotions". *Language Design*, *12*, 31–57.
- Alabdullah, W. (2020). "Incorporating Practices of Publicness in Kuwaiti Parks. Chai Ithahha, Cricket, Diwaniya, and Malls". *The Journal of Public Space*, *5*(1), 95–110. https://doi.org/10.32891/jps.v5i1.1253
- Aladwani, A. (2013). "A cross-cultural comparison of Kuwaiti and British citizens' views of egovernment interface quality". *Government Information Quarterly*, *30*, 74–86.

- AlAjeel, A. (2018). "The effect of social media on the Kuwaiti SMEs 2017" (El impacto de las redes sociales en las pymes kuwaitíes en 2017). *Revista Internacional de Relaciones Públicas*, 8(16), 67–84. https://doi.org/10.5783/rirp-16-2018-05-67-84
- Al-Ali, K. (2010). "Automating PAAET: the Kuwaiti Distance Learning Project a personal reflection". In *Proceedings of the Fifth Conference of Learning International Networks Consortium (LINC)*, 1–11, Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press.
- Al-Ali, N. S. (2002). The Women's Movement in Egypt, with Selected References to Turkey. Civil Society and Social Movements, (5). Geneva: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development.
- AlAzmi, M. Q. (2014). *The Women's Cultural and Social Society (WCSS): Its Role in Shaping Women's Political Participation in Kuwait (1963-2010)*. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, University of Missouri. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/62782515.pdf
- Al-Bukhari, M. (2021). Al-Adab Al-Mufrad. Selangor, Malaysia: Dakwah Corner Publications.
- Aleinikoff, T. A. and Klusmeyer, D. B. (2000). *From Migrants to Citizens: Membership in a Changing World*. Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.
- Alexander, J. C. (1982). Theoretical Logic in Sociology: The Antinomies of Classical Thought: Marx and Durkheim (Vol. 2). Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Alfelaij, B. (2016). "Why integrating technology has been unsuccessful in Kuwait?". An exploratory study. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, *13*(3–4), 126–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/2042753016672901
- Alghafli, Z., Hatch, T. and Marks, L. (2014). "Religion and Relationships in Muslim Families: A Qualitative Examination of Devout Married Muslim Couples". *Religions*, 5(3), 814–833. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel5030814
- Al-Ghanim, K. (2010). "Consanguineous Marriage in Qatar: Marriage Selection in a Society in Transition". In *Proceedings of 2010 International Conference on Humanities, Historical and Social Sciences, 18*, 248–252, Singapore. Available from: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2924868 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2924868
- Al-Hashimi, A. (2011). *The Days of Prophet Muhammad with his wives*. Translated by Jaffala, N. M. Riyadh: International Islamic Publishing House (IIPH).
- Ali, K. (2006). Sexual Ethics and Islam: Feminist Reflections on Qur'an, Hadith and Jurisprudence. Oxford: Oneworld Publications.
- Ali, N., Phillips, R., Chambers, C., Narkowicz, K., Hopkins, P. and Pande, R. (2019). "Halal dating: Changing relationship attitudes and experiences among young British Muslims". *Sexualities*, 23(5–6), 775–792. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460719850113
- Ali, S. S. (1998). Equal Before Allah, Unequal Before Man? Negotiating Gender Hierarchies in Islam and International Law. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, University of Hull. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/2731703.pdf
- Aljazzaf, M. I. (2017). "Effect of Social Media Applications on Kuwaiti Teenagers: An Empirical Study". American Journal of Applied Mathematics and Statistics, 5(4), 145–153. https://doi.org/10.12691/ajams-5-4-5
- Al-Khraif, R., Abdul Salam, A. and Abdul Rashid, M. F. (2020). "Family Demographic Transition in Saudi Arabia: Emerging Issues and Concerns". *SAGE Open*, *10*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020914556
- Al-Krenawi A. (2005). "Mental health practice in Arab countries". *Current opinion in psychiatry*, *18*(5), 560–564. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.yco.0000179498.46182.8b

- Allmark, P. J., Boote, J., Chambers, E., Clarke, A., Mcdonnell, A., Thompson, A. and Tod, A. (2009). "Ethical issues in the use of in-depth interviews: Literature review and discussion". *Research Ethics Review*, 5(2), 48-54.
- Almadanat, A. I. (2018). Native Arab Women and Perceptions of Leadership. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, Gannon University. Available from: https://www.proquest.com/openview/c1b28cdd00b8720aedb17af6363d9b63/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750
- Al-Mughni, H. A. (2000). "Women's Movements and the Autonomy of Civil Society in Kuwait". In Conscious Acts and the Politics of Social Change: Feminist Approaches to Social Movements, Community, and Power, Teske and Tétreault (eds.), Columbia, South Carolina: University of South Carolina Press, 170–187.
- (2001). Women In Kuwait: The Politics of Gender. London: Saqi Books.
- (2008). *The Politics of Women's Suffrage in Kuwait*. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Available from: https://carnegieendowment.org/sada/21231
- (2010). "The Rise of Islamic Feminism in Kuwait". *Revue Des Mondes Musulmans et de La Méditerranée*, 128, 167–182. https://doi.org/10.4000/remmm.6899. Available from: https://www.readcube.com/articles/10.4000%2Fremmm.6899
- Al-Nakib, F. (2014a). "Towards an Urban Alternative for Kuwait: Protests and Public Participation". *Built Environment*, 40(1), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.2148/benv.40.1.101
- (2018). "Legitimizing the Illegitimate: A Case for Kuwait's Forgotten Modernity". *Traditional Dwellings and Settlements Review*, 29(2), 7–22. doi:10.2307/26877320
- (2020). "Modernity and the Arab Gulf States: The politics of heritage, memory, and forgetting". In *Routledge Handbook of Persian Gulf Politics*, Kamrava (ed.), London: Routledge, 57–82.
- Al-Naqeeb, K. H. (1990). Society and State in the Gulf and the Arab Peninsula. London: Routledge.
- Al-Nasa'i, A. (2021). *Sunan An-Nasa'i* (Arabic- English Text in 4 Volumes). Beirut: Dar Al-Kotob Al-'Ilmiya. https://sunnah.com/nasai
- Alnaser, F. A. (2018). *Youth Transitions and Social Change in Kuwait: Tensions between Tradition and Modernity*. Doctoral Thesis in Social and Political Sciences, University of Glasgow. Available from: http://theses.gla.ac.uk/30774/1/2018fatimahphd.pdf
- Al-Oueid, A. (2012). يسر الشريعة: المعالم والضوابط. [The Lenience of Sharia: The Parameters and Controls]. Riyadh: King Fahad National Library in publishing.
- Alpay S., Özdemir, İ. and Demirbaş D. (2013). "Environment and Islam". Journal of Economic Cooperation and Development, 34(4), 1–22.
- Al-Qaradawi, Y. (1999). *The Lawful and the Prohibited in Islam* [Al-Halal Wal Haram Fil Islam]. Indianapolis: American Trust Publications.
- Al-Rawashdeh, M. S. and Al-Rawashdeh, I. A. (2014). "The Impact of Secular Thought on the Arab and Islamic World of Modern Times". *Global Journal of Interdisciplinary Social Sciences*, 3(6), 8–19.
- Alsager, N. (2014). *Acquiring Modernity*. Translated by Nassar, N. and Berlitz Kuwait. Venice; Kuwait City: National Council for Culture, Arts and Letters.
- Alsaidi, A. (2015). "What Drives Child Marriage in the Arab World and How the World is Combating the Problem". *Law School Student Scholarship Article*, 775, Seton Hall University. Available from: https://scholarship.shu.edu/student_scholarship/775

- Al-Shamlan, S. M. (1959). من تاريخ الكويت [From the History of Kuwait]. Cairo: Nahdat Misr Publishing Group.
- (2001)[1975]. Pearling in the Arabian Gulf: A Kuwaiti Memoir. London: London Centre for Arabic Studies, Translated by Clark, P. from تاريخ الغوص: على اللؤلؤ في الكويت والخليج العربي [History of Diving: On Pearls in Kuwait and the Arabian Gulf], Kuwait: That Al Salasil.

Al-Shammari, G. (2009). *The Prophet Muhammad: The Best of All Husbands*. Translated by Jaffer, N. Riyadh: International Islamic Publishing House (IIPH).

- Al-Sultan, Y. Y. (1998). "The concept of science park in the context of Kuwait". *International Journal of Technology Management*, *16*(8), 800–807. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijtm.1998.002699 and http://www.inderscience.com/offer.php?id=2699
- Al-Suwaihel, O. E. (2010). "Kuwaiti Female Leaders Perspectives: The Influence of Culture On Their Leadership". *Contemporary Issues in Education Research (CIER)*, 3(3), 29–40. https://doi.org/10.19030/cier.v3i3.184
- AlTaher, B. B. (2019). "Ethnocentric and class barriers: Discrimination against domestic workers in the Middle East". *Asian Journal of Women's Studies*, *25*(3), 396–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/12259276.2019.1646519

Altarkait, M. A. A. H. (2019). *The effect of social media use on inter-organisational relationships in Kuwaiti SMEs*. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, The University of Leeds. Available from: https://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/23121/1/Altarkait%20thesis%202.pdf

Alterman, J. B. (2000). "The Middle East's Information Revolution". *Current History*, 99(633), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.1525/curh.2000.99.633.21

- Althoff, T., Danescu-Niculescu-Mizil, C. and Jurafsky, D. (2014). "How to Ask for a Favor: A Case Study on the Success of Altruistic Requests". In *Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Weblogs and Social Media (ICWSM) 2014.*
- Al-Twal, A. and Aladwan, K. (2020). "Graduating students' standpoints on Wasta as a 'gateway' to employment: motives and influences". *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, Vol. ahead-of-print, No. ahead-of-print. Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-04-2020-2139

Álvarez, E. (2016). "Affective Variations. Queering Hispanidad in Luis Cernuda's Mexico". In *Engaging the Emotions in Spanish Culture and History*, Delgado, Fernández and Labanyi (eds.), Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press, 192–209. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv16756g4.16

Al-Waqfi, M. A. and Al-Faki, I. A. (2015). "Gender-based differences in employment conditions of local and expatriate workers in the GCC context". *International Journal of Manpower*, 36(3), 397–415. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijm-10-2013-0236

Alwin, D. F. (2012). "Integrating Varieties of Life Course Concepts". *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67B(2), 206–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr146

Alzuabi, A. Z. (2016). "Sociopolitical Participation of Kuwaiti Women in the Development Process: Current State and Challenges Ahead". *Journal of Social Service Research*, 42(5), 689–702. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2016.1212775

Amir, O. and Ariely, D. (2004). The Pain of Deciding: Indecision, Procrastination, and Consumer Choice Online. Unpublished manuscript. Available from: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.320.7533&rep=rep1&type=pdf

- Amiraux, V. (2003). "Discours Voilés Sur Les Musulmanes En Europe: Comment Les Musulmans Sont-ils Devenus Des Musulmanes?". Social Compass, 50(1), 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/0037768603050001966
- Amit, K. and Bar-Lev, S. (2015). "Immigrants' Sense of Belonging to the Host Country: The Role of Life Satisfaction, Language Proficiency, and Religious Motives". Social Indicators Research, 124(3), 947–961. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-014-0823-3
- Anderson, B. (1983). Imagined Communities. London: Verso.
- Andreoni, J. (1990). "Impure Altruism and Donations to Public Goods: A Theory of Warm-Glow Giving". *The Economic Journal*, *100*(401), 464. https://doi.org/10.2307/2234133
- Anggadwita, G., Mulyaningsih, H. D., Ramadani, V. and Arwiyah, M. Y. (2015). "Women entrepreneurship in Islamic perspective: a driver for social change". *International Journal of Business and Globalisation*, 15(3), 389. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijbg.2015.071914
- Anik, L., Aknin, L. B., Norton, M. I. and Dunn, E. W. (2009). "Feeling Good About Giving: The Benefits (and Costs) of Self-Interested Charitable Behavior". *Harvard Business School Marketing Unit Working Paper*, (10-012). http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1444831
- An-Na[°]im, A. (2008). Islam and the Secular State: Negotiating the Future of Shari'a. Cambridge, Massachusetts; London: Harvard University Press. Retrieved June 21, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt13x0hj3
- Anser, L. (2013). "Divorce in the Arab Gulf Countries: A Major Challenge to Family and Society". In *Contemporary Issues in Family Studies: Global Perspectives on Partnerships, Parenting and Support in a Changing World*, Abela and Walker (eds.), Chichester, West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons Inc., 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118320990.ch5
- Appadurai, A. (1990). "Disjuncture and Difference in the Global Cultural Economy". *Theory, Culture and Society*, 7(2-3), 295–310.
- (1996). Modernity at Large: Cultural Dimensions of Globalization. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- (2000). "Grassroots Globalization and the Research Imagination". *Public Culture*, *12*(1), 1– 19. https://doi.org/10.1215/08992363-12-1-1
- Archibald, J. (2011). "The Modern Middle East". *Middle Eastern Studies*, 47(3), 562–567. https://doi.org/10.1080/00263206.2011.567839
- Arenfeldt, P. and Golley, N. A. (2012). *Mapping Arab Women's Movements: A Century of Transformations from Within*. Cairo; New York: The American University in Cairo Press.
- Areni, C. S., Kiecker, P. and Palan, K. M. (1998). "Is it better to give than to receive? Exploring gender differences in the meaning of memorable gifts". *Psychology and Marketing*, 15(1), 81–109.
- Ariely, G. (2019). "The nexus between globalization and ethnic identity: A view from below". *Ethnicities*, *19*(5), 763–783. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468796819834951
- Arikewuyo, A. O., Lasisi, T. T., Abdulbaqi, S. S., Omoloso, A. I. and Arikewuyo, H. O. (2020).
 "Evaluating the use of social media in escalating conflicts in romantic relationships". *Journal of Public Affairs*. Advanced Online Publication. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2331
- Armbrust, W. (2002). "The Riddle of Ramadan: Media, Consumer Culture, and the "Christmasization" of a Muslim Holiday". In *Everyday Life in the Muslim Middle East*, Bowen and Early (eds.), Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 335–348.
- Ascoura, I. E. (2013). "Impact of Pilgrimage (Hajj) on the Urban Growth of the Mecca". *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, *3*(2), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.5901/jesr.2013.v3n2p255

- Ashton, N. (1998). "Britain and the Kuwaiti crisis, 1961". *Diplomacy & Statecraft*, 9(1), 163–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/09592299808406074
- Ashworth, P. D. (2013). "The Gift Relationship". *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 44(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1163/15691624-12341243
- Askool, S. S. (2013). "The Use of Social Media in Arab Countries: A Case of Saudi Arabia". In *The 8th International conference on Web Information Systems and Technologies, WEBIST 2012*. Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing, Vol. 140, Cordeiro and Krempels (eds.), Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer, 201–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-36608-6_13
- Athamneh, W. (2017). *Modern Arabic Poetry: Revolution and Conflict*. Notre Dame, Indiana: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Atiyyah, H. S. (1996). "Expatriate acculturation in Arab Gulf countries". *Journal of Management Development*, 15(5), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1108/02621719610117231
- Babb, F. E. (1990). "Women's work: engendering economic anthropology". Urban Anthropology, 19, 277–301.
- Badr, H. (2004). "Islamic identity re-covered: Muslim women after September 11th". *Culture and Religion*, 5(3), 321–338. https://doi.org/10.1080/0143830042000294406
- Bahhouth, V., Ziemnowicz, C. and Zgheib, Y. (2012). "Effect of Culture and Traditions on Consumer Behavior in Kuwait". *International Journal of Business, Marketing, and Decision Sciences*, 5(2).
- Bajnaid, A. N. and Elyas, T. (2017). "Exploring the Phenomena of Online Dating Platforms Versus Saudi Traditional Spouse Courtship in the 21st Century". *Digest of Middle East Studies*, 26(1), 74–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/dome.12104
- Baldi, G. (2018). Law & Critique: Burkini, Bikini and the Female (un)dressed Body. Critical Legal Thinking [weblog article, 22 June 2018]. Available from: https://criticallegalthinking.com/2018/06/22/law-critique-burkini-bikini-the-femaleundressed-body/
- Ballington, J. and Karam, A. (2005). *Women in parliament: Beyond numbers*. Stockholm: International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (International IDEA).
- Banban, D. (2018). "Harmony in diversity: an empirical study of harmonious co-existence in the multi-ethnic culture of Qinghai". *International Journal of Anthropology and Ethnology*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41257-018-0010-6
- Bani, L. M. and Pate, H. A. (2015). "The Role of Spouses under Islamic Family Law". *International Affairs and Global Strategy*, *37*, 104–111.
- Bao, T., Liang, B. and Riyanto, Y. E. (2019). "Social Media and Life Satisfaction: Evidence from Chinese Time-Use Survey". SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3534633
- Baqutayan, S. M. S., Mohsin, M. I. A., Mahdzir, A. M. and Ariffin, A. S. (2018). "The psychology of giving behavior in Islam". *Sociology International Journal*, 2(2), 88–92. https://doi.org/10.15406/sij.2018.02.00037ç
- Barakat, S. and Skelton, J. (2014). *The reconstruction of post-war Kuwait: a missed opportunity?*. Kuwait Programme on Development, Governance and Globalisation in the Gulf States, LSE Kuwait Programme Research Papers, (37). Available from: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/55337/1/Barakat_Skelton_2014.pdf
- Barkley-Levenson, E. E. and Fox, C. R. (2016). "The surprising relationship between indecisiveness and impulsivity". *Personality and Individual Differences*, 90, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.10.030

- Barnett, A., Yandle, B. and Naufal, G. S. (2013). "Regulation, trust, and cronyism in Middle Eastern societies: The simple economics of "wasta". *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 44, 41–46. DOI:10.1016/j.socec.2013.02.004
- Barrett, L. F., Lewis, M. and Haviland-Jones, J. M. (2018). *Handbook of Emotions*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Barzinji, M. N. H. (2013). "Modernism, Modernity and Modernisation". *Research on Humanities and Social Sciences*, *3*(12), 43–52.
- Basch L., Schiller, N. G. and Blanc, C. S. (1997). Nations Unbound: Transnational Projects, Postcolonial Predicaments and Deterritorialized Nation-States. Amsterdam: Gordon and Breach Publishers.
- Bass, T. (2013). "Freedom, Morality and Self-Love? Reinterpreting Rousseau's Amour-propre as Fundamental for the Virtuous Citizen". *Reinvention: An International Journal of Undergraduate Research*, 6(1). Available from: www.warwick.ac.uk/reinventionjournal/archive/volume6issue1/bass
- Beck, U. (1992). *Risk Society: Towards a New Modernity* (Published in association with Theory, Culture & Society). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Beckert, J. and Zafirovski, M. (2005). *International Encyclopedia of Economic Sociology*. London: Routledge.
- Belk, R. W. (1976). "It's the Thought that Counts: A Signed Digraph Analysis of Gift-Giving". *Journal of Consumer Research*, 3(3), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1086/208662
- (1995). "Collecting as luxury consumption: Effects on individuals and households". *Journal of Economic Psychology*, *16*(3), 477–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4870(95)98956-x
- Belk, R. W. and Coon, G. S. (1991). "Can't Buy Me Love: Dating, Money, and Gifts". In Advances in Consumer Research, Vol. 18, Holman and Solomon (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 521–527.
- (1993). "Gift Giving as Agapic Love: An Alternative to the Exchange Paradigm Based on Dating Experiences". *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20(3), 393–417. https://doi.org/10.1086/209357
- Belk, R. W. and Sherry Jr., J. F. (2007). Consumer Culture Theory. Boston: Elsevier JAI.
- Bell, D. (1991). "Modes of exchange: Gift and commodity". *The Journal of Socioeconomics*, 20(2), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1053-5357(05)80003-4
- Benería, L., Floro, M., Grown, C. and MacDonald, M. (2000). "Introduction: Globalization and Gender". *Feminist Economics*, 6(3), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/135457000750020100
- Benson, M. and Carter, D. (2008). "Introduction: Nothing in Return? Distinctions between Gift and Commodity in Contemporary Societies". *Anthropology in Action*, 15(3), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3167/aia.2008.150301
- Ben-Ze'Ev, A. (2000). *The Subtlety of Emotions*. Cambridge, Massachusetts; London: MIT Press.
- Berger, R., Herstein, R., McCarthy, D. and Puffer, S. (2019). "Doing favors in the Arab world". *International Journal of Emerging Markets*, 14(5), 916–943. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijoem-06-2018-0292
- Berrios, R. (2019). "What Is Complex/Emotional About Emotional Complexity?" *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01606
- Bertaux, D. (1981). "From the life-history approach to the transformation of sociological practice". In *Biography and Society: The Life History Approach in the Social Sciences*, SAGE Studies in International Sociology, Bertaux (ed.), London: Sage Publications, 29–45.

- Bhambra, G. K. (2014). "Postcolonial and decolonial dialogues". *Postcolonial Studies*, *17*(2), 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/13688790.2014.966414
- Bhaumik, P., Dasgupta, A. and Paul, B. (2020). "COVID-19 and the state of mind: A vendetta". *Medical Journal of Dr. D.Y. Patil Vidyapeeth*, 13(3), 197. 10.4103/mjdrdypu.mjdrdypu_213_20.
- Bhowon, U. and Bundhoo, H. (2016). "Perceptions and Reasons for Veiling". *Psychology and Developing Societies*, 28(1), 29–49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0971333615622894
- Bhugra, D. (2004). "Migration, distress and cultural identity". *British Medical Bulletin*, 69(1), 129–141. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldh007
- Bhugra, D. and Becker, M. A. (2005). "Migration, Cultural Bereavement and Cultural Identity". *World Psychiatry*, 4(1), 18–24. Available from:
 - https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1414713/
- Bin Anas, M. (2021). Al Muwatta. Beirut: Dar Ibn Kathir.
- Blakeman, H. R. (2014). The Muslim Veil in America: A Symbol of Oppression or Empowerment?. Honors Degree in Anthropology Thesis, Honors College 150, University of Maine. Available from: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/honors/150
- Block, D. (2015). "Structure, Agency, Individualization and the Critical Realist Challenge". In *Theorizing and Analyzing Agency in Second Language Learning: Interdisciplinary approaches*, Deters, Gao, Miller and Vitanova (eds.), Bristol; Buffalo: Multilingual Matters, 17–36.
- Boas, F. (1888). "The Indians of British Columbia". *The Popular Science Monthly*, *32*, 628–636.
 Retrieved 25 September 2020 from: https://en.wikisource.org/w/index.php?title=Popular_Science_Monthly/Volume_32/March_1 888/The Indians of British Columbiaandoldid=10140303
- Bonney, R. (2004). "Reflections on the differences between religion and culture". *Clinical Cornerstone*, 6(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1098-3597(04)90004-x
- Borg, G. (2015). "Poetry as a Source for the History of Early Islam: The case of (al-) Abbās b. Mirdās". *Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies*, *15*, 137–163. https://doi.org/10.5617/jais.4649
- Bosworth, C. E. (1984). "Madyan Shu'ayb in Pre-Islamic and Early Islamic Lore and History". *Journal of Semitic Studies*, 29(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1093/jss/xxix.1.53
- Bouffard, S., Giglio, D. and Zheng, Z. (2021). "Social Media and Romantic Relationship: Excessive Social Media Use Leads to Relationship Conflicts, Negative Outcomes, and Addiction via Mediated Pathways". *Social Science Computer Review*. https://doi.org/10.1177/08944393211013566
- Bourdieu, P. (1969)[1966]. "Intellectual field and creative project". *Social Science Information*, 8(2), 89–119. Translated by France, S. from "Champ intellectuel et projet créateur". *Les Temps Modernes*, (246), 865–906. https://doi.org/10.1177/053901846900800205
- (1977)[1972]. Outline of a Theory of Practice. Cambridge Studies in Social and Cultural Anthropology. Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. Translated by Nice, R. from Esquisse D'une théorie De La Pratique. Geneva: Librairie Droz.
- (1998)[1994]. Practical Reason: On the Theory of Action. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press. Translated by Johnson, R. and Nice, R. from *Raisons Pratiques*. Paris: Éditions du Seuil.
- (2000)[1997]. Pascalian Meditations. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press. Translated by Nice, R. from Méditations Pascaliennes. Paris: Éditions du Seuil.

- (2004). "Marcel Mauss, aujourd'hui". Sociologie et Sociétés, 36(2), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.7202/011044ar
- Bowden, B. (2016). "Civilization and Its Consequences". *Oxford Handbooks Online*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199935307.013.30
- (2019). "In the Name of Civilization: War, Conquest, and Colonialism". *Pléyade (Santiago)*, 23, 73–100. https://doi.org/10.4067/s0719-36962019000100073
- Bowen, D. L. and Early, E. A. (2002). *Everyday life in the Muslim Middle East*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Boyce, C. and Neale, P. (2006). Conducting In-Depth Interviews: A Guide for Designing and Conducting In-Depth Interviews for Evaluation Input. Pathfinder International Tool Series: Monitoring and Evaluation - 2. Watertown, Massachusetts: Pathfinder International. Available from:

 $http://www2.pathfinder.org/site/DocServer/m_e_tool_series_indepth_interviews.pdf?docID=6301$

- Bradler, C. and Neckermann, S. (2019). "The Magic of the Personal Touch: Field Experimental Evidence on Money and Appreciation as Gifts". *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, *121*(3), 1189–1221. https://doi.org/10.1111/sjoe.12310
- Braiker, H. B. (2004). *Who's Pulling Your Strings? How to Break the Cycle of Manipulation and Regain Control of Your Life.* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Branco-Illodo, I. and Heath, T. (2020). "The 'perfect gift' and the 'best gift ever': An integrative framework for truly special gifts". *Journal of Business Research*, *120*, 418–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.11.012
- Bria, F. (2013). Social Media and Their Impact on Organisations: Building Firm Celebrity and Organisational Legitimacy Through Social Media. Doctoral Thesis in Innovation and Entrepreneurship, Imperial College London. Available from: https://spiral.imperial.ac.uk:8443/handle/10044/1/24944
- Brigham, J. C. (1986). Social psychology. Boston: Little, Brown.

Brinkley, I., Hutton, W., Schneider, P. and Ulrichsen, K. C. (2012). *Kuwait and the Knowledge Economy*. The Work Foundation and the Kuwait Programme on Development, Governance and Globalisation in the Gulf States, LSE Kuwait Programme Research Papers, (22). Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/19578387.pdf

- Britt, J. (2013). "The Statue of Liberty: Double Stories Provide Historical Perspective". *Social Studies and the Young Learner*, 25(4), 4–8.
- Brody, L. R. and Hall, J. A. (2000). "Gender emotion, and expression". In *Handbook of Emotions*, Lewis and Haviland-Jones (eds.), New York: Guilford Press, 338–349.

Brosius, C. and Wenzlhuemer, R. (2011). *Transcultural Turbulences: Towards a Multi-Sited Reading of Image Flows* (Transcultural Research – Heidelberg Studies on Asia and Europe in a Global Context). Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

- Broverman, K. K., Vogel, S. R., Broverman, D. M., Carlson, F. E. and Rosenkrantz, P. S. (1972). "Sex role stereotypes: A current appraisal". *Journal of Social Issues*, 28, 59–78.
- Bruni, L. and Zamagni, S. (2013). *Handbook on the Economics of Reciprocity and Social Enterprise*. Cheltenham, UK; Northampton, Massachusetts: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research Methods. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A. and Cassell, C. (2006). "The researcher interview: a reflexive perspective". *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, *1*(1), 41–55.

Buchanan, T. (2020). "Why do people spread false information online? The effects of message and viewer characteristics on self-reported likelihood of sharing social media disinformation". *PLOS ONE*, *15*(10), e0239666. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239666

Bucholtz, M. (2003). "Sociolinguistic nostalgia and the authentication of identity". *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 7(3), 398–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9481.00232

Budianta, M., Budiman, M., Kusno, A. and Moriyama, M. (2018). *Cultural Dynamics in a Globalized World*. London; New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.

Burgess, R. G. (2016). *In the Field: An Introduction to Field Research* (Contemporary Social Research Series). London; New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.

Burhamah, W., AlKhayyat, A., Oroszlányová, M., AlKenane, A., Almansouri, A., Behbehani, M., Karimi, N., Jafar, H. and AlSuwaidan, M. (2020). "The psychological burden of the COVID-19 pandemic and associated lockdown measures: Experience from 4000 participants". *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 977–985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.014

Burrell, M. (1989). *Islamic Fundamentalism*. London: Royal Asiatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland.

- Butler, B. S. and Matook, S. (2015). "Social Media and Relationships". In *The International Encyclopaedia of Digital Communication and Society*, Mansell and Ang (eds.), London: Wiley-Blackwell, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118767771.wbiedcs097
- Buxo i Rei, M. J. and González Alcantud, J. A. (2021). *Pandemia y confinamiento: Aportes antropológicos sobre el malestar en la cultura global*. Colección Antropología y Estudios Culturales. Granada: Editorial Universidad de Granada.

Caillé, A. (1989). *Critique de la raison utilitaire: Manifeste du Mauss* (Agalma). Paris: Editions La Découverte.

- (1994). Don, intérêt et désintéressement: Bourdieu, Mauss, Platon et quelques autres (Collection "Recherches"). Paris: Editions La Découverte.
- (1996). "Ni holisme ni individualisme methodologiques: Marcel Mauss et le paradigme du don. L'obligation de donner: La découverte sociologique capitale de Marcel Mauss". *La revue du M.A.U.S.S. semestrielle*, 8(2), 12–58.
- (2000). Anthropologie du don: Le Tiers paradigme (Sociologie économique). Paris: Desclée de Brouwer.
- (2001). "The Double Inconceivability of the Pure Gift". Angelaki: Journal of Theoretical Humanities, 6(2), 23–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/09697250120076376
- (2005). "Marcel Mauss et le paradigme du don". Sociologie et Sociétés, 36(2), 141–176. https://doi.org/10.7202/011053ar
- Calinescu, M. (2006). *Five Faces of Modernity: Modernism, Avant-garde, Decadence, Kitsch, Postmodernism.* Durham: Duke University Press.
- Camerer, C. (1988). "Gifts as Economic Signals and Social Symbols". *American Journal of Sociology*, *94*, S180–S214. https://doi.org/10.1086/228946
- Campbell, C. (1995). "The sociology of consumption". In *Acknowledging consumption*, Miller (ed.), London; New York: Routledge, 96–126.
- Caplow, T. (1982). "Christmas gifts and kin networks". *American Sociological Review*, 47(3), 383–392.
- (1984). "Rule enforcement without visible means: Christmas gift giving in Middletown". *American Journal of Sociology*, 89, 1306–1323.

Carle, R. (2011). Tariq Ramadan and the Quest for a Moderate Islam. *Society*, 48, 58–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12115-010-9393-4

Carpi, E. and Di Peri, R. (2020). "Le Liban et la recherche internationale après les révoltes de 2011: ¿une «zone de confort»?". *Afriche e Orienti*, 21(2/2019), 107–124.

- Carrier, J. G. (1990). "The Symbolism of Possession in Commodity Advertising". *Man*, 25(4), 693. https://doi.org/10.2307/2803661
- (2012a)[1995]. Gifts and Commodities: Exchange and Western Capitalism Since 1700 (Material Cultures). London: Routledge.
- (2012b)[2005]. A Handbook of Economic Anthropology. Cheltenham, UK; Northampton, Massachusetts: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- Carrier, M. (2018). From Smartphones to Social Media: How Technology Affects Our Brains and Behavior. Santa Barbara, California: Greenwood Publishing.
- Chan, C. and Mogilner, C. (2016). "Experiential Gifts Foster Stronger Social Relationships than Material Gifts". *Journal of Consumer Research*, *43*(6), 913–931. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucw067
- Chance, Z. and Norton, M. I. (2011). "I give therefore I have: Charitable donations and subjective wealth". In *Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 38, Dahl, Johar and Osselaer (eds.), Duluth, Minnesota: Association for Consumer Research, 150–151. Available from: https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/16264/volumes/v38/NA-38
- Chanial, P. (2008). "Ce que le don donne à voir". In *La Société Vue Du Don: Manuel De Sociologie Anti-Utilitariste Appliqué*, Chanial (ed.), Paris: Éditions La Découverte, 9–44. Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/45342032_La_Societe_Vue_Du_Don_Manuel_De _Sociologie_Anti-Utilitariste_Appliquee

- (2010). "Bourdieu, un «héritier» paradoxal?". *Revue Du MAUSS*, 36(2), 483–492. https://doi.org/10.3917/rdm.036.0483
- (2012). "Don et care: une famille (politique) à recomposer?". *Revue Du MAUSS*, 39(1), 67–88. https://doi.org/10.3917/rdm.039.0067 [Available from: http://www.journaldumauss.net/./?The-Gift-and-Care-1129]
- (2014). "Don et care: une perspective anthropologique". *Recherche & Formation*, 76, 51–60. https://doi.org/10.4000/rechercheformation.2232
- Chapman, G. D. (2014). The 5 Love Languages. Chicago: Northfield Publishing.
- Charara, R., Forouzanfar, M., Naghavi, M., Moradi-Lakeh, M., Afshin, A., Vos, T., et al. (2017).
 "The Burden of Mental Disorders in the Eastern Mediterranean Region, 1990-2013". *PLOS* ONE, 12(1), e0169575. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169575
- Charnon-Deutsch, L. (2016). "Hatred alone warms the heart". In *Engaging the Emotions in Spanish Culture and History*, Delgado, Fernández and Labanyi (eds.), Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press, 95–110. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv16756g4.10
- Cheal, D. J. (1986). "The Social Dimensions of Gift Behaviour". *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *3*(4), 423–439. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407586034002
- (1987). 'Showing Them You Love Them': Gift Giving and the Dialectic of Intimacy. *The Sociological Review*, 35(1), 150–169. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-954x.1987.tb00007.x
- (1988). The Gift Economy. Social and Cultural Anthropology. London; New York: Routledge.

- Cheek, N. N. and Goebel, J. (2020). "What does it mean to maximize? "Decision difficulty", indecisiveness, and the jingle-jangle fallacies in the measurement of maximizing". *Judgement and Decision Making*, *15*(1), 7–24.
- Chen, D. L. (2020). "Gender Violence and the Price of Virginity: Theory and Evidence of Incomplete Marriage Contracts". *Journal of Religion and Demography*, 7(2), 190–221. https://doi.org/10.1163/2589742x-12347108
- Chen, J. and Kim, S. (2013). "A Comparison of Chinese Consumers' Intentions to Purchase Luxury Fashion Brands for Self-Use and for Gifts". *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 25(1), 29–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/08961530.2013.751796
- Chen, Y.-C., Shang, R.-A., Lin, C.-K. and Chen, S.-C. (2015). The Effects of Gift Value on Gift Satisfaction in Romantic Relationship Development: A Social Exchange Theory Perspective. Research Paper at The International Academic Conference on Social Science and Management (2015), Okinawa, Japan. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280794278_The_Effects_of_Gift_Value_on_Gift_ Satisfaction_in_Romantic_Relationship_Development_A_Social_Exchange_Theory_Perspec tive
- Cheung, E. O. and Gardner, W. L. (2016). "With a little help from my friends: Understanding how social networks influence the pursuit of the ideal self". *Self and Identity*, *15*(6), 662–682. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2016.1194314
- Chittick, W. (2014). "Love in Islamic Thought". *Religion Compass*, 8(7), 229–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec3.12112
- Chop, R. M. and Silva, M. C. (1991). "Scientific fraud: Definitions, policies, and implications for nursing research". *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 7(3), 166–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/8755-7223(91)90051-1
- Chopik, W. J., Wardecker, B. M. and Edelstein, R. S. (2014). "Be Mine: Attachment avoidance predicts perceptions of relationship functioning on Valentine's Day". *Personality and Individual Differences*, 63, 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.035
- Choudhury, T., Aziz, M., Izzidien, D., Khreeji, I. and Hussain, D. (2006). Perceptions of Discrimination and Islamophobia: Voices from members of Muslim communities in the European Union. European Agency for Fundamental Rights. Vienna: European Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia (EUMC). Available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/49997aff1a.html
- Chowdhury, T. G., Ratneshwar, S. and Desai, K. K. (2009). "The role of exploratory buying behavior tendencies in choices made for others". *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, *19*(3), 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcps.2009.05.003
- Christensen, C. (2006). "Islam in the media: Cartoons and context". *Screen Education*, *43*(Summer), 27–32.
- Christensen, S. P. (2018). Social Media Use and Its Impact on Relationships and Emotions. Master's Thesis of Fine Arts and Communications, Brigham Young University. Available from: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/6927
- Chukwuere, J. E. and Chukwuere, P. C. (2017). "The impact of social media on social lifestyle: A case study of university female students". *Gender and Behaviour*, *15*, 9966–9981.
- Cicourel, A. V. (1964). *Method and Measurement in Sociology*. New York: Free Press of Glencoe.
- Clarke, P., Herington, C., Hussain, R. and Wong, H-Y. (2005). "Giving and Receiving Brands as Valentine's Day Gifts". In *Proceedings from ANZMAC Conference Broadening the*

Boundaries, Griffith University. Available from: https://research-repository.griffith.edu.au/handle/10072/2829

- Clingingsmith, D., Khwaja, A. I. and Kremer, M. (2009). "Estimating the Impact of the Hajj: Religion and Tolerance in Islam's Global Gathering". *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 124(3), 1133–1170. https://doi.org/10.1162/qjec.2009.124.3.1133
- Close, A. G. (2012). "Escalated Expectations and Expanded Gender Roles: Womens' Gift-Giving Rituals and Resistance for Valentine's Day Events". In *Gender, Culture, and Consumer Behavior*, Otnes and Tuncay-Zayer (eds.), New York: Routledge, 223–252. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203127575. Available from: http://angelineclose.com/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/Close_GenderRolesofValEvents.pdf
- Close, A. G. and Zinkhan, G. M. (2006). "A Holiday Loved and Loathed: A Consumer Perspective of Valentine's Day". *Advances in Consumer Research*, *33*, 356–365.
- (2009). "Market-resistance and Valentine's Day events". *Journal of Business Research*, 62(2), 200–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2008.01.027
- Cobb, R. J. (2009). "Newlyweds". In *Encyclopedia of Human Relationships*, Reis and Sprecher (eds.), Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE publications, 1155–1158.
- Coello de la Rosa, A. (2008). "Género, poder y espiritualidad en Lima colonial: La reforma conventual del místico Diego Martínez, Sj (1609-1626)". *Illes i imperis: Estudios de historia de las sociedades en el mundo colonial y post-colonial*, (10-11), 105–131.
- Coello de la Rosa, A. and Mateo Dieste, J. L. (2016). *Elogio de la antropología histórica: Enfoques, métodos y aplicaciones al estudio del poder y del colonialismo*. Zaragoza: Prensas de la Universidad de Zaragoza y Editorial UOC.
- Cohan, J. A. (2010). "Honor Killings and the Cultural Defense". *California Western International Law Journal*, 4(7), 101–175.
- Cohen, L. E. and Manion, L. (1994). Research Methods in Education. London: Routledge.
- Cole, D. and Ahmadi, S. (2003). "Perspectives and Experiences of Muslim Women who Veil on College Campuses". *Journal of College Student Development*, 44(1), 47–66.
- Cole, J. and Thomas, L. M. (2009). *Love in Africa*. Chicago; London: University of Chicago Press.
- Collins-Kreiner, N. and Zins, Y. (2011). "Tourists and souvenirs: Changes through time, space and meaning". *Journal of Heritage Tourism*, 6(1), 17–27.
- Colton, N. A. (2011). *Social stratification in the Gulf Cooperation Council States*. Kuwait Programme on Development, Governance and Globalisation in the Gulf States, LSE Global Governance, Kuwait Programme Research Papers, (14). Available from: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/55242/1/Colton_2011.pdf
- Cova, B., Kozinets, R. and Shankar, A. (2007). *Consumer Tribes*. Amsterdam; London: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Coy, D. R. (2013). "How Technology and mobile devices are changing the way we shop". *Obra Digital*, 4(1), 75–95.
- Crapo, R. H. (2003). *Anthropology of religion: the unity and diversity of religions*. Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- Cross, S. N. N., Harrison, R. L. and Gilly, M. C. (2017). "The Role of Marketing in Ritual Evolution". *Journal of Macromarketing*, *37*(4), 460–478. https://doi.org/10.1177/0276146717697359

- Croucher, S. M. (2008). "French-Muslims and the Hijab: An Analysis of Identity and the Islamic Veil in France". *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 37(3), 199–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/17475750903135408
- Crystal, J. (1995). *Oil and Politics in the Gulf: Rulers and Merchants in Kuwait and Qatar* (Cambridge Middle East Library). Cambridge, England; New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Cunningham, R. B. and Sarayrah, Y. K. (1994). "Taming Wasta to Achieve Development". *Arab Studies Quarterly*, *16*(3), 29–41.
- Dalek, J., Gill, L., Marczak, B., McKune, S., et al. (2018). *Planet Netsweeper*. Citizen Lab Research Report No. 108, University of Toronto, 58–63. Available from: https://citizenlab.ca/2018/04/planet-netsweeper/
- Daniel, P. (n.d.). *Petroleum Revenue Management: An Overview*. Second Draft, World Bank, ESMAP Program. Available from: http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/pe/ExtractiveIndustriesCourse/PhilipDaniel-Paper.pdf
- Daniels, I. (2009). "The 'Social Death' of Unused Gifts: Surplus and Value in Contemporary Japan". *Journal of Material Culture*, *14*(3), 385–408. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359183509106426
- Darr, A. (2017). "Gift giving in mass consumption markets". *Current Sociology*, 65(1), 92–112. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011392115622977
- Das, P. (2012). "Women Empowerment: Reality or Myth". *Odisha Review*, 90–96. Available from: http://magazines.odisha.gov.in/Orissareview/2012/July/engpdf/91-97.pdf
- Dashti, A. A. (2017). "A Consonant Shift in Kuwaitis' Speech: Challenging the Bedouin Vs Sedentary hypothesis The case of [tj]". *International Journal of Applied Linguistics and English Literature*, 7(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijalel.v.7n.1p.12
- Davids, A. I. (2006). *Getting the Best Out of Al Hajj (Pilgrimage)*. Riyadh: Darussalam Publishers.
- Davies, D. J. and Thate, M. J. (2017). *Religion and the Individual: Belief, Practice, and Identity*. Basel: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Davies, G., Whelan, S., Foley, A. and Walsh, M. (2010). "Gifts and Gifting". *International Journal of Management Reviews*, *12*(4), 413–434. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2009.00271.x
- Davies, O. (2015). The Political Impact of Social Media on the Arab Gulf: Saudi Arabia and Bahrain. E-International Relations. Available from: https://www.e-ir.info/2015/01/12/thepolitical-impact-of-social-media-on-the-arab-gulf-saudi-arabia-and-bahrain/ [Accessed 24 June 2021].
- Davis, N. Z. (2000). *The Gift in Sixteenth-century France*. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Davison, H. K., Bing, M. N., Hutchinson, E. B. and Pratt, L. J. (2008)[2003]. "Confounding Issues in the Deadweight Loss of Gift-Giving". *Journal for Economic Educators*, 8(1). Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228289021_Deadweight_Loss_of_Gift-Giving, http://capone.mtsu.edu/jee/pdf/MS207pp1-14.pdf

De Bel-Air, F. (2013). "The Demographic and Economic Framework of Migration in Kuwait". Gulf Labour Markets and Migration (GLMM), *Explanatory Note*, 1/2013, 1–11, European University Institute (EUI) and Gulf Research Center (GRC). De Bel-Air, F., Safar, J. and Destremau, B. (2018). "Marriage and Family in the Gulf Today: Storms over a patriarchal institution?". *Chroniques Yéménites*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.4000/cy.4399. [Available from: https://journals.openedition.org/cy/4399].

De Koning, A. (2009). Global Dreams: Class, Gender, and Public Space in Cosmopolitan

- De Rooij, L. (2020). "The Relationship between Online Dating and Islamic Identity among British Muslims". *Journal of Religion, Media and Digital Culture*, 9(1), 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1163/21659214-bja10010
- De Vries, B. (2018). "The Right to be Publicly Naked: A Defence of Nudism". *Res Publica*, 25(3), 407–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11158-018-09406-z
- Dean, H. and Khan, Z. (1997). "Muslim perspectives on welfare". *Journal of Social Policy*, 26(2), 193–209.
- Debas, F. M. (2009). *The Wives of the Prophet Muhammad (Blessing and Peace Be Upon Him)*. Riyadh: International Islamic Publishing House (IIPH).
- Delgado, L. E., Fernández, P. and Labanyi, J. (2016). *Engaging the Emotions in Spanish Culture and History*. Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press.
- Demireşik, H. (2012). *The Mothers of the Believers: Wives of Prophet Muhammad (saw)*. Istanbul: Sultantepe Publications.
- Derrida, J. (1995). The Gift of Death. Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Derrida, J. and Marion, J. -L. (1999). "On the gift: a discussion between Jacques Derrida and Jean-Luc Marion", Moderated by Kearney, R. In *God, the Gift, and Postmodernism* (Philosophy of Religion), Caputo and Scanlon (eds.), Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 54–78.
- Destremau, B., Latte Abdallah, S. and De Regt, M. (2013). "Gender Transformations in the Arabian Peninsula". *Chroniques Yéménites*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.4000/cy.2164
- Dever, W. G. (2003). *Who Were the Early Israelites and Where Did They Come From?* Grand Rapids, Michigan; Cambridge, UK: William B. Eerdmans Publishing Co.
- Dhar, P. (2013). "Zakat as a Measure of Social Justice in Islamic Finance: An Accountant's Overview". *Journal of Emerging Economies and Islamic Research*, 1(1), 64–74. https://doi.org/10.24191/jeeir.v1i1.9118
- Dialmy, A. (2010). "Sexuality and Islam". *The European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care*, *15*(3), 160–168. https://doi.org/10.3109/13625181003793339
- Dinnerstein, D. (1999)[1976]. *The mermaid and the minotaur: Sexual arrangements in human malaise*. New York: Other Press.
- Diop, A., Johnston, T. and Le, K. T. (2015). "Reform of the Kafāla System: A Survey Experiment from Qatar". *Journal of Arabian Studies*, *5*(2), 116–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/21534764.2015.1113681
- Di Peri, R. (2020). "A Sectarianised Pandemic: COVID-19 in Lebanon". Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI) Commentaries, 20(71), Rome.
- Dirlam, D. M., Rogers, C. L. and Weldon, R. (2019). "Gemstones in the Era of the Taj Mahal and the Mughals". *Gems and Gemology*, *55*(3), 294–319. https://doi.org/10.5741/gems.55.3.294
- Doaiji, N. (2017). Saudi Women's Online Activism: One Year of the "I Am My Own Guardian" Campaign. Issue paper 11, Washington, D.C.: The Arab Gulf States Institute in Washington (AGSIW). Available from: https://agsiw.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Doaiji_Saudi-Guardianship-System_online.pdf

Cairo. Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press.

- Donin, R. H. H. (1972). *To Be a Jew: A Guide to Jewish Observance in Contemporary Life*. New York: Basic Books.
- Duffy, B. E. and Schwartz, B. (2017). "Digital "women's work?": Job recruitment ads and the feminization of social media employment". *New Media and Society*, *20*(8), 2972–2989. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817738237
- Dunn, E. W., Huntsinger, J., Lun, J. and Sinclair, S. (2008). "The Gift of Similarity: How Good and Bad Gifts Influence Relationships". *Social Cognition*, 26(4), 469–481. https://doi.org/10.1521/soco.2008.26.4.469
- Eickelman, D. F. (1992). "Mass Higher Education and the Religious Imagination in Contemporary Arab Societies". *American Ethnologist*, 19(4), 643–655. Retrieved 21 February 2021 from: http://www.jstor.org/stable/644911
- (1998). "Inside the Islamic Reformation". Wilson Quarterly (winter), 80–89, or in Everyday Life in the Muslim Middle East, Bowen and Early (eds.), Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 246–256.
- (2000). "The Coming Transformation in the Muslim World". *Current History*, 99(633), 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1525/curh.2000.99.633.16
- (2001). "Kings and People: Information and Authority in Oman, Qatar, and the Persian Gulf". In *Iran, Iraq, and the Arab Gulf States*, Kechichian (ed.), New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 193–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-63443-9_12
- (2002a). "The Arab Street and the Middle East's democracy deficit". Naval War College Review, 55(4), 39–48.
- (2002b). The Middle East and Central Asia: An Anthropological Approach. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- (2009). "Islam and Ethical Pluralism". In *The Many and the One: Religious and Secular Perspectives on Ethical Pluralism in the Modern World*, Madsen and Strong (eds.), Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 161–179.
- Eid, M. and Karim, K. H. (2014). *Re-imagining the other: Culture, Media, and Western-Muslim intersections.* New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Eisenstadt, S. N. (2003). Comparative Civilizations and Multiple Modernities. Boston: Brill.
- El Hayek, S., Nofal, M., Abdelrahman, D., Adra, A., et al. (2020). "Telepsychiatry in the Arab World: A Viewpoint Before and During COVID-19". *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, *16*, 2805–2815. https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.s277224
- Elamin, A. M. (2012). "Perceived organizational justice and work-related attitudes: a study of Saudi employees". World Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development, 8(1), 71–88.
- El-Aswad, E.-S. (2010). "Narrating the Self among Arab Americans: A Bridging Discourse between Arab Tradition and American Culture". *Digest of Middle East Studies*, *19*(2), 234–248. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1949-3606.2010.00032.X
- El-gousi, H. S. A. (2010). *Women's Rights in Islam and Contemporary Ulama: Limitations and Constraints (Egypt as Case Study)*. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, University of Leeds. Available from: https://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/15221/1/535101.pdf
- Elhai, J. D., Levine, J. C., Dvorak, R. D. and Hall, B. J. (2016). "Fear of missing out, need for touch, anxiety and depression are related to problematic smartphone use". *Computers in Human Behavior*, *63*, 509–516. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.079
- Elius, M. (2012). "Islamic View of Women Leadership as Head of the State: A Critical Analysis". *Arts Faculty Journal*, *4*, 195–205. https://doi.org/10.3329/afj.v4i0.12941

- El-Katiri, L. (2013). "Energy Sustainability in the Gulf States: The Why and the How". *The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies*, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.26889/9781907555701
- Ellsworth, P. C. and Smith, C. A. (1988). "From appraisal to emotion: Differences among unpleasant feelings". *Motivation and Emotion*, *12*(3), 271–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00993115.
- El-Nawawy, M. and Khamis, S. M. (2009). *Islam Dot Com: Contemporary Islamic Discourses in Cyberspace* (The Palgrave Macmillan Series in International Political Communication). London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Eltahawy, M. (2015). *Headscarves and Hymens: Why the Middle East Needs a Sexual Revolution*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Ernst, C. W. (2013). "The Global Significance of Arabic Language and Literature". *Religion Compass*, 7(6), 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec3.12049
- Ertimur, B. and Sandikci, O. (2005). "Giving Gold Jewelry and Coins As Gifts: the Interplay of Utilitarianism and Symbolism". In *Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 32, Menon and Rao (eds.), Duluth, Minnesota: Association for Consumer Research, 322–327.
- Escolano-Benito, A. (2015). "Humanidad. Una historia de las emociones, por Stuart Walton". *Historia y Memoria de La Educación*, 2, 353–364. https://doi.org/10.5944/hme.2.2015.14285
- Esposito, J. L. and Piscatori, J. P. (1991). "Democratization and Islam". *Middle East Journal*, 45(3), 427–440.
- Esteban, M. L. (2008). "El amor romántico dentro y fuera de occidente: Determinismos, paradojas y visiones alternativas". In *Feminismos en la antropología: nuevas propuestas críticas*, Suárez, Díaz and Hernández (eds.), Donostia: ANKULEGI Antropologia Elkartea, 157–172.
- Esteban, M. L. and Távora, A. (2008). "El amor romántico y la subordinación social de las mujeres: revisiones y propuestas". *Anuario de Psicología*, *39*(1), 59–73. http://hdl.handle.net/10481/22465
- Ettmueller, E. U. (2006). "Islam and Democracy". *Astrolabio: Revista Internacional de Filosofia*, (3), 16–29.
- Evens, T. M. S. (1999). "Bourdieu and the Logic of Practice: Is All Giving Indian-Giving or is "Generalized Materialism" Not Enough? For the memory of Louis Dumont". *Sociological Theory*, *17*(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/0735-2751.00063
- Fararo, T. J. (2006). "Durkheim, Emile". In *International Encyclopedia of Economic Sociology*, Beckert and Zafirovski (eds.), London: Routledge, 154–156.
- Farbotko, C. and Head, L. (2013). "Gifts, sustainable consumption and giving up green anxieties at Christmas". *Geoforum*, *50*, 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2013.08.004
- Ferchichi, W. (2011). *Law and Homosexuality: Survey and Analysis of Legislation Across the Arab World*. Working Paper prepared for the Middle East and North Africa Consultation of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law. Available from: http://bibliobase.sermais.pt:8008/BiblioNET/upload/PDF/0576.pdf
- Fernández, P. (2016). "Emotional Readings for New Interpretative Communities in the Nineteenth Century". In *Engaging the Emotions in Spanish Culture and History*, Delgado, Fernández and Labanyi (eds.), Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press, 56–76. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv16756g4.8
- Ferrándiz, F. (2016). "From Tear to Pixel". In *Engaging the Emotions in Spanish Culture and History*, Delgado, Fernández and Labanyi (eds.), Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press, 242–261. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv16756g4.19

- Ferrer-Pérez, V. A., Bosch-Fiol, E., Navarro-Guzmán, C., Ramis-Palmer, M-C. and García-Buades, E. (2009). "The Concept of Love in Spain". *Psychology in Spain*, *13*(1), 40–47.
- Fierro, M. (1997). "Islamismo". *Scripta Fulgentina: Revista de teología y humanidades*, 7(13), 1, 81–93.
- (2014). "Introduction. The Control of Knowledge in Islamic Societies". *Al-Qanțara*, 35(1), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.3989/alqantara.2014.v35.i1.318
- Finkel, E. J., Eastwick, P. W., Karney, B. R., Reis, H. T. and Sprecher, S. (2012). "Online Dating: A Critical Analysis From the Perspective of Psychological Science". *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 13(1), 3–66. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100612436522
- Firestone, S. (2003)[1970]. *The Dialectic of Sex: The Case for Feminist Revolution*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Fischer, A. H. and Manstead, A. (2000). "The relation between gender and emotions in different cultures". In *Gender and Emotion: Social Psychological Perspectives*, Fischer (ed.), Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 71–94.
- Fischer, A., Halperin, E., Canetti, D. and Jasini, A. (2018). "Why We Hate". *Emotion Review*, *10*(4), 309–320. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073917751229
- Fischer, E. and Arnold, S. J. (1990). "More than a labor of love: Gender roles and Christmas gift shopping". *Journal of Consumer Research*, *17*(3), 333–345.
- Florack, A., Egger, M. and Hübner, R. (2020). "When products compete for consumers attention: How selective attention affects preferences". *Journal of Business Research*, 111, 117–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.05.009
- Fortier, C. (2021). "Passion Love, Masculine Rivalry and Arabic Poetry in Mauritania". In International Handbook of Love: Transcultural and transdisciplinary perspectives, Mayer and Vanderheiden (eds.), Cham: Springer, 769–788. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45996-3_41
- Fortier, C., Kreil, A. and Maffi, I. (2018). *Reinventing Love? Gender, intimacy and romance in the Arab world*. Berlin; Bern: Peter Lang.
- Fotis, J. N. (2015). The Use of Social Media and its Impacts on Consumer Behaviour: The Context of Holiday Travel. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, Bournemouth University. Available from: https://eprints.bournemouth.ac.uk/22506/1/JOHN%20FOTIS%20-%20PhD.pdf
- Fourest, C. (2008). *Brother Tariq: The Doublespeak of Tariq Ramadan*. New York: Encounter Books.
- Fox, A. S., Lapate, R. C., Shackman, A. J. and Davidson, R. J. (2018). *The Nature of Emotion: Fundamental Questions* (Series in Affective Science). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Francisco, C. J. H., Lagdameo, B. R. S., Sayoc, R. A. and Rivera, J. P. R. (2015). "Is it Really the Thought that Counts? The Deadweight Loss of Gift-Giving". *Asia-Pacific Social Science Review*, 15(1), 116–124.
- Galak, J., Givi, J. and Williams, E. F. (2016). "Why Certain Gifts Are Great to Give but Not to Get". *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 25(6), 380–385. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721416656937
- Galland, O. and Lemel, Y. (2008). "Tradition vs. Modernity : The Continuing Dichotomy of Values in European Society". *Revue française de sociologie*, *49*, 153–186. https://doi.org/10.3917/rfs.495.0153

- Gamero Cabrera, I. G. (2015). "Los límites del concepto de frontera en distintas teorías antropológicas posmodernas". *Cinta de Moebio*, *52*, 79–90. https://doi.org/10.4067/s0717-554x2015000100007
- Gaon, F. (2017). *Tariq Ramadan and Western Islam: a critical analysis*. Long paper, Tel Aviv University. Available from:

https://www.academia.edu/35248064/Tariq_Ramadan_and_Western_Islam_A_critical_Anal ysis

- García-Canclini, N. (2001). *Culturas híbridas. Estrategias para entrar y salir de la modernidad.* Buenos Aires: Paidós.
- Garrison, S. B. (2015). *Kuwaiti Female Labor Force Participation: Agency and Development Sustainability in Kuwait*. Doctoral Thesis in International Development, Tulane University. Available from: https://digitallibrary.tulane.edu/islandora/object/tulane%3A45925
- Gasana, J. and Shehab, M. (2020). "Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19): Handling Challenges in Kuwait". *Sci*, *2*(3), 55. https://doi.org/10.3390/sci2030055
- Gatrad, A. and Sheikh, A. (2005). "Hajj: journey of a lifetime". *BMJ*, *330*(7483), 133–137. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.330.7483.133
- Gause, III, F. G. (2013). "Kings for all Seasons: How the Middle East's Monarchies Survived the Arab Spring". *Brookings Doha Center Analysis Paper*, (8), Brookings Doha Center Publications.
- Geiger, B. (2007). "In praise of Bishop Valentine": The creation of modern Valentine's Day in *antebellum America*. Doctoral Thesis in History, The College of William and Mary. Available from: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/etd/1539623325/.
- Ghabra, S. (1997). "Kuwait and the Dynamics of Socio-Economic Change". *Middle East Journal*, *51*(3), 358–372.
- (2014). "Kuwait: At the Crossroads of Change or Political Stagnation". *Middle East Institute* (*MEI*) Policy Papers Series, (2). Available from: https://www.mei.edu/publications/kuwaitcrossroads-change-or-political-stagnation
- Giesler, M. (2006). "Consumer gift systems". Journal of Consumer Research, 33(2), 283–290.
- Gino, F. and Flynn, F. J. (2011). "Give them what they want: The benefits of explicitness in gift exchange". *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *47*(5), 915–922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2011.03.015
- Giyahi, Y. (2012). "An empirical study on the relationship of purchasing a chocolate based on its packaging". *Management Science Letters*, 2(3), 833–844. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2011.12.003
- Gobert, M. (2011). "Cultivating Phonological and Orthographic Awareness in Arab Learners of English". In *Teaching and Learning in the Arab World*, Gitsaki (ed.), Bern; New York: Peter Lang, 399–420.
- (2014). "Language Learner Literature and Identity". In *The Fifth Annual Gulf Comparative Education Society Symposium Conference Proceedings: Locating the National in the International: Comparative Perspectives on Language, Identity, Policy, and Practice*, 95–103. Available from:
 - https://www.academia.edu/8683957/Language_Learner_Literature_and_Identity (2015). "Taboo Topics in the ESL Classroom in the Gulf Region". In *Intercultural*
- *Communication with Arabs: Studies in Educational, Professional and Societal Contexts,* Raddawi (ed.), Singapore: Springer, 109–126.

- Godbout, J. T. and Caillé, A. C. (2000). *The World of the Gift*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Godelier, M. (1999)[1995]. *The Enigma of the Gift*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press. Translated by Scott, N. from "L'énigme du don, I. Le legs de Mauss". *Social Anthropology*, 3(1), 15–47. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8676.1995.tb00291.x
- Goldschmidt Jr., A. and Al-Marashi, I. (2019). *A Concise History of the Middle East*. New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- González, A. L. (2013). *Islamic Feminism in Kuwait: The Politics and Paradoxes*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- González Alcantud, J. A. (2001). "Antropología y democracia: causalidad y necesidad". *Historia, antropología y fuentes orales*, (26), 5–22.
- (2021). Qué es el Orientalismo: El Oriente Imaginado en la Cultura Global. Córdoba: Editorial Almuzara.
- González Vázquez, A. (2013). "Els conceptes de patriarcat i androcentrisme en l'estudi sociològic i antropològic de les societats de majoria musulmana". *Papers: Revista de Sociologia*, 98(3), 489–504. https://doi.org/10.5565/rev/papers/v98n3.335
- Goodwin, C., Smith, K. L. and Spiggle, S. (1990). "Gift Giving: Consumer Motivation and the Gift Purchase Process". In Advances in Consumer Research, Vol. 17, Goldberg, Gorn and Pollay (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 690–698. Available from: https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/7086/volumes/v17/NA-17
- Gouk, P. and Hills, H. (2019). *Representing Emotions: New Connections in the Histories of Art, Music and Medicine*. London: Routledge.
- Grange, P. (2020). Fear Less: How to win at life without losing yourself. London: Vermilion.
- Graycar, A. and Jancsics, D. (2016). "Gift Giving and Corruption". *International Journal of Public Administration*, 40(12), 1013–1023. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2016.1177833
- Green, T., Tinson, J. and Peloza, J. (2016). "Giving the Gift of Goodness: An Exploration of Socially Responsible Gift-Giving". *Journal of Business Ethics*, 134(1), 29–44. DOI: 10.1007/s10551-014-2076-0
- Greene, J. D. (2013). *Moral Tribes: Emotion, Reason, and the Gap Between Us and Them.* New York: The Penguin Press.
- Griffiths, M. D., Kuss, D. J. and Demetrovics, Z. (2014). "Social Networking Addiction: An Overview of Preliminary Findings". In *Behavioral Addictions: Criteria, Evidence, and Treatment*, Rosenberg and Feder (eds.), London; Waltham, Massachusetts: Academic Press, 119–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-407724-9.00006-9
- Grillo, R. and Shah, P. (2012). Reasons to Ban? The Anti-Burqa Movement in Western Europe. MMG Working Paper 12-05, Göttingen: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Religious and Ethnic Diversity. http://www.mmg.mpg.de/workingpapers [Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/30696227.pdf]
- Groom, N. (2018). "Halloween and Valentine: The Culture of Saints' Days in the English-Speaking World". *Folklore*, *129*(4), 331–352. DOI: 10.1080/0015587X.2018.1510651
- Guest, G., Namey, E. E. and Mitchell, M. L. (2013). "In-depth interviews". In *Collecting qualitative data: A Field Manual for Applied Research*, Guest, Namey and Mitchell (eds.), Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications, 113–171. https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781506374680

- Gunter, B., Elareshi, M. and Al-Jaber, K. (2016). *Social Media in the Arab World: Communication and Public Opinion in the Gulf States* (Library of Modern Middle East Studies). London; New York: I.B. Tauris.
- Gupta A. (2013). "Fraud and misconduct in clinical research: A concern". *Perspectives in clinical research*, 4(2), 144–147. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-3485.111800
- Haase, F-A. (2012). "Case studies of the functions of the concept 'Arab World' presented in communication patterns of Arab countries of English-speaking business communication companies". *Hologramática*, 2(16), 87–113. Available from: http://www.cienciared.com.ar/ra/usr/3/1363/hologramatica16_v2pp87_113.pdf
- Habti, D. (2014). "The Religious Aspects of Diasporic Experience of Muslims in Europe within the Crisis of Multiculturalism". *Policy Futures in Education*, *12*(1), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.2304/pfie.2014.12.1.149
- Haddad, Y. Y. (2007). "The Post-9/11 Hijab as Icon". *Sociology of Religion*, 68(3), 253–267. https://doi.org/10.1093/socrel/68.3.253
- Hall, J. A. (1984). Nonverbal sex differences. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Hall, S. and Gay, P. (1996). *Questions of Cultural Identity*. London: Sage Publications.
- Halliday, F. (2003). *Islam and the Myth of Confrontation: Religion and Politics in the Middle East.* New York: I.B. Tauris & Co. Ltd.
- Hamaizia, A., Al-Ghanim, K., Gulseven, O., Belbagi, Z., et al. (2015). Labor Market Dynamics in the GCC States. Gulf Affairs, A publication based at St. Antony's College, Oxford Gulf and Arabian Peninsula Studies (OxGAPS) Forum, University of Oxford. Available from: https://www.oxgaps.org/files/gulf_affairs_autumn_2015_full_issue.pdf
- Hamori, A. (1990). "Love Poetry (Ghazal)". In '*Abbasid Belles-Lettres*, Ashtiany, et al. (eds.), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 202–218.
- Hanan, H. (2012). "Modernization and Cultural Transformation: The Expansion of Traditional Batak Toba House in Huta Siallagan". *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 50, 800– 811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.08.082
- Hand, M. M., Thomas, D., Buboltz, W. C, Deemer, E. D. and Buyanjargal, M. (2012).
 "Facebook and Romantic Relationships: Intimacy and Couple Satisfaction Associated with Online Social Network Use". *Cyberpsychology, Behavior and Social Networking*, 16(1). 10.1089/cyber.2012.0038.
- Haque, A., Patnaik, A. K. and Hashmi, S. Z. (2016). "Foreign Direct Investment and Growth: A Study in the Context of Kuwait". *International Journal of Financial Research, Sciedu Press*, 8(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijfr.v8n1p9
- Harbi, S. A., Thursfield, D. and Bright, D. (2016). "Culture, Wasta and perceptions of performance appraisal in Saudi Arabia". *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28(19), 2792–2810. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1138987
- Harkness, G. (2020). "Modern Traditionalism: Qatar and the Arabian Gulf". In *Changing Qatar: Culture, Citizenship, and Rapid Modernization*, Harkness (ed.), New York: New York University Press, 56–92.
- Harkness, G. and Khaled, R. (2014). "Modern Traditionalism: Consanguineous Marriage in Qatar". *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 76(3), 587–603. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12106
- Hashmi, S. H. and Miles, J. (2002). *Islamic Political Ethics: Civil Society, Pluralism, and Conflict* (Ethikon Series in Comparative Ethics). Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

- Hass, B. (2020). "The Burka Ban: Islamic Dress, Freedom and Choice in The Netherlands in Light of the 2019 Burka Ban Law". *Religions*, 11(2), 93. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel11020093
- Hassan, M., Al Shriaan, A. and Al-Mutairi, A. (2017). "An Analysis of Kuwait Economy 1995-2015". *Asian Social Science*, *13*(12), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v13n12p24
- Hatfield, E., Rapson, R. L. and Le, Y-C. L. (2009). "Ethnic and Gender Differences in Emotional Ideology, Experience, and Expression". *Interpersona: An International Journal on Personal Relationships*, 3(1), 30–57. https://doi.org/10.5964/ijpr.v3i1.31
- Hawari, Y. (2020a). "COVID-19 in Palestine: A Pandemic in the Face of "Settler Colonial Erasure". *Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI) Commentaries*, 20(62), Rome. Available from: https://www.iai.it/en/pubblicazioni/covid-19-palestine-pandemic-face-settler-colonial-erasure
- (2020b). COVID-19 in the West Bank and Gaza: A Second Wave Under Military Occupation and Siege. Middle East Institute (MEI) Publications. Available from: https://www.mei.edu/publications/covid-19-west-bank-and-gaza-second-wave-undermilitary-occupation-and-siege.
- (2020c). In Palestine, COVID-19 Meets the Israeli Occupation. Al-Shabaka Policy Memos. Available from: https://al-shabaka.org/memos/in-palestine-covid-19-meets-the-occupation.
- Hazarika, I. (2016). "An Analytical Study on the Impact of Recent Oil Price Plunge on Highly Oil Dependent Economies and Oil Exporting Countries". *International Journal of Trade, Economics and Finance*, 7(5), 202–205. https://doi.org/10.18178/ijtef.2016.7.5.523
- Hearn, J. (2004). "From Hegemonic Masculinity to the Hegemony of Men". *Feminist Theory*, 5(1), 49–72.
- Hearn, J., Blagojević, M. and Harrison, K. (2013). *Rethinking Transnational Men: Beyond, Between and Within Nations*. New York: Routledge.
- Heim, M. (2015). *Theories of the Gift in South Asia: Hindu, Buddhist, and Jain Reflections on Dana* (Religion in History, Society and Culture). New York: Routledge.
- Heindl, B. S. (2017). "Muslim immigration and religious human rights". *International Politics*, 54(1), 26–42. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41311-017-0016-1
- Hendry, J. (1989). "To Wrap or Not to Wrap: Politeness and Penetration in Ethnographic Inquiry". *Man, Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland*, 24(4), 620–635. https://doi.org/10.2307/2804291
- Herb, M. (2018). *The Wages of Oil: Parliaments and Economic Development in Kuwait and the UAE*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- Hernàndez i Martí, G-M. (2006). "The Deterritorialization of Cultural Heritage in a Globalized Modernity". *Journal of Contemporary Culture*, (1), 92–107.
- Herouach, S. (2019). "Patriarchy and Spinsterhood in Morocco". *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 153(3), 313–334. https://doi.org/10.15520/ijcrr.v11i08.823
- Hertlein, K. M. (2012). "Digital dwelling: Technology in couple and family relationships". *Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, *61*(3), 374–387. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2012.00702.x
- Hetherington, K. (2004). "Secondhandedness: Consumption, Disposal, and Absent Presence". *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 22(1), 152–173.
- Heyl, B. S. (2001). "Ethnographic interviewing". In *Handbook of Ethnography*, Atkinson, Coffey, Delamont, Lofland and Lofland (eds.), London: SAGE, 369–383.
- Heyman, J. (2018). "Marxism". In *The International Encyclopedia of Anthropology*, Callan (ed.), Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118924396.wbiea1860

- Hidayati, A. T. and Apipudin. (2018). "Social transformation of Kuwaiti women and their contribution to Kuwait's economic development". In *Competition and Cooperation in Social and Political Sciences*, Adi and Achwan (eds.), London: Taylor & Francis Group, 369–374.
- Highfill, J. (2016). "A Sentient Landscape". In Engaging the Emotions in Spanish Culture and History, Delgado, Fernández and Labanyi (eds.), Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press, 120–140. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv16756g4.12
- Hine, C. (2004). "Social Research Methods and the Internet: A Thematic Review". *Sociological Research Online*, 9(2), 110–116. https://doi.org/10.5153/sro.924
- Hitchcock, G. and Hughes, D. (1989). *Research and the Teacher: A Qualitative Introduction to School-based Research*. London: Routledge.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). *Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values* (Cross Cultural Research and Methodology). Beverly Hills: Sage.
- Holloway, S. (2019). "Love, Custom and Consumption: Valentine's Day in England c. 1660-1830". *Cultural and Social History*, *17*(3), 295–314, DOI: 10.1080/14780038.2019.1646075
- Holt, M. and Jawad, H. (2013). *Women, Islam, and Resistance in the Arab World*. Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Horn, P. (2009). "Mass Culture, Popular Culture and Cultural Identity". In *Culture, Civilization and Human Society* Volume I, Arlt and Daviau (eds.), Oxford: EOLSS Publications, 186–206.
- Horvat, Đ. and Perkov, D. (2013). "Individual Resistance in Change Process". In CBU International Conference on Integration and Innovation in Science and Education Proceedings, 1, 19–24. DOI: 10.12955/cbup.2013.10.
- Hossain, M. Z. (2012). "Zakat in Islam: A Powerful Poverty Alleviating Instrument for Islamic Countries". *International Journal of Economic Development Research and Investment*, 3(1).
- Hoyer, W. D., MacInnis, D. J., Pieters, R., Chan, E. and Northey, G. (2018). Consumer Behavior (Asia-Pacific edition). South Melbourne, Victoria; Boston, Massachusetts: Cengage Learning.
- Hoza, J. L. (2019). "Is There Feminism in Saudi Arabia?". University of Florida, Journal of Undergraduate Research, 20(2). https://doi.org/10.32473/ufjur.v20i2.106192
- Hume, D. L. (2013). "The Language of Souvenirs: A Design Theory for the Production of Tourist Souvenirs: Three Discrete Groups - the Sampled, Crafted and Representative". In *Proceedings of the Annual PSU Phuket International Conference 2012*, Multidisciplinary Studies on Sustainable Development, Thailand.
- Hunter, S. T. and Malik, H. (2005). *Modernization, Democracy, and Islam*. Westport, Connecticut: Praeger Publishers.
- Hutchings, K. and Weir, D. (2006). "Understanding networking in China and the Arab World". *Journal of European Industrial Training*, *30*(4), 272–290. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090590610673641
- Hyde, J. S. (2007). *Half the human experience: The psychology of women*. New York: Houghton Mifflin.
- Hyun, N. K., Park, Y. and Park, S. W. (2016). "Narcissism and gift giving: Not every gift is for others". *Personality and Individual Differences*, 96, 47–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.02.057
- Illouz, E. (1997). Consuming the Romantic Utopia. Love and the Cultural Contradictions of Capitalism. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.

- (1998). "The Lost Innocence of Love: Romance as a Postmodern Condition". *Theory, Culture and Society*, 15(3–4), 161–186. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276498015003008
- (2007). Cold Intimacies: The Making of Emotional Capitalism. Cambridge, UK; Malden, Massachusetts: Polity Press.

InterNations. (2018). *Expat Insider 2018: The World through Expat Eyes*. Munich: InterNations GmbH publishing. Available from: https://cms-internationsgmbh.netdna-ssl.com/cdn/file/2018-09/Expat-Insider-2018_The-InterNations-Survey.pdf

Islam, A. (2013). "The Taj: An Architectural Marvel or an Epitome of Love?". Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences, 7(9), 367–374.

Islam, M. N. and Islam, M. S. (2017). "Islam and Democracy: Conflicts and Congruence". *Religions*, 8(6), 104. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel8060104

Islam, T. and Khatun, A. (2016). "Islamic Moderation" in Perspectives: A Comparison Between Oriental and Occidental Scholarships". *International Journal of Nusantara Islam*, 3(2), 69– 78. https://doi.org/10.15575/ijni.v3i2.488

Ismail, S. (2013). "Piety, Profit, and the Market in Cairo: A Political Economy of Islamisation". *Contemporary Islam*, 7(1).

Itani, T. (2015). Quran: Arabic and English in Parallel. Dallas: ClearQuran.

Jaffe, K., Flórez, A., Gomes, C. M., Rodríguez, D. and Achury, C. (2014). On the biological and cultural evolution of shame: Using internet search tools to weight values in many cultures. Working paper, Laboratorio de Evolución, Universidad Simón Bolìvar, Caracas, Venezuela. Available from: http://arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/1401/1401.1100.pdf.

- James, N. (2016). "Using email interviews in qualitative educational research: creating space to think and time to talk". *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 29(2), 150–163, DOI: 10.1080/09518398.2015.1017848
- Janahi, N. (2015). Racialisation in the State of Kuwait. Centre for Ethnicity and Racism Studies (CERS) Working Paper, Mapping Global Racisms Project. Available from: https://cers.leeds.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/97/2016/04/Racialisation-in-Kuwait-Noor-Janahi.pdf
- Jandt, F. (2010). An introduction to intercultural communication: Identities in a global community. New York: Sage.
- Jenkins, R. (2002). Pierre Bourdieu. London: Routledge.

Jiang, S. and Ngien, A. (2020). "The Effects of Instagram Use, Social Comparison, and Self-Esteem on Social Anxiety: A Survey Study in Singapore". *Social Media and Society*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305120912488

Joffé, E. G. H. (1987). "Frontiers in North Africa". In *Boundaries and State Territory in the Middle East and North Africa*, Blake and Schofield (eds.), Wisbech: MENAS Press, 31–35.

Johansson, E. and Carrier, J. G. (1997). "Gifts and Commodities: Exchange and Western Capitalism Since 1700". The Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute, 3(1), 185–186. https://doi.org/10.2307/3034399

John, O. B. (2020). *COVID-19 and Migrant Laborers in Kuwait*. Middle East Institute (MEI) Publications. Available from: https://www.mei.edu/publications/covid-19-and-migant-laborers-kuwait

Jones, L. G. (2004). The Boundaries of Sin and Communal Identity: Muslim and Christian Preaching and the Transmission of Cultural Identity in Medieval Iberia and the Maghreb (12th to 15th Centuries). Doctoral Thesis in Humanities, University of California, Santa Barbara.

- (2009). "Islamic Masculinities". In *Debating Masculinity*, Armengol and Carabí (eds.), Harriman: Men's Studies Press, 93–112.
- (2010). "Prophetic performances: Reproducing the charisma of the Prophet in medieval Islamic preaching". In *Charisma and Religious Authority: Jewish, Christian, and Muslim Preaching, 1200-1500*, Jansen and Rubin (eds.), Turnhout: Brepols, 19–47.
- (2012). The Power of Oratory in the Medieval Muslim World. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Jordan, A. T. (2013). Business Anthropology. Long Grove, Illinois: Waveland Press.
- Joy, A. (2001). "Gift Giving in Hong Kong and the Continuum of Social Ties". *Journal of Consumer Research*, 28(2), 239–256. https://doi.org/10.1086/322900
- Jureidini, R. (2005). "Migrant Workers and Xenophobia in the Middle East". In *Racism and Public Policy*, Bangura and Stavenhagen (eds.), London: Palgrave Macmillan, 48–71. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230554986_3
- Kaell, H. (2012). "Of gifts and grandchildren: American Holy Land souvenirs". *Journal of Material Culture*, *17*(2), 133-151. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359183512443166
- Kalenkoski, C. M. and Pabilonia, S. W. (2020). *Initial Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Employment and Hours of Self Employed Coupled and Single Workers by Gender and Parental Status*. Discussion paper series 13443. Bonn: IZA-Institute of Labor Economics. Available from: http://ftp.iza.org/dp13443.pdf
- Kamptner, N. L. (1989). "Personal possessions and their meanings in old age". In *The Social Psychology of Aging*, The Claremont Symposium on Applied Social Psychology, Spacapan and Oskamp (eds.), Newbury Park, California: Sage Publications Inc., 165–196.
- (1991). "Personal Possessions and Their Meanings: A Life-Span Perspective". Journal of Social Behaviour and Personality, 6(6), 209–228.
- Kamrava, M. and Babar, Z. (2012). *Migrant Labor in the Persian Gulf*. London: Hurst & Company.
- Kapteyn, A. (1985). "Utility and economics". *De Economist*, *133*(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01675959
- Kashima, Y. (2014). "How can you capture cultural dynamics?". *Frontiers in Psychology* | *Cultural Psychology*, 5(995), 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00995
- Kashima, Y., Bain, P. G. and Perfors, A. (2019). "The Psychology of Cultural Dynamics: What Is It, What Do We Know, and What Is Yet to Be Known?". *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70(1), 499–529. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-103112
- Kastoryano, R. (1996). La France, l'Allemagne et leurs immigrés: négocier l'identité. Paris: Armand Colin.
- (2000). "Settlement, Transnational Communities and Citizenship". *International Social Science Journal*, 52(165), 307–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2451.00261
- (2008). "Transnational Nationalism: Redefining Nation and Territory". In *Identities, Affiliations, and Allegiances*, Benhabib, Shapiro and Petranović (eds.), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 159–179.
- Kepel, G. (2002). Jihad. The Trail of Political Islam. London: I.B. Tauris Publishing.
- Khakhar, P. and Rammal, H. G. (2013). "Culture and business networks: International business negotiations with Arab managers". *International Business Review*, 22(3), 578–590.
- Khalaf, R. W. (2016). "The search for the meaning of 'compatibility' between new construction and heritage in historic areas: an exploratory study". *The Historic Environment: Policy and Practice*, 7(1), 60–80.

- Khalifah, H. A. (2021). "Spinsterhood Its Causes and Treatment In The Holy Quran: Contemporary Social Thematic Study". *Multicultural Education*, 7(3), 47–52.
- Khan, S. [Saira]. (2020). "Institutionalised Islamophobia: The Rise of European Nationalism against Freedom of Religion for Muslims". In *The Asian Yearbook of Human Rights and Humanitarian Law*, Rehman, Shahid and Foster (eds.), Leiden: Brill, 330–348. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004431768_015
- Khan, S. [Shahnaz]. (2006). Zina, Transnational Feminism, and the Moral Regulation of Pakistani Women. Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Khashan, H. (2016). "Religious Intolerance in the Gulf States Dateline". *Middle East Forum*, 23(3). https://www.meforum.org/6044/religious-intolerance-in-the-gulf-states
- Khirallah, G. (2017). *Mental Frames and Conceptual Metaphors of Hijab and Hijab-wearing Women in British and Spanish Press*. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid. Available from: https://repositorio.uam.es/handle/10486/681865
- Khurshid, A. (2015). "Islamic Traditions of Modernity: Gender, Class, and Islam in a Transnational Women's Education Project". *Gender and Society*, 29(1), 98–121. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243214549193
- Ki, W.-C. (2006). "Gift Theory and the Book of Job". *Theological Studies*, 67(4), 723–749. https://doi.org/10.1177/004056390606700401
- Kia, A. (2019). "The concept of responsibility of men and women in Islam". Arts and Humanities Open Access Journal, 3(5), 247–251. https://doi.org/10.15406/ahoaj.2019.03.00137
- Kilani, M. (2003). "Équivoques de la religion et politiques de la laïcité en Europe. Réflexions à partir de l'islam". *Archives de Sciences Sociales Des Religions*, (121), 69–86. https://doi.org/10.4000/assr.2388
- (2011). "La religion dans la sphère civile: Une critique du «désenchantement»". *Esprit*, 2(2), 91–111. https://doi.org/10.3917/espri.1102.0091
- Killian, C. (2003). "The Other Side of the Veil". *Gender and Society*, *17*(4), 567–590. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243203253541
- Kim-Puri, H. J. (2005). "Conceptualizing Gender-Sexuality-State-Nation: An Introduction". *Gender and Society*, *19*(2), 137–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243204273021
- Kitous, A., Saveyn, B., Keramidas, K., Vandyck, T., Rey Los Santos, L. and Wojtowicz, K. (2016). *Impact of low oil prices on oil exporting countries*. European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC) Science for Policy Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. DOI: 10.2791/718384. Available from:

https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC101562

- Klausen, J. (2012). *The Islamic Challenge: Politics and Religion in Western Europe*. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Kluijver, R. (2013). *Contemporary Art in the Gulf: Contexts and Perspectives*. Self-published online. Available

from: https://www.academia.edu/15269955/Contemporary_Art_in_the_Gulf

- Koehler, B. (2011). "Female Entrepreneurship in Early Islam". *Economic Affairs*, *31*(2), 93–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0270.2011.02074.x
- Kolářová, M. (2006). "Gender and Globalisation: Labour Changes in the Global Economy". *Czech Sociological Review*, 42(6), 1241–1258. https://doi.org/10.13060/00380288.2006.42.6.07

- Komter, A. and Vollebergh, W. (1997). "Gift Giving and the Emotional Significance of Family and Friends". *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *59*(3), 747–757. https://doi.org/10.2307/353958
- Kondō, M. and Hirano, C. (2014). *The life-changing magic of tidying up: The Japanese art of decluttering and organizing*. Berkeley: Ten Speed Press.
- Koura, F. (2018). "Navigating Islam: The Hijab and the American Workplace". *Societies*, 8(4), 125. https://doi.org/10.3390/soc8040125
- Kovtun, N. (2016). "Modern Traditionalism: Wake for Utopia vs. Revival of Realism (Instead of the foreword)". *Journal of Siberian Federal University, Humanities and Social Sciences*, 9(5), 1052–1056.
- Kovzele, O. (2019). "St. Valentine's Day in the Borderland: The Specificity of Perception in Latgale Region (Latvia)". In *The 6th SGEM International Multidisciplinary Scientific Conferences on Social Sciences and Arts Proceedings*, 6, 71–80. https://doi.org/10.5593/sgemsocial2019v/6.1/s07.009
- Kowanda-Yassin, U. (2018). Öko-Dschihad: Der grüne Islam Beginn einer globalen Umweltbewegung. Salzburg: Residenz Verlag.
- Kreil, A. (2016). "The price of love: Valentine's Day in Egypt and its enemies". *Arab Studies Journal*, 24(2), 128–146. Available from: https://www.jadaliyya.com/Details/34023
- Kring, A. M. and Gordon, A. H. (1998). "Sex differences in emotion: Expression, experience, and physiology". *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(3), 686–703.
- Kross, E., Verduyn, P., Demiralp, E., Park, J., Lee, D. S., Lin, N., Shablack, H., Jonides, J. and Ybarra, O. (2013). "Facebook Use Predicts Declines in Subjective Well-Being in Young Adults". *PLOS ONE*, 8(8), e69841.
- Kube, S., Maréchal, M. A. and Puppe, C. (2012). "The Currency of Reciprocity: Gift Exchange in the Workplace". *American Economic Review*, 102(4), 1644–1662. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.102.4.1644
- Kvale, S. (1996). *Interviews: An Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing*. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Lambton, A. K. S. (1981). State and Government in Medieval Islam (An Introduction to the Study of Islamic Political Theory: The Jurists). London Oriental Series, Vol. 36. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Larsen, D. and Watson, J. J. (2001). "A guide map to the terrain of gift value". *Psychology and Marketing*, *18*(8), 889–906.
- Lauwers, A. S. (2019). "Is Islamophobia (Always) Racism?". *Critical Philosophy of Race*, 7(2), 306–355. https://doi.org/10.5325/critphilrace.7.2.0306
- Lee, J. A. (1973). Colours of love: An exploration of the ways of loving. Toronto: New Press.
- Lee, M. S. W., Motion, J. and Conroy, D. (2009). "Anti-consumption and brand avoidance". *Journal of Business Research*, 62(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JBUSRES.2008.01.024
- Lee, M. Y. and Mjelde-Mossey, L. (2004). "Cultural dissonance among generations: A solutionfocused approach with East Asian elders and their families". *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *30*(4), 497–513.
- Lee, R. S. (2013). "A Legal Analysis of Romantic Gifts". University of Miami Law Review, SSRN Electronic Journal, 67(3), 595–636. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2005493. Available from: https://lawreview.law.miami.edu/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/A-Legal-Analysis-of-Romantic-Gifts.pdf

- Lenze, N. (2017). "Social Media in the Arab World: Communication and Public Opinion in the Gulf States". *European Journal of Communication*, 32(1), 77–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323116687821
- Leslie, N. (2001). "St Valentine's Day, Fremantle, 2001". *Continuum: Journal of Media and Cultural Studies*, *15*(2), 139–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/713657798
- Lévi-Strauss, C. (1987)[1950]. Introduction to the Work of Marcel Mauss. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul. Translated by Baker, F. from Introduction à l'oeuvre de Marcel Mauss. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Levitt, P. (1998a). "Local-level Global Religion: The Case of the U.S.-Dominican Migration". *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, *37*(1), 74–89.
- (1998b). "Social Remittances: Migration Driven Local-Level Forms of Cultural Diffusion". *The International Migration Review*, 32(4), 926–948. doi:10.2307/2547666
- Lillevik, W. (2015). "Defining Acculturative Dissonance and Developing a Model of Expatriate Acculturative Stress". In *Global Enterprise Management*, Camillo (ed.), New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 191–205. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137510709_12
- Lilli, E. (2018). "Debating US Military Strategy in the Persian Gulf: What is the Way Forward?". *Revista Brasileira de Política Internacional*, 61(1), e002. https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7329201800102
- Lim, B. K. and Lim, S. L. (2010). "Cross-Cultural Dissonance". In *Encyclopedia of Cross-Cultural School Psychology*, Clauss-Ehlers (ed.), Boston, Massachusetts: Springer, 279–280. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-71799-9_100
- Linhares, J. (2018). Egyptian Pieces of the Empire's Puzzle: Peasants, Women, and Students in British Official Documents Issued after the 1919 Revolution in Egypt. Bachelor Thesis of Arts, Trinity College. Available from: https://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/theses/686
- Lindholm, C. (2006). "Romantic Love and Anthropology". *Stichting Etnofoor*, *19*(1), 5–21. Available from: https://open.bu.edu/handle/2144/3841
- Lipset, S. M. (1994). "The Social Requisites of Democracy Revisited". *American Sociological Review*, 59(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.2307/2096130
- Liu, Y. (2010). "Social Media Tools as a Learning Resource". Journal of Educational Technology Development and Exchange, 3(1), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.18785/jetde.0301.08
- Lo, M. and Aziz, T. (2009). "Muslim Marriage Goes Online: The Use of Internet Matchmaking by American Muslims". *The Journal of Religion and Popular Culture*, *21*(3), 5. https://doi.org/10.3138/jrpc.21.3.005
- Lofland, J. and Lofland, L. H. (1995). *Analyzing Social Settings*. Belmont, California: Wadsworth Publishing.
- Loiseau, E. and Nowacka, K. (2015). Can social media effectively include women's voices in decision-making processes?. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) Development Centre. Available from: https://www.oecd.org/dev/developmentgender/DEV_socialmedia-issuespaper-March2015.pdf
- Lomanowska, A. M. and Guitton, M. J. (2016). "Online intimacy and well-being in the digital age". *Internet Interventions*, 4(2), 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2016.06.005
- Lombardo, B. (1995). "Corporate philanthropy: Gift or business transaction?". *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 5(3), 291–301.
- Lunyai, J., De Run, E. and Atang, A. (2008). "Why Tourists Purchase Souvenirs?". In *Proceedings of Applied International Business Conference*, Malaysia, 246–251. Available

from: https://www.academia.edu/8054467/Why_tourist_buy_souvenirs [Accessed 14 January 2021].

- Macdonald, S. (2001). "British social anthropology". In *Handbook of Ethnography*, Atkinson, Coffey, Delamont, Lofland and Lofland (eds.), London: SAGE, 60–80.
- Machado, A. C., Bilo, C. and Helmy, I. (2018). The role of zakat in the provision of social protection: A comparison between Jordan, Palestine and Sudan. Working Paper 168, Brasilia: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG).
- Mackintosh-Smith, T. (2019). *Arabs: A 3,000-Year History of Peoples, Tribes and Empires*. New Haven, Connecticut; London: Yale University Press.
- Macklin, M. C. and Walker, M. (1988). "The Joy and Irritation of Gift giving". In Proceedings of the 1988 Academy of Marketing Science (AMS) Annual Conference, Bahn (ed.), Cham: Springer International Publishing, 28–32.
- Mądra-Sawicka, M., Nord, J. H., Paliszkiewicz, J. and Lee, T-R. (2020). "Digital Media: Empowerment and Equality". *Information*, 11(4), 225. https://doi.org/10.3390/info11040225
- Madsen, R. and Strong, T. B. (2003). *The Many and The One: Religious and Secular Perspectives on Ethical Pluralism in the Modern World*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Malinowski, B. (1926). Crime and custom in savage society. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Mall, M. A. (2001). *Teaching of Arabic to Learners in Muslim Private Schools in South Africa and Botswana*. Master's Thesis in Education, University of South Africa. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/43176449.pdf
- Mallard, G. (2019). *Gift Exchange: The Transnational History of a Political Idea*. Cambridge Studies in Law and Society. Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Mankiw, N. G. (2020). Principles of Economics. Boston: Cengage Learning.
- Manolopoulos, M. (2007). "Gift Theory as Cultural Theory". *Culture and Religion*, 8(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14755610601157047
- March, A. F. (2007). "Reading Tariq Ramadan: Political Liberalism, Islam, and "Overlapping Consensus"". *Ethics and International Affairs*, *21*(4), 399–413. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7093.2007.00114.x
- Marcus, G. E. (1995). "Ethnography in/of the World System: The Emergence of Multi-Sited Ethnography". *Annual Review of Anthropology*, *24*(1), 95–117. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.an.24.100195.000523
- Mardin, Ş. (1974). "Superwesternization in Urban Life in the Ottoman Empire in the Last Quarter of the Nineteenth Century". In *Turkey: Geographical and Social Perspectives*, Benedict, Tümertekin and Mansur (eds.), Leiden: Brill, 403–439.
- Martianov, V. (2018). "Revolution and Modernity". *Changing Societies and Personalities*, 2(2), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.15826/csp.2018.2.2.034
- Martín Corrales, E. (2002). *La imagen del magrebí en España: Una perspectiva histórica, siglos XVI-XX*. Barcelona: Edicions Bellaterra.
- (2004). "Maurofobia/islamofobia y maurofilia/islamofilia en la España del siglo XXI". *Revista CIDOB D'Afers Internacionals*, (66/67), 39–51.
- Mashino, I. (2019). *The Spread of Social Media in the GCC and the Potential for its Utilization in B2C Business*. Mitsui & Co. Global Strategic Studies Institute (MGSSI) Monthly Report. Available from:
 - https://www.mitsui.com/mgssi/en/report/detail/__icsFiles/afieldfile/2019/06/25/1903e_mashi no_e.pdf

- Mason, J. P. (2017). *Left-Handed in an Islamic World: An Anthropologist's Journey into the Middle East*. Washington, D.C.: New Academia Publishing/VELLUM Books.
- Mason, M. (2010). "Sample Size and Saturation in PhD Studies Using Qualitative Interviews. Methods for Qualitative Management Research in the Context of Social Systems Thinking". *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(3), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-11.3.1428. [Available from: https://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1428/3027]
- Masud, M. K. (2009). "The Scope of Pluralism in Islamic Moral Traditions". In *The Many and The One: Religious and Secular Perspectives on Ethical Pluralism in the Modern World*, Madsen and Strong (eds.), Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 180–192. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400825592.180

Mathews, M. (2017). "Gift giving, reciprocity and the creation of trust". *Journal of Trust Research*, 7(1), 90–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/21515581.2017.1286597

- Mauss, M. (1925). *The Gift: forms and functions of exchange in archaic societies*. London: Cohen and West.
- (2002)[1990]. The Gift: The Form and Reason for Exchanges in Archaic Societies. London: Routledge.
- Mayade-Claustre, J. (2002). "Le don: Que faire de l'anthropologie?". *Hypothèses*, 5(1), 229–237. https://doi.org/10.3917/hyp.011.0229
- Mayet, C. and Pine, K. J. (2010). *The Psychology of Gift Exchange*. University of Hertfordshire, Internal Report. Available from: https://karenpine.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/07/The-Psychology-of-Gift-Exchange.pdf
- Maykut, P. and Morehouse, R. E. (1994). *Beginning Qualitative Research: A Philosophic and Practical Guide*. London: The Falmer Press.
- McCracken, G. (1988a). *Culture and consumption*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. (1988b). *The long interview*. Newbury Park, California: Sage.
- McCrae, N., Sharif, L. and Norman, I. (2019). "Media portrayals of mental disorder in Saudi Arabia: a review of popular newspapers". *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *56*(2), 428–442. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461518819117
- McCrea, R. (2013). "The Ban on the Veil and European Law". *Human Rights Law Review*, 13(1), 57–97. https://doi.org/10.1093/hrlr/ngs035
- Medina-Doménech, R. M. (2012). "Sentir la historia. Propuestas para una agenda de investigación feminista en la historia de las emociones". *Arenal: Revista de Historia de las Mujeres*, 19(1), 161–199.
- Mernissi, F. (1975). *Beyond the Veil: Male-Female Dynamics in a Muslim Society*. London: Saqi Books.
- Metcalfe, A. and Game, A. (2008). "Meetings: Gifts without exchange". *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, 11(1), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367549407084966
- Metcalfe, B. D. and Rees, C. J. (2010). "Gender, globalization and organization: exploring power, relations and intersections". *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 29(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1108/02610151011019183
- Metwally, M. (1997). "Economic consequences of applying Islamic principles in Muslim societies". *International Journal of Social Economics*, 24(7/8/9), 941–957. https://doi.org/10.1108/03068299710178955

- Mian, A. A. (2018). "Love in Islamic Philosophy". In *The Routledge Handbook of Love in Philosophy*, Martin (ed.), London: Routledge, 395–408. Available from: https://www.academia.edu/38236825/Love_in_Islamic_Philosophy
- Mick, D. G. and DeMoss, M. (1990). "Self-Gifts: Phenomenological Insights from Four Contexts". *Journal of Consumer Research*, *17*(3), 322. https://doi.org/10.1086/208560
- (1992). "Further Findings on Self-Gifts: Products, Qualities, and Socioeconomic Correlates". In *Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 19, Sherry, Jr. and Sternthal (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 140–146.
- Miguélez-Carballeira, H. (2016). "Sentimentality as Consensus". In *Engaging the Emotions in Spanish Culture and History*, Delgado, Fernández and Labanyi (eds.), Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press, 210–224. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv16756g4.17
- Miller, D., Costa, E., Haynes, N., McDonald, T., Nicolescu, R., Sinanan, J., Spyer, J., Venkatraman, S. and Wang, X. (2016). *How the World Changed Social Media*. London: UCL Press.
- Minowa, Y. and Belk, R. W. (2018). *Gifts, Romance, and Consumer Culture* (Routledge Interpretive Marketing Research). New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Minowa, Y. and Gould, S. J. (1999). "Love my gift, love me or is it love me, love my gift: A study of the cultural construction of romantic gift giving among Japanese couples". In *Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 26, Arnould and Scott (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 119–124.
- Minowa, Y., Khomenko, O. and Belk, R. W. (2011). "Social Change and Gendered Gift-Giving Rituals: A Historical Analysis of Valentine's Day in Japan". Sociology, Journal of Macromarketing, 31(1), 44–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0276146710375831 [Available from: http://docplayer.net/32689334-Social-change-and-gendered-gift-giving-rituals-a-historicalanalysis-of-valentine-s-day-in-japan.html]
- Mirzoeff, N. (2005). Watching Babylon. New York: Routledge.
- Moghadam, V. M. (2010). Feminist Activism in the Arab Region and Beyond: Linking Research to Policy Reform and Social Change (FREIA series, 72). Aalborg: Feminist Research Centre in Aalborg (FREIA), Institute for History, International and Social Studies, Aalborg University. https://doi.org/10.5278/freia.32687969 [Available from: https://vbn.aau.dk/ws/portalfiles/portal/32687990/FREIA wp 72.pdf]
- Mohideen, H. and Mohideen, S. (2008). "Research Notes: The Language of Islamophobia in Internet Articles". *Intellectual Discourse*, *16*(1), 73–87.
- Moldovan, A. and Van de Walle, S. (2013). "Gifts or bribes? Attitudes on informal payments in Romanian Health Care". *Public Integrity*, *15*(4), 383–399.
- Momani, B. (2016). *Equality and the Economy: Why the Arab world should employ more women*. Brookings Doha Center, Policy Briefing. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Publications.
- Monaghan, J. (2003). "Review of the book The Enigma of the Gift". *Ethnohistory*, 50(2), 410–411. https://doi.org/10.1215/00141801-50-2-410
- Mooro, A. (2019). *The Greater Freedom: Life as a Middle Eastern Woman Outside the Stereotypes*. New York: Little A, Amazon Publishing.
- Morgan, N. and Pritchard, A. (2005). "On souvenirs and metonymy". *Tourist Studies*, 5(1), 29–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468797605062714
- Morrison, K. (2006). *Marx, Durkheim, Weber: Formations of Modern Social Thought*. London: Sage Publications Ltd.

- Morrison, T. and Conaway, W. A. (1997a). The International Traveler's Guide to Doing Business in Latin America. New York: Macmillan Spectrum.
- (1997b). The International Traveler's Guide to Doing Business in the European Union. New York: Macmillan Spectrum.
- Morse, K. A. and Neuberg, S. L. (2004). "How do holidays influence relationship processes and outcomes? Examining the instigating and catalytic effects of Valentine's Day". Personal Relationships, 11(4), 509–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2004.00095.x
- Mortelmans, D. and Damen, S. (2001). "Attitudes on commercialization and anti-commercial reactions on gift-giving occasions in Belgium". Journal of Consumer Behaviour, 1(2), 156-173.
- Moscoso-Sanabria, J. and Zaragoza-Bernal, J. M. (2014). "Historias del bienestar: Desde la historia de las emociones a las políticas de la experiencia". Cuadernos de Historia Contemporánea, 36, 73-88. https://doi.org/10.5209/rev_chco.2014.v36.46682
- Moufahim, M. (2013). "Religious gift giving". Marketing Theory, 13(4), 421-441. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470593113499698
- Muise, A., Christofides, E. and Desmarais, S. (2009). "More Information Than You Ever Wanted: Does Facebook Bring Out the Green-eved Monster of Jealousy?". Cyberpsychological Behavior, 12(4), 441–444.
- Munavvarov, Z. I. and Schneider-Deters, W. (2003). Islam and the Secular State. Tashkent: International Fund of Imam al-Bukhari, Friedrich Ebert Foundation. Available from: https://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/zentralasien/50123-3.pdf
- Murdock, G. P. (1943). "Bronislaw Malinowski". American Anthropologist, 45(3), 441–451. https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.1943.45.3.02a00090
- Murray, C. E. and Campbell, E. C. (2015). "The pleasures and perils of technology in intimate relationships". Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy, 14(2), 116–140. DOI: 10.1080/15332691.2014.953651
- Mus'ad, M. F. (2001). The Wives of the Prophet Muhammad: Their Strives and Their Lives. Cairo: Islamic Inc. Publishing & Distribution.
- Musah, M. B. (2011). "The Culture of Individualism and Collectivism in Balancing Accountability and Innovation in Education: An Islamic Perspective". International Journal of Sustainable Development, 2(8), 69-76.
- Musharraf, M. N. (2020). Welcoming your new-born: Figh of Ageegah, Tahneek, Naming, Circumcision and more. A Comprehensive Manual. Maddington: Australian Islamic Library, Islamic Circle of Australia and New Zealand (iCan), Sama-o-Basr Publications
- Naderifar, M., Goli, H. and Ghaljaie, F. (2017). "Snowball Sampling: A Purposeful Method of Sampling in Qualitative Research". Strides in Development of Medical Education, 14(3).
- Nahar, R., Lazim, Z. M. and Yusof, N. M. (2019). "The Notion of Modesty Through Hijab: An Analysis of Haya' in Sofia Khan is Not Obliged". Journal of Islamic, Social, Economics and Development (JISED), 4(17), 58–73.
- Nakamura, S. (2016). "Challenges for Qatar and Japan to Build Multilayered Relations". Gulf Studies Center, Monographic Series, (2).
- Naofusa, H. (1983). "Traditional Cultures and Modernization: Several Problems in the Case of Japan". In Cultural Identity and Modernization in Asian Countries, Proceedings of Kokugakuin University Centennial Symposium, Available from:

https://www2.kokugakuin.ac.jp/ijcc/wp/cimac/index.html [Accessed 27 July 2018] Narotzky, S. (1997). New Directions in Economic Anthropology. London: Pluto Press.

- Naser, A. Y., Al-Hadithi, H. T., Dahmash, E. Z., Alwafi, H., Alwan, S. S. and Abdullah, Z. A. (2020). "The effect of the 2019 coronavirus disease outbreak on social relationships: A crosssectional study in Jordan". *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764020966631
- Nasir, J. J. (1994). *The Status of Women Under Islamic Law and Under Modern Islamic Legislation*. London: Graham & Trotman Ltd.
- Nassar, H. T. (2015). "Social and economic problems faced by divorced women in Jordan". *Global Journal of Art and Social Science Education*, 3(5), 131–136.
- Neilson, W. S. (1999). "The economics of favors". *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, *39*(4), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-2681(99)00047-5
- Ngai, S. (2007). Ugly Feelings. Cambridge, Massachusetts; London: Harvard University Press.
- Nguyen, H. P. and Munch, J. M. (2011). "Romantic gift giving as chore or pleasure: The effects of attachment orientations on gift giving perceptions". *Journal of Business Research*, 64(2), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2010.02.006
- Nussbaum, M. C. (2013). *Political Emotions: Why Love Matters for Justice*. Cambridge, Massachusetts; London: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Oberwittler, D. and Kasselt, J. (2014). "Honor Killings". In *The Oxford Handbook of Gender, Sex, and Crime*, Gartner and McCarthy (eds.), Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press, 652–670. doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199838707.013.0033
- O'Brien, T. L. and Noy, S. (2015). "Traditional, Modern, and Post-Secular Perspectives on Science and Religion in the United States". *American Sociological Review*, *80*(1), 92–115. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122414558919
- O'Connor, H. and Madge, C. (2001). "Cyber-Mothers: Online Synchronous Interviewing using Conferencing Software". *Sociological Research Online*, 5(4), 102–117. https://doi.org/10.5153/sro.543
- O'Connor, H., Madge, C., Shaw, R. and Wellens, J. (2008). "Internet-based interviewing". In *The SAGE handbook of online research methods*, Fielding, Lee and Blank (eds.), Los Angeles; London: SAGE Publications Ltd., 271–289. DOI: 10.4135/9780857020055
- O'Donnell, P. S. (2011). "Poetry and Islam: An Introduction". *CrossCurrents*, *61*(1), 72–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-3881.2010.00162.x
- Ogasawara, Y. (1996). "Meanings of Chocolate: Power and Gender in Valentine's Gift Giving". *International Journal of Japanese Sociology*, *5*(1), 41–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6781.1996.tb00035.x
- Oghia, M. J. (2015). "Different Cultures, One Love: Exploring Romantic Love in the Arab World". In *Intercultural Communication with Arabs: Studies in Educational, Professional* and Societal contexts, Raddawi (ed.), Singapore: Springer, 279–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-254-8_16
- O'Keeffe, G. S. and Clarke-Pearson, K. (2011). "The Impact of Social Media on Children, Adolescents, and Families". *Pediatrics*, 127(4), 800–804. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-0054
- Oláh, L. S., Kotowska, I. E. and Richter, R. (2018). "The New Roles of Men and Women and Implications for Families and Societies". In A Demographic Perspective on Gender, Family and Health in Europe, Doblhammer and Gumà (eds.), Cham: Springer International Publishing, 41–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-72356-3_4
- Olimat, M. S. (2009). "Women and Politics in Kuwait". *Journal of International Women's Studies*, *11*(2), 199–212. Available from: http://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol11/iss2/13

- Ong, D. (2011). "Fishy Gifts: Bribing with Shame and Guilt". *Munich Personal RePEc Archive* (*MPRA*) *Paper*. Available from: https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/35197/ Accessed from SSRN Electronic Journal: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1303051
- Orben, A., Dienlin, T. and Przybylski, A. K. (2019). "Social media's enduring effect on adolescent life satisfaction". In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(21), 10226–10228. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1902058116
- Orsini, F. (2006). "Love Letters". In *Love in South Asia, A Cultural History*, Orsini (ed.), Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 228–258.
- Osman, H., Abdul Majid, L., Idris, F., Ismail, A. M. and Hussin, H. (2013). "Islamic View on the Muslim Ethics of Loving". *World Applied Sciences Journal*, *27*(10), 1380–1384. 10.5829/idosi.wasj.2013.27.10.1497.
- Osteen, M. (2002). *Gift or commodity? In The question of the gift: essays across disciplines.* New York: Routledge.
- Othman, N., Ong, F. S. and Teng, A. T. M. (2005). "Occasions and Motivations for Gift-Giving: A Comparative Study of Malay and Chinese Consumers in Urban Malaysia". *Asia Pacific Management Review*, *10*(3), 197–204.
- Otnes, C. (1994). "The 'Masculine Mystique': Men's Involvement in Gift Giving, Gift Receipt and Gift Occasions". In *Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 21, Allen and John (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 158.
- Otnes, C. and Beltramini, R. F. (1996). *Gift Giving: A Research Anthology*. Bowling Green, Ohio: Bowling Green State University Popular Press.
- Otnes, C. and Lowrey, T. M. (2004). *Contemporary Consumption Rituals: A Research Anthology*. London: Psychology Press.
- Otnes, C. and Scott, L. M. (1996). "Something Old, Something New: Exploring the Interaction between Ritual and Advertising". *Journal of Advertising*, 25(1), 33–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.1996.10673494
- Otnes, C., Lowrey, T. M. and Kim, Y. C. (1993). "Gift Selection for Easy and Difficult Recipients: A Social Roles Interpretation". *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20(2), 229–244. https://doi.org/10.1086/209345
- Otnes, C., Ruth, J. A. and Milbourne, C. C. (1994). "The Pleasure and Pain of Being Close: Men's Mixed Feelings About Participation in Valentine's Day Gift Exchange". In Advances in Consumer Research, Vol. 21, Allen and John (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 159–164. Available from: https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/7578
- Özdemir, İ. (2003). "Toward an Understanding of Environmental Ethics from A Qur'anic Perspective". In *Islam and Ecology: A Bestowed Trust*, Foltz, Denny and Baharuddin (eds.), Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1–37.
- (2017). "Muhammad Iqbal and Environmental Ethics". *Acta Via Serica*, 2(2), 87–110. https://doi.org/10.22679/AVS.2017.2.2.89
- Palan, K. M., Areni, C. S. and Kiecker, P. (2001). "Gender Role Incongruency and Memorable Gift Exchange Experiences". In *Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 28, Gilly and Meyers-Levy (eds.), Valdosta, Georgia: Association for Consumer Research, 51–57.
- Palmer, V. M. (1928). *Field Studies in Sociology: A Students' Manual*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Panaemalae, A. A. and Prasojo, Z. H. (2016). "Islam and the West: Tariq Ramadan and the Discourse of Religion of Peace for a Global Understanding". *Al-Albab*, 5(2). https://doi.org/10.24260/alalbab.v5i2.507

- Pandya, A. and Venkatesh, A. (1992). "Symbolic communication among consumers in selfconsumption and gift giving: A semiotic approach". In *Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 19, Sherry, Jr. and Sternthal (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 147–154. Available from: https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/7282/volumes/v19/NA-19
- Pappé, I. (2005). *The Modern Middle East: A Social and Cultural History*. Abingdon, Oxfordshire, England: Routledge.
- Parekh, S. and Wilcox, S. (2020). "Feminist Perspectives on Globalization". In *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy* (Spring 2020 Edition), Zalta (ed.), Stanford, California: The Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University Press. Available from: https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/feminism-globalization/
- Paris, D. (2015). "Business Gift Giving Etiquette". Journal of Accounting and Management, 5(2), 45–52. https://www.hrvatski-racunovodja.hr/jam/2015/jam-year2015-vol05-no02art04.pdf
- Parry, J. (1986). "The Gift, the Indian Gift and the "Indian Gift". *Man, New Series*, 21(3), 453–473. https://doi.org/10.2307/2803096. Available from: https://www.academia.edu/8377164/The_Gift_the_Indian_gift_and_the_Indian_gift_?email_work_card=view-paper]
- Patel, P. (2014). "The Popularity of 'Valentine Day': A Sociological Perspective". *Economic and Political Weekly*, *49*(19), 19–21.
- Patton, M. Q. (1987). *How to Use Qualitative Methods in Evaluation*. Newbury Park, California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Paulusson, M. (2013). Why Honor is Worth More Than a Life: A Literature Review About 'so called' Honor Violence. Bachelor's Thesis in Public Health Science, Blekinge Institute of Technology. Available from: https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:830956/fulltext01.pdf
- Peeters, E. (2006). "Authenticity and Asceticism: Discourse and Performance in Nude Culture and Health Reform in Belgium, 1920-1940". *Journal of the History of Sexuality*, 15(3), 432– 461. https://doi.org/10.1353/sex.2007.0020
- Peterson, J. E. (2016). "The Age of Imperialism and its Impact on the Gulf". In *The Emergence of the Gulf States: Studies in Modern History*, Peterson (ed.), London; New York: Bloomsbury Academic, 127–158.
- Petković, J. (2007). "Traditional Values and Modernization Challenges in Forming Urban and Rural culture". *Philosophy, Sociology and Psychology*, 6(1), 23–39.
- PEW Research Center. (2011). *Muslim-Majority Countries*. PEW Research Center's Religion and Public Life Project. Available from: https://www.pewforum.org/2011/01/27/future-of-the-global-muslim-population-muslim-majority/ [Accessed 11 June 2021].
- (2019). Social Media Fact Sheet. Demographics of Social Media Users and Adoption in the United States. Available from: https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/social-media/ [Accessed 21 September 2020].
- Pfefferbaum, B. and North, C. S. (2020). "Mental Health and the COVID-19 Pandemic". *New England Journal of Medicine*, *383*(6), 510–512. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp2008017
- Pfeifer, K. (2004). "Defining Boundaries: Kuwait's Economic Reconstruction 1991–2001". In Trade Policy and Economic Integration in the Middle East and North Africa: Economic Boundaries in flux, Hakimian and Nugent (eds.), London; New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group, 207–230.

- Pillai, R. G. and Krishnakumar, S. (2019). "Elucidating the emotional and relational aspects of gift giving". *Journal of Business Research*, 101(2), 194–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.03.037
- Pizzetti, M. (2016). *Gifts, emotions and cognitive processes: An inquiry of gift receiving from a consumer psychology perspective*. Doctoral Thesis in Communication Sciences, Università della Svizzera italiana. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/43673372.pdf
- Plant, E. A., Hyde, J. S., Keltner, D. and Devine, P. G. (2000). "Gender stereotyping of emotion". *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 24(1), 81–92.
- Platt, K. (2013). Women and the Islamic Veil: Deconstructing implications of orientalism, state, and feminism through an understanding of performativity, cultivation of piety and identity, and fashion. Bachelor's Honors Thesis in Religion, Hofstra University. Available from: https://www.hofstra.edu/religion/honors-thesis.html
- Pleck, J. H. and Sawyer, J. (1974). *Men and masculinity*. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Polanyi, K. (1957). "The economy as instituted process". In *Trade and Market in the Early Empires: Economies in History and Theory*, Polanyi, Arensberg and Pearson (eds.), Glencoe, Illinois: The Free Press & The Falcon's Wing Press, 243–270.
- Pollmann, M. M. H. and van Beest, I. (2013). "Women Are Better at Selecting Gifts than Men". *PLOS ONE*, 8(12), e81643. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081643
- Portes, A. (1996). "Transnational Communities: Their Emergence and Significance in the Contemporary World-System". In *Latin America in the World-Economy*, Korzeniewicz and Smith (eds.), Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press, 151–166.
- Potter, G. (2000). "For Bourdieu, Against Alexander: Reality and Reduction". *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, *30*(2), 229–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5914.00127
- Principe, K. E. and Eisenhauer, J. G. (2009). "Gift-giving and deadweight loss". *The Journal of Socioeconomics*, 38(2), 215–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2008.12.005. Available from: https://www.discuto.io/sites/default/files/principe.pdf
- Qibtiyah, A. (2015). "Homosexuality Islam And Human Rights Perspectives". *Musãwa Jurnal Studi Gender Dan Islam*, 14(2), 197–210. https://doi.org/10.14421/musawa.2015.142.197-210
- Quester, P. G., Karunaratna, A. and Goh, L. K. (2000). "Self-congruity and product evaluation: A cross-cultural study". *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *17*(6), 525–535.
- Quintero González, A. and Koestner, R. (2006). "What Valentine Announcements Reveal about the Romantic Emotions of Men and Women". *Sex Roles*, 55(11–12), 767–773. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-006-9130-z
- Radcliffe, D. and Abuhmaid, H. (2020). "Social Media in the Middle East: 2019 in Review". *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3517916
- Raikhan, S., Moldakhmet, M., Ryskeldy, M. and Alua, M. (2014). "The Interaction of Globalization and Culture in the Modern World". *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 122, 8–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.1294
- Ramadan, T. (2004). *Western Muslims and the Future of Islam*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- (2009a). *Islam, the West and the Challenges of Modernity*. Leicester, UK: The Islamic Foundation.
- (2009b). *What I Believe*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Ramady, M. A. (2016). *The Political Economy of Wasta: Use and Abuse of Social Capital Networking*. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Ramdani, N. (2016). The Rise of the Egyptian Nationalist Movement: The Case of the 1919 Revolution. Master's Thesis of Philosophy, The London School of Economics and Political Science. Available from: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/4240/1/Ramdani__Rise-Egyptiannationalist-movement.pdf
- Ranchod-Nilsson, S. and Tétreault, M. A. (2000). Women, States and Nationalism: At Home in the Nation?. London: Routledge.
- Randall, M. and Samimi, M. A. (2010). "The status of English in Dubai". *English Today*, 26(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0266078409990617
- Rashad, H. (2015). "The tempo and intensity of marriage in the Arab region: Key challenges and their implications". *DIFI Family Research and Proceedings*, 2015(1), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.5339/difi.2015.2
- Ratsika, N. (2012). *Between Tradition and Modernity: The occupational choices of young people in rural Crete*. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, Umeå University. Available from: https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:475310/fulltext02.pdf
- Raza, S. A., Qazi, W., Umer, B. and Khan, K. A. (2020). "Influence of social networking sites on life satisfaction among university students: a mediating role of social benefit and social overload". *Health Education*, 120(2), 141–164. https://doi.org/10.1108/HE-07-2019-0034
- Razwy, S. A. A. (1990). *Khadija-tul-Kubra (the wife of the prophet Muhammed) may Allah be pleased with her: A short story of her life*. Elmhurst, New York: Tahrike Tarsile Qur'an.
- Rees, J. A. (2017). "Religion and Culture". In *International Relations*, McGlinchey (ed.), Bristol, England: E-International Relations Publishing, 98–111. Available from: https://www.eir.info/publication/beginners-textbook-international-relations/
- Rehim, M. H. I., Alshamsi, W. K. S. and Kaba, A. (2020). "Perceptions of divorcees towards factors leading to divorce in UAE". *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage*, 61(8), 582–592. https://doi.org/10.1080/10502556.2020.1824205
- Rehman, J. and Polymenopoulou, E. (2013). "Is Green a Part of the Rainbow? Sharia, Homosexuality and LGBT Rights in the Muslim World". *Fordham International Law Journal*, *37*(1). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2180807. Available from: https://ir.lawnet.fordham.edu/ilj/
- Reitsma, L. and Van den Hoven, E. (2017). "Wrapping Cultural Values: using Social Embodiment as Stimulus in Designs". *The Design Journal*, 20(sup1), S401–S410. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2017.1352928
- Reyaee, S. and Ahmed, A. (2015). "Growth Pattern of Social Media Usage in Arab Gulf States: An Analytical Study". *Social Networking*, 4(2), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.4236/sn.2015.42003
- Rixom, J. M., Mas, E. M. and Rixom, B. A. (2020). "Presentation Matters: The Effect of Wrapping Neatness on Gift Attitudes". *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 30(2), 329–338. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcpy.1140
- Riyani, I. (2014). "Research On (Women's) Sexuality in Islam". *Islamika Indonesiana*, 1(2), 1–18.
- Robles, J. S. (2012). "Troubles with assessments in gifting occasions". *Discourse Studies*, *14*(6), 753–777. DOI: 10.1177/1461445612457490

- Rochadiat, A. M. P., Tong, S. T. and Novak, J. M. (2017). "Online dating and courtship among Muslim American women: Negotiating technology, religious identity, and culture". New Media and Society, 20(4), 1618–1639. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817702396
- Rogers, R. A. (2006). "From Cultural Exchange to Transculturation: A Review and Reconceptualization of Cultural Appropriation". Communication Theory, 16(4), 474-503. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2006.00277.x
- Rosch, E., Mervis, C. B., Gray, W. D., Johnson, D. M. and Boyes-Braem, P. (1976). "Basic objects in natural categories". Cognitive Psychology, 8(3), 382-439. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0285(76)90013-x
- Rosenau, P. M. (1992). Post-modernism and the Social Sciences: Insights, Inroads, and Intrusions. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Rosenthal, F. and Gutas, D. (2014). Man Versus Society in Medieval Islam (Brill Classics in Islam), Vol. 7. Leiden: Brill.
- Roy, O. (2003). El islam mundializado. Los musulmanes en la era de la globalización. Barcelona: Edicions Bellaterra.
- Ruffle, B. J. (1999). "Gift giving with emotions". Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 39(4), 399-420. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-2681(99)00048-7
- Rugimbana, R., Donahay, B., Neal, C. and Polonsky, M. J. (2003). "The role of social power relations in gift giving on Valentine's Day". Journal of Consumer Behaviour, 3(1), 63-73. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.122
- Ruth, J. A., Otnes, C. C. and Brunel, F. F. (1999). "Gift Receipt and the Reformulation of Interpersonal Relationships". Journal of Consumer Research, 25(4), 385–403. https://doi.org/10.1086/209546
- Ruthven, M. (2004). A Fury for God: The Islamist Attack on America. London: Granta.
- Saad, G. and Gill, T. (2003). "An Evolutionary Psychology Perspective on Gift Giving among Young Adults". Psychology and Marketing, 20(9), 765–784. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.10096
- Sadath, A. (2019). "Factors Influencing Child Marriages among Muslim Girls: A Qualitative Study in Malabar Context". The Indian Journal of Social Work, 80(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.32444/ijsw.2018.80.1.67-86
- Saddiqui, A. (2020). Constructed Oppression and Forced Liberation: Analyzing, Deconstructing, and Rejecting the Conception of the Oppressed Muslim Woman. Bachelor's Honors Thesis in Geography, Hofstra University. Available from: https://www.hofstra.edu/global-studies-geography/honors-dissertations.html
- Safi, O. (2003). Progressive Muslims: On Justice, Gender and Pluralism. Oxford: One World.
- Sahlins, M. (1972). Stone Age Economics. New York: Aldine Books.
- Sahni, R. and Shankar, V. K. (2006). "Romancing Material Culture in Urban Public Spaces: The Case of Valentine's Day in Pune". Economic and Political Weekly, 41(7), 649–654.
- Saladino, V., Algeri, D. and Auriemma, V. (2020). "The Psychological and Social Impact of COVID-19: New Perspectives of Well-Being". Frontiers in Psychology, 11, Article 577684, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.577684
- Sanchez, A. (2016). "Social Media Use and Intimate Relationships". Reflections: A Journal of Exploratory Research and Analysis, 13, 36–42, California State University, Stanislaus. Available from: https://www.csustan.edu/honors/reflections
- Sandberg, S. (2013). Lean In: Women, Work, and the Will to Lead. London: WH Allen, Ebury Publishing.

- Sandel, M. J. (2013a). "Market Reasoning as Moral Reasoning: Why Economists Should Reengage with Political Philosophy". *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 27(4), 121–140. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.27.4.121
- (2013b). *What Money Can't Buy: The Moral Limits of Markets*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Sanni, A. (1990). "Perspectives in a Religious System: The Role and Status of Poetry in Islam". *Islamic Studies*, 29(4), 339–352.
- Sardar, Z. (1988). Building Information Systems in the Islamic World. London: Mansell.
- (2013). "The Shadows of Muslim Men". In *Critical Muslim 08: Men in Islam*, Sardar and Yassin-Kassab (eds.), London: Hurst & Co., 3–18.
- Satt, H. (2017). "Eid Mawlid al-Nabi, Eid al-Fitr and Eid al-Adha; optimism and impact on analysts' recommendations: Evidence from MENA region". Arab Economic and Business Journal, 12(1), 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aebj.2017.04.001
- Satti, M. (2013). *International Media and Local Programming: The Case of Kuwait*. Arab Media and Society, (18), 1–12. Available from:

https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/175970/20130610081345_Satti_Mohamed.pdf

- Savaya, R. and Cohen, O. (2003). "Perceptions of the Societal Image of Muslim Arab Divorced Men and Women in Israel". *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 20(2), 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407503020002004
- Schäfer, S. K., Sopp, M. R., Schanz, C. G. Staginnus, M., Göritz, A. S. and Michael, T. (2020).
 "Impact of COVID-19 on Public Mental Health and the Buffering Effect of a Sense of Coherence". *Psychother Psychosom*, 89(6), 386–392. DOI: 10.1159/000510752
- Schielke, S. (2010). "Second Thoughts About the Anthropology of Islam, or How to Make Sense of Grand Schemes in Everyday Life". Berlin: *Zentrum Moderner Orient (ZMO) Working Papers*, (2). Available from: https://d-nb.info/1019243724/34
- (2020). *Migrant Dreams: Egyptian Workers in the Gulf States*. Cairo; New York: The American University in Cairo Press.
- Schmidt, L. E. (1993). "The Fashioning of a Modern Holiday: St. Valentine's Day, 1840–1870". *Winterthur Portfolio*, 28(4), 209–245. https://doi.org/10.1086/496627
- Schofield, C. H. and Schofield, R. N. (2016). *The Middle East and North Africa* (World Boundaries Series). London: Routledge.
- Schrift, A. D. (1997). *The Logic of the Gift: Toward an Ethic of Generosity*. London; New York: Routledge.
- Schumpe, B. M. and Erb, H.-P. (2015). "Humans and Uniqueness". *Science Progress*, 98(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3184/003685015x14205597448201
- Scott, J. F. (1971). *Internalization of Norms: A Sociological Theory of Moral Commitment*. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Sedgwick, M. (2009). Against the Modern World: Traditionalism and the Secret Intellectual History of the Twentieth Century. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sells, M. (2000). "Love". In *The Literature of Al-Andalus*, Menocal, Scheindlin and Sells (eds.), Cambridge, UK; New York: Cambridge University Press, 126–158.
- Sewell, W. H. (1992). "A Theory of Structure: Duality, Agency, and Transformation". *American Journal of Sociology*, 98(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1086/229967
- Shaaban, B. (2009). *Both Right and Left Handed: Arab women talk about their lives*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

- Shah, N. M. (2004). "Arab Migration Patterns in the Gulf". In *Arab Migration in a Globalized World*, International Organization for Migration (IOM) (ed.), Geneva: International Organization for Migration, 91–133.
- Shah, N. M. and Al-Kazi, L. (2017). "Irregular Migration to and within Kuwait: Enabling and Sustaining Factors". In Skilful Survivals: Irregular Migration to the Gulf, Gulf Labour Markets and Migration (GLMM) Programme, Fargues and Shah (eds.), Florence: European University Institute (EUI); Cambridge: Gulf Research Centre, 95–114.
- Shanka, T. and Handley, B. (2011). "Gift Giving: An Exploratory Behavioural Study". Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research, 16(4), 359–377. https://doi.org/10.1080/10941665.2011.588865
- Sharabi, H. (1988). *Neopatriarchy: A Theory of Distorted Change in the Arab World*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Shaver, P., Schwartz, J., Kirson, D. and O'Connor, C. (1987). "Emotion knowledge: Further Exploration of a Prototype Approach". *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(6), 1061–1086. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.6.1061
- Shehabat, A. K. (2016). "Depiction of the theme of Love in Arabic and English Literature Based on Sternberg's Triangular Theory of Love". *American International Journal of Contemporary Research*, 6(3), 83–88.
- Sherry Jr., J. F. (1983). "Gift Giving in Anthropological Perspective". *The Journal of Consumer Research*, *10*(2), 157–168.
- Sherry Jr., J. F. and McGrath, M. A. (1989). "Unpacking the Holiday Presence: A Comparative Ethnography of Two Gift Stores". In *Interpretive Consumer Behavior*, Hirschman (ed.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 148–167.
- Shirazi, F. (2019). "The Veiling Issue in 20th Century Iran in Fashion and Society, Religion, and Government". *Religions*, *10*(8), 461. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel10080461
- Shirazi, F. and Mishra, S. (2010). "Young Muslim women on the face veil (niqab): A tool of resistance in Europe but rejected in the United States". *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 13(1), 43–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367877909348538
- Siddiqui, T. (2016). "Media Coverage of Valentine's Day: Is Media Biased in Covering the Festival?". *International Journal of Social Sciences and Management*, *3*(3), 171–187.
- Silber, I. F. (2009). "Bourdieu's Gift to Gift Theory: An Unacknowledged Trajectory". *Sociological Theory*, 27(2), 173–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9558.2009.01342.x
- Smith, A. [Adam]. (2005)[1790]. The Theory of Moral Sentiments. Edited by Soares, S. M. São Paulo: Metalibri Publications. Available from:

https://www.ibiblio.org/ml/libri/s/SmithA_MoralSentiments_p.pdf

- Smith, A. [Anthony]. (1979). Nationalism in the Twentieth Century. Oxford: Martin Robertson.
- Smith, C. A. and Ellsworth, P. C. (1985). "Patterns of cognitive appraisal in emotion". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 48(4), 813–838. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.48.4.813
- Smith, P. (2004). "Marcel Proust as Successor and Precursor to Pierre Bourdieu: A Fragment". *Thesis Eleven*, 79(1), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1177/0725513604046960
- Solnick, S. and Hemenway, D. (1996). "The Deadweight Loss of Christmas: Comment". *American Economic Review*, 86(5), 1299–1305.
- (1998). "The Deadweight Loss of Christmas: Reply". American Economic Review, 88(5), 1356–1357.

- Soto, J. A. and Levenson, R. W. (2009). "Emotion recognition across cultures: The influence of ethnicity on empathic accuracy and physiological linkage". *Emotion*, *9*(6), 874–884. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017399
- Soukayna A. (2018). "Gender Construction and Divorced Women in Morocco: Fez City as a Case Study". Arts and Social Sciences Journal, 9(5), 409. https://doi.org/10.4172/2151-6200.1000409
- Sparkes, J. (2020). Tradition as Flow: Decolonial Currents in the Muslim Atlantic. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, Wilfrid Laurier University. Available from: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/2300
- Spiro, P. J. (1997). "Dual Nationality and the Meaning of Citizenship". *Emory Law Journal*, 46(4), 1411–1485.
- Sreberny, A. (2015). "Women's Digital Activism in a Changing Middle East". *International Journal of Middle East Studies*, 47(2), 357–361. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0020743815000112
- Sreberny-Mohammadi, A. (1990). "Small Media for a Big Revolution: Iran". *International Journal of Politics, Culture and Society*, *3*(3), 341–371. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01384966
- Stables, R. (1996). Relations between Britain and Kuwait, 1957-1963. Doctoral Thesis in Politics and International Relations, University of Warwick. Available from: http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/3680/1/wrap_thesis_Stables_1996.pdf
- Starrett, G. (1995). "The Hexis of Interpretation: Islam and the body in the Egyptian popular school". *American Ethnologist*, 22(4), 953–969. https://doi.org/10.1525/ae.1995.22.4.02a00150
- Stivachtis, Y. A. (2008). "Civilization and International Society: The Case of European Union Expansion". *Contemporary Politics*, 14(1), 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/13569770801913223
- Storey, J. (1993). *An Introductory Guide to Cultural Theory and Popular Culture*. New York: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Strathern, M. (1990). The Gender of the Gift: Problems with Women and Problems with Society in Melanesia (Studies in Melanesian Anthropology, Vol. 6). Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Struijs, P. C. (2012). Resistance to Organizational Change: The Effect on Job Satisfaction and Turnover Intention and the Moderating Effect of Emotion Regulation Strategies. Master's Thesis in Human Resource Studies, Tilburg University. Available from: http://arno.uvt.nl/show.cgi?fid=127272
- Subrahmanyan, S. (1999). "Greeting Cards and Gifts: An Exploratory Study of Young Singaporeans". In *European Advances in Consumer Research*, Vol. 4, Dubois, Lowrey, Shrum and Vanhuele (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 317–324.
- Sundaram, A. (2017). "The Dark Side of Social Media: A Reality Becoming More Contemporary by the Day". Asian Social Science, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v14n1p23
- Surana, P. and Lomas, T. (2014). "The power of charity: Does giving away money improve the wellbeing of the donor?". *Indian Journal of Positive Psychology*, 5(3), 223–230.
- Sweet, W., McLean, G. F., Imamichi, T., Ural, S. and Akyol, O. F. (2008). *The Dialogue of Cultural Traditions: A Global Perspective* (Cultural Heritage and Contemporary Change Series I, Culture and Values). Washington, D.C.: Council for Research in Values and Philosophy.

- Tandoc Jr., E. C., Ferruci, P. and Duffy, M. (2015). "Facebook Use, Envy, and Depression Among College Students: Is Facebooking Depressing?". *Computers in Human Behavior*, 43, 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.10.053
- Tang, S. H. (2017). On Being Indecisive: Functionalist Antecedents and Processes in The Psychology of Indecision and Indecisiveness. Doctoral Thesis in Clinical Psychology, The Australian National University. Available from: https://openresearchrepository.anu.edu.au/bitstream/1885/116972/1/Tang%20Thesis%202017.pdf
- Tariq-Munir, E. (2014). The Dynamics of Wearing hijab for Muslim American Women in the United States. Master's Thesis of Science, Graduate Theses and Dissertations 13842, Iowa State University. Available from: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/13842/
- Tartir, A. and Hawari, Y. (2020). "Palestine and COVID-19: Global Standards, Local Constraints". *Mideast Policy Brief*, 7, Oslo: PRIO. Available from: https://www.prio.org/Publications/Publication/?x=12390.
- Tayob, A. (2018). "Decolonizing the Study of Religions: Muslim Intellectuals and the Enlightenment Project of Religious Studies". *Journal for the Study of Religion*, *31*(2). https://doi.org/10.17159/2413-3027/2018/v31n2a1
- Terrill, W. A. (2007). *Kuwaiti National Security and the U.S.-Kuwaiti Strategic Relationship After Saddam*. Carlisle, Pennsylvania: Strategic Studies Institute, U.S. Army War College.
- Testart, A. (1998). "Uncertainties of the 'obligation to reciprocate': A critique of Mauss". In Marcel Mauss: A Centenary Tribute, Methodology and History in Anthropology Vol. 1, James and Allen (eds.), New York; Oxford: Berghahn Books, 97–110.
- (2013). "What is a gift?". HAU: Journal of Ethnographic Theory, 3(1), 249–261.
- Tétreault, M. A. (1993). "Civil Society in Kuwait: Protected Spaces and Women's Rights". *Middle East Journal*, 47(2), 275–291.
- (2000). "Women's Rights in Kuwait: Bringing in the Last Bedouins?". Current History, 99(633), 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1525/curh.2000.99.633.27
- (2001). "A state of two minds: State cultures, women, and politics in Kuwait". *International Journal of Middle East Studies*, 33(2).
- Tétreault, M. A., Rizzo, H. and Shultziner, D. (2012). "Fashioning the Future: The Women's Movement in Kuwait". In *Mapping Arab Women's Movements: A Century of Transformations from Within*, Arenfeldt and Golley (eds.), Cairo; New York: The American University in Cairo Press, 253–280. https://doi.org/10.5743/cairo/9789774164989.003.0010. Available from:
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/300192057_Fashioning_the_Future_The_Women's _Movement_in_Kuwait
- Thanavathi, C. (2018). "Social Media and Empowering Women in Globalization". In *Women Empowerment: A Myth or a Reality*, Singh and Bhowmick (eds.), New Delhi: Delton Publishing House Ltd., 293–305.
- The Lancet Infectious Diseases. (2020). "The intersection of COVID-19 and mental health". *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 20(11), 1217. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30797-0
- The Women's Philanthropy Institute (WPI). (2015). *How and Why Women Give: Current and Future Directions for Research on Women's Philanthropy*. The Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy. Available from:
- https://wnywomensfoundation.org/app/uploads/2017/08/6.-How-and-Why-Women-Give.pdf
 (2020). COVID-19, Generosity, and Gender: How Giving Changed During the Early Months of a Global Pandemic. The Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy.

Available from: https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/23750/covid-report1.pdf

- Thijs, J., Hornstra, L. and Charki, F. Z. (2018). "Self-Esteem and National Identification in Times of Islamophobia: A Study Among Islamic School Children in The Netherlands". *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(12), 2521–2534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0906-6
- Thomas, N. (1991). *Entangled objects: exchange, material culture and colonialism in the Pacific*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- (1994). *Colonialism's culture: anthropology, travel and government*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Thompson, C. J., Locander, W. B. and Pollio, H. R. (1989). "Putting consumer experience back into consumer research: The philosophy and method of existential phenomenology". *Journal of Consumer Research*, *16*(2), 133–146.
- Thompson, J. A. (1997). "Ethical Dissonance in Trans-Cultural Management: That's Not How We Play the Game Here!". *Academy of Management Proceedings*, *1997*(1), 199–203. https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.1997.4981374
- Thompson, P. (1988). *La voz del pasado. La Historia Oral.* Translated by Domingo, J., Prologue by Vilanova, M. Valencia: Edicions Alfons el Magnànim.
- Tiggemann, M. and Anderberg, I. (2019). "Social media is not real: The effect of 'Instagram vs reality' images on women's social comparison and body image". *New Media and Society*, 22(12), 2183–2199. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444819888720
- Tiggemann, M. and Slater, A. (2013). "NetGirls: The Internet, Facebook and Body Image Concern in Adolescent Girls". *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 46(6), 630–633.
- Tijani, O. I. (2018). "Feminism and Postmodernism in Kuwaiti Women's Fiction: Four Novels by Fawziyya S. al-Sālim". *Open Cultural Studies*, 2(1), 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1515/culture-2018-0007
- Tlaiss, H. and Kauser, S. (2011). "The importance of wasta in the career success of Middle Eastern managers". *Journal of European Industrial Training*, *35*(5), 467–486. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090591111138026
- Todorov, T. (2010). "The Coexistence of Cultures". *Policy Futures in Education*, 8(3–4), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.2304/pfie.2010.8.3.419
- Tolan, J. (2019). Faces of Muhammad: Western Perceptions of the Prophet of Islam from the Middle Ages to Today. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Tomlinson, J. (1999). Globalization and Culture. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Tuckman, B. W. (1972). *Conducting Educational Research*. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Turshen, M. (2002). "Algerian Women in the Liberation Struggle and the Civil War: From Active Participants to Passive Victims?". *Social Research*, *69*(3), 889–911.
- Tuten, T. L. and Kiecker, P. (2009). "The Perfect Gift Card: An Exploration of Teenagers' Gift Card Associations". *Psychology and Marketing*, 26(1), 67–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20262
- Tworek, C. M. and Cimpian, A. (2016). "Why Do People Tend to Infer "Ought" From "Is"? The Role of Biases in Explanation". *Psychological Science*, 27(8), 1109–1122. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797616650875

- Tynan, C., Heath, M. T. P., Ennew, C., Wang, F. and Sun, L. (2010). "Self-gift giving in China and the UK: Collectivist versus individualist orientations". *Journal of Marketing Management*, 26(11–12), 1112–1128. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257x.2010.508981
- Ullah, A. K. M. A., Lee, S. C. W., Hassan, N. H. and Nawaz, F. (2020). "Xenophobia in the GCC countries: migrants' desire and distress". *Global Affairs*, 6(2), 203–223. https://doi.org/10.1080/23340460.2020.1738951
- Ulrichsen, K. (2012). *Basra, Southern Iraq and the Gulf: Challenges and Connections*. Kuwait Programme on Development, Governance and Globalisation in the Gulf States, LSE Kuwait Programme Research Papers, (21). Available from: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/55665/
- Underwood, H. and Findlay, B. (2004). "Internet Relationships and Their Impact on Primary Relationships". *Behaviour Change*, *21*(2), 127–140. https://doi.org/10.1375/bech.21.2.127.55422
- University of Toronto. (2016). *There's a Science to Gift Giving: Experiences are better than material items*. ScienceDaily. Available from: www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2016/12/161215143300.htm [Accessed 15 September 2020].
- Ushama, T. (2014). "Is Islam a Religion of Moderation or Extremism? A Study of Key Islamic Teachings". *Asian Social Science*, *10*(8). https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v10n8p184
- Utz, S. and Beukeboom, C. J. (2011). "The Role of Social Network Sites in Romantic Relationships: Effects on Jealousy and Relationship Happiness". *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *16*(4), 511–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2011.01552.x
- Van Dyk, N. (2013). "The Reconceptualization of Valentine's Day in the United States: Valentine's Day as a Phenomenon of Popular Culture". *Bridges: An Undergraduate Journal* of Contemporary Connections, 1(1). Available from: http://scholars.wlu.ca/bridges_contemporary_connections/vol1/iss1/4
- Vanhamme, J. and De Bont, C. J. P. M. (2008). ""Surprise Gift" Purchases: Customer Insights from the Small Electrical Appliances Market". *Journal of Retailing*, 84(3), 354–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2008.06.003
- Vasheghani-Farahani, F., Esfandiar, K. and Tajzadeh-Namin, A. (2014). "Effective Factors on Souvenir Purchase: The Case of Foreign Tourists' Viewpoint in Tehran City". *Enlightening Tourism: A Pathmaking Journal*, 4(2), 147–167.
- Verdeil, É. and Nasr, J. (2017). "Planning Histories in the Arab World". In *The Routledge Handbook of Planning History*, Hein (ed.), New York; London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group, 271–285.
- Verhezen, P. (2005). *Gifts and Bribes: An Essay on the Limits of Reciprocity*. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven. Available from:
- https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/view/12409226/gifts-and-bribespdf-verhezennet
- Vesajoki, F. (2002). The Effects of Globalization on Culture: A Study of the Experiences of Globalization among Finnish Travellers. Master's Thesis in Cultural Anthropology, University of Jyväskylä. Available from:
 - https://jyx.jyu.fi/bitstream/handle/123456789/8059/G0000619.pdf
- Vidovic, A. (2019). "Impact of Internet Technology on to Consumer Behaviour". *International Journal of Sales, Retailing and Marketing*, 8(2), 21–27.
- Voll, J. O. (2006). "Islam and Democracy: Is Modernization a Barrier?". *Religion Compass*, 1(1), 170–178. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-8171.2006.00017.x

- Vygotsky, L. S., Cole, M., John-Steiner, V., Scribner, S. and Souberman, E. (1978). *Mind in Society: The Development of Higher Psychological Processes*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Wagner, W., Sen, R., Permanadeli, R. and Howarth, C. S. (2012). "The veil and Muslim women's identity: Cultural pressures and resistance to stereotyping". *Culture and Psychology*, 18(4), 521–541. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354067x12456713
- Waits, W. B. (1993). *The modern Christmas in America: a cultural history of gift giving*. New York: New York University Press.
- Walczak, D. (2015). "The Process of Exchange, Solidarity and Sustainable Development in Building a Community of Responsibility". *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(1), 506–512. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n1s1p506
- Waldfogel, J. (1993). "The Deadweight Loss of Christmas". American Economic Review, 83(5), 1328–1336.
- Walker, A. J., Manoogian-O'Dell, M., McGraw, L. and White, D. L. (2001). Families in Later Life: Connections and Transitions. Thousand Oaks, California: Pine Forge Press, A SAGE Publications Company.
- Wang, X. (2017). The Significance of Rousseau's Concept of Amour-propre in Rawls. Doctoral Thesis in Philosophy, University of Tennessee. Available from: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_graddiss/4507/
- Wang, Y. (2007). "Globalization Enhances Cultural Identity". *Intercultural Communication Studies*, *16*(1), 83–86.
- Ward, C. B. and Tran, T. (2008). "Consumer Gifting Behaviors". *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 29(2), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1300/j396v29n02_01
- Watenpaugh, K. D. (2012). *Being Modern in the Middle East: Revolution, Nationalism, Colonialism, and the Arab Middle Class.* Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Weiner, A. B. (1992). Inalienable Possessions. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Weinrott, L. A. (1974). "Dear Valentine". Chicago History, 3(3), 159-167.
- Weir, D. T. H. (2003). "Human Resource Development in the Middle East: A Fourth Paradigm". In *Human Resource Development in a Complex World*, Lee (ed.), London: Routledge, 69–82.
- Wekke, I. S. (2018). "Arabic Education and Modern Learning Construction in Muslim Minority Islamic Boarding School in Indonesia". Jurnal Al Bayan: Jurnal Jurusan Pendidikan Bahasa Arab, 10(2), 240–253. https://doi.org/10.24042/albayan.v10i2.3111
- Weller, R. P. (1998). "Divided market cultures in China: gender, enterprise, and religion". In Market cultures: society and morality in the new Asian capitalisms, Hefner (ed.), Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press, 78–103.
- Wharton University of Pennsylvania. (2007). 'Men Buy, Women Shop': The Sexes Have Different Priorities When Walking Down the Aisles. Knowledge at Wharton. Available from: https://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article/men-buy-women-shop-the-sexes-havedifferent-priorities-when-walking-down-the-aisles/ [Accessed 27 October 2020].
- Whitaker, E. (2017). An Analysis of Marcel Mauss's The Gift: The Form and Reason for Exchange in Archaic Societies. London: Macat International Limited, Routledge.
- White, R. (2006). "Format Matters in the Mental Accounting of Funds: The Case of Gift Cards and Cash Gifts". *Behavioral and Environmental Finance*, *SSRN Electronic Journal*. Electronic copy available from: https://ssrn.com/abstract=948587

- (2008). "The Mental Accounting of Gift Card versus Cash Gift Funds". In Advances in Consumer Research, Vol. 35, Lee and Soman (eds.), Duluth, Minnesota: Association for Consumer Research, 722–723.
- Wilcox, A. (2018). Orientalism and Imperialism: From Nineteenth-Century Missionary Imaginings to the Contemporary Middle East (Suspensions: Contemporary Middle Eastern and Islamicate Thought). London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Wilk, R. (1994). "Consumer goods as a dialogue about development: colonial time and television time in Belize". In *Consumption and Identity*, Friedman (ed.). Chur: Harwood Academic Publishers, 79–100.
- (1996). Economies and cultures: foundations of economic anthropology. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.
- Wilson, A., Wang, I., Banerji, I. and Carlson, K. (2015). *The GICR 2015 Valentine's Day Consumer Intent Survey*. Georgetown Institute for Consumer Research, Sponsored by KPMG.
- Winstone, H. and Freeth, Z. (2018). *Kuwait: Prospect and Reality* (Routledge Library Editions: Kuwait). London: Routledge.
- Wolcott, H. F. (1990). Writing Up Qualitative Research. Newbury Park, California: Sage.
- Wolfinbarger, M. F. (1990). "Motivations and Symbolism in Gift-Giving Behavior". In Advances in Consumer Research, Vol. 17, Goldberg, Gorn and Pollay (eds.), Provo, Utah: Association for Consumer Research, 699–706. Available from: https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/7087/volumes/v17/NA-17
- Wood, J. V. and Wilson, A. E. (2003). "How important is social comparison?". In *Handbook of Self and Identity*, Leary and Tangney (eds.), New York, NY: Guilford Press, 344–366.
- Wooten, D. B. and Wood, S. L. (2004). "In the Spotlight: The Drama of Gift Reception". In *Contemporary Consumption Rituals: A Research Anthology*, Otnes and Lowrey (eds.), Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 213–236.
- Wu, B. (2007). "Secularism and Secularization in the Arab World". *Journal of Middle Eastern* and Islamic Studies (in Asia), 1(1), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/19370679.2007.12023103
- Yacoub, C., Spoede, J., Cutting, R. and Hawley, D. (2018). "The Impact of Social Media on Romantic Relationships". *Journal of Education and Social Development*, 2(2), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1490763
- Yan, Y. (1996). *The flow of gifts: reciprocity and social networks in a Chinese village*. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.
- (2020). "Gifts". *The Cambridge Encyclopedia of Anthropology*. http://doi.org/10.29164/20gifts
- Yang, A. X. and Urminsky, O. (2018). "The Smile-Seeking Hypothesis: How Immediate Affective Reactions Motivate and Reward Gift Giving". *Psychological Science*, 29(8), 1221– 1233. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797618761373
- Yau, O. H. M., Chan, T. S. and Lau, K. F. (1999). "Influence of Chinese Cultural Values on Consumer Behavior". *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 11(1), 97–116. https://doi.org/10.1300/j046v11n01_07
- Yetiv, S. (2002). "Kuwait's Democratic Experiment in its Broader International Context". *Middle East Journal*, *56*(2), 257–271.
- Ythier, J. M. (2006). "The Economic Theory of Gift-Giving: Perfect Substitutability of Transfers and Redistribution of Wealth". In *The Handbook of the Economics of Giving, Altruism and*

Reciprocity, Vol. 1, Kolm and Ythier (eds.), Amsterdam: Elsevier, North Holland Publishing Co., 227–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1574-0714(06)01005-0

- Zahed, L. and Bharat, A. S. (2019). Homosexuality, Transidentity, and Islam: A Study of Scripture Confronting the Politics of Gender and Sexuality. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Zajonc, R. B. (1980). "Feeling and thinking: Preferences need no inferences". *American Psychologist*, *35*(2), 151–175. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.35.2.151
- Zambrano, M. (1996). Persona y democracia: La historia sacrificial. Madrid: Ediciones Siruela.
- Zaragoza-Bernal, J. M. (2013). "Historia de las emociones: una corriente historiográfica en expansión". *Asclepio*, 65(1), e012. https://doi.org/10.3989/asclepio.2013.12
- Zayas, V., Pandey, G. and Tabak, J. (2017). "Red Roses and Gift Chocolates Are Judged More Positively in the U.S. Near Valentine's Day: Evidence of Naturally Occurring Cultural Priming". *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 355. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00355
- Zhang, X. (2016). "On Cultural Coexistence in an Age of Globalization". *International Journal of Education and Research*, 4(6), 163–168.
- Zhang, Z., Song, R. and Xu, X. (2010). "Innovation packaging design of Anji dried bamboo shoots". In 2010 IEEE 11th International Conference on Computer-Aided Industrial Design and Conceptual Design, 1, 922–925. https://doi.org/10.1109/caidcd.2010.5681872
- Zhou, W., Hinz, O. and Benlian, A. (2018). "The impact of the package opening process on product returns". *Business Research*, *11*(2), 279–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0055-x
- Zoepf, K. (2016). *Excellent Daughters: The Secret Lives of Young Women Who Are Transforming the Arab World*. New York: Penguin Books.
- Zolezzi, M., Alamri, M., Shaar, S. and Rainkie, D. (2018). "Stigma associated with mental illness and its treatment in the Arab culture: A systematic review". *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 64(6), 597–609. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764018789200

2.2 Digital Press

- Agence France-Presse. (2012). 'The embarrassment has ended' awkwardness of lingerie shopping ends for Saudi women. *The National*, 5 January 2012. Available from: https://www.thenationalnews.com/world/mena/the-embarrassment-has-ended-awkwardness-of-lingerie-shopping-ends-for-saudi-women-1.407262
- Al Arabiya English. (2018). Saudi Arabia Citizens Celebrate Valentine's Day for the first time. *Al Arabiya News*, 16 February 2018 [Updated 20 May 2020]. Available from: https://english.alarabiya.net/en/features/2018/02/16/Valentines-Day.html
- *Al-Anba*. (2014). Names of 12,597 male and female students who have been accepted into the faculties and institutes of PAAET. *Al-Anba Newspaper*, 29 August 2014. Available from: http://www.alanba.com.kw/ar/kuwait-news/education/494144/29-08-2014
- Alberici, E. (2017). Kuwait is rich and advanced, but with a contradiction at its heart. *ABC News*, 19 April 2017. Available from: https://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-04-20/modern-kuwait-assumptions-emma-alberici/8452616
- Al-Fuzai, M. and Fattahova, N. (2014). Valentine's Day: Ideas for Celebrating Valentine's Day in Kuwait. *Kuwait Times*, 14 February 2014. Available from: http://news.kuwaittimes.net/pdf/2014/feb/14/p02.pdf

- *Al Jazeera*. (2020). In Pictures: Hajj in the shadow of coronavirus. *Al Jazeera*, 30 July 2020. Available from: https://www.aljazeera.com/gallery/2020/7/30/in-pictures-hajj-in-the-shadow-of-coronavirus
- Al Khatib, H. (2020). الحج في أيام الوباء.. من الطاعون إلى الكوليرا إلى كورونا. [Al-Hajj during epidemic days.. from the plague to cholera to Corona]. *Al Jazeera News*, 23 July 2020. Available from: https://www.aljazeera.net/
- Al Qassim, H., Jazairy, I. and Mohamed, N. (2017). Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in the Arab Region: Where do we stand? Inter Press Service News Agency, September 2017. Available from: http://www.ipsnews.net/2017/09/gender-equality-womensempowerment-arab-region-stand/
- Al-Shatti, A. (2017). A point of view on the demographic imbalance. *Kuwait Times*, 18 January 2017. Available from: https://news.kuwaittimes.net/website/point-view-demographicimbalance/
- Arab News. (2020). Kuwaiti actress Hayat Al-Fahad triggers uproar with call for expat ban over coronavirus. Arab News, 1 April 2020. Available from: https://www.arabnews.com/node/1651251/middle-east
- Arab Times Online. (2017). Kuwaiti Dinar most valuable currency in the world. Arab Times Online, 25 December 2017. Available from: http://www.arabtimesonline.com/news/kuwaitidinar-valuable-currencyworld/#:%7E:text=It%20is%20considered%20the%20most,of%20a%20package%20of%20c
- urrencies BBC News. (2017). Only one in four Middle East men backs equality, study suggests. BBC News, 2 May 2017. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-39784721
- (2020a). Coronavirus: Scaled back Hajj pilgrimage begins in Saudi Arabia. *BBC News*, 29 July 2020. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-53571886
- (2020b). الحج 2020: الحج وسط قيود صارمة بسبب تفشي فيروس كورونا (2020b). [Hajj 2020: Hajj rituals begin amid strict restrictions due to the outbreak of the Coronavirus]. BBC News, 29 July 2020. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/arabic/middleeast-53582256
- (2020c). Kuwait country profile. *BBC News*, 1 October 2020. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-14644252
- Bell, J. (2019a). Blood donation in the Middle East: The gift of life that is easy to give. *Arab News*, 14 June 2019. Available from: https://www.arabnews.com/node/1510596/middle-east
- (2019b). The hidden face of mental illness in the Middle East. *Arab News*, 14 May 2019.
 Available from: https://www.arabnews.com/node/1496661/middle-east
- Bernhard, A. (2020). Covid-19: What we can learn from wartime efforts. *BBC Future*, 1 May 2020. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20200430-covid-19-what-we-can-learn-from-wartime-efforts
- Duderija, A. (2018). Islam and the West: How Muslims are constructing a new identity. Religion and Ethics, *ABC News*, 26 August 2018. Available from: http://www.abc.net.au/religion/articles/2018/08/26/4888419.htm
- Efron, S. (1991). Column One: Psyche Yet to Recover in Kuwait: Reconstruction is making headway; people's hearts and minds are not. There is gloom, fear of a future invasion and talk of emigration. *Los Angeles Times*, 16 July 1991. Available from: https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-1991-07-16-mn-2349-story.html
- Elias, D. (2008). Kuwaiti Islamist lawmakers look to ban Valentine's Day celebrations. *Taiwan News*, 13 February 2008. Available from: https://www.taiwannews.com.tw/en/news/602619

- Garcia, B. (2011). Fear Grips Organizers of Valentine's Day Events: 'An Alien Practice' For Kuwait. *Kuwait Times*, 15 February 2011. Available from: https://issuu.com/kuwaitnews/docs/kt20110215/2
- (2018). Kafala system outdated, modern scheme needed: rights advocates. *Kuwait Times*, 9 May 2018. Available from: https://news.kuwaittimes.net/website/kafala-system-outdatedmodern-scheme-needed-rights-advocates/
- Gardner, F. (2000). Kuwaiti MP denounces "dangerous" St Valentine. *BBC News*, 14 February 2000. Available from: http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/middle_east/642645.stm
- Gargan, E. A. (1991). After the War: Kuwait Prevents an Opposition Protest. *The New York Times*, 23 April 1991. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/1991/04/23/world/after-the-war-kuwait-prevents-an-opposition-protest.html?searchResultPosition=1
- Handaji, M. (2020). Closure of Borders Exposes Ceuta, Melilla Dependence on Morocco. Morocco World News, 15 February 2020. Available from: https://www.moroccoworldnews.com/2020/02/293762/closure-of-borders-exposes-ceutamelilla-dependence-on-morocco/
- Hyun-kyung, K. (2016). Fragrance an integral part of Middle East. *The Korea Times*, 25 April 2016. Available from: http://www.koreatimes.co.kr/www/nation/2018/11/113_203339.html
- Izzak, B. and Saleh, A. (2020). MPs demand giving priority to children of Kuwaiti women in hiring. *Kuwait Times*, 5 February 2020. Available

from: http://news.kuwaittimes.net/pdf/2020/feb/05/p05.pdf

- Karadsheh, J. and Qiblawi, T. (2020). 'Unprecedented' Hajj begins -- with 1,000 pilgrims, rather than the usual 2 million. *CNN*, 29 July 2020. Available from: https://edition.cnn.com/travel/article/hajj-2020-coronavirus-intl/index.html
- Naseem, H. (2019). Hameed Naseem: Prophet Muhammad says treat your wives with kindness. *The Arkansas Democrat-Gazette*, 30 November 2019. Available from: https://www.arkansasonline.com/news/2019/nov/30/hameed-naseem-prophet-muhammad-

says-

tre/#:%7E:text=Prophet%20Muhammad%20treated%20his%20wives,love%20and%20attenti on%20to%20them.andtext=Allah%20says%20in%20the%20Holy,of%20the%20word%20of %20God

- Redondo, R. (2020). The importance of the exclusion of Ceuta, Melilla and all Spanish ports in the reopening of Morocco's borders. *Atalayar*, 9 July 2020. Available from: https://atalayar.com/en/content/importance-exclusion-ceuta-melilla-and-all-spanish-ports-reopening-moroccos-borders
- Silberner, J. (2020). In a time of distancing due to coronavirus, the health threat of loneliness looms. Amid Coronavirus Isolation. *STAT News*, 28 March 2020. Available from: https://www.statnews.com/2020/03/28/coronavirus-isolation-loneliness-health/
- Summers, L. (2020). Covid-19 looks like a hinge in history. *Financial Times*, 14 May 2020. Available from: https://www.ft.com/content/de643ae8-9527-11ea-899a-f62a20d54625
- Zinnid, S. (2013). Sexuality and Islam: prohibition between taboos and ignorance. *Morocco World News*, 2 November 2013. Available from: https://www.moroccoworldnews.com/2013/11/110910/sexuality-and-islam-prohibition-between-taboos-and-ignorance/

2.3 Online sources and Internet blogs

- A. G. Reporter. (2013). Love and all that Jazz: Valentine's Day in the GCC. *Arabian Gazette*. Available from: https://arabiangazette.com/revealed-perceptions-valentines-day-gcc-20130213/ [Accessed July 2020].
- Alebrahim, A. (2020). 'The Balancing Powers': A New Approach to Kuwait's Modern History. *The LSE Middle East Centre*. Available from: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/mec/2020/06/04/thebalancing-powers-a-new-approach-to-kuwaits-modern-history/ [Accessed 18 September 2020].
- (2021). Slavery and Post-Slavery Gulf History and the Social Historian's Dilemma. *The LSE Middle East Centre*. Available from: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/mec/2021/09/27/slavery-and-post-slavery-gulf-history-and-the-social-historians-dilemma/ [Accessed 27 September 2021].
- Al-Nakib, F. (2014b). Understanding Modernity: A Review of the Kuwait Pavilion at the Venice Biennale. *Jadaliyya*. Available from: https://www.jadaliyya.com/Details/31227 [Accessed 06 July 2021].
- Arab Digest. (n.d.). GCC States and Social Media Disruption in an Era of Transition. *Arab Digest*. Available from: https://arabdigest.org/visitors/sample-newsletters/gcc-states-and-social-media-disruption-in-an-era-of-transition/ [Accessed 22 June 2021].
- Baillie, S. (2020). Sustainable Gift Giving in the Time of Coronavirus. *Eco Warrior Princess*. https://ecowarriorprincess.net/2020/04/sustainable-gift-giving-in-time-of-coronavirus/ [Accessed 16 September 2020].
- Berkani, K. (2013). Love Me, Love Me Not: Valentine's Day in the GCC. *YouGov*. Available from: https://mena.yougov.com/en/news/2013/02/14/love-me-love-me-not-valentines-day-gcc/ [Accessed 3 July 2020].
- (2014). Infographic: Valentine's Day in MENA. *YouGov*. Available from: https://mena.yougov.com/en/news/2014/02/13/infographic-valentines-day-mena/ [Accessed 3 July 2020].
- Castelow, E. (n.d.). A World War Two Christmas. *Historic UK*. Available from: https://www.historic-uk.com/CultureUK/Christmas-in-World-War-Two/ [Accessed 1 October 2021].
- Commisceo Global Consultancy. (2020). Kuwait Language, Culture, Customs and Etiquette. *Commisceo Global Consultancy*. Available from: https://commisceoglobal.com/resources/country-guides/kuwait-guide [Accessed 15 August 2020].
- Crossman, A. (2019). What Is a Snowball Sample in Sociology? When and How to Use Snowball Sampling in Sociological Research. *ThoughtCo*. Available from: https://www.thoughtco.com/snowball-sampling-3026730 [Accessed 16 August 2020].
- Cullen, K. (2018). Young love: 3 ways millennials and Gen Z are celebrating Valentine's Day this year. *National Retail Federation (NRF)*. Available from: https://nrf.com/blog/young-love-3-ways-millennials-and-gen-z-are-celebrating-valentines-day-year [Accessed 15 January 2021].
- Dorsey, J. M. (2018). Valentine's Day pinpoints limits of Saudi prince's Islamic reform effort. *The Turbulent World of Middle East Soccer*. Available from: https://mideastsoccer.blogspot.com/2018/02/valentines-day-pinpoints-limits-of.html [Accessed 14 July 2018].

- Dudovskiy, J. (2012). Implications of Individual Resistance to Change. *Business Research Methodology*. Available from: https://research-methodology.net/implications-of-individual-resistance-to-change/ [Accessed 13 November 2020].
- Feghali, R. (2014). Wasta: Connections or Corruption in the Arab World. *Global Insights, Nardello & Co.* Available from: https://www.nardelloandco.com/wpcontent/uploads/insights/pdf/wasta.pdf [Accessed 22 February 2021].
- Glen, S. (2014). Snowball Sampling: Definition, Advantages and Disadvantages. *Statistics How To*. Available from: https://www.statisticshowto.com/snowball-sampling/ [Accessed 18 August 2020].
- Global Recycling. (n.d.-a). Kuwait: More Additional Waste Management Facilities Needed. *Global Recycling*. Available from: https://globalrecycling.info/archives/2627#:~:text=Of%2032%2C000%20tons%20of%20total,flakes%2C %20and%20other%20scrap%20materials [Accessed on 23 November 2020].
- (n.d.-b). National Waste Masterplan for the Emirate of Kuwait. *Global Recycling*. Available from: https://global-recycling.info/archives/2630 [Accessed on 23 November 2020].
- Gursky, R. (2016). Valentine's Day 2016: Love is in the Air–and so are the Ads. *Kantar*. Available from: https://www.kantarmedia.com/us/thinking-and-resources/blog/valentines-day-2016-love-is-in-the-air-and-so-are-the-ads [Accessed 3 November 2020].
- González, D. (2014). Acquiring Modernity: Kuwait at the 14th International Architecture Exhibition. Art Papers. Available from: https://web.archive.org/web/20170426171107/http://www.artpapers.org/feature_articles/featu re3 2014 1112.html [Accessed 16 November 2020].
- Halina, V. (2019). The Psychology of Social Media Why We Feel the Need to Share. *Medium*. Available from: https://blog.usejournal.com/the-psychology-of-social-media-why-we-feel-the-need-to-share-18c7d2d1236 [Accessed 23 November 2020].
- Heath, O. (2019). Marie Kondo says we should always show our home this simple act of gratitude. *House Beautiful*. Available from: https://www.housebeautiful.com/uk/lifestyle/a29498107/marie-kondo-home-gratitude/ [Accessed 17 August 2020].
- Imperial War Museums. (n.d.). How Britain Celebrated Christmas During the Second World War. *Imperial War Museums*. Available from: https://www.iwm.org.uk/history/how-britain-celebrated-christmas-during-the-second-world-war/ [Accessed 1 October 2021].
- IOR Global Services. (2018). Kuwait: Traditional Arab Worldview. *IOR World*. Available from: https://www.iorworld.com/resources/kuwait/ [Accessed 16 September 2020].
- Khamis, S. and Campbell, E. (2020). Info-Deficiency in an Infodemic: The Gender Digital Gap, Arab Women and the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Arab Media and Society*. Available from: https://www.arabmediasociety.com/info-deficiency-in-an-infodemic-the-gender-digital-gaparab-women-and-the-covid-19-pandemic/#_ftn15 [Accessed 3 May 2021].
- Kohn, H. (2020). Nationalism. *Encyclopaedia Britannica*. Available from: https://www.britannica.com/topic/nationalism [Accessed 06 July 2021].
- Lupton, D. (editor) (2021) Doing fieldwork in a pandemic. *Crowd-sourced document, revised version.* Available from: Doing Fieldwork in a Pandemic [Accessed 15 July 2020].
- Maier, H. (2020). The Gift of Time: Great Ideas for Giving Quality Time. *Utopia*. Available from: https://utopia.org/guide/gift-of-time-great-ideas-for-giving-quality-time/ [Accessed 15 October 2020].

- Makhoul, M. (2010). Hole full of garbage. 2:48AM Everything Kuwait. Available from: https://248am.com/mark/kuwait/hole-full-of-garbage/ [Accessed 24 November 2020].
- (2014). Salmiya is a Garbage Dump. 2:48AM Everything Kuwait. Available from: https://248am.com/mark/complaining/salmiya-garbage-dump/ [Accessed 24 November 2020].
- (2017). The Garbage Walk. 2:48AM Everything Kuwait. Available from: https://248am.com/mark/complaining/the-garbage-walk/ [Accessed 24 November 2020].
- Mani, I. (2020). Solid Waste Management Challenges in GCC. *EcoMENA*. Available from: https://www.ecomena.org/solid-waste-management-gcc/ [Accessed 24 November 2020].
- Milani, M. (2014). Cultural Muslims, like cultural Christians, are a silent majority. *The conversation*. Available from: http://theconversation.com/cultural-muslims-like-cultural-christians-are-a-silent-majority-32097 [Accessed 5 September 2018].
- Modood, T. (2010). Secularism and Respect for Religion. *E-International Relations*. Available from: https://www.e-ir.info/2010/12/04/secularism-and-respect-for-religion/ [Accessed 08 March 2021].
- Palme, L. (2009). Islam vs Civilization: Islam under the microscope: How Islam disappeared as a religious faith. *Annaqed "The Critic"*. Available from: http://www.annaqed.com/en/islamunder-the-microscope/how-islam-disappeared-as-a-religious-faith [Accessed 5 September 2018].
- Peracha, S. (2017). Khadijah al-Kubra The First Muslim Woman was actually a Businesswoman. *Medium*. Available from: https://medium.com/muslim-businesswomen/khadijah-al-kubra-the-first-muslim-woman-was-actually-a-business-woman-18cab516091a [Accessed 19 June 2021].
- Rasoulallah.net. (2009). The Prophet as a Husband. *Rasoulallah*. Available from: https://rasoulallah.net/en/articles/article/9509 [Accessed 29 September 2020].
- Sadek, D. A., Anthony, J. D., Crystal, J. A., Ochsenwald, W. L., et al. (2021). Kuwait: History. *Encyclopaedia Britannica*. Available from:
 - https://www.britannica.com/place/Kuwait/History [Accessed 16 September 2020].
- Sefaria. (n.d.) Mishneh Torah, Gifts to the Poor 10:7. *Sefaria: A Living Library of Torah*. Available from:

https://www.sefaria.org/Mishneh_Torah%2C_Gifts_to_the_Poor.10.7?lang=bi [Accessed 11 August 2021].

- Shehab, F. (2015). Kuwait: A Super-Affluent Society. Foreign Affairs. Available from: https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/kuwait/1964-04-01/kuwait-super-affluent-society [Accessed 12 September 2020].
- Stillman, J. (2018). The More Miserable You Are, the Happier Your Social Media Posts, and This Twitter Thread Proves It. *Inc. Magazine*. Available from: https://www.inc.com/jessicastillman/people-are-revealing-truth-behind-their-happy-looking-social-media-posts-itsheartbreaking.html [Accessed 22 October 2020].
- Sullivan, L. (2020). Gift-Giving Skyrockets, As Time to Purchase Shortens. *MediaPost Publications*. Available from: https://www.mediapost.com/publications/article/350055/gift-giving-skyrockets-as-time-to-purchase-shorte.html [Accessed 16 September 2020].
- The Bible. (n.d.). Luke 11. *Bible*. Available from: https://www.bible.com/bible/116/LUK.11.NLT [Accessed 11 August 2021].

- T. O. T. Team. (2017). Giving the Gift of Time. *The ONE Thing*. Available from: https://www.the1thing.com/blog/the-one-thing/giving-the-gift-of-time/ [Accessed 15 October 2020].
- Travers, J. (2020). Women Give More Online. Will They Keep it up During COVID? Inside Philanthropy. Available from: https://www.insidephilanthropy.com/home/2020/4/40/womengive-more-online-will-they-keep-it-up-during-covid [Accessed 17 September 2020].
- Vartanian, H. (2015). Looking for Origins of Arab Modernism in Kuwait. *Hyperallergic*. Available from: https://hyperallergic.com/191773/looking-for-the-origins-of-arabmodernism-in-kuwait/ [Accessed 13 September 2020].
- Vich, G. (2020). How Has the COVID-19 Crisis Affected Mental Health and Physical Activity? Participate in the ACTIVID Project Blog. *ISGlobal. Barcelona Institute for Global Health.* Available from: https://www.isglobal.org/en/healthisglobal/-/custom-blog-portlet/-como-ha-afectado-la-crisis-de-la-covid-19-a-la-salud-mental-y-actividad-fisica-participa-en-el-proyecto-activid/7793677/0 [Accessed 2 December 2020].
- Yahia, M. (2012). Dealing with Mental Illness in the Middle East. Nature Middle East. Available from: https://www.natureasia.com/en/nmiddleeast/article/10.1038/nmiddleeast.2012.103 [Accessed 24 November 2020].

VIII. ANNEXES

1. Consent Form Sample

Approval to be interviewed for the PhD thesis research titled: The Cultural Gifting Dynamics of Kuwait During Valentine's Day: The Adoption of Western Practices in Muslim-Majority Countries.

PhD Candidate: Rawan Dbaibou Email address: <u>r.dbaibow@gmail.com</u>

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this academic research study being conducted for a PhD degree in History from Pompeu Fabra University, Barcelona. This research will address Kuwait's gifting habits during a western-originated occasion, specifically Valentine's Day.

Information about the research

This research aims to delve into the phenomenon of an ever-changing Islamic culture in Kuwait. To identify this, I will explore social, cultural and other dynamics that contribute to the adoption of western gift-giving practices in Kuwait, specifically Valentine's Day. I also wish to identify various viewpoints that denote and equally promote this adoption.

This research will attempt to reason contemporary gifting practices with the Islamic religion and, on the other hand, shed light on the impact of social media, migration, ethnic diversity, women empowerment, and education which were evident factors in the social transformation of Arab societies in the 21st century.

Information about the interview

Through personal interviews, I seek to gather first-hand information about gifting experiences and significances. This would help establish gift and relationship expectations, as well as the different situations to offer gifts in Kuwait, ultimately defining "Kuwait's gift theory". Regarding Valentine's Day, I aim to understand the manifestations of a mass,

popular culture and would like to know whether purposes to celebrate the occasion differs from the overall perception of it: to show love. Finally, several questions are asked about the Kuwaiti identity and what makes it stand out from other Arab nations, finally reflecting on the direction Kuwait is likely to take in the future, especially with the emerging globalisation phenomenon that helped bring Arab Muslim societies closer to other parts of the world. Some questions can be sensitive or personal, for example about your religious beliefs or intimate relationships, to which you are free to choose not to answer. The interview can take between 30 minutes and 2 hours.

Approved Consent

By signing this consent sheet, I confirm that:

• I understood the purpose and nature of this study and I had the opportunity to ask questions about it.

• I acknowledge that my participation is voluntary, and I can withdraw my consent at any time for any reason.

• I know that my identity will remain confidential and that a pseudonym will be used instead to issue the findings' results formally.

• I understand that I might be quoted directly in the doctoral thesis.

• I understand that the data collected from my participation will be used primarily for the PhD thesis, and may be used in conference presentations, journal publications, published papers and so on.

• I agree to audio-record my interview, only to be used to analyse the answers and draw useful research conclusions.

• I understand that the signed consent form, original audio recording and interview transcript will be retained in limited possession and access of the researcher and would only be shared with collaborators, supervisors or university professors that decide upon the achievement of this doctoral degree.

• I have the right to review, correct, change or eradicate my answers from the produced transcript.

• I understand that I am free to contact the researcher to seek further clarification and information.

• I understand that I can refuse to answer any question during the interview, or stop the interview at any time, without any consequences.

• I agree to my participation, to which I do not expect to receive any benefit or payment.

• I acknowledge that there are no identified risks or burdens associated with my participation in this study.

• I have been given a copy of the interview questionnaire and this consent form.

I, ______, certify that I have been informed about the research topic and purpose of Rawan Dbaibou's thesis, who has invited me to participate, in which I freely and voluntarily contribute with my input and trust that the information provided by me, as well as my personal data, will be used confidentially and in good faith.

2. Interview Pre-set Questions

Name:

Gender: Age: Marital status (children):

A. The Gift

- 1. Express the difficulty you experience when buying gifts. Why?
- 2. How long does it take you to search and buy and until the occasion arrives?
- 3. Describe situations for giving gifts in Kuwait.
- 4. What are some characteristics of the gift in Kuwait? Are these characteristics important for you?
- 5. What did gifts mean before? How does the gift differ from that of your parents or the younger generation? (How did gifts change from one generation to another?)
- 6. What do you think about packaging styles or techniques?
- 7. Aspects of gift presentation, wrapping, tag or card: how important are these items that complement the gift?
- 8. How much do social media and influencers affect your decision? Are you interested in what is being advertised?

B. Valentine's Day

- 9. What is your opinion of Valentine's Day?
- 10. What is the purpose of this occasion?
- 11. Do you celebrate? Why/Why not?
- 12. What do your parents think about Valentine's Day?
- 13. What is the ambience of Valentine's Day like in Kuwait?
- 14. How does this ambience differ from other Arab countries?
- 15. Describe your ideas on romance and romantic couples during this occasion.
- 16. How popular is Valentine's Day in Kuwait? By whom is it widely celebrated?

C. Kuwait

- 17. How is Kuwait distinct from other Arab countries? What differentiates its identity?
- 18. Is there enough awareness about Kuwait and the Arabian Gulf region?
- 19. Is Kuwait properly portrayed in the media by other countries?
- 20. Do you believe Kuwait is an oppressed society? In what way?
- 21. Is Kuwait a collective or an individualistic society? Did this change from before/Will this change in the future?
- 22. Explain why the Kuwaiti film industry still portrays a religiously, conservative culture, although that might not be accurate.
- 23. How can different societies with the same Islamic and Arab background accept different concepts and reject others? (For example, Egypt and Valentine's Day compared to Kuwait and Valentine's Day).
- 24. Why don't all Arab Muslims behave equally?
- 25. What factors change a society overtime?
- 26. Do you believe the increase in expats have influenced this country's traditions?
- 27. How did Valentine's Day spread here?
- 28. What is the purpose behind accepting external norms?
- 29. Does this impact the original culture? (Would incorporating new practices make the original culture vague and mixed?)
- 30. How important is it to practice and maintain original customs?
- 31. Saudi Arabia has allowed Valentine's Day to be celebrated as of 2018, arguing that it can be considered a similar occasion expressing love like Mother's Day. Do you agree? Why?
- 32. What direction is the country likely to take in the future? (Will it take on more foreign customs or have more local control to maintain original identity?)

3. Informants' Information Tables

| Pseudonym | Age | Group | Sex | Nationality | Origin | Civil Status | Kids | Latest attained degree | e Relation to Kuwait | Interviewed |
|-----------|-----|--------------------|-----|--------------|-----------|---------------------|------|------------------------|----------------------|-------------|
| Abrar | 31 | Young adults | F | Pakistani | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Family came for work | Apr-19 |
| Adam | 31 | Young adults | М | Syrian | | Single (Engaged) | No | Secondary School | Born and raised | Apr-19 |
| Amal | 58 | Older adults | F | Syrian | | Married | Yes | Secondary School | Moved after marriage | Aug-19 |
| Amina | 72 | Seniors | F | Kuwaiti | Iran | Widowed | Yes | Secondary School | Home country | Aug-19 |
| Anna | 24 | Youth | F | Swiss | | Single | No | Master's | Family came for work | Mar-19 |
| Aseel | 29 | Young adults | F | Canadian | Egypt | Single | No | Bachelor's | Family came for work | Mar-19 |
| Bader | 47 | Middle-aged adults | М | Kuwaiti | | Married | Yes | PhD | Home country | Apr-19 |
| Bashar | 23 | Youth | М | Syrian | | Single | No | Secondary School | Family came for work | Jun-18 |
| Danah | 67 | Seniors | F | Kuwaiti | | Widowed | Yes | Secondary School | Home country | Aug-19 |
| Eman | 68 | Seniors | F | Saudi Arabia | | Married | Yes | Secondary School | Moved after marriage | Jun-18 |
| Faisal | 34 | Young adults | М | Kuwaiti | | Married | Yes | Master's | Home country | Jun-18 |
| Fares | 55 | Older adults | М | Egyptian | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Came for work | Feb-19 |
| Fatima | 78 | Seniors | F | Kuwaiti | Palestine | Single | No | Secondary School | Home country | Feb-19 |
| Ghada | 36 | Middle-aged adults | F | Egyptian | | Single | No | Bachelor's | Born and raised | Apr-19 |
| Hisham | 18 | Youth | М | Egyptian | | Single | No | Secondary School | Born and raised | Jun-18 |
| Issa | 60 | Older adults | М | Pakistani | | Married | Yes | Diploma | Came for work | Apr-19 |

| Pseudonym | Age | Group | Sex | Nationality | Origin | Civil Status | Kids | Latest attained degree | e Relation to Kuwait | Interviewed |
|-----------|-----|--------------------|-----|-----------------------------|-----------|--------------|------|------------------------|----------------------|-------------|
| Joanna | 28 | Young adults | F | Lebanese | | Married | No | Medical | Family came for work | Feb-19 |
| Karam | 56 | Older adults | М | Jordanian | Palestine | Married | Yes | Secondary School | Came for work | Jul-19 |
| Khaled | 20 | Youth | М | Lebanese | | Single | No | Secondary School | Born and raised | Aug-19 |
| Khodor | 36 | Middle-aged adults | М | Belgian | Algeria | Single | No | PhD | Came for work | Aug-19 |
| Kholoud | 44 | Middle-aged adults | F | Lebanese | | Married | Yes | Master's | Moved after marriage | Jul-18 |
| Lamya | 33 | Young adults | F | Sudanese | | Single | No | Master's | Born and raised | Feb-19 |
| Latifa | 62 | Seniors | F | Kuwaiti | | Married | Yes | Secondary School | Home country | May-18 |
| Loulwa | 37 | Middle-aged adults | F | Jordanian | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Born and raised | May-19 |
| Maha | 61 | Seniors | F | Lebanese | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Moved after marriage | Aug-19 |
| Mahmoud | 37 | Middle-aged adults | М | Moroccan | | Divorced | Yes | Bachelor's | Came for work | Apr-19 |
| Majida | 31 | Young adults | F | Egyptian | Sudan | Single | No | Bachelor's | Family came for work | Apr-19 |
| Manar | 51 | Older adults | F | Jordanian (Iraqi mother) | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Born and raised | Jun-18 |
| Mariam | 66 | Seniors | F | Syrian | | Married | Yes | Diploma | Came for work | Jun-18 |
| Medhat | 45 | Middle-aged adults | М | Egyptian | | Married | Yes | Secondary School | Came for work | Jun-18 |
| Mervat | 64 | Seniors | F | Jordanian | | Married | No | Bachelor's | Came for work | Oct-18 |

| Pseudonym | Age | Group | Sex | Nationality | Origin | Civil Status | Kids | Latest attained degree | e Relation to Kuwait | Interviewed |
|-----------|-----|--------------------|-----|------------------------------|-----------|---------------------|------|------------------------|----------------------|-------------|
| Mostafa | 68 | Seniors | М | Kuwaiti | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Home country | Aug-19 |
| Nahla | 87 | Seniors | F | Kuwaiti (Lebanese mother) | | Widowed | Yes | Secondary School | Home country | May-19 |
| Omar | 63 | Seniors | М | Lebanese | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Came for work | Aug-19 |
| Qassem | 26 | Young adults | М | Syrian | | Single | No | Bachelor's | Family came for work | Aug-19 |
| Rana | 31 | Young adults | F | Jordanian (Syrian mother) | Palestine | Single | No | Bachelor's | Family came for work | Mar-19 |
| Rashed | 30 | Young adults | М | Jordanian | Palestine | Single | No | Master's | Born and raised | May-18 |
| Sahar | 37 | Middle-aged adults | F | Syrian | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Born and raised | Apr-19 |
| Sana | 38 | Middle-aged adults | F | Lebanese (Serbian mother) | | Married | Yes | Bachelor's | Born and raised | Oct-18 |
| Sarah | 65 | Seniors | F | Egyptian | | Married | Yes | Diploma | Family came for work | Aug-19 |
| Seba | 23 | Youth | F | Jordanian | Palestine | Single | No | Bachelor's | Born and raised | Jul-19 |
| Serene | 25 | Young adults | F | Egyptian | | Single | No | Bachelor's | Family came for work | Feb-19 |
| Suzan | 30 | Young adults | F | Kuwaiti (Lebanese mother) | | Married | Yes | Master's | Home country | Oct-18 |
| Tahani | 24 | Youth | F | Palestinian | | Married | No | Secondary School | Moved after marriage | Jul-18 |
| Tarek | 17 | Youth | М | Jordanian | Palestine | Single | No | Secondary School | Born and raised | Jun-18 |
| Yousef | 32 | Young adults | М | Syrian | | Single | No | Bachelor's | Family came for work | Jul-18 |